EDGAROnline

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INC / MA

FORM 10-K

(Annual Report)

Filed 03/01/13 for the Period Ending 12/31/12

Address 130 WAVERLY STREET
CAMBRIDGE, MA 02139-4242
Telephone 6173416100
CIK 0000875320
Symbol VRTX
SIC Code 2834 - Pharmaceutical Preparations
Industry  Biotechnology & Drugs
Sector Healthcare

Fiscal Year 12/31

Powere 4 &y EDGAROnline

http://www.edgar-online.com
© Copyright 2013, EDGAR Online, Inc. All Rights Reserved.
Distribution and use of this document restricted under EDGAR Online, Inc. Terms of Use.


http://www.edgar-online.com

Table of Contents

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2012

or
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to

Commission file number 000-19319

Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its @rart

Massachusetts 04-3039129

(State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer

incorporation or organization) Identification No.)

130 Waverly Street, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02139-4242
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area ¢6d&) 341-6100

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(h@Exchange Act:

Title of Each Class Name of Each Exchange on Which Reqistered
Common Stock, $0.01 Par Value Per Share TheWXS Global Select Market

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(the@Exchange Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405%cd8#turities Act. Yesx] No O
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®ecl5(d) of the Exchange Act. YdS No

Indicate by check mark whether the registranth@ filed all reports required to be filed by Setl3 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act &419
during the preceding 12 months (or for such shqréeiod that the registrant was required to filehsteports), and (2) has been subject to suchyfilin
requirements for the past 90 days. Y& No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant iasnitted electronically and posted on its corpo¥alib site, if any, every Interactive Data File reed
to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 4@&gflilation S-T during the preceding 12 months @ostich shorter period that the registrant wasireduo
submit and post such files). Y&l No O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquitlers pursuant to Iltem 405 of Regulation S-K i$ contained herein, and will not be containedhi t
best of the registrant’'s knowledge, in definitivexy or information statements incorporated by nerfiee in Part 11l of this Form 1K-or any amendment to tt
Form 10 K.O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlaage accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a-accelerated filer or a smaller reporting comp&8se
definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelezd filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rul&b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filelx] Accelerated filerd Non-accelerated filefd Smaller reporting companid
(Do not ckétta smaller reporting company)
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantdbell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Bxgle Act). Yesdd No

The aggregate market value of the registrant’s comstock held by noaffiliates of the registrant (without admitting theny person whose shares are
included in such calculation is an affiliate) basedthe last reported sale price of the commorkstecJune 29, 2012 (the last trading day of théstemt's
second fiscal quarter of 2012) was $11.9 billidrs .of February 15, 2013, the registrant had 218838 shares of common stock outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the definitive Proxy Statement for #8643 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held @y 8, 2013 are incorporated by reference into
Part 1l of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.







Table of Contents

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED

ANNUAL REPORT ON FORM 10-K

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

PART |
Item 1. Business 1
Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant 26
Item 1A. Risk Factors 30
Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments 49

ltem 2. Properties 49

Item 3. Legal Proceedings 50
ltem 4. Mine Safety Disclosures 50
PART Il
ltem 5. Market for Reqgistrans Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters asddsPurchases of Equity Securities 51
Iltem 6. Selected Financial Data 53
ltem 7. Managemens Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiod &esults of Operations 54
ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MarRisk 73
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 73
Iltem 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants @moétting and Financial Disclosure 73
Iltem 9A. Controls and Procedures 74
Item 9B. Other Information 75
PART Il
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Goveoga 76
Item 11. Executive Compensation 76
Iltem 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners Mahagement and Related Stockholder Matters 76
Iltem 13. Certain Relationships and Related TransactionsDaregttor Independence 76
Iltem 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services 76
PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 77
Signatures 80
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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
OVERVIEW

We are in the business of discovering, developimgnufacturing and commercializing small moleculegdrfor patients with serious
diseases. Over the last two years, we have obtaipgbval for, and initiated commercial sales of;, first two products: INCIVEK (telaprevil
which we market in the United States and Canadthitreatment of adults with genotype 1 hepatltisrus, or HCV, infection; and
KALYDECO (ivacaftor), which we market in the Unit&tates, Canada and Europe for the treatment sfnpgsix years of age and older with
cystic fibrosis, or CF, who have a specific genegtigtation that is referred to as the G551D mutafide receive royalties from sales in Europe
and other countries of telaprevir, which is marleas INCIVO, by our collaborator, Janssen PharmameuN.V.

We invest in scientific innovation to create tramgfative medicines for patients with serious diesawith a focus on specialty markets.
Our strategy is to make focused investments tonhaad develop innovative drugs, while we contitmenarket INCIVEK and KALYDECO
to eligible patients to generate revenues and miait strong financial position. In the near tewe,plan to focus most of our drug
development investment on the following key proggam

Cystic Fibrosis -Our goal is to develop treatment regimens thatpvidlvide benefits to as many patients with CF assiixte and to
maximize those benefits. We are conducting threes® label-expansion clinical trials and a prded¢ancept clinical trial of ivacaftor
monotherapy in people with certain mutations irirthgstic fibrosis transmembrane conductance reégylar CFTR,gene that were not
studied in prior Phase 3 clinical trials. If we atge to establish that these additional patieotigs will benefit from ivacaftor
monotherapy, there is the potential to increasenthmber of patients eligible for treatment withdaétor monotherapy to more than 10%
patients with CF. In February 2013, we initiatedrgernational pivotal Phase 3 development progi@ewvaluate combinations of ivacal
and our investigational CF corrector VX-809 (lunféag for patients with the most prevalent geneatigtation that causes CF. We plan to
conduct two 24-week Phase 3 clinical trials to supthe approval of the combination of VX-809 awmddaftor in patients 12 years of age
and older with CF who have two copies of the F508ugation in theCFTRgene. We expect to obtain final, 24-week safetyeffidacy
data from both clinical trials in 2014. If thesmls are successful, we plan to submit a New Drpglidation to the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration in 2014 and a Marketing Authorizatidpplication to the European Medicines Agency. &l&o plan to conduct an 8-week
exploratory Phase 2 clinical trial of VX-809 in cbimation with ivacaftor in patients with CF who dr2 years of age and older and who
have one copy of the F508del mutation in@#TrRgene and a pharmacokinetics and safety clinicalltwievaluate VX-809 in
combination with ivacaftor in children with CF dix eleven years of age who have two copies of 8@8&el mutation. If successful, we
plan to use the data from the pharmacokineticssafety clinical trial, along with data from the tWhase 3 clinical trials, for registration
in the United States in patients six to eleven yediage, following registration in patients 12 ngeaf age and older, and are continuing
discussions with European regulatory agenciesdtepts in this age group.

HCV - We are investigating all-oral, interferon-freeatment regimens that are 12 weeks or less inidoraith a goal of providing a
high viral cure rate and improved tolerability drder to be commercially competitive in the HCV ketrof the future. We plan to conduct
multiple Phase 2 clinical trials to evaluate altlarombination treatment regimens that includet@WV nucleotide analogue VX-135
together with molecules that have potentially cdmphtary mechanisms, such as ribavirin, HCV praéaBibitors, HCV NS5A inhibitol
and non-nucleoside HCV polymerase inhibitors.

Autoimmune DiseasedNe are evaluating our JAK3 inhibitor, VX-509,arPhase 2 clinical trial that we expect to enroll
approximately 350 patients with rheumatoid arthriti

We may seek collaborators for some of our drug ickatels in order to diversify risk, broaden or aecate or otherwise benefit a
development program in an effort to fully-realibe tvalue of a drug candidate.

We plan to continue investing in our research mogr and supporting scientific innovation in ordaeidentify and develop transformative
medicines. We believe that pursuing research iard&yareas allows us to balance the risks inhareiitig development and may provide the
drug candidates that will form our pipeline in frtgwyears. We have later-stage research prograths mreas of cystic fibrosis, Huntington's
disease, multiple sclerosis and cancer.
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OUR PRODUCTS

Product Indication Mechanism Markets Marketing Rights
INCIVEK (telaprevir) HCV Infection (genotype 1) HCV Protease Inhibitor United States and Canac Vertex
KALYDECO (ivacaftor) CF (G551D mutation) CFTR [eatiator United States, Canada avidrtex
Europe
INCIVO (telaprevir) HCV Infection (genotype 1) HCV Protease Inhibitor Europe and other Janssen
countries in Janssen's
territories
TELAVIC (telaprevir) HCV Infection (genotype 1) @V Protease Inhibitor  Japan Mitsubishi Tanabe

INCIVEK (telaprevir) is an orally-administered HQ)otease inhibitor for adults with genotype 1 H@¥ection that is prescribed in
combination with pegylated-interferon, or peg-IFd ribavirin, or RBV. INCIVEK was approved by tbeS. Food and Drug Administration,
or FDA, in the second quarter of 2011 and by He@Hhada in the third quarter of 2011. In the tljudrter of 2011, our collaborators, Jansser
Pharmaceutica, N.V., referred to collectively witthaffiliates as Janssen, and Mitsubishi TanalsrRa Corporation, or Mitsubishi Tanabe,
obtained marketing approval for telaprevir from Er@opean Commission and the Japanese Ministryeafth, Labor and Welfare,
respectively. Janssen markets telaprevir undebridned name INCIVO in Europe and other countrieissiterritories, and Mitsubishi Tanabe
markets telaprevir under the brand name TELAVIGQapan. INCIVEK achieved rapid acceptance for thattnent of patients with genotype 1
HCV infection in the United States and was the @gle driver of the increase of our total revenfres1 $143.4 million in 2010 to $1.5 billion
in 2012. However, competitive treatment regimeresteaing developed in late-stage clinical trialsvidiich there have been reported improved
viral cure rates and/or tolerability over currerdlyailable regimens, and, as the market has aatagpthe approval of these newer regimens,
INCIVEK revenues have been declining since reachipgak in the fourth quarter of 2011. We expeat tKCIVEK revenues will continue to
decline, and that, as a consequence, our totahuesewill decline in 2013 as compared to 2012.

KALYDECO (ivacaftor) is an orally-administered CFT®tentiator that is approved in the United StaBsmada and the European Union
for the treatment of patients six years of age@ddr with CF who have at least one copy of the IEbButation in th&CFTRgene.
KALYDECO was approved by the FDA in the first quarbf 2012, by the European Commission in the thudrter of 2012 and by Health
Canada in the fourth quarter of 2012. We use taacdbname KALYDECO only when we refer to the prodbet has been approved and with
respect to the indication(s) on the approved labtierwise, we refer to the compound by its sciienfior generic) name ivacaftor, including in
discussions of our CF development programs. KALYQE&hieved rapid acceptance in the United Statesiafvas approved, and we expect
that our revenues from KALYDECO sales will increasethe product is approved and reimbursed in iadditcountries in the future.

OUR DRUG CANDIDATES

Development

Drug Candidate Mechanism Stage
Cystic Fibrosis
ivacaftor (monotherapy - label expansion trials) CFTR potentiator Phase 3
VX-809 (in combination with ivacaftor) CFTR corrector Phase 3
VX-661 (in combination with ivacaftor) CFTR corrector Phase 2
HCV Infection
VX-135 (ALS-2200) HCV nucleotide analogue Phase 2
VX-222 Non-nucleoside HCV polymerase Phase 2
inhibitor
Autoimmune Diseases
VX-509 JAKS3 inhibitor Phase 2
Influenza
VX-787 Influenza virus inhibitor Phase 2
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CYSTIC FIBROSIS
Background

Cystic fibrosis is a rare, life-threatening genelisease affecting approximately 70,000 peopledvadde, including approximately 30,000
people in the United States and approximately 3b@#bple in Europe. CF is caused by a defectivaissing CFTR protein resulting from
mutations in theCFTRgene. Children must inherit two defect@ETRgenes, which are referred to as alleles - one &aah parent - to have
CF. There are more than 1,800 known mutationsaiC#TRgene, including two of the most prevalent mutatidghs G551D mutation and the
F508del mutation.

The G551D mutation results in a “gating” defecthich the defective CFTR protein reaches the eefege but does not efficiently
transport chloride ions across the cell membrahe. A508del mutation results in a “trafficking” detfein which the CFTR protein does not
reach the cell surface in sufficient quantitiese Hibsence of working CFTR proteins results in floov of salt and water into and out of cell
a number of organs, including the lungs. As a tethitk, sticky mucus builds up and blocks thesa@es in many organs, leading to a variety
of symptoms. In particular, mucus builds up andjslthe airways in the lungs, causing chronic lurigations and progressive lung damage.
CFTR correctors, such as VX-809 and VX-661, aréelel to help CFTR protein reach the cell surf&cacaftor, known as a CFTR
potentiator, keeps the CFTR protein channels oré¢liesurface open longer to increase the flowadtf and water into and out of the cell.

Based on the 2011 Cystic Fibrosis Foundation PaRegistry Annual Data Report, we estimate thaheUnited States:

Approximate Percentage of Patients

Mutation in CFTR Gene with CF in the U.S.
G551D mutation on at least one allele 4%
non-G551D gating mutation on at least one allele 1%

R117H mutation on at least one allele

3%
F508del mutation on both alleles (homozygous)

47%
F508del mutation on one allele but not both all¢feterozygous)

40%

We believe that in Europe there are approximat8B+B000 patients with CF who have the G551D mutabiomt least one allele and that i
than 40% of patients with CF in Europe have the88&80mutation on both alleles.

We chose to develop KALYDECO (ivacaftor) and oumestCF drug candidates because of their potentiahprove the function of
defective CFTR proteins in patients with CF. Wecdigered ivacaftor, VX-809 and VX-661 in our reséacollaboration with the Cystic
Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics Incorporated,lFC Pursuant to our collaboration with CFFT, aeseaarch group is continuing to work to
identify additional corrector compounds that cobddincluded in future dual- and/or triple-combionatireatment regimens that have the
potential to provide additional benefits to pateewith CF. We hold worldwide development and conuiaization rights to ivacaftor, VX-809
and VX-661. We pay royalties to CFFT on net safagaxaftor and will pay royalties to CFFT on amgtisales of VX-809 and VX-661, if they
are approved.

KALYDECO (ivacaftor)

KALYDECO (ivacaftor) is an orally-administered CFTitentiator approved in the United States, the@pean Union and Canada for the
treatment of patients six years of age and oldér @F who have the G551D mutation on at least dekeaWe also have submitted an
application for approval of ivacaftor in Australl@ALYDECO has received recognition as a significemovation in drug development. In the
press release announcing KALYDECO's approval, DA klentified KALYDECO as an excellent example bétpromise of personalized
medicine and a breakthrough therapy for the CF conittyy, because other existing therapies treat trdysymptoms of this genetic disease,
while KALYDECO addresses the underlying cause. WWadl Street Journal named KALYDECO as the winneit®2012 Technology
Innovation award in the Medicine and Biotech catggo

During development, ivacaftor was granted orphaimgdiesignation in the United States and Europeaariand Fast-track designation in
the United States and, due to its promise, wasramhrapidly through development. In 2008, we




Table of Contents

evaluated ivacaftor in a small Phase 2a clini¢al that enrolled 39 patients with CF who had tfs5ED mutation on at least one allele. Based
on the safety and efficacy data from this clinicill, we moved directly into a Phase 3 clinicabgmam, which we initiated in May 2009 and
completed in mid-2011. We filed for approval to ketrivacaftor in the United States in November 28td obtained approval from the FDA
in January 2012, which was more than two monthadloé the original target date that had been astadl by the FDA. We also obtained
rapid approval for ivacaftor in the European Unéomd Canada later in 2012.

Since KALYDECO's approval in the first quarter @12, most eligible patients in the United Stategehaitiated and are receiving
treatment with KALYDECO. We are in discussions nelijgg reimbursement for KALYDECO in multiple inteational markets. In France and
Germany, we began commercial sales of KALYDECOQ@®2, but we are continuing to discuss the reimbuesd rate we will receive for
KALYDECO in future periods. Funding for KALYDECO kdeen recommended in England and Ireland, andta@pate that reimbursement
in these countries will begin in the second quasfet013. In other countries, we must first complite reimbursement discussions before we
commence commercial sales.

CF Drug Development Programs

We are continuing our work in CF to develop treattmegimens that will provide benefits to as maagignts with CF as possible and to
maximize those benefits. We are seeking to incréesaumber of patients with CF who could beneéitrf our medicines both by evaluating
ivacaftor monotherapy in patient groups who mayefiefrom monotherapy but that were not evaluatedur earlier clinical trials, and by
evaluating combinations of ivacaftor with our intigational corrector compounds, VX-809 and VX-6Bilpatients with the most prevalent
form of CF, those with the F508del mutation. Owdaftor monotherapy development program for aduttiindications has received a
Breakthrough Therapy designation from the FDA. FB&A also has designated the combination regimeneB09 with ivacaftor for the
treatment of patients with CF who have the F508ughtion on both alleles as a Breakthrough Ther@upy.two programs were the first to
receive Breakthrough Therapy designations fronFbA under the 2012 Food and Drug AdministrationeBaaind Innovation Act. See page
22 for a discuss ion of Breakthrough Therapy design.

Ivacaftor (monotherapy)

Ivacaftor monotherapy is approved (as KALYDECOpdseatment for patients six years of age and oldér CF who have the G551D
mutation on at least one allele, which represestaall percentage of patients with CF. We belidwa ivacaftor monotherapy also may be
effective as a treatment for patients with CF wheehnon-G551D gating mutations on at least onéealpatients with CF who have the R117H
mutation on at least one allele and patients whe leéinical or laboratory evidence of residual CFpietein function. We also are developir
pediatric formulation of ivacaftor that could besdgo treat children two to five years of age. & are able to establish that these additional
patient groups will benefit from ivacaftor monothpy, there is the potential to increase the nurobpatients eligible for treatment with
ivacaftor monotherapy to more than 10% of patierits CF.

We are conducting three Phase 3 label-expansioicalitrials and a Phase 2 clinical trial of ivaocaimonotherapy:

*  We have completed enrollment in a Phase 3 dini@l evaluating ivacaftor in patients six yeafsage and older with CF with gating
mutations other than the G551D mutation.

* We are continuing enrollment in a Phase 3 dihidal evaluating ivacaftor in patients six yeafsage and older with CF with the
R117H mutation in th€ FTRgene on at least one allele.

* We have begun dosing patients in a Phase Zalitiial in which we are evaluating a pediatricnioillation of ivacaftor as a treatment
for children two to five years of age with gatingitations in theCFTRgene, including the G551D mutation.

* We are enrolling patients in a Phase 2 clinigal in which we are evaluating ivacaftor in patie with CF who have clinical evidence
of residual CFTR function.

We expect to obtain data from the Phase 3 cliticb evaluating patients six years of age aneéroid 2013. We are discussing with the FDA
how the Breakthrough Therapy designation may affextiming and content of regulatory submissionghie United States to support
expansion of the ivacaftor label.
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VX-809 in Combination with lvacaftor

In February 2013, we initiated an internationalgp@al Phase 3 clinical program to evaluate combamatiof VX-809 and ivacaftor in
patients with CF who are homozygous (a copy on beties) with the F508del mutation in theFTRgene. We plan to conduct two 24-week
Phase 3 clinical trials designed to support approf/the combination of VX-809 and ivacaftor fortjgets with CF 12 years of age and older.
We expect to obtain final 24-week safety and effjcdata from both of these Phase 3 clinical tiral8014. If these trials are successful, we
plan to submit a New Drug Application, or NDA, teetFDA in 2014 and a Marketing Authorization Applion to the European Medicines
Agency.

The two 24-week, randomized, double-blind, placebotrolled Phase 3 clinical trials are known as HRFC and TRANSPORT. Each
Phase 3 clinical trial will enroll approximately ®@atients with CF who are homozygous for the F&08tutation, for a total of approximately
1,000 patients. The two clinical trials have thmealesign and together will be conducted at apprately 200 clinical trial sites in North
America, Europe and Australia. Each clinical tvigll include two 24-week combination treatment aramsl one 24-week placebo arm. The
treatment arms will evaluate two treatment reginengX-809 (600mg oncelaily (QD) and 400mg every twelve hours (q12h)3ambinatior
with ivacaftor (250mg every twelve hours (q12h)xde-dose tablets that contain both VX-809 andafex or placebo will be used in both
clinical trials. The initial 24-week treatment patiwill be followed with a separate rollover doublind extension clinical trial where all
eligible patients, including those who receiveccplzo, will receive one of the combination treatmmegimens for up to an additional 96 wee

The primary endpoint of each Phase 3 clinical tsaklative improvement in lung function (percengédicted FEV;) through 24 weeks of
treatment compared to placebo. Safety and tolénablso will be assessed through 24 weeks. Kegrsdary endpoints include absolute
improvement in FEV, change in body mass index (BMI) or weight gaiimnber of pulmonary exacerbations, and improvemienpstient-
reported outcomes as measured by the CF QuestierRavised (CFQ-R), among others.

We also plan to conduct a clinical trial of VX-8BBcombination with ivacaftor in patients with Cix $0 eleven years of age who are
homozygous for the F508del mutation. This clintcil will evaluate the pharmacokinetics and saf#ty/X-809 in combination with ivacaftor
for up to 24 weeks. If successful, we plan to igedata from this clinical trial, along with datarh the two Phase 3 clinical trials, for
registration in the United States in patients sieleven years of age, following registration itigrats 12 years of age and older, and are
continuing discussions with European regulatorynagees for patients in this age group.

The design of the Phase 3 clinical program was aieg by data from a Phase 2 clinical trial of 889 in combination with ivacaftor. T
two combination dosing regimens we selected fotuateon in Phase 3 clinical trials were evaluatedeparate parts of this Phase 2 clinical
trial referred to as Cohort 2 and Cohort 3.

» Cohort 2 -We evaluated the 600mg once-daily (QD) dose of \D-B combination with ivacaftor (250mg q12h) int@at 2 in 21
patients with CF who are homozygous for the F508udéhtion. This regimen resulted in statisticaliyndficant improvements in lung
function (within group and versus placebo) during tombination dosing period, as set forth in tileWwing table:

Mean Absolute and Relative Changes in Percent Predted FEV ,
Day 28 - 56; VX-809 + Day O - 56
Day 0 - 28; VX-809 Alone ivacaftor

Within Group

Absolute -2.9 (p=0.07) +6.1 (p<0.001) +3.4 (03).

Relative -3.5 (p=0.13) +9.7 (p<0.001) +5.3 (j92).
VX-809 (600mg QD) +
ivacaftor (250mg gq12h)

Versus Placebo

Absolute -2.0 (p=0.36) +8.6 (p <0.001) +6.7 (1BE2)

Relative -3.9 (p=0.21) +12.8 (p<0.001) +9.2 (1963)

The result of statistical testing is often defimederms of a "p-value," with p<0.05 generally ciolesed to represent a statistically significant

difference.
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» Cohort 3 -Cohort 3 was designed to evaluate the safety aadvgtokinetics of the 400mg (g12h) dose of VX-8DSupport
inclusion of this dose in the Phase 3 developmesgnam. We evaluated the 400mg (q12h) dose of VXi8Gombination with
ivacaftor in Cohort 3 in 11 patients with CF whe &iomozygous for the F508del mutation. Cohort 8 sdsluded the randomization
of four patients to placebo to allow for a blindssdety assessment. Three patients completed treaimiie placebo group. A
pharmacokinetic model suggested that 400mg dosiayd 2 hours (q12h) of VX-809 would provide a heghotal exposure area
under the curve, or AUC, compared to 600mg onch-¢@D) dosing, and data from Cohort 3 were comesistvith this model.

Safety results from the 400mg (q12h) dose grougwanilar to that of the 600mg (QD) dose grouphdth dose groups, VX-809 was
generally well-tolerated alone and in combinatidthwvacaftor. The most common adverse events th gooups were respiratory in
nature. In Cohort 3, one patient in the treatmeotig discontinued treatment because of a pulmaadwgrse event.

Together, these pharmacokinetic and safety dafaostimclusion of VX-809 400mg (g12h) in combinatiwith ivacaftor 250mg
(g12h) in the Phase 3 program to evaluate theteffdtigher exposures of VX-809 on efficacy andesaf

The pattern of lung function response observedahadt 3 was similar to that observed in the 600@B) dose group in Cohort 2,
with a decline in FEM during the VX-809 monotherapy dosing period folloMay a statistically significant increase in FEduring
the VX-809 and ivacaftor combination dosing peribde within-group mean absolute improvement in REdbserved during the
combinationdosing period in Cohort 3 was 6.6 percentage potaisipared to 6.1 percentage points for the 60dpiR) dose group i
Cohort 2. Additional lung function results for Coh8 are provided below:

Mean Absolute and Relative Changes in Percent Prected FEV,
Day 28 - 56; VX-809 + Day 0 - 56
Day 0 - 28; VX-809 Alone ivacaftor
) Within Group
éﬁ'&?‘g %41020;;‘9 q12h) + ivacaftor (1 o1te -4.3 (p=0.04) 6.6 (p=0.01) +1.9 (p0.5
Relative -6.3 (p=0.08) +8.8 (p=0.01) +2.5 (p50).6

In addition to the clinical trials in patients wi@F who are homozygous for the F508del mutationplaa to conduct an 8-week
exploratory Phase 2 clinical trial of VX-809 in cbimation with ivacaftor in patients with CF who dr2 years of age and older and who are
heterozygous with a copy of the F508del mutatiomioa allele and a copy of a second mutation omther allele that is not expected to
respond to either ivacaftor or V809 alone. This clinical trial is designed to paw/iadditional safety and lung function data ondtvabinatior
in heterozygous patients and will evaluate the doatlon of VX-809 (400mg (q12h)) and ivacaftor (259 (q12h)).

VX-661

We also are conducting a Phase 2 clinical trial 661, a second CFTR corrector compound. In thigaal trial, we are evaluating VX-
661 as both a monotherapy and in combination wailcaftor in patients with CF who are homozygousdlierF508del mutation. The first part
of this clinical trial enrolled approximately 12@fgents, and we expect to receive data from tligcell trial in the first half of 2013.

HCV INFECTION
Background

The Centers for Disease Control and PreventioG@E€, have estimated that approximately 2.7 mili@3.9 million people in the United
States are chronically infected with HCV. The Wadddalth Organization, or WHO, has estimated thauath 70 million people are chronically
infected with HCV worldwide. Although exposure t&€M often leads to chronic infection, patients freqtly do not have symptoms and are
unaware that they have become infected with HC\er@ime, many patients develop liver inflammati®his inflammation can progress to
scarring of the liver, called fibrosis, or more adeed scarring of the liver, called cirrhosis. &a8 with cirrhosis may go on to develop liver
failure or other
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complications, including liver cancer. WHO estingatieat HCV infection is responsible for more th&¥bof all liver cancer cases and two-
thirds of all liver transplants in the developedrigo

Genotype 1 HCV infection is the most prevalent faitCV infection in the United States and the ndifficult to treat. There are many
other less prevalent HCV infection genotypes, somehich are easier to treat, and each of whick terrespond differently to treatment.
Patients who are successfully treated maintain tectitble HCV RNA levels after treatment has beengleted, which is referred to as a
sustained viral response, or SVR.

The number and type of treatments for HCV infectias and likely will continue to change rapidlyidPto 2011, patients with genotype
HCV infection were treated with a combination o§g&N and RBYV for 48 weeks. In May 2011, INCIVEKdanother HCV protease
inhibitor, Merck's VICTRELIS™ (boceprevir), were@pved for administration in combination with pdgNl and RBV. These treatment
regimens incorporating HCV protease inhibitors offebstantially increased sustained viral respoates, and in many cases shorter treatmer
durations, for patients with genotype 1 HCV infenticompared to peg-IFN and RBYV alone.

Since INCIVEK's approval in 2011, many companias|uding us, have continued to pursue the developwigreatment regimens for
HCYV infection that could potentially offer improveafety, efficacy and/or tolerability, includingaster duration therapies, therapies that dc
require the administration of peg-IFN, and therapiat do not cause side effects seen with thewetyrapproved HCV protease inhibitors.
Many companies are investigating combination regiréat incorporate one or more of an HCV protéasiditor, an HCV nucleotide
analogue, an HCV non-nucleotide polymerase inhiltitcan NS5A inhibitor, each of which inhibit HC\tral replication through different
mechanisms of action. Clinical trials of these stigational combination regimens are being condliziea wide variety of patient populations,
including treatment-naive and treatment-failuréguas, and across all HCV genotypes, which resmhiffierently to different combinations of
molecules employing different mechanisms.

In 2012, several companies advanced clinical dgvaémt programs and released clinical data for pielgncompetitive treatment
regimens. During this period, decreasing numbepatiénts with genotype 1 HCV infection startectneent with available treatment options.
We believe these decreases are the result of aigatitm of factors, including new safety and effigalata that have been reported by our
competitors regarding treatment regimens for HCédtion that may become commercially available dliernext several years.

We believe that the next drugs that will become m@mcially available to treat genotype 1 HCV infeatiwill first be approved as part of a
treatment regimen that includes peg-IFN and RB\4, that it is likely that one or more of the drugndalates being developed by our
competitors will be approved in late 2013 or 20AK#-oral treatment regimens that do not include {iely also are in late-stage development,
and it is possible that one or more of these treatmegimens will be approved as soon as late 20bae or more treatment regimens with a
safety or efficacy profile better than or similardur INCIVEK-based treatment regimen is approweel expect that INCIVEK would lose a
significant portion of its share of the genotyp @V infection treatment market.

INCIVEK

INCIVEK (telaprevir) is an orally-administered HQMotease inhibitor that is indicated for the treaminof treatment-naive and treatment-
failure adults with genotype 1 HCV infection. Patewho are prescribed an INCIVEK-based treatmegitmen receive INCIVEK, peg-IFN, a
drug that is administered by weekly injection, &8V for 12 weeks. After the first 12 weeks, patestop receiving INCIVEK and continue
treatment with peg-IFN and RBYV alone for an additiibl2 weeks or 36 weeks of treatment. INCIVEKndicated for three-timedaily dosing
and we recently submitted a supplemental New Drpplidation, or SNDA, to the FDA and a supplemeftalv Drug Submission, or sNDS,
Health Canada for twice-daily dosing. We are cotidgdPhase 3b clinical trials to evaluate telapréased combination treatment regimens
for patients with genotype 1 HCV infection who alsove HIV infection and for patients who experieneeurrent genotype 1 HCV infection
following a liver transplant. Telaprevir was diseoed in our collaboration, now ended, with Eli {iind Company, and we pay Eli Lilly and
Company royalties on net sales of telaprevir.




Table of Contents
HCV Drug Development Programs

Our goal is to improve treatment options availdblpatients with HCV infection by developing allabrinterferon-free treatment regimens
for HCV infection. The following table summarizéeettreatment regimens for HCV infection that we@esning to evaluate:

Drug Candidate Mechanism(s)
VX-135 (ALS-2200)
VX-135 in combination with RBV HCV Nucleotidenalogue/RBV
VX-135 in combination with TMC435 HCV Nucleotide Analogue/HCV Protease Inhibitor
VX-135 in combination with GSK2336805 HCV Nuetele Analogue/HCV NS5A Inhibitor
VX-135 in combination with VX-222 HCV Nucleotide Analogue/HCV Polymerase Inhibitor
VX-222

VX-222 in combination with telaprevir and RBV ~ HCV Polymerase Inhibitor/HCV Protease Inhibitor/RBV

VX-135, an HCV nucleotide analogue, is designeiltibit the replication of HCV by inhibiting the RCNS5B polymerase enzyme
through mechanisms of action distinct from non-aaslde HCV polymerase inhibitors such as VX-222ldly 2012, we announced positive
results from a Phase 1 clinical trial that evaldatee safety and tolerability of single ascendinget of ALS-2200 (now formulated as \185)
in healthy volunteers and the safety, tolerabdityl effects on viral kinetics of multiple ascendéases of ALS-2200 in treatment-naive
patients with genotype 1 HCV infection. In thisnddial trial, patients with HCV infection who wereskd with ALS-2200 experienced a dose-
dependent, consistent and rapid decline in plas@¥ RNA levels. In the treatment group in which pats received seven days of dosing witl
200mg of ALS-2200 once daily, there was a medi&#d fbgioreduction in HCV RNA levels at the end of the dgsperiod. In the treatment
group in which patients received seven days ofrdpgiith 200mg of ALS-2200 once daily in combinatieith RBV, there was a median 4.18
log 1oreduction in HCV RNA levels at the end of the dgsperiod. In this clinical trial, ALS-2200 was wdtllerated. There were no serious
adverse events observed in patients dosed with 2208 and no patients discontinued treatment daelterse events.

VX-222, a non-nucleoside HCV polymerase inhibitsrdlesigned to inhibit the replication of HCV bynihiting the HCV NS5B
polymerase. VX-222 has been evaluated in a Phahri@al trial in combination with telaprevir andB¥ in treatment-naive patients with
genotype 1 HCV infection.

We are planning to evaluate multiple all-oral treant regimens for patients with genotype 1 HCV étifa in order to determine which
regimen or regimens appear likely to provide baséfi patients and to take forward into Phaser8aal development. The clinical trials are:

*  We are conducting Phase 2 clinical trials toleate VVX-135 in combination with RB)

* In October 2012, we entered into a non-exclusslaboration with Janssen to conduct a clinigal to evaluate all-oral combinations
of Janssen's investigational once-daily HCV praeaakibitor TMC435 (simeprevir), and VX35. Janssen recently announced pos
results from a Phase 3 clinical trial that evaldak& C435 in combination with peg-IFN and RBV. Wepext that Janssen will
conduct a drug-drug interaction trial with VX-138caTMC435 to support the planned initiation of @af¥n 2 clinical trial in mid-2013,
pending discussions with regulatory authorities. &d Janssen will share equally development cestsciated with this
collaboration. No further clinical development aities are covered by this agreement beyond thengld Phase 2 clinical trials.

e In October 2012, we entered into a non-exclustlaboration with GlaxoSmithKline plc to evaluathk-oral combinations of
GlaxoSmithKline's investigational once-daily NS5#ibitor GSK2336805 and VX-135. We expect to indithe Phase 2 clinical trial
to evaluate VX-135 and GSK2336805 in the first ledl2013, pending discussions with regulatory arities. We and GSK will share
equally development costs associated with thisaboliation. No further clinical development actiedtiare covered by this agreement
beyond the planned Phase 2 clinical trial.

»  We are planning to conduct a Phase 2 clini¢all to evaluate VX-135 in combination with our H@dlymerase inhibitor VX222
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* We are conducting a Phase 2 clinical trial #rablled approximately 60 patients with genotypeHGY infection to evaluate a
treatment regimen of telaprevir, VX-222 and RBV.

AUTOIMMUNE DISEASES (RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS)
Background

Autoimmune diseases, including rheumatoid arthritie characterized by inflammation that is belieiebe the result of an incorrectly
regulated immune response. Rheumatoid arthriiscisronic disease that affects 0.5% to 1.0% ofwbwd’s population and, according to the
CDC, approximately 1.5 million adults in the UnitBthtes. Rheumatoid arthritis causes destructigoirf cartilage and erosion of adjacent
bone, resulting in deformity, loss of function asubstantial disability. Many patients with rheumdtarthritis also eventually require joint
replacements. While approved drugs, including ana injectable disease-modifying antirheumatic dreog DMARDS, are effective in a
portion of patients with rheumatoid arthritis, gréficant portion of patients do not respond adéglydao DMARDSs or experience a decrease in
the effectiveness of DMARDSs over time. We are seghko develop an oral therapy for the treatmemhetimatoid arthritis that could be used
alone or in combination with existing DMARDSs.

VX-509

VX-509 is an investigational oral drug candidateemed to inhibit Janus kinase 3, or JAK3, whicimi®lved in the modulation of a type
of white blood cell, referred to as a lymphocytettis central to autoimmune disease pathologyadse of JAK35 role in lymphocyte biolog
we believe it is a promising target for the dessjimmunosuppressant drugs for treatment of a tyadBautoimmune diseases, including
rheumatoid arthritis. Based @amvitro andin vivodata, VX-509 shows promise as a potent and seteitthibitor of JAK3. In 2011, we
completed a Phase 2a clinical trial that evaluat&eb09 monotherapy in patients with rheumatoid atith We achieved the two primary
endpoints in this Phase 2a clinical trial, defimsda statistically significant improvement in thregortion of patients who achieved at least a
20% improvement in the signs and symptoms of rheaicharthritis, also known as ACR20, and a stat#ly significant improvement from
baseline in Disease Activity Score 28, or DAS28.

The most frequently reported class of adverse angthie VX-509 and placebo arms of this Phase izécel trial was infection. The most
common individual adverse events observed in thesE 2a clinical trial, each of which occurredppraximately 5% or less of patients, were
nausea, headache and increased alanine transaptegerelless of treatment arm. Five percent okpégidiscontinued treatment due to adv
events in the placebo group, compared to eightgpeiaf patients in the VX-509 treatment arms.

Based on the efficacy and safety data from the é*Ba<linical trial, we initiated a Phase 2b clatigial in mid-2012 to evaluate once-
daily and twice-daily doses of VX-509 in combinatiwith methotrexate. We expect to enroll approxehaB50 patients with active moderate-
to-severe rheumatoid arthritis and to obtain dadenfthis clinical trial in the second half of 20M8e also recently initiated a Phase 2 clinical
trial that is expected to enroll approximately 4Qignts with rheumatoid arthritis to evaluate togeptial for VX509 to improve structural joil
changes as measured by magnetic resonance imagingakers of inflammation and joint damage measkimgoint fluid.

INFLUENZA
Background: Effects and Prevalence of I nfluenza

The CDC has estimated that in the United State riian 200,000 patients with influenza infectios laospitalized annually with
respiratory and cardiac-related complications. Wttile number of influenza-related deaths varigsifgigntly depending on the severity of the
influenza season, the CDC has estimated the nuaileffuenza-related deaths in the United Statesayes approximately 25,000 per year. Ir
addition to vaccinations designed to prevent threagb of infection, we believe that there is a gigant market for antiviral agents that could
potentially be used to treat influenza. Currentiguraminidase inhibitors, oseltamivir (Tamiflu) azahamivir (Relenza) are the antiviral agent:
that are used to treat influenza infection, buséhérugs must be administered within 24 to 48 hofisitial infection in order to be effective
and do not produce responses in a significantqrodf patients.
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VX-787

VX-787 is an investigational drug candidate intendedHe treatment of influenza A, which is typicathe predominate strain of influen
and includes H1 (pandemic) and H5 (avian) influestzains. VX-787 aims to treat influenza A throwymechanism that is different from
neuraminidase inhibitors. In prioritizing our futudevelopment investment, we determined that wddmvanly continue to advance the
development of VX-787 as part of a collaboratiorif eve obtain external funding for this program. \Wave received final data from a Phase 2
clinical trial of VX-787 that enrolled approximately 140 healthy volersevho were infected with live influenza virus. \Man to announce t
results from this clinical trial in March 2013.

COMMERCIAL ORGANIZATION

Our North American commercial organization suppeéies of INCIVEK and KALYDECO in the United Staimsd Canada, and we have
established a small international commercial orzgion to support sales of KALYDECO in other maskedur sales force and managed
markets organizations are responsible for promagungproducts to health care providers and payors.

Our U.S. sales force includes approximately 150lepges, most of whom are focused on marketing INEM\and have experience in
marketing drugs for the treatment of infectiousdmses. Our HCV sales force focuses its efforthoset physicians in private practice and at
major medical centers who write the majority ofgmmptions for HCV therapies, as well as the heeadtte professionals who support their
practices. We also have a small sales force dexidatmarketing INCIVEK in Canada.

Our U.S. field-based CF commercial team includgg@pmately 15 therapeutic specialists who eacleheperience with CF. We focus
our CF marketing efforts in the United States aalatively small number of physicians and healtteqarofessionals who write most of the
prescriptions for CF medicines. Many of these ptigsis and health care professionals are locatedeadf the approximately 110 accredited
centers in the United States focused on the tredtofeCF.

We market our products and educate physicians liggan individual physicians, advertising, serglidirect mail, public relations efforts
and other activities. In addition, our governmeifaies and public policy group advocates for paiihat promote life sciences innovation and
increase awareness of the diseases on which wearging with state and federal legislatures, goremt agencies, public health officials and
other policy-makers. We also have established progrin the United States that provide our prodiactpialified uninsured or underinsured
patients at no charge or at a reduced charge, loesggecific eligibility criteria.

RESEARCH

We believe that our integrated drug design apprbashsignificantly enhanced our ability to discoard develop small molecule drug
candidates directed at biologically complex targetsociated with serious diseases. Our platforegiates biology, pharmacology, drug
metabolism and pharmacokinetics, toxicology, matestiences, biophysics, medicinal chemistry amdgss chemistry, automation and
information technologies in a coordinated fashlmotighout the discovery process. We believe thatipproach has been validated through
our success in moving novel drug candidates intacall trials and obtaining marketing approvals lCIVEK and KALYDECO. Currently,
the therapeutic areas of highest priority to ustfiaresearch perspective are: CF and other gatistiases; infectious diseases; autoimmune
diseases; cancer; and neurological diseases amdi€lis. We plan to focus our research activitiepralucts that would be prescribed by
specialist physicians for the treatment of raréferthreatening diseases that typically affecatisely small patient populations, which are
referred to as specialty markets. In CF, our retegroup is working to identify additional correctmmpounds that could be included in future
dual- and/or triple-combination treatment regimtra have the potential to provide additional basad patients with CF.

Within each therapeutic area, we focus initiallyspecific medical or disease indications. Driverthry complexity of the therapeutic areas
selected, we attempt to identify multiple approaciithin each indication that, either as a stamgh@ltherapy or combination therapy, could
provide treatment options that are transformatiamalature. The objective of this approach is tal#e us eventually to provide multiple drugs
in each of these therapeutic areas. We selectibetia areas by mapping our research strengthsiding expertise in kinases, proteases and
membrane proteins, onto therapeutic areas with tnighet medical need, with an emphasis on indicatiimere based on scientific insights we
believe that we,
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independently or in collaboration with other thpadrties, will be able to discover, develop and caruialize important medicines for serious
diseases.

Our past drug discovery efforts have produced eetyaof drug candidates that have been commereidlar are in preclinical or clinical
development. We believe our ongoing research prognaill continue to create value for us by genagtiew drug candidates in areas of
significant unmet medical need. We are engageamtlmical activities involving a number of invegditional compounds, one or more of
which may enter clinical development in 2013.

To augment our internal research programs, we teeetllaborate with leading academic researchtingtns, government laboratories,
foundations and other organizations in order tcaade research in our areas of therapeutic intasasgll as in areas of basic technological
enablement. We have established relationshipsariihnizations and consortia of organizations froouad the world with expertise in areas
of interest to us and intend to leverage that égpee to further our research efforts.

COLLABORATIONS

We have entered into collaborations with pharmacaliand other companies and organizations thatigeeaus financial and other
resources, including capabilities in research, ibgpreent, manufacturing and sales and marketingJiaedses to intellectual property. These
collaborations have provided us with drug candislated/or important financial and non-financial rgses that have contributed to our
products and a number of the drug candidates itwuwent development pipeline. We may seek to Beaor acquire drugs, drug candidates
other technologies that have the potential to adult pipeline or to provide us with new commeroigportunities. Furthermore, we may seek
collaborators to support, develop and/or commeesialome of our current drug candidates and/ortiaddil drug candidates that may emerge
from our research activities.

Janssen Pharmaceutica, N.V.

In June 2006, we entered into a license, developmeamufacturing and commercialization agreemettt yanssen. Under the agreement,
we collaborate with Janssen on the developmentamumercialization of telaprevir. We have exclusteenmercial rights to telaprevir in No
America and lead the development program for ING{\Eelaprevir) in North America and the Janssenttaies. Janssen has exclusive rights
to commercialize INCIVO (telaprevir) outside of NloAmerica and the Far East.

Janssen pays us a tiered royalty, averaging imide20% range, subject to adjustment for generiopetition, if any, as a percentage of
net sales of INCIVO in the Janssen territoriesssan is responsible for certain third-party rogalii its territories. Pursuant to the
collaboration agreement, we received an up-fropirnt of $165.0 million and milestone payments 250 million related to the
development and commercialization of INCIVO. Wertt expect to receive any further milestone paysipntsuant to this agreement.
Janssen was responsible for 50% of drug developousts under the development program for North Acaeand the Janssen territories
through approval, and continues to be responsdrl&d% of drug development costs related to cefiast-approval activities. Janssen is
required to use diligent efforts to maximize ndéesaf telaprevir in its territories through itsnemercial marketing, pricing and contracting
strategies. Each of the parties to the collabanaigreement is responsible for drug supply in trespective territories.

Janssen may terminate the agreement upon theofdig¢ione year's advance notice and (ii) suchgedas may be required to assign and
transfer to us specified filings and approvals. ageeement also may be terminated by either parts fnaterial breach by the other, subject tc
notice and cure provisions. Unless earlier terneidathe agreement will continue in effect until ehepiration of Janssen’s royalty obligations,
which expire on a country-by-country basis on tter of (a) the last-to-expire patent covering IMOlor (b) ten years after the first
commercial sale in the country. In the Europearodnive have a patent covering the composition-afenaf INCIVO that expires in 2026.

Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporation

We have a collaboration agreement with Mitsubisdmdbe pursuant to which Mitsubishi Tanabe haslgfaid license to manufacture
and commercialize TELAVIC (telaprevir) to treat H@ection in Japan and other specified countmethé Far East. This agreement was
entered into in 2004 and amended in 2009. Purdodhts agreement, Mitsubishi Tanabe provided fai@rand other support for the
development and commercialization of telaprevirdena $105.0 million
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payment to us in connection with the 2009 amendrmgtite collaboration agreement and made a $63lmpayment to us in the fourth
quarter of 2011 related to the commercializatio@ BEAVIC in Japan. There are no further payments tuus under this collaboration
agreement. Mitsubishi Tanabe is responsible fanite development and manufacturing costs in itstéey. Mitsubishi Tanabe may terminate
the agreement at any time without cause upon 6§ gaipr written notice to us. The agreement alsyrhbe terminated by either party for a
material breach by the other, subject to noticeand provisions. Unless earlier terminated, theagent will continue in effect until the
expiration of the last-to-expire patent covering A¥IC. In Japan, we have a patent covering the cositipn-of-matter of TELAVIC that
expires in 2021.

Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics | ncorporated

We began working with CFFT in 1998. We entered thocurrent collaboration agreement with CFFTG0£2and amended it several
times to support research and development actviéiated to potentiator compounds and correctaponinds, including ivacaftor, VX-809
and VX-661. Pursuant to an April 2011 amendmerh¢ocollaboration agreement, CFFT agreed to prduecial support for development
activities for VX-661, a corrector compound discadunder the collaboration, and additional researa development activities directed at
discovering new corrector compounds. We retain dvaide rights to develop and commercialize ivacaftot-809, VX-661 and any other
compounds discovered during the course of the relseallaboration with CFFT and are obligated tg @& FT tiered royalties ranging from
single digits to sub-teens, calculated as a peagendf net sales, on ivacaftor, as well as VX-809dX-661 and any other compounds
discovered during the original research term ordsearch term that began in 2011. In 2012, we raaaenmercial milestone payment upon
achievement of certain sales levels of KALYDECO amgect that in 2013 we will make the second anal ftommercial milestone payment
that we are obligated to make to CFFT upon theeaeiment of certain sales levels of KALYDECO. Untler collaboration agreement, we ¢
are obligated to make a total of two one-time comumaémilestone payments upon achievement of aedales levels for CFTR corrector
compounds.

For each compound commercialized under this cotktion, we will have royalty obligations to CFFTtilithe expiration of patents
covering that compound. We have patents in theddritates and European Union covering the comppsiti-matter of ivacaftor that expire
in 2027 and 2025, respectively, subject to potéptsent life extensions. CFFT may terminate itsding obligations under the collaboration
amended, in certain circumstances, in which case till be a proportional reduction in the royaiyes and commercial milestone payments
for certain CFTR corrector compounds. The collationsalso may be terminated by either party foraarial breach by the other, subject to
notice and cure provisions.

Alios BioPharma, Inc.

In June 2011, we entered into a license and caltdiom agreement with Alios BioPharma, Inc., orosli a privately-held biotechnology
company. Pursuant to the agreement, we are codiibgron the research, development and commeraiaiz of VX-135 (ALS2200), an HC)
nucleotide analogue discovered by Alios. In 2012 ,ended development of ALELES8, a second HCV nucleotide analogue discoveyeilibs
and licensed to us pursuant to the agreement. @eaponsible for all costs related to developraedtcommercialization of VX-135 and are
providing funding to Alios for a research programedted to the discovery of additional HCV nucldetanalogues that act on the HCV
polymerase.

Under the terms of the agreement, we have exclusbrilwide development and commercialization right¥X-135 and have the option
to select additional compounds discovered in tsearch program. Upon entering into the agreemenpaid Alios a $60.0 million up-front
payment. As of December 31, 2012, Alios had eaamedggregate of $ 60.0 million in development nidlee payments pursuant to the
agreement, including a $25.0 million milestone pagtrin 2012. The agreement provides for developmmlestone payments to Alios of up to
an additional $ 312.5 million if VX-135 is approvadd commercialized. The agreement provides foitiadd! development milestone
payments to Alios if a second HCV nucleotide ana®ip approved and commercialized. Alios alsoigil#e to receive commercial milestone
payments of up to $750.0 million , as well as tiereyalties on net sales of approved drugs.

We may terminate our agreement with Alios (i) u@@ndays’ notice to Alios if we cease developmentX¥f135 after it has experienced a
technical failure and/or (ii) upon 60 days’ nottoeAlios at any time after we complete specifie@&h2a clinical trials. The agreement also
may be terminated by either party for a materiablsh by the other, and by Alios for our inactivatyif we challenge certain Alios patents, in
each case subject to notice and cure provisionksgrearlier terminated, the agreement will cortiimueffect until the expiration of our roya
obligations, which expire on a country-by-
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country basis on the later of (a) the date thettagtxpire patent covering a licensed product egar (b) ten years after the first commercial
sale in the country. In the United States and EemagJnion, there are patent applications pendingring the composition-of-matter of VX-
135 that, if granted, would expire in 2031.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

We actively seek protection for our products armppetary information by means of U.S. and forgigiients, trademarks and copyrights,
as appropriate. In addition, we rely upon tradeetqurotection and contractual arrangements tceeptatertain of our proprietary information
and products. We have patents and pending patphitagions that relate to potential drug targetsnpounds we are developing to modulate
those targets, methods of making or using thosepoomds and proprietary elements of our drug disgopkatform.

Much of our technology and many of our processgené upon the knowledge, experience and skillegfdcientific and technical
personnel. To protect our rights to our proprietemgw-how and technology, we require all employ@ssyell as our consultants and advisors
when feasible, to enter into confidentiality agreens that require disclosure and assignment td igeas, developments, discoveries and
inventions made by these employees, consultanta@vidors in the course of their service to us.

While we have numerous issued patents and pendiggipapplications in our patent portfolio, we bed that the patents and patent
applications in the United States and the Europé@on that are the most important to our businesgtaose that claim the composition-of-
matter of our drugs and drug candidates that heagressed at least into Phase 2 clinical trial& fbflowing table sets forth the status of the
primary patents and patent applications in thed¢h@tates and the European Union covering the csitimo-of-matter of these drugs and drug
candidates:

Status of United States Patent Status of European Union Patent
(Anticipated Expiration, (Anticipated Expiration,

Drug/Drug Candidate Subject to Potential Extensions) Subject to Potential Extensions)
INCIVEK/INCIVO (telaprevir) Granted (2025 Granted (202€
KALYDECO (ivacaftor) Granted (2027 Application Pending (202!
VX-135 Application Pending (203: Application Pending (203:
VX-222 Granted (203C Application Pending (202°
VX-809 Application Pending (202¢ Application Pending (202¢
VX-661 Granted (2027 Application Pending (202°
VX-509 Granted (202€ Application Pending (202!
VX-787 Application Pending (203( Application Pending (203(

We hold issued patents and pending patent apglitatn the United States, and in foreign countrieddleem appropriate, claiming
intellectual property developed as part of our aesle and development programs. In addition to tdmeposition-of-matter patents and patent
applications listed above, our intellectual propémldings include:

» U.S. and foreign patents and patent applicatiavering telaprevir, VX222 and other HCV protease and polymerase inhibdad th
use of these compounds to treat HCV infection.

* U.S. and foreign patent applications licensednfAlios covering VX-135 and other HCV nucleotiadibitors and the use of these
compounds to treat HCV infection.

e U.S. and foreign patent applications coverintgptiator compounds and corrector compounds foCfHER protein, including
ivacaftor, VX-809 and VX-661 and many other relatedpounds, and the use of those potentiators @meators to treat CF.

e U.S. and foreign patents and patent applicattavering inhibitors of a variety of kinase protgimcluding VX-509, and the use of
those inhibitors to treat autoimmune disease, dinlyrheumatoid arthritis.

 U.S. and foreign patents and patent applicattavering influenza virus inhibitors, including V87

* U.S. and foreign patent applications coveringrianufacture, pharmaceutical compositions, relsdéid forms, formulations, dosing
regimens and methods of use of these compoundsding our two marketed products telaprevir anataftor.
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We cannot be certain, however, that issued pavefitse enforceable or provide adequate protectinthat pending patent applications
will result in issued patents.

From time to time we enter into non-exclusive lisemgreements for proprietary third-party technplaged in connection with our
research activities. These license agreementsafypigrovide for the payment by us of a license fag may also include terms providing for
milestone payments or royalties for the developra@ifor commercialization of our drug productsiaggrom the related research.

Ivacaftor was granted orphan drug status in theddrstates and the European Union. We have a dt&ntathat covers the composition-
of-matter of ivacaftor that we expect will providteellectual property protection in the United &&athrough its expiration date in 2027. We ar
entitled to orphan drug exclusivity for ivacaftarthe United States, which means that the FDA nwyapprove other applications to market
ivacaftor for the same indication for seven yeaxeet in very limited circumstances. As a resulthaf seven-year orphan drug marketing
exclusivity period, even if a competitor succedgfahallenges the ivacaftor patent it could notaidtpproval from the FDA to market
ivacaftor in the United States for at least sevesry from the date of approval of ivacaftor in Zag2012.

MANUFACTURING
Manufacturing Approach and Philosophy

As we market and sell our approved products andrmcl our drug candidates through clinical develaogrnevard commercialization, we
continue to build and maintain our supply chain gudlity assurance resources. We rely on an intiema network of third parties, including
sole source suppliers of certain components opoaducts and drug candidates, to manufacture astdhdite our products for commercial sale
and post-approval clinical trials and to manufaetaind distribute our drug candidates for clinicals. We expect that we will continue for the
foreseeable future to rely on third parties to nmest of our commercial and clinical supply needs.

Our supply chain for sourcing raw materials and ufacturing drug product ready for distribution isalti-step international endeavor.
Third-party contract manufacturers, including sam€hina, supply us with raw materials, and corntraanufacturers in the European Union
and the United States convert these raw materitdsdirug substance, and convert the drug substatwénal dosage form. Establishing and
managing this global supply chain for each of auigd and drug candidates requires a significaanfiral commitment and the creation and
maintenance of numerous third-party contractualti@hships.

We have developed systems and processes to trackiomand oversee our third-party manufacturectivties, including a quality
assurance program intended to ensure that ourphirty manufacturers comply with current Good Maetifiring Practices, or cGMP. We
regularly evaluate the performance of our thirdgparanufacturers with the objective of confirmitngir continuing capabilities to meet our
needs efficiently and economically. Manufacturiagifities, both foreign and domestic, are subjedhspections by or under the authority of
the FDA and other U.S. and foreign government aitthe. A failure by any of our third-party manufacers to pass an inspection could
adversely affect our ability to distribute INCIVEKelaprevir) or KALYDECO (ivacaftor) in a timely maer.

Manufacture of INCIVEK (telaprevir)

We require a supply of INCIVEK (telaprevir) for ocommercial sales in North America and our clinicils. We provide a secondary
commercial supply source for Janssen through ard-garty manufacturers. We believe our effortestablish and maintain relationships with
third-party manufacturers and oversee their a@iwiare important to support consistent supphN&IVEK.

Janssen manufactures INCIVO (telaprevir) for sal@anssen’s territories and serves as a seconglgplyssource of drug substance and
drug product intermediate for us. We believe ttaeemultiple third parties capable of providing mafsthe materials and services we need in
order to manufacture and distribute INCIVEK. We @dimited flexibility to adjust our supply in respge to changes in demand, due to the
significant lead times required to manufacture IMEK. Due in part to this limited flexibility and éhINCIVEK inventories we manufacturec
previous periods to ensure adequate supply, wededaignificant charges for excess and obsole@®VEK inventories in 2012. We curren
believe that we have sufficient supply to meetdasted demand for INCIVEK. In addition, we havengigant quantities of materials that we
do not expect to utilize.
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Manufacture of KALYDECO (ivacaftor)

We require a supply of ivacaftor for commerciaks@s KALYDECO) and for use in our clinical trial&e obtain ivacaftor to meet our
commercial and clinical supply needs through atpiarty manufacturing network. Our supply chaindes sole source suppliers. A
disruption in the commercial supply of KALYDECO fpatients would have a significant impact on pasigour business and our product
revenues. A disruption in the clinical supply cdéaftor could delay the completion of clinical isiand impact timelines for filing an sNDA or
NDA. Accordingly, we are in the process of estdhifig secondary sources for our KALYDECO supply reetedreduce the risk of a supy
disruption. In 2013, we plan to obtain an altew&tource for the active ingredient of ivacaftonjei is a sole-sourced material that is critical
to the supply of ivacaftor, and to obtain secongree suppliers in 2014 for other components ofitheaftor supply chain.

COMPETITION

The pharmaceutical industry is characterized bgresite research efforts, rapid technological pregjend intense competition. There are
many public and private companies, including phaenéical companies and biotechnology companiesagadjin developing products for the
indications our drugs are approved to treat andhbeapeutic areas we are targeting with our rebeamnd development activities. Many of our
competitors have substantially greater financadhnical and human resources than we do. We faneetition based on the safety and
efficacy of our products and drug candidates, itheng and scope of regulatory approvals, the alditg and cost of supply, marketing and
sales capabilities, reimbursement coverage, piignt protection and other factors. Our competitoay develop or commercialize more
effective, safer or more affordable products thanane able to develop or commercialize or obtairenedfective patent protection. As a result,
our competitors may commercialize products moréhapr effectively than we do, which would advedysaffect our competitive position, the
likelihood that our drug candidates, if approvedwd achieve and maintain market acceptance andhility to generate meaningful revenues
from our products. Future competitive products mexyder our products, or future products, obsolet@acompetitive.

HCV Infection

The number and type of treatments for HCV infectias and likely will continue to change rapidlycteas that may affect the market for
any specific HCV treatment regimen, including IN@EK triple-<combination therapy, include the introduction ofv@mpetitive drugs or drt
combinations, increased sales from currently apairugs, adverse information regarding the safletyacteristics or efficacy of the regimen,
significant new information regarding potentialat®ent regimens being evaluated in clinical traald enroliment by patients in clinical trials
being conducted by us or our competitors.

We market INCIVEK in direct competition with Meré Co., Inc.'s VICTRELIS (boceprevir), another HCYopease inhibitor that was
approved for sale in the United States and Euno@®11. Patients who are prescribed an INCIMidsed treatment regimen receive INCIV
peg-IFN, a drug that is administered by weeklydtign, and RBV for 12 weeks. After the first 12 \Wegpatients stop receiving INCIVEK and
continue treatment with peg-IFN and RBV alone foraaditional 12 weeks or 36 weeks of treatmenDénember 2012, we updated the
INCIVEK label in the United States to include a BoxXWarning stating that fatal and non-fatal serihin reactions have been reported in
patients taking INCIVEK combination treatment. VIRELIS is prescribed in a combination regimen widlgpFN and RBV.

Since INCIVEK's approval in 2011, many companias|uding us, have continued to pursue developmegrams involving HCV drugs
and drug candidates with the goal of developingrowed treatment regimens for HCV infection. In 204@veral companies advanced clinical
development programs and released clinical datpdtentially competitive treatment regimens. Durihig period, decreasing numbers of
patients with genotype 1 HCV infection started tim&ent with available treatment options. We belithese decreases are the result of a
combination of factors, including new safety anficaty data that have been reported by our congustiegarding treatment regimens for F
infection that may become commercially availablerahe next several years.

On the basis of clinical data reported by our catitgrs from numerous late-stage clinical trialsapears likely that future improvements
in HCV treatment regimens will come stepwise, with next group of drugs to be approved for adnmiatistn in combination with pet=N anc
RBV, followed quickly by drugs to be co-administetia all-oral regimens that do not require peg-IBN,injectable. Gilead Sciences, Inc., or
Gilead, and Janssen recently have completed Phelsgcgl trials evaluating treatment regimens fatients with HCV infection. Gilead
announced in February 2013 that it is on-track &keregulatory filings in the second quarter of2€dr the approval of GS-7977, an HCV
nucleotide analogue, in combination with peg-IFd &BV for treatment-naive patients with genotypd,15 and 6 HCV infection and as part
of an all-oral therapy with RBV for the treatmefitpatients with genotype 2 and 3 HCV infection.sken recently completed
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Phase 3 clinical trials evaluating TMC435 in conabion with peg-IFN and RBV in patients with genagyp HCV infection. The top-line
results reported by Gilead and Janssen from thieaseP3 clinical trials suggest that the safetyeffidacy profiles of GS-7977 and TMC435
will position them, if approved, to potentially &l significant portion of the market for HCV thgiess.

In addition to the HCV treatment regimens thatla@ing developed in combination with peg-IFN and RBA&ny companies, including us,
are seeking to develop all-oral treatment reginfensiCV infection that could render uncompetitiuerient and future treatment regimens tha
include the administration of peg-IFN by injectidile are planning to evaluate potential all-orahtneent regimens that include our HCV
nucleotide analogue, VX-135, in Phase 2 clinicaldr Some of our competitors' potential all-orabtment regimens are more advanced,
including all-oral treatment regimens that are gedmaluated in Phase 3 clinical trials being cotelliby Gilead and Abbvie, Inc. While the
development and regulatory timelines for these dangidates are subject to risk and uncertaintybehieve that (i) substantial additional
clinical data regarding potential all-oral treatrnergimens will become available in 2013 and {iisipossible that one or more all-oral
treatment regimens for genotype 1 HCV infectionlddae commercially available as soon as late 28%4a result, if we are successful in
developing all-oral treatment regimens that inclvée 135 and/or VX-222, independently or with a @tdorator, it is likely that our all-oral
treatment regimens would compete directly with onenore previously approved all-oral treatment megis.

The following table provides information regardisgjected drug candidates that are being evaluatatid treatment of HCV infection.

Drug Candidate

Mechanism

Development Phase

Gilead
sofosbuvir (GS-7977)
GS-9451
tegobuvir (GS-9190)
GS-5885
Janssen/Medivir AB
simeprevir (TMC435)
TMC647055
Abbvie
ABT-450
ABT-333
ABT-267
Vertex
VX-135
VX-222
Boehringer Ingelheim
faldaprevir (Bl 201335)
Bl 207127
Merck
vaniprevir (MK-7009)
Bristol-Myers Squibb
daclatasvir
BMS-650032
Achillion
Sovaprevir
ACH-3102
Roche
danoprevir /| RG7227
setrobuvir
GlaxoSmithKline
GSK2336805
Idenix
IDX719

HCV Nucleotide Analogue
HCV Protease Inhibitor
Non-nucleoside HCV Polyase Inhibitor
HCV NS5A Inhibitor

HCV Protease Inhibitor
Non-nucleoside HCV Polymerase Inhibitor

HCV Protease Inhibitor
Non-nucleoside HCV Polymerase Inhibitor

HCV NS5A Inhibitor

HCV Nucleotide Analogue
Non-nucleoside HCV Polymerase Inhibitor

HCV Protease Inhibitor
Non-nucleoside HCV Polymerase Inhibitor

HCV Protease Inhibitor

HCV NS5A Inhibitor
HCV Protease Inhibitor

HCV Protease Inhibitor
HCV NS5A Inhibitor

HCV Protease Inhibitor
Non-nucleoside HCV Polymerase Inhibitor

HCV NS5A Inhibitor

HCV NS5A Inhibitor
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Where companies have control of multiple drug cdatdis that span different mechanisms of actioty, tiygcally are investigating
combination regimens of those drug candidates, arithithout the addition of RBV. In addition, maocgmpanies, including us, are pursuing a
strategy of evaluating drug candidates they comrobmbination with drug candidates controlledthiyd parties. For example, we entered intc
separate non-exclusive collaborations to evaluatel 85 in combination with Janssen's HCV proteasébitor TMC435 and GSK's HCV
NS5A inhibitor GSK2336805, and Janssen is evalgaliMC435 in combination with Gilead's HCV nucle@idnalogue C-7977 and plans to
evaluate TMC435 in combination with Idenix's HCV B¥SInhibitor IDX719 .

Cystic Fibrosis

A number of companies are seeking to identify aenetbp drug candidates for the treatment of CHuding Novartis, Pfizer, Genzyme
and several private companies. We believe our ctitopehave research and development programstddext identifying CFTR potentiators,
CFTR correctors and drug candidates with other meaisins of action with the goal of addressing th@eulying cause of CF. While we belie
that it will be several years before any of thesmpetitive programs enter late-stage clinical depelent, if one or more competing therapies
are successfully developed as a treatment forrgatigith CF, our revenues from KALYDECO and/or otier CF drug candidates, if then
approved, could face competitive pressures.

GOVERNMENT REGULATION

The research, development, testing, manufactuaitgeontrol, approval, labeling, packaging, sg@arecord keeping, promaotion,
advertising, distribution and marketing of our prots and drug candidates are subject to extensgidation by United States and foreign
governmental authorities.

United States Government Regulation

New Drug Application Approval Process

In the United States, the FDA regulates drugs uttdeFederal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, or th€ APand implementing regulatior
The process of obtaining regulatory approvals aedstibsequent compliance with applicable fedetate slocal and foreign statutes and
regulations require the expenditure of substatitizé and financial resources. Failure to comphhwiite applicable U.S. requirements at any
time during the drug development process, appnoradess or after approval, may subject us to adinative or judicial sanctions, any of
which could have a material adverse effect on hes€ sanctions could include:

» refusal to approve pending applicatic

» withdrawal of an approvz

e imposition of a clinical holc

e warning letters

e product seizure

« total or partial suspension of production or disition; o

e injunctions, fines, disgorgement, or civil or crimal penaltie:
The process required by the FDA before a drug neamarketed in the United States generally invotiiesollowing:

» completion of preclinical laboratory tests, aalmtudies and formulation studies conducted adegrid Good Laboratory Practices, or
GLP, and other applicable regulations;

» submission to the FDA of an investigational rénwg, or IND, application, which must become effesbefore clinical trials in the
United States may begin;

» performance of adequate and well-controlledicdihtrials according to Good Clinical Practices GCP, to establish the safety and
efficacy of the proposed drug for its intended use;

e submission to the FDA of an ND
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» satisfactory completion of an FDA inspectiortted manufacturing facility or facilities at whichet product will be produced to assess
compliance with cGMP to assure that the facilitregthods and controls are adequate to presery@dldect’s identity, strength,
quality and purity; and

» FDA review and approval of the ND

Once a drug candidate is identified for developmi¢rinters the preclinical testing stage. Prectihtests include laboratory evaluations of
product chemistry, toxicity and formulation, as had animal pharmacology and toxicology studiesIMB sponsor must submit the results of
the preclinical tests, together with manufactuiimfigrmation and analytical data, to the FDA as pdithe IND. Preclinical or nonclinical
testing typically continues even after the INDubmitted. In addition to including the results bétpreclinical studies, the IND also will
include a protocol detailing, among other thingg, dbjectives of the initial clinical trial and tharameters to be used in monitoring safety. Th
IND automatically becomes effective 30 days aféeeipt by the FDA, unless the FDA, within the 3@-tiene period, places the IND on
clinical hold. If an IND is placed on clinical hglthe IND sponsor and the FDA must resolve anytaoting concerns before clinical trials can
begin. A clinical hold may occur at any time durthg life of an IND, and may affect one or moredfie clinical trials or all clinical trials
conducted under the IND.

All clinical trials must be conducted under the etyision of one or more qualified investigatorsagcordance with GCP. They must be
conducted under protocols detailing the objectofethe trial, dosing procedures, subject selectiod exclusion criteria and the safety and
effectiveness criteria to be evaluated. Each podtaed any amendments must be submitted to the &Dpart of the IND, and progress reports
detailing the results of the clinical trials mustdubmitted at least annually to the FDA and mgguently in other situations, including the
occurrence of serious adverse events. An institaticeview board, or IRB, at each institution pap@ating in the clinical trial must review and
approve the protocol and any amendments beforiaiaatitrial commences or continues at that inftity, approve the information regarding
the clinical trial and the consent form that mustgoovided to each trial subject or his or her legpresentative, and monitor the clinical trial
until completed and otherwise comply with IRB regidns.

Clinical trials typically are conducted in threggential phases that may overlap or be combined:

e Phase 1The drug initially is introduced into healthy humsubjects and tested for safety, dosage tolerafserption, metabolism,
distribution and elimination. In the case of somagdcandidates for severe or life-threatening dissasuch as cancer, especially whe
the drug candidate may be inherently too toxicthacally administer to healthy volunteers, theialihuman testing is often conducted
in patients.

» Phase 2Clinical trials are initiated in a limited patiepbpulation intended to identify possible adverdea$ and safety risks, to
preliminarily evaluate the efficacy of the drug dafate for specific targeted diseases and to déterdosage tolerance and optimal
dosage.

* Phase 3Clinical trials are undertaken to further evaludsage, clinical efficacy and safety in an expanuitéent population at
geographically dispersed clinical trial sites. TéneBnical trials are intended to establish theraiteisk-benefit ratio of the drug
candidate and provide an adequate basis for regulapproval and product labeling.

Phase 1, Phase 2 and Phase 3 testing may not Ipdetednsuccessfully within any specified periodgtifall. The FDA or the sponsor may
suspend a clinical trial at any time for a varietyeasons, including a finding that the healthjunteers or patients are being exposed to an
unacceptable health risk. Similarly, an IRB carpsusl or terminate approval of a clinical trialtatinstitution if the clinical trial is not being
conducted in accordance with the IRB’s requiremeni§the drug candidate has been associatedwigixpected serious harm to healthy
volunteers or patients.

We estimate that it generally takes 10 to 15 yearppssibly longer, to discover, develop and btmgharket a new pharmaceutical prot
in the United States, as outlined below:
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Phase Estimated Duration
Discovery 2 to 4 years
Preclinical 1to 2 years
Phase 1 1to 2 years
Phase 2 2to 4 years
Phase 3 2 to 4 years
FDA approval 6 months to 2 years

During the development of a new drug, sponsorgiaen opportunities to meet with the FDA at cerfadints. These points may be prior
to submission of an IND, at the end of Phase 2igsand before an NDA is submitted. Meetings heotimes may be requested. These
meetings can provide an opportunity for the spofsshare information about the data gathered t®, d@ar the FDA to provide advice, and for
the sponsor and FDA to reach agreement on thepiage of development. Sponsors typically use tdeoéPhase 2 meeting to discuss their
Phase 2 clinical results and present their planthipivotal Phase 3 clinical trial that they beg will support approval of the drug candidate.

Concurrently with clinical trials, companies usyalbmplete additional animal safety studies and alsst develop additional information
about the chemistry and physical characteristidh®frug and finalize a process for manufactutfiregproduct in accordance with cGMP
requirements. The manufacturing process must bebtaypf consistently producing quality batcheshef drug candidate, and the manufacture
must develop methods for testing the quality, puaitd potency of the final products. Additionabypropriate packaging must be selected an
tested and stability studies must be conducte@moahstrate that the drug candidate does not undergcceptable deterioration over its shelf-
life.

The results of drug development, preclinical steidird clinical trials, along with descriptions loétmanufacturing process, analytical test:
conducted on the chemistry of the drug candidatggsed labeling and other relevant informationsatemitted to the FDA as part of an NDA
requesting approval to market the drug candiddte. ADA reviews each NDA submitted to ensure thigtsufficiently complete for
substantive review before it accepts it for filiiigmay request additional information rather tlzaeept an NDA for filing.

Once the submission is accepted for filing, the Ri&yins an in-depth review. The FDA may not app@awveDA if the applicable
regulatory criteria are not satisfied or may reguidditional clinical or other data. Even if suettadare submitted, the FDA may ultimately
decide that the NDA does not satisfy the critesiadpproval. The FDA reviews an NDA to determimapag other things, whether a drug
candidate is safe and effective for its intendezlarsd whether its manufacturing is cGMP-compliardagsure and preserve the drug candidate
identity, strength, quality and purity. The FDA mafer the NDA to an advisory committee for reviamd recommendation as to whether the
NDA should be approved and under what conditioh& FDA is not bound by the recommendation of arismdly committee, but it general
follows such recommendations. Before approving 8#Nthe FDA will inspect the facility or facilitiee/here the drug candidate is
manufactured and tested.

The FDA may require, as a condition of approvagdfrieted distribution and use, enhanced labelipgcl packaging or labeling,
expedited reporting of certain adverse eventsaprgroval of promotional materials, restrictionsdirect-to-consumer advertising or
commitments to conduct additional research posteagh. The FDA will issue a complete response téftthe agency decides not to approve
the NDA in its present form. The complete respdetier usually describes all of the specific defiaiies in the NDA identified by the FDA. If
a complete response letter is issued, the applinagteither resubmit the NDA, addressing all ofdkeéciencies identified in the letter, or
withdraw the application.

Expedited Review and Approy

The FDA has various programs, including Fast Traclarity review, and accelerated approval, thatiatended to expedite or simplify 1
process for reviewing drug candidates, and/or pl@¥or approval on the basis of surrogate endpdiwen if a drug candidate qualifies for ¢
or more of these programs, the FDA may later dettidethe drug candidate no longer meets the dondifor qualification or that the time
period for FDA review or approval will not be shemed. Generally, drug candidates that may be #didils these programs are those for sel
or life-threatening conditions, those with the mi& to address unmet medical needs, and thosefften meaningful benefits over existing
treatments. For example, Fast Track is a procesigried to facilitate the development, and expeatigereview of drug candidates to treat
serious diseases and fill an unmet medical neéarityrreview is designed to give drug candidatest bffer major advances in treatment or
provide a treatment where no adequate therapysextsinitial review within six months
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as compared to a standard review time of ten moatiisough Fast Track and priority review do ndieat the standards for approval, the FDA
will attempt to facilitate early and frequent megs with a sponsor of a Fast Track designated cndidate and expedite review of the
application for a drug candidate designated faorfiyi review. Accelerated approval provides anieadpproval of drugs that treat serious
diseases, and that fill an unmet medical need basedsurrogate endpoint, which is a laboratorysuesament or physical sign used as an
indirect or substitute measurement representirijmizally meaningful outcome. As a condition of appal, the FDA may require that a spor
of a product receiving accelerated approval perfpast-marketing clinical trials.

Pos-approval Requirements

Once an approval is granted, the FDA may withdiaevapproval if compliance with regulatory standasdsot maintained or if problems
occur after the product reaches the market. Laseodery of previously unknown problems with a prodmay result in restrictions on the
product or complete withdrawal of the product frtre market. In addition, under the FDCA the spommé@n approved drug in the United
States may not promote that drug for unapprovedffdabel, uses, although a physician may prescaturug for an offabel use in accordan
with the practice of medicine. After approval, sotyyges of changes to the approved product, sudddisig new indications, manufacturing
changes and additional labeling claims, are sultjefttrther FDA review and approval. In additionetFDA may require testing and
surveillance programs to monitor the effect of aped products that have been commercialized, am&DA has the power to prevent or limit
further marketing of a product based on the resfltcese post-marketing programs.

Products manufactured or distributed by us pursitaRDA approvals are subject to continuing regafaby the FDA, including, among
other things:

» recordkeeping requiremen

* reporting of adverse experiences with the pro

» providing the FDA with updated safety and efficatfprmation

» drug sampling and distribution requireme

» notifying the FDA and gaining its approval of sgexd manufacturing or labeling chanc
» complying with certain electronic records and stgrarequirements; a

» complying with FDA promotion and advertising reauirents

Drug manufacturers and other entities involvechmmanufacture and distribution of approved proglace required to register with the
FDA and certain state agencies, and are subjgmtriodic unannounced inspections by the FDA andesstiate agencies for compliance with
cGMP and other laws.

We rely, and expect to continue to rely, on thiagtigs for the production of our products. FutuBsAFand state inspections may identify
compliance issues at the facilities of our contraahufacturers that may disrupt manufacture oridigion of our products, or require
substantial resources to correct.

From time to time, new legislation is enacted ttanges the statutory provisions governing theabr manufacturing and marketing of
products regulated by the FDA. In addition, FDAulegions and guidance often are revised or reinééed by the agency in ways that may
significantly affect our business and our produltts impossible to predict whether legislativeaniges will be enacted, or FDA regulations,
guidance or interpretations changed.

Patent Term Restoration and Marketing Exclusi

Depending upon the timing, duration and specificB@A approval of the use of our drugs, some of daited States patents may be
eligible for limited patent term extension undeg trug Price Competition and Patent Term Restaratict of 1984, referred to as the Hatch-
Waxman Amendments. The Hatch-Waxman Amendmentsipanpatent restoration term of up to five years@smpensation for patent term
lost during product development and the FDA reguiateview process. However, patent term restanatannot extend the remaining term of
a patent beyond a total of 14 years from the prislapproval date. The patent term restorationgokis generally one-half the time between
the effective date of an IND, and the submissiaie dhan NDA, plus the time between the submisdate of an NDA and the approval of that
application. Only
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one patent applicable to an approved product gibddi for the extension and the extension mustdpdied for prior to expiration of the patent.
The United States Patent and Trademark Officepirsaltation with the FDA, reviews and approvesapplication for any patent term
extension or restoration. In the future, we maylyfgr restorations of patent term for some of ourrently owned or licensed patents to add
patent life beyond their current expiration datpehding on thexpected length of clinical trials and other fastmvolved in the submission
the relevant NDA.

Market exclusivity provisions under the FDCA alsmaelay the submission or the approval of cedpjplications. The FDCA provides a
five-year period of non-patent marketing exclusivitithin the United States to the first applicamgtin approval of an NDA for a new
chemical entity. For a new chemical entity thatldjes for Orphan Drug designation, the FDCA prasdsuch marketing exclusivity for a
period of seven years. A product is a new chengntty if the FDA has not previously approved ailyes new product containing the same
active moiety, which is the molecule responsibletfi@ action of the drug substance. During thelesteity period, the FDA may not accept for
review an abbreviated new drug application, or ANDAa 505(b)(2) NDA submitted by another compamyahother version of such product
where the applicant does not own or have a leght of reference to all the data required for apptoHowever, an application may be
submitted after four years if it contains a cectifion of patent invalidity or noimfringement. The FDCA also provides three yearmafketing
exclusivity for an NDA, 505(b)(2) NDA or supplementan existing NDA if new clinical investigationsther than bioavailability studies, that
were conducted or sponsored by the applicant amed by the FDA to be essential to the approviti@fpplication, for example, for new
indications, dosages, or strengths of an existimg.dT his three-year exclusivity covers only theditions associated with the new clinical
investigations and does not prohibit the FDA fraopraving ANDAs for drugs containing the originatise agent.

Pediatric Exclusivity

Section 505A of the FDCA, as amended by the FDA Adneents Act of 2007, permits certain drugs to ob#a additional six months of
exclusivity, if the sponsor submits information wegted in writing by the FDA, or a written requestating to the use of the drug in children.
The FDA may not issue a written request for clihicals on unapproved or approved indications bere it determines that information
relating to the use of a drug in a pediatric pofoitg or part of the pediatric population, may padduce health benefits in that population.

Foreign Regulation

In addition to regulations in the United States,ame subject to a variety of foreign regulationsegaing clinical trials and commercial
sales and distribution of our products. Whethenairwe obtain FDA approval for a drug candidate meest obtain approval by the comparable
regulatory authorities of foreign countries or emaiic areas, such as the European Union, beforeweammence clinical trials or market
products in those countries or areas. The apppregless and requirements governing the condudiméal trials, product licensing, pricing
and reimbursement vary greatly from place to placé,the time may be longer or shorter than tteatired for FDA approval.

Under European Union regulatory systems, a compaay submit marketing authorization applicationb@itunder a centralized or
decentralized procedure. The centralized procedhieh is compulsory for medicines produced by dédbinology or those medicines intended
to treat AIDS, cancer, neurodegenerative disoragrdiabetes and optional for those medicinesahahighly innovative, provides for the gr
of a single marketing authorization that is vabd &ll European Union member states. The decenddlprocedure provides for approval by
or more “concerned” member states based on ansassatsof an application performed by one membée skmown as the “referencaiembe
state. Under the decentralized approval procedurepplicant submits an application, or dossied,refated materials to the reference membe
state and concerned member states. The referenobanstate prepares a draft assessment and dréits elated materials within 120 days
after receipt of a valid application. Within 90 dayf receiving the reference member state’s assags@port, each concerned member state
must decide whether or not to approve the assesgamort and related materials. If a member statschot recognize the marketing
authorization, the disputed points are eventualfgmred to the European Commission, whose decisibimding on all member states.

Orphan Drug Designation

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may grant orptiarg designation to drug candidates intendecetat tn rare disease or condition,
which is generally a disease or condition thatafféewer than 200,000 people in the United Statesjore than 200,000 people in the United
States and for which there is no reasonable exji@ttéat the cost of developing
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and making available in the United States a drughis type of disease or condition will be recadfrom sales in the United States for that
drug. Orphan drug designation must be requestemtdstibmitting an NDA. After the FDA grants orpliéing designation, the identity of the
therapeutic agent and its potential orphan usdiaodosed publicly by the FDA. Orphan drug desigmatloes not convey any advantage in or
shorten the duration of the regulatory review appraval process. KALYDECO and V&09 have been granted designation as orphan di
the FDA.

If a drug candidate that has orphan drug designatitnsequently receives the first FDA approvaltlfierdisease for which it has such
designation, the product is entitled to orphan drmagjusivity, which means that the FDA may not apgrany other applications to market the
same drug for the same indication, except in viemitéd circumstances, for seven years. Orphan dratusivity, however, also could block t
approval of our drug candidates for seven yeaascibmpetitor obtains approval of the same prodsictedined by the FDA or if our drug
candidate is determined to be contained withincttrapetitor’s product for the same indication oedise.

As in the United States, we may apply for desigmatif a drug candidate as an orphan drug for tagrivent of a specific indication in the
European Union before the application for marketinthorization is made. Orphan drugs in Europeyeegmnomic and marketing benefits,
including up to 10 years of market exclusivity foe approved indication unless another applicamtst@w that its product is safer, more
effective or otherwise clinically superior to thepban-designated product.

The FDA and foreign regulators expect holders afusivity for orphan drugs, such as KALYDECO, teas the availability of sufficient
guantities of their orphan drugs to meet the ne¢gstients. Failure to do so could result in ththdrawal of marketing exclusivity for the
orphan drug.

Breakthrough Therapy Designation

In July 2012, the Food and Drug Administration 8afnd Innovation Act, or FDASIA, was enacted, adieg the FDCA. As part of
FDASIA, Congress created a new drug designatidedé&Breakthrough Therapy.” This designation ieimied to facilitate expedited
development and review of a compound which, alaria oombination with one or more other compounsiftended to treat a serious or life-
threatening disease or condition and for whichiprielary clinical evidence indicates that the commbmay demonstrate substantial clinical
improvement over existing therapies. Breakthroubbrapy designation may be requested at the filingraas an amendment to, an IND basec
on criteria established by the FDA.

Actions identified in FDASIA that may expedite ttevelopment and review of a Breakthrough Theraplude, as appropriate: holding
meetings with the sponsor and the review team girout the development of the drug; involving sem@nagers and experienced review <
as appropriate, in a collaborative, cross-discgriirreview; and assigning a cross-disciplinary gecbjead for the FDA review team to facilitate
efficient review of the development program andisexs a scientific liaison between the review teah the sponsor. We expect that over tim
the FDA will develop regulations and/or provide aidahal guidance regarding the development of draigdidates that receive Breakthrough
Therapy designation. At this time, because thisgietion was provided pursuant to a newly enaa®@ddnd our programs were the first to
receive this designation, we cannot determinegfetwill be any specific implications of the Breadugh Therapy designations on our
development programs.

Reimbursement

Sales of our products depend, in part, on the experwhich our products will be covered by thirddygpayors, such as government health
programs, commercial insurance and managed hemkhotganizations. These third-party payors inéngsare reducing reimbursements for
medical products and services. Additionally, thatamment of health care costs has become a yrioirfiederal and state governments, anc
prices of drugs have been a focus in this effdne U.S. government, state legislatures and forgayernments have shown significant interest
in implementing costontainment programs, including price controlstriettons on reimbursement and requirements fosstion of generic
products. Adoption of price controls and cost-comtent measures, and adoption of more restrictoligips in jurisdictions with existing
controls and measures, could limit our revenuesré&seses in third-party reimbursement for a produet decision by a third-party payor to not
cover a product could reduce physician usage optbduct.
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The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, andibtaization Act of 2003, or the MMA, established tfiedicare Part D program to
provide a voluntary prescription drug benefit todiare beneficiaries. Under Part D, Medicare bemies may enroll in prescription drug
plans offered by private entities, which will prdeicoverage of outpatient prescription drugs. UnMedicare Part A and B, Part D coverag
not standardized. Part D prescription drug plamspos are not required to pay for all covered Padtugs, and each drug plan can develop its
own drug formulary that identifies which drugs itlweover and at what tier or level. However, Parprescription drug formularies must
include drugs within each therapeutic category@ass of covered Part D drugs, though not necdgsdirihe drugs in each category or class.
Any formulary used by a Part D prescription drugnpinust be developed and reviewed by a pharmacthangpeutic committee. Government
payment for some of the costs of prescription dmgy increase demand for products for which weiveamarketing approval. However, any
negotiated prices for our products covered by & Pgrescription drug plan likely will be lower thahe prices we might otherwise obtain.
Moreover, while the MMA applies only to drug bengfior Medicare beneficiaries, private payors oflow Medicare coverage policy and
payment limitations in setting their own paymeriesa Any reduction in payment that results fromNMA may result in a similar reduction
payments from non-governmental payors.

The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 20@%ides funding for the federal government to caregthe effectiveness of
different treatments for the same illness. A plantfie research will be developed by the DepartroEhtealth and Human Services, or HHS,
the Agency for Healthcare Research and QualitythedNational Institutes of Health, and periodicarg on the status of the research and
related expenditures will be made to Congress.obigh the results of the comparative effectivenagdiess are not intended to mandate
coverage policies for public or private payorss ihot clear what effect, if any, the research wdl/e on the sales of our products. It is possible
that comparative effectiveness research demongragnefits of a competitor’s product could advigraéfect the sales of our products. If
third-party payors do not consider our productbeéaost-effective compared to other available fhiesa they may not cover our products as a
benefit under their plans or, if they do, the lesfepbayment may not be sufficient to allow us tb sar products on a profitable basis.

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Actam&nded by the Health Care and Education Affordgtitleconciliation Act of 2010,
which is referred to as the ACA, was enacted indi&010 and is designed to expand coverage fasrtmsured while at the same time
containing overall health care costs. With regargharmaceutical products, among other thingsAtbA is designed to expand and increase
industry rebates for drugs covered under Mediceadjiams, impose an annual fee on branded pharnieslemanufacturers and make change:
to the coverage requirements under the MedicarellParogram. In 2012 and 2011, our rebates assatiaith the Medicare Part D “donut
hole” were $1.8 million and $1.4 million, respedly. In 2012 and 2011, we recorded $1.8 million $Adrespectively, in sales, general and
administrative expenses related to the brandedippéisn drug fee established pursuant to the ATRe branded prescription drug fee is not
tax deductible. We cannot predict all of the efaaftthe ACA on pharmaceutical companies as matlgeoACA reforms require the
promulgation of detailed regulations implementihg statutory provisions, which has not yet occurred

In Europe and many other foreign countries, thesss of KALYDECO, and any other drug candidatesnwag develop, depends largely
on obtaining and maintaining government reimburs#meecause in many foreign countries patientsialigely to use prescription
pharmaceutical products that are not reimburseithdiy governments. Negotiating reimbursement ratdésreign countries can delay the
commercialization of a pharmaceutical product asidegally results in a reimbursement rate thatuslathan the net price that companies can
obtain for the same product in the United States.

In some countries, such as Germany and France, eocrahsales of a product can begin while the reirebment rate that a company will
receive in future periods is under discussion.theocountries, a company must complete the reisgment discussions prior to the
commencement of commercial sales of the pharmaedytioduct. The requirements governing drug pgisiary widely from country to
country. For example, the European Union providgeas for its member states to restrict the rasfgirugs for which their national health
insurance systems provide reimbursement and taaldhe prices of drugs for human use. A membeestaay approve a specific price for the
drug or it may instead adopt a system of direéhdirect controls on the profitability of the commaplacing the drug on the market. Recently,
many countries in the European Union have increttsdmount of discounts required on pharmaceusteradl these efforts could continue as
countries attempt to manage healthcare expenditesgegcially in light of the severe fiscal and daliges experienced by many countries in th
European Union. There can be no assurance thatcamjry that has price controls or reimbursemenitditions for pharmaceutical products
will allow favorable reimbursement and pricing amgaments for any of our products.
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Other United States Regulations

Pharmaceutical companies also are subject to \@afameral and state laws pertaining to health femad and abuse,” including anti-
kickback laws and false claims laws, and the répgif payments to physicians and teaching hospital

Anti-kickback Laws

U.S. federal laws prohibit fraud and abuse invajvtate and federal health care programs, suchedéckte and Medicaid. These laws are
interpreted broadly and enforced aggressively lripua state and federal agencies, including theetefior Medicare & Medicaid Services, or
CMS, the Department of Justice, the Office of ItdpeGeneral for HHS and various state agencieas@ lanti-kickback laws prohibit, among
other things, knowingly and willfully offering, payg, soliciting, receiving or providing remuneratjalirectly or indirectly, in exchange for or
to induce either the referral of an individual tlee furnishing, arranging for or recommending oftam or service that is reimbursable, in
whole or in part, by a federal health care progrBemuneration is broadly defined to include anyghifvalue, such as, cash payments, gif
gift certificates, discounts, or the furnishingsefvices, supplies or equipment. The anti-kickdawls are broad and prohibit many
arrangements and practices that are lawful in lessies outside of the health care industry.

The penalties for violating the anti-kickback lagen be severe. The sanctions include criminal anldpenalties, and possible exclusion
from the federal health care programs. Many stadee adopted laws similar to the federal anti-kadblaws, and some apply to items and
services reimbursable by any payor, including tipiagty payors.

State and Federal Prohibitions on False Claims

The federal False Claims Act imposes liability @y @erson or entity that, among other things, kmalyi presents, or causes to be
presented, a false or fraudulent claim for paynetihe federal government. Under the False Claicts &Aperson acts knowingly if he has
actual knowledge of the information or acts in ldetate ignorance or in reckless disregard of thté tor falsity of the information. Specific
intent to defraud is not required. Provisions & Halse Claims Act allow a private individual tangran action on behalf of the federal
government and to share in any amounts paid bgéfendant to the government in connection withatttéon. The number of filings under
these provisions has increased significantly iemégears. When an entity is determined to haviatdd the False Claims Act, it may be
required to pay up to three times the actual damagstained by the government, plus civil penaftegach false claim. Conduct that violates
the False Claims Act may also lead to exclusiomftbe federal health care programs. Given the numibaaims likely to be at issue, poten
damages under the False Claims Act for even aesingppropriate arrangement could be significanaddition, various states have enacted
similar laws modeled after the False Claims Act Hpply to items and services reimbursed under béediand other state health care
programs, and, in several states, such laws apglaims submitted to all payors.

Federal Prohibitions on Health Care Fraud and FaB&tements Related to Health Care Mat

Under the administrative simplification provisioofsthe Health Insurance Portability and Accouniibihct of 1996, or HIPAA, and state
laws there are numerous regulations for protedtiegorivacy and security of protected health infation. Additional administrative
simplification provisions created the following néederal crimes: health care fraud, false statesnestating to health care matters, theft or
embezzlement in connection with a health benefigam and obstruction of criminal investigatiorheglth care offenses. The health care
fraud statute prohibits knowingly and willfully exgting a scheme to defraud any health care begmeiifram, including a private insurer. The
false statements statute prohibits knowingly antfully falsifying, concealing, or covering up a teaial fact or making any materially false,
fictitious, or fraudulent statement in connectioitivthe delivery of or payment for health care Haagitems, or services. The theft or
embezzlement statute prohibits knowingly and wiNfembezzling, stealing or otherwise convertingrasapplying the money or property of a
health care benefit program. The obstruction ahoral investigations of health care offenses stapubhibits willfully preventing, obstructing,
misleading or delaying the communication of infotima and records relating to a violation of a fedérealth care offense to a criminal
investigator. A violation of any of these laws ifedbony and may result in fines, or exclusion frire federal health care programs.

Physician Payment Sunshine ,

The Physician Payment Sunshine Act will requirerpteeutical manufacturers to report annually toSberetary of HHS payments or
other transfers of value made by that entity togitigns and teaching hospitals. In February 2013,
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regulations were released that contain detailedaguie regarding the information that must be ctdikand reported. We will be required to
collect information regarding such payments stgrimAugust 2013 and to begin reporting such infation in March 2014. Over the next
several years, we will need to dedicate significasburces to enhance our systems and processegteinto comply with these regulations.
Failure to comply with the reporting requirementsud result in significant civil monetary penalties

Other Regulations

In addition to the statutes and regulations desdrdtbove, we also are subject to regulation irUthieed States under the Occupational
Safety and Health Act, the Environmental Protecf\ah the Toxic Substances Control Act, the Rese@onservation and Recovery Act and
other federal, state, local and foreign statutesragulations, now or hereafter in effect.

EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2012 , we had approximately@g&@ployees. The number of our employees increagagproximately 10% during
2012 , from approximately 2,000 on December 31,120/ e are likely to further increase our headcan2013. Of these employees,
approximately 1,950 were based in the United Staf&s were based in Europe andwire based in Canada. Our scientific staff membavs
diversified experience and expertise in molecutat eell biology, biochemistry, synthetic organi@aotistry, protein X-ray crystallography,
protein nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopyphbiology, computational chemistry, biophysicaéutistry, medicinal chemistry, clinical
pharmacology and clinical medicine. Our clinicavel®epment personnel have extensive expertise iigui@g and executing clinical trials.
Employees in our commercial organization have esttenexperience in selling and marketing pharmacalyproducts as well as seeking
reimbursement from government and third-party psyor pharmaceutical products. Our employees aremeered by a collective bargaining
agreement, except for a small number of employe&sdance and Spain. Science magazine named Vextexepof its top employers in the life
sciences in both 2011 and 2012. We consider oatioek with our employees to be good.

OTHER MATTERS

Financial Information and Significant Customers

Financial information about (i) our net producteaues and other revenues generated in the prirgdoglraphic regions in which we
operate and our significant customers is set fiartdote W, "Segment Information," to our consolethfinancial statements included in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, (ii) net income (lops)y share attributable to Vertex common sharehslded our total assets is provided in our
consolidated financial statements included in Ansual Report on Form 10-K and (iii) our researol development expenses in each of the
last three fiscal years is provided in Item 7, "Mgement's Discussion and Analysis of Financial @mmdand Results of Operations.” A
discussion of the risks attendant to our intermai@perations is set forth in the “Risk Factorsttson of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Information Available on the I nternet

Our internet address veww.vrtx.comOur annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reportd-orm 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and
all amendments to those reports, are availabletdfree of charge through the “Investors-SEC Fgingection of our website as soon as
reasonably practicable after those materials haea lelectronically filed with, or furnished to, tBecurities and Exchange Commission.

Corporate | nformation

Vertex was incorporated in Massachusetts in 198@ car principal executive offices are located 2@ Waverly Street, Cambridge,
Massachusetts 02139. We have research sites ldoa®eoh Diego, California; Coralville, lowa; Monale Canada and Milton Park, U.K. We
also have an office in Washington, D.C. We havel#isthed our European headquarters in Switzerladchave offices in France, Germany,
Ireland and the United Kingdom.
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DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The names, ages and positions held by our execoffieers and directors are as follows:

Name Age Position

Jeffrey M. Leiden, M.D., Ph.D. 57 Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Exeeufficer

Stuart A. Arbuckle 47 Executive Vice President and Chief Commercial @ific

Kenneth L. Horton 46 Executive Vice President and Chief Legal Officer

Peter Mueller, Ph.D. 56 Executive Vice President, Global Research and @g@weént, and Chief
Scientific Officer

lan F. Smith 47 Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office

Megan Pace 40 Senior Vice President, Corporate Communications

Amit K. Sachdev, J.D. 45 Senior Vice President, Global Government Stratétprket Access and Value

Christiana Stamoulis, M.B.A. 42 Senior Vice President, Corporate Strategy and BssiiDevelopment

Paul M. Silva 47 Senior Vice President and Corporate Controller

David Altshuler, M.D., Ph.D. 48 Director

Joshua S. Boger, Ph.D. 61 Director

Matthew W. Emmens 61 Director

Terrence C. Kearney 58 Director

Yuchun Lee 47 Director

Margaret G. McGlynn 53 Director

Wayne J. Riley, M.D., M.B.A. 53 Director

Bruce |. Sachs 53 Director

Elaine S. Ullian 65 Director

Dr. Leiden is our Chairman, Chief Executive Offiegrd President. He has held the positions of (wetutive Officer and President sit
February 2012 after joining us as CEO Designeedodmber 2011. He has been a member of our Boddexdtors since July 2009, the
Chairman of our Board of Directors since May 20dra] served as our lead independent director frotol@c 2010 through December 2011.
Dr. Leiden was a Managing Director at Clarus Vessua life sciences venture capital firm, from 2€@6®ugh January 2012. Dr. Leiden was
President and Chief Operating Officer of Abbott bediories, Pharmaceuticals Products Group, andnabmeof the Board of Directors of
Abbott Laboratories from 2001 to 2006. From 1982@00, Dr. Leiden held several academic appointsy@mtiuding the Rawson Professor of
Medicine and Pathology and Chief of Cardiology &nckctor of the Cardiovascular Research Instittitine University of Chicago, the Elkan
R. Blout Professor of Biological Sciences at thewded School of Public Health, and Professor of Miee& at Harvard Medical School. He is
an elected member of both the American Academyrtsf &and Sciences, and the Institute of MedicinthefNational Academy of Sciences.
Dr. Leiden is a senior advisor to Clarus Ventubs.Leiden was a director and the non-executivee\Ghairman of the board of Shire plc, a
specialty biopharmaceutical company, from 2006iwuary 2012, and was also a member of the Boaddre€tors of Millennium
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. from October 2007 until isv@aquired in June 2008. Dr. Leiden received hid.WPh.D. and B.A. degrees from the
University of Chicago.

Mr. Arbuckle is our Executive Vice President andeZiCommercial Officer, a position he has held sigeptember 2012. Prior to joining
us, Mr. Arbuckle held multiple commercial leadepstoles at Amgen, Inc., a 17,000 person biotechgyotmmpany, from July 2004 through
August 2012. Mr. Arbuckle has worked in the biophaceuticals industry since 1986, including moratha years at GlaxoSmithKline plc,
where he held sales and marketing roles of inanga®isponsibility for medicines aimed at treatiagpiratory, metabolic, musculoskeletal,
cardiovascular and other diseases. He currendym&mber of the Board of Directors of the Cancgap®u Community, an international non-
profit dedicated to providing support, educatiod &ope to people affected by cancer. Mr. Arbuckielf a BSc in pharmacology and
physiology from the University of Leeds.

Mr. Horton is our Executive Vice President and €hiegal Officer, a position he has held since J2@#2. Prior to joining us, Mr. Horton
served as General Counsel and Executive Vice Rmatsad Corporate Development at Nordion Inc. (forlmn&IDS Inc.), a global health scier
company, from 2005 to 2011. He joined MDS from ReEkmer, Inc., where
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he was Vice President, Acquisitions, Ventures arddgal Counsel for the Life and Analytical Scienleasiness unit. Mr. Horton began his
legal career practicing corporate law at Ropes &yGn Boston after working as a strategy consuliiatiie United States and Europe. Mr.
Horton currently serves on the Board of AdvisonsBeth Israel Deaconess-Needham Hospital and wasefty Chairman of Lumira Capital.
Mr. Horton holds an A.B. from Dartmouth College].®. from Harvard Law School and was awarded te RD. Direktstipendium for study
at the Universitaet Bonn.

Dr. Mueller is our Executive Vice President, GloRasearch and Development, a position he has lmald Blay 2009, and has been our
Chief Scientific Officer since July 2003. Dr. Musllwas our Executive Vice President, Drug Innovatiad Realization, from February 200t
May 2009, and our Senior Vice President, Drug Discg and Innovation, from July 2003 to February @0®rior to joining us, Dr. Mueller
was the Senior Vice President, Research and Dewelop of Boehringer Ingelheim Pharmaceuticals, Wwith responsibility for the
development of all drug candidates in the compapgtsfolio in North America. He led research praggain the areas of immunology,
inflammatory cardiovascular disease and gene tlygyam global basis. During his time with Boehringrgelheim, Dr. Mueller oversaw the
discovery of numerous development candidates aludseseral positions in basic research, medicihahustry and management. Dr. Mueller
received both an undergraduate degree and a Fhdbeimistry at the Albert Einstein University ofnllGermany, where he also holds a
Professorship in Theoretic Organic Chemistry. Hagleted fellowships in quantum pharmacology at @xfdniversity and in biophysics at
Rochester University.

Mr. Smith is our Executive Vice President and Cliigfancial Officer, a position he has held sincbrbary 2006. From November 200:
February 2006, he was our Senior Vice PresidenCinef Financial Officer, and from October 200INovember 2003, he served as our Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer. Prior tanjog us, Mr. Smith served as a partner in the Biéeence and Technology Practice Group of
Ernst & Young LLP, an accounting firm, from 19992@01. Mr. Smith initially joined Ernst & Young's.K. firm in 1987, and then joined its
Boston office in 1995. Mr. Smith currently is a nmisen of the Boards of Directors of Acorda Therapeytinc., a drug development company,
and Infinity Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a drug develeptrtompany. Mr. Smith holds a B.A. in accounting &inance from Manchester
Metropolitan University, U.K., is a member of thenArican Institute of Certified Public Accountantglds a Chartered Accountant of England
and Wales.

Ms. Pace is our Senior Vice President, Corporat@i@onications, a position she has held since Julp 2Ms. Pace served as our Vice
President, Corporate Communications from May 20it0ugh July 2012. Prior to joining us, Ms. Pace w&snior Director at Genentech, It
a biotechnology company, from 2005 through ApriLl@0where she led the team responsible for pubfliirs, product public relations and
patient advocacy. Prior to Genentech, she heldrgovent affairs and public relations roles at EllyL& Company, and worked at Porter
Novelli, a global public relations firm, where simanaged disease awareness and public health camgargeveral biopharmaceutis
companies and government agencies. Ms. Pace h&ds. &rom the College of Charleston.

Mr. Sachdev is our Senior Vice President, Globat&oment Strategy, Market Access and Value, ahrelassumed in February 2013. As
a Senior Vice President, he has led our governaidiéaits, public policy and patient advocacy funnince he joined us in July 2007 and |
and managed our Canadian business operations fobab€ 2010 through February 2013. Mr. Sachdeveskeas Executive Vice President,
Health of the Biotechnology Industry Organizati@&i@) from April 2005 through June 2007. Mr. Sachaeas the Deputy Commissioner for
Policy at the FDA from April 2004 through April 280and held several other senior positions withenEDA from September 2002 through
April 2004. From 1998 to 2002, Mr. Sachdev served/ajority Counsel to the Committee on Energy anth@erce in the United States
House of Representatives. From 1993 to 1997, Meh&eav practiced law, first at the Chemical Manufaets Association, and then with the
law firm of Ropes & Gray. Mr. Sachdev holds a Bi@& Carnegie Mellon University, and a J.D. from Eyndniversity School of Law.

Ms. Stamoulis is our Senior Vice President, Corfio&trategy and Business Development, a positierhak held since October 2009.
Prior to joining us, she was a Managing Directo€itigroup’s Healthcare Banking Group from April@to February 2009. From 2000 to
April 2006, Ms. Stamoulis was an investment barikéhe Healthcare Investment Banking Group of G@dpSachs & Co., where she was a
Vice President from January 2002 through April 20d6. Stamoulis started her career as a strateggutiant at The Boston Consulting Grc
Ms. Stamoulis is a member of the Board of Directifrslologic, Inc., a company focused on diagnostiesdical imaging systems and surgical
products for women. Ms. Stamoulis holds a B.S.doromics and a B.S. in Architecture from the Mabaaetts Institute of Technology and
M.B.A. from the MIT Sloan School of Management.
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Mr. Silva is our Senior Vice President and Corpai@ontroller, a position he has held since April20Mr. Silva joined us in August 20
as Senior Director, Accounting Operations and wasvice President and Corporate Controller fromt8eyoer 2008 through April 2011. Pr
to joining us, he was the Vice President, InteRapborting at Iron Mountain Incorporated from Jug08 until August 2007 and a consultant to
Iron Mountain’s financing department from April 2DQntil July 2006. He was the Finance Directorh&f Bioscience Technologies Division of
Thermo Electron Corporation from 2002 to April 200&. Silva holds a B.S. in accounting from AssuioptCollege.

Dr. Altshuler has been a member of our Board oé&twrs since May 2012. Dr. Altshuler is the Direabthe Program in Medical and
Population Genetics at the Broad Institute of Hedwaniversity and the Massachusetts Institute atiPelogy, a position he has held since
2003. He has served as the Institute's Deputy @iremd Chief Academic Officer since 2009. He is of four founding members of the Brc
Institute, a research collaboration of Harvard, MIie Whitehead Institute and the Harvard Hospitats Altshuler joined the faculty at
Harvard Medical School and the Massachusetts GeHespital in 2000 and has held the academic rdikrofessor of Genetics and Medicine
since 2008. He has served as Adjunct Professoiobd@/ at MIT since 2012. Dr. Altshuler earned &Bfrom MIT, a Ph.D. from Harvard
University and an M.D. from Harvard Medical Schdot. Altshuler completed his clinical training inteérnal Medicine, and in Endocrinology,
Diabetes and Metabolism, at the Massachusetts @ladespital.

Dr. Boger is the founder of Vertex and has beeimextbr since our inception in 1989. He was ourefkixecutive Officer from 1992
through May 2009. He was our Chairman of the Bdiamesh 1997 until May 2006 and our President from imgeption until December 2000,
and from 2005 through February 2009. He was oueiCtientific Officer from 1989 until May 1992. Brito founding Vertex in 1989,

Dr. Boger held the position of Senior Director afdic Chemistry at Merck Sharp & Dohme Research taibdes in Rahway, New Jersey,
where he headed both the Department of Medicinah@$try of Immunology & Inflammation and the Depaent of Biophysical Chemistry.
Dr. Boger holds a B.A. in chemistry and philosofitom Wesleyan University and M.S. and Ph.D. degireehemistry from Harvard
University.

Mr. Emmens was our Chief Executive Officer from M2G09 through January 2012, our President fromueeipr2009 through January
2012 and our Executive Chairman from February 28i@ugh May 2012. He has been a member of our Bofabdrectors since 2004 and was
the Chairman of our Board of Directors from May 2@Brough May 2012. Mr. Emmens is the ChairmarhefBoard of Directors of Shire plc,
and has been a member of Shire’s board since MA@R. From March 2003 to June 2008, Mr. Emmensalsasthe Chief Executive Officer
of Shire plc. Before joining Shire in 2003, Mr. Erans served as President of Merck KGaA's globalgrigion pharmaceuticals business in
Darmstadt, Germany. In 1999, he joined Merck KGad astablished EMD Pharmaceuticals, Inc., its Wn8&ates prescription pharmaceut
business. Mr. Emmens held the position of PresidadtChief Executive Officer at EMD Pharmaceuti¢edsn 1999 to 2001. Prior to this,

Mr. Emmens held various positions, including Chiekcutive Officer, at Astra Merck, Inc. as wellseeral positions at Merck & Co., Inc.
Mr. Emmens was a member of the Board of Directbtaayte Corporation, a drug development compargmf2006 through February 2009.
Mr. Emmens received a B.S. degree in business reamagf from Farleigh Dickinson University.

Mr. Kearney has been a member of our Board of Borscsince May 2011. Mr. Kearney served as the f@perating Officer of
Hospira, Inc., a specialty pharmaceutical and nagitio delivery company, from April 2006 to Janu26i1. From April 2004 to April 2006,
he served as Hospira’s Senior Vice President, [Emaand Chief Financial Officer, and he served etsng Chief Financial Officer through
August 2006. Mr. Kearney served as Vice PresidedtTaeasurer of Abbott Laboratories from 2001 taiA2004. From 1996 to 2001,

Mr. Kearney was Divisional Vice President and Coltér for Abbott’s International Division. He reeeid his B.S. in biology from the
University of lllinois and his M.B.A. from the Unérsity of Denver.

Mr. Lee has been a member of our Board of Directorse September 2012. Mr. Lee was the Vice PresmfdBM's Enterprise Marketir
Management Group from November 2010 through Jar2@t3. Mr. Lee co-founded Unica Corporation, a ptew of software and services
used to automate marketing processes, in 1992yaadJnica's President and/or Chief Executive Offfoem 1992 through November 2010,
when Unica was acquired by IBM. From 1989 to 19dP,Lee was a senior consultant at Digital Equiptr@arporation, a supplier of general
computing technology and consulting services. Mre holds a B.S. and M.S. in electrical engineesimg) computer science from the
Massachusetts Institute of Technology and an M.B@m Babson College.

Ms. McGlynn has been a member of our Board of Dinescsince May 2011. Ms. McGlynn has served a$tiesident and Chief Executive
Officer of the International AIDS Vaccine Initiaya global not-for-profit organization whose nssi
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is to ensure the development of safe, effectiveaam@ssible HIV vaccines for use throughout thddysince July 2011. Ms. McGlynn served
as President, Vaccines and Infectious Diseasesof®& Co., Inc. from 2005 until 2009. Ms. McGlyjmined Merck in 1983 and served in a
variety of marketing, sales and managed care rGlegently, Ms. McGlynn serves as a member of tbarB of Directors for Air Products and
Chemicals, Inc., a company specializing in gaselscaiemicals for industrial uses, and Amicus Theuéips, Inc., a biopharmaceutical
company. She is also a member of the National nidlisdvisory Committee at the University at BufisSchool of Pharmacy and
Pharmaceutical Sciences. Ms. McGlynn holds a BL®hiarmacy and an M.B.A. in Marketing from the &tdhiversity of New York at
Buffalo.

Dr. Riley has been a member of our Board of Dinecince July 2010. Dr. Riley is President and Chiecutive Officer of Meharry
Medical College, a position he has held since Jgn2@07. In addition, he holds the academic ranRraffessor of Internal Medicine at both
Meharry and Vanderbilt University Schools of Mediei From May 2004 to December 2006, Dr. Riley sgtia®a corporate officer and
member of the executive management team as Vicederd and Vice Dean for Health Affairs and Goveental Relations and Associate
Professor of Medicine at Baylor College of Mediciaad Assistant Chief of Medicine at Ben Taub Gahdospital, Baylor's primary adult
public hospital teaching affiliate. He served asistmnt Dean for Education at Baylor College of Mag: from 2000 to 2004. Dr. Riley is a
member of the Board of Directors of Pinnacle Finalnéartners, Inc., a financial services holdinghfiand HCA Holdings, Inc., a leading
operator of hospitals and health facilities. DieRiearned a B.A. from Yale University, an M.P.H hiealth systems management from the
Tulane University School of Public Health and TiegbiMedicine, an M.D. from the Morehouse SchoadVefdicine and an M.B.A. from the
Jones Graduate School of Business, Rice University.

Mr. Sachs has been a member of our Board of Direstince 1998. He is a General Partner at Chailess Rentures, a venture capital
firm he joined in 1999. From 1998 to 1999, he sdras Executive Vice President and General Mandgiscend Communications, Inc. From
1997 until 1998, Mr. Sachs served as PresidenCdmef Executive Officer of Stratus Computer, Incofd 1995 to 1997, he served as
Executive Vice President and General Manager ofrttegnet Telecom Business Group at Bay Networks, From 1993 to 1995, he served as
President and Chief Executive Officer at Xylogicgs. Mr. Sachs was a director of BigBand Netwotks,, a network-based platform
company, from 2005 through June 2009. Mr. Sachdg@IB.S.E.E. in electrical engineering from Budkdaiversity, an M.E.E. in electrical
engineering from Cornell University, and an M.Bffam Northeastern University.

Ms. Ullian has been a member of our Board of Doecsince 1997. From 1996 through January 2010setved as President and Chief
Executive Officer of Boston Medical Center, a ptesanot-for-profit, 626-bed, academic medical cemtith a community-based focus. From
1994 to 1996, she served as President and Chieluixe Officer of Boston University Medical Centdospital. From 1987 to 1994,

Ms. Ullian served as President and Chief Execufiffecer of Faulkner Hospital. She also serves dsector of Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.
and Hologic, Inc. Ms. Ullian holds a B.A. in potisil science from Tufts University and an M.P.Hnirthe University of Michigan.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

RISK FACTORS

Investing in our common stock involves a high degferisk, and you should carefully consider theksiand uncertainties described below
in addition to the other information included ocorporated by reference in this Annual Report onnd.0-K. If any of the following risks or
uncertainties actually occurs, our business, finahcondition or results of operations would likedyffer, possibly materially. In that case, the
trading price of our common stock could decline.

Risks Related to Our Products

A majority of our revenues are due to sales of INCIVEK (telaprevir) in the United States, and our future revenuesfrom INCIVEK are
expected to decline.

In 2012, 87% of our total net product revenues vedirgbutable to INCIVEK. Our net product revendiesn sales of INCIVEK declined
over the course of 2012. While we expect INCIVEK peoduct revenues to decline in 2013 as compar@®12, we cannot accurately predict
the extent of this decline. If our INCIVEK net praxt revenues, market share and/or other informaiigarding sales of INCIVEK do not meet
the expectations of investors or public marketystal the market price of our common stock mayidecl

The number and type of treatments for HCV infectias and likely will continue to change rapidlycteas that may affect the market for
any specific HCV treatment regimen, including IN@EK triple-<combination therapy, include the introduction ofv@mpetitive drugs or drt
combinations, increased sales from currently apmtalrugs, adverse information regarding the safletiyacteristics or efficacy of the regimen,
significant new information regarding potentialat@ent regimens being evaluated in clinical traadd enroliment by patients in clinical trials
being conducted by us or our competitors. We belibe decreases in INCIVEK net product revenueswiaexperienced in 2012 are the re
of a combination of factors, including the safety &fficacy data that have been reported by oumpetitors regarding treatment regimens for
HCV infection that may become commercially avaidabVer the next several years.

We market INCIVEK in direct competition with Meré Co., Inc.'s VICTRELIS (boceprevir), another HCYopease inhibitor that was
approved for sale in 2011. Since INCIVEK's apprdaa2011, many companies have continued to putseieévelopment of treatment
regimens for HCV infection that could potentialfffey improved safety, efficacy and/or tolerabilitycluding shorter duration therapies,
therapies that do not require the administratiopeg-IFN, and therapies that do not cause sidetsf&=en with the currently approved HCV
protease inhibitors. Many companies are investigatombination regimens that incorporate one orenaban HCV protease inhibitor, an H
nucleotide analogue, an HCV non-nucleotide polyseiahibitor or an NS5A inhibitor, each of whictnibit HCV viral replication through
different mechanisms of action. Clinical trialstbése investigational combination regimens aregpegmducted in a wide variety of patient
populations, including treatment-naive and treatsf@fure patients, and across all HCV genotypdsictv respond differently to different
combinations of molecules employing different methms.

On the basis of clinical data reported by our catitgrs from numerous late-stage clinical trialsaipears likely that future improvements
in HCV treatment regimens will come stepwise, with next group of drugs to be approved for adnriiistn in combination with peti=N anc
RBYV, followed quickly by drugs to be co-administétia all-oral regimens that do not require peg-IBN,injectable. Gilead's GS-7977, an
HCV nucleotide analogue, and Janssen's TMC435,G ptotease inhibitor, have been evaluated in PBadimical trials. The top-line results
reported by Gilead and Janssen from these Phdgacalkctrials suggest that the safety and efficpoyfiles of GS-7977 and TMC435 will
position them, if approved, to potentially takegngficant portion of the market for HCV therapi&®hile it is difficult to estimate regulatory
timelines and the response of regulatory agenoisalimissions for marketing approval, we believs likely that GS-7977-based and/or
TMC435-based treatment regimens will be approveahimor more markets as a treatment for genotyp€\L infection in late 2013 or 2014.

In addition to the HCV treatment regimens thatlae@ing developed in combination with peg-IFN and RBAany all-oral treatment
regimens for HCV infection are in development ttatld render uncompetitive current and future trestt regimens that include the
administration of peg-IFN by injection. We are piamg to evaluate all-oral treatment regimens theluide our HCV nucleotide analogue, VX-
135, in Phase 2 clinical trials. Some of our coritpest’ potential all-oral treatment regimens araemmdvanced, including all-oral treatment
regimens that are being evaluated in Phase 3 alinic
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trials being conducted by Gilead and Abbvie, IndiM/the development and regulatory timelines fase drug candidates are subject to risk
and uncertainty, we believe that (i) substantiaitaahal clinical data regarding potential all-ote#atment regimens will become available in
2013 and (ii) it is possible that one or moreaald treatment regimens for genotype 1 HCV infettiould be commercially available as soo
late 2014. As a result, if we are successful iretleping all-oral treatment regimens that include-¥36 and/or VX-222, independently or with
a collaborator, it is likely that our all-oral ttegent regimens would compete directly with one orempreviously approved all-oral treatment
regimens.

If one or more treatment regimens with a similabetter efficacy, safety and/or tolerability prefthan our telaprevir-based treatment
regimen, is approved, we expect that INCIVEK wolalske a significant portion of its share of the ggpe 1 HCV infection treatment market.

Our future revenues from KALYDECO monotherapy are dependent, among other factors, on the outcomes of reimbursement discussionsin
international markets and ongoing clinical trialsin which we are evaluating ivacaftor in additional patient groups.

In 2012, we obtained approval to market KALYDECE@a(aftor) in the United States, Canada and thepg&amo Union for the treatment of
patients with CF six years of age and older wih@551D mutation in thEFTRgene. S ince its approval in the first quarter@f2, most
eligible patients in the United States have irgtiband are receiving treatment with KALYDECO. We &r discussions regarding
reimbursement for KALYDECO in multiple internatidmaarkets. In France and Germany, we began comaiaales of KALYDECO in
2012, but we are continuing to discuss the reimdruent rate we will receive for KALYDECO in futurefiods. Funding for KALYDECO has
been recommended in England and Ireland, and vigi@ate that reimbursement in these countriestaliin in the second quarter of 2013. In
other countries, we must first complete the reirsbarent discussions before we commence commertal Jdnere can be no assurance that
we will be able to obtain, obtain on a timely basismaintain appropriate reimbursement for KALYDE@ these international markets.

In order to expand the market for ivacaftor moncapg, we will need to demonstrate that ivacaft@ate and effective in additional
patient populations. We are conducting three PBadimical trials and one Phase 2 clinical triaktmluate ivacaftor as a monotherapy in
additional patient populations, including patieydsinger than six years of age with gating mutateomd patients with other mutations in the
CFTRgene. These clinical trials are subject to manthefsame risks and uncertainties that are desciiltheése risk factors with respect to
development of our drug candidates. Even if théisecal trials are successful, we do not expect @ would obtain approval for the use of
ivacaftor in additional populations until 2014 atdr.

We cannot predict the royalty revenues we will receive based on INCIVO sales by Janssen in itsterritories.

Janssen began marketing INCIVO (telaprevir) ingbeond half of 2011, and we earned $117.6 millioroyalty revenues on net sales of
INCIVO by Janssen in 2012. In addition to the fastihat contribute to the uncertainty of salesNEIVEK (telaprevir) by us in the United
States, which apply equally to Janssen’s salds ieiritories, sales in Janssen'’s territoriesd@mendent upon Janssen'’s sales and marketing
efforts, which we do not control and may not beeabl effectively influence, and the actions andslens of foreign regulatory authorities. We
cannot predict the royalty revenues that we witbgnize in future periods from sales of INCIVO landsen or the timing of such revenues.

If our competitors bring drugs with superior product profiles to market, our drugs may not be competitive and our revenues could decline.

INCIVEK, KALYDECO and any drugs we develop in thedre may not be able to compete effectively witdrketed drugs or new drugs
that may be developed by competitors. There areyratirer companies developing drugs for the samieatidns that we are pursuing. In order
to compete successfully in these areas, we musbuietnate improved safety, efficacy and/or toleighibnd ease of manufacturing, and gain
and maintain market acceptance over competing dMigsy of our competitors, including major pharmatézal companies such as Abbvie,
Bristol-Myers Squibb, Gilead, Johnson & Johnsonrd¥eNovartis, Pfizer, Sanofi and Roche, possebstantially greater financial, technical
and human resources than we possess.

We are aware of a number of companies that ardaEag new treatments for HCV infection, includirRCV nucleotide analogues, HCV
protease inhibitors, non-nucleoside HCV polymeiahéitors and HCV NS5A inhibitors. Although drugwklopment is a lengthy process anc
involves a high degree of risk, we expect that dkiernext several years
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several of these competitive HCV drug candidateyg beaapproved as part of treatment regimens for H@&€tion in the United States and
elsewhere in the world. As a result, the commegmiaspects for INCIVEK, and VX-135 and VX22, if approved, will depend on, among o
factors:

» the efficacy, safety, tolerability and other deristics of any combination therapy includiNCIVEK, VX-135 and/or VX-222
relative to existing and future treatments for Hid¥éction;

e our ability to establish VX-135 and/or VX-222 aipproved, or INCIVEK as a significant componefhtiny commercially competitive
all-oral therapy for the treatment of HCV infectj@nd

» the clinical data obtained and timing of markgtapprovals for drug candidates being developeaubgompetitors, including any all-
oral therapy or shorter duration therapy for tleatment of HCV infection.

One or more competing therapies for the treatmeHhiGY infection may be approved in late 2013 or 20dith a similar or better efficacy,
safety and/or tolerability profile than our telapirebased treatment regimen, which would negatiadfgct INCIVEK and INCIVO sales and
could negatively affect our business and financiaddition.

A number of companies are seeking to identify aenetbp drug candidates for the treatment of CHuding Novartis, Pfizer, Genzyme
and several private companies. We believe our ctitopehave research and development programstdded identifying CFTR potentiators,
CFTR correctors and drug candidates with other aseisims of action with the goal of addressing theeulying cause of CF. While we belie
that it will be several years before any of thesmpetitive programs enter late-stage clinical depelent, if one or more competing therapies
are successfully developed as a treatment formgatigith CF, our revenues from KALYDECO and/or atbempounds, if then approved, co
face competitive pressures.

If we discover safety issueswith either of our products that were not known at the time of approval or if we fail to comply with continuing
U.S. and applicable foreign regulations, commercialization efforts for the product could be negatively affected, the approved product could
loseits approval or sales could be suspended, and our business could be materially harmed.

Our products are subject to continuing regulatamgrsight, including the review of additional safétformation. Drugs are more widely
used by patients once approval has been obtairketharefore side-effects and other problems magtiserved after approval that were not
seen or anticipated, or were not as prevalentwareeduring pre-approval clinical trials or nonaial studies. For example, in December 2012
we updated the INCIVEK label in the United Statestlude a Boxed Warning stating that fatal and-fetal serious skin reactions have been
reported in patients taking INCIVEK combinationatment. The subsequent discovery of previously anknproblems with a product could
negatively affect commercial sales of the prodregult in restrictions on the product or lead ® Withdrawal of the product from the market.
The reporting of adverse safety events involvinggroducts or public speculation about such eveoitsd cause our stock price to decline or
experience periods of volatility.

If we or our collaborators fail to comply with apable continuing regulatory requirements, we ar aallaborators may be subject to fir
suspension or withdrawal of regulatory approvatssfeecific products, product recalls and seizuvpsrating restrictions and/or criminal
prosecutions. In addition, the manufacturers weagado make our products and the manufacturingjtfasiin which our products are made
subject to periodic review and inspection by theARdhd foreign regulatory authorities. If problerme aentified during the review or
inspection of these manufacturers or manufactuaniijties, it could result in our inability to ugke facility to make our product or a
determination that inventories are not safe for m@mcial sale.

If physicians, patients and third-party payors do not accept our drugs, we may be unable to generate significant revenuesin future periods.

Our drugs may not gain or maintain market acceameong physicians and patients. Effectively mangefNCIVEK and KALYDECO,
and any of our other drug candidates, if approvegilires substantial efforts, both prior to lauaadk after approval. Physicians may elect not
to prescribe our drugs, and patients may electoaquest or take them, for a variety of reasankiding:
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» lower demonstrated efficacy, safety and/or tolditghtompared to other dru¢
» prevalence and severity of adverse stfects

» lack of costeffectivenes:

* lack of reimbursement availability from thighrty payors

» adecision to wait for the approval of otherretpies in development that have significant peeti@dvantages over our applicable
drug;

e convenience and ease of administra
« other potential advantages of alternative treatmethods; ar

» ineffective marketing and/or distribution supp
If our drugs fail to achieve or maintain marketegtance, we will not be able to generate significamenues in future periods.

Government and other third-party payors seek to contain costs of health care through legidative and other means. If they fail to provide
coverage and adeguate reimbursement rates for our products, our revenueswill be harmed.

In both domestic and foreign markets, our salgwodflucts depend in part upon the availability aflaursement from third-party payors.
Third-party payors include government health programhb sisdMledicare and Medicaid in the United Statesthechational health care syste
in many international markets, managed care prosjqeivate health insurers and other organizati@wvernments and other third-party
payors seek to contain or reduce the costs oftheale through various means, and in certain fargigrkets, pricing or profitability of
therapeutic and other pharmaceutical productshiestito governmental control. In the United Statkere have been, and we expect that ther
will continue to be, a number of federal and spatgosals to implement similar governmental conffble ACA requires discounts under the
Medicare drug benefit program and increases thatestpaid by pharmaceutical companies on drugged\ysy Medicaid. In addition, the AC
imposes an annual fee, which will increase annualtysales by branded pharmaceutical manufacturers.

In addition, third-party payors attempt to conth&alth care costs by demanding price discountslmtes and limiting both the types and
variety of drugs that they will cover and the amisuhat they will pay for drugs. As a result, thagy not cover or provide adequate payment
for our products. We might need to conduct postkeigmg studies in order to demonstrate the costesiffeness of our products or any other
future products to such payors’ satisfaction. Sstcldies might require us to commit a significanbant of management’s time and financial
and other resources. Our products might not ulétgdie considered cost-effective. Adequate thirdypeeimbursement might not be available
to enable us to maintain price levels sufficientdalize an appropriate return on our investmepraduct development.

Reimbursement rates may vary according to the tigeearug and the clinical setting in which itused, may be based on payments
allowed for lower-cost products that already aimbairsed, may be incorporated into existing paysént other products or services and may
reflect budgetary constraints and/or imperfectionte data used to calculate these rates. Negpfar products are reduced by mandatory
discounts or rebates required by government healt programs and privatehegotiated discounts. While we have implementectiesl in ar
effort to comply with mandated reimbursement rattes,U.S. federal government, state governmentgpendte payors frequently pursue
actions against pharmaceutical and biotechnologypamies alleging that the companies have oversgategs in order to inflate
reimbursement rates. Any such action could adweedétct the pricing of and revenues from our prddu

Specialty pharmaceuticals are drugs that are pbestby specialist physicians to treat rare ortlifeeatening conditions and typically
address smaller patient populations. Each of coalysets is a specialty pharmaceutical product, amdesearch and development programs ar
focused on developing additional specialty pharmgcal products. The increasing availability ane o$ innovative specialty pharmaceutici
combined with their relative higher cost as comgdoeother types of pharmaceutical products, isrivéqgg to generate significant third-party
payor interest in developing cost-containment sgiats targeted to this sector. While the effecti®iof payers' efforts to control access to and
pricing of specialty pharmaceuticals has been déithib date, the increasing use of health technadsggssment in markets around the world
and the deteriorating finances of governments reay to significant adverse business affects iritthee.
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Any legislation or regulatory changes or relaxatiétaws that restrict imports of drugs from otleeuntries also could reduce the net price
we receive for our products.

If we market any of our productsin a manner that violates federal or state health care laws, including fraud and abuse laws, laws prohibiting
off-label promotion, disclosure laws or other similar laws, we may be subject to civil or criminal penalties.

We are subject to health care fraud and abuse kws, as the federal False Claims Act and thekdgckback provisions of the federal
Social Security Act, laws prohibiting off-label ghact promotion and other similar state and fedieras and regulations. While we have a
corporate compliance program designed to actiwEptify, prevent and mitigate risk through the iemkntation of compliance policies and
systems and the promotion of a culture of compkaifove are found not to be in full compliance wihese laws our business could be
materially harmed.

The federal antkickback law prohibits knowingly and willfully offéng, paying, soliciting, receiving or providingmeineration, directly ¢
indirectly, in exchange for or to induce either thérral of an individual, or the ordering, furnisg, arranging for or recommending of an item
or service that is reimbursable, in whole or intplay a federal health care program, such as MeglimaMedicaid. The federal statute has beer
interpreted to apply to arrangements between phaautizal manufacturers on the one hand and pressripatients, purchasers and formulary
managers on the other hand, and therefore constainmarketing practices and our various servingements with physicians, including
physicians who make clinical decisions to use eadpcts. Although there are a number of statutasngptions and regulatory safe harbors
protecting certain common activities from prosemutithe exemptions and safe harbors are drawnwlgrrand practices that involve
remuneration intended to induce prescribing, pwititpor recommending may be subject to scrutingemralty if they do not qualify for an
exemption or safe harbor.

Federal false claims laws prohibit any person fikgrawingly presenting, or causing to be presentddisa claim for payment to the fede
government, or knowingly making, or causing to ke a false statement to get a false claim paiarrRaceutical companies have been
prosecuted under these laws for a variety of atlggemotional and marketing activities, such asjuliag free product to customers with the
expectation that the customers would bill federabpams for the product; reporting to pricing seed inflated average wholesale prices that
were then used by federal programs to set reimmeserates; engaging in promotion for uses thaFfbA has not approved, known as “off-
label” uses, that caused claims to be submittédedicaid for non-covered off-label uses; and subngjtinflated “best price” information to
the Medicaid Rebate Program.

Although physicians are permitted, based on theidical judgment, to prescribe products for indimasi other than those cleared or
approved by the FDA, manufacturers are prohibitethfpromoting their products for such off-label s19¢/e market INCIVEK for adults with
genotype 1 HCV infection and KALYDECO for patiessig years of age and older with CF who have thelBbmutation in theCFTRgene
and provide promotional materials and training paogs to physicians regarding the use of INCIVEK HKAd YDECO in these patient
populations. If the FDA determines that our promeél materials, training or other activities cong# offiabel promotion, it could request tl
we modify our training or promotional materialsather activities or subject us to regulatory endonent actions, including the issuance of a
warning letter, injunction, seizure, civil fine andminal penalties. It also is possible that otfegleral, state or foreign enforcement authorities
might take action if they believe that the alleggroper promotion led to the submission and payroénlaims for an off-label use, which
could result in significant fines or penalties undther statutory authorities, such as laws prainippifalse claims for reimbursement. Even if it
is later determined we were not in violation ofgbéaws, we may be faced with negative publicitgur significant expenses defending our
actions and have to divert significant managemesaurces from other matters.

Also applicable to some of our practices is HIPA® éts implementing regulations, which created fatleriminal laws that prohibit
executing a scheme to defraud any health care ibpnefram or making false statements relatingealthn care matters and which also impc
certain regulatory and contractual requirementandigg the privacy, security and transmission dhiidually identifiable health information.

The majority of states also have statutes or réiguis similar to the federal anti-kickback law datbe claims laws, which apply to items
and services reimbursed under Medicaid and otlgz programs, or, in several states, apply regssdiEthe payor. In addition, certain states
have laws governing the privacy of certain heaiforimation, which may differ from each other inrgfgcant ways and often are not preemg
by HIPAA, complicating compliance efforts. Sancsamder
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these federal and state laws may include civil nemyepenalties, exclusion of a pharmaceutical mactufer’s products from reimbursement
under government programs and criminal fines. Hirem are not determined to have violated theses]Ja@@vernment investigations into these
issues typically require the expenditure of siguaifit resources and generate negative publicitygiwtwuld harm our business.

In recent years, several states and localities bageted legislation requiring pharmaceutical camgsto establish marketing compliance
programs, file periodic reports with the state @ken periodic public disclosures on sales, markepnging, clinical trials, health care provider
payments and other activities. Additionally, astdithe ACA, the federal government recently eeddhe Physician Payment Sunshine Act
provisions. The Physician Payment Sunshine Actipiows will require pharmaceutical manufacturersgqoort annually to the Secretary of
HHS payments or other transfers of value made alyehtity to physicians and teaching hospital$=ébruary 2013, regulations were released
that contain detailed guidance regarding the in&diom that must be collected and reported. Welvéltequired to collect information
regarding such payments starting in August 2013tarkkgin reporting such information in March 2004er the next several years, we will
need to dedicate significant resources to enhancsystems and processes in order to comply wéhketliegulations. Failure to comply with
reporting requirements would result in significaivil monetary penalties. The ACA also includesioas provisions designed to strengthen
significantly fraud and abuse enforcement, sudneeased funding for enforcement efforts and thveering of the intent requirement of the
federal anti-kickback statute and criminal healithecfraud statute such that a person or entityngdr needs to have actual knowledge of this
statute or specific intent to violate it.

If our past or present operations are found tanbgalation of any such laws or any other governtakregulations that may apply to us,
may be subject to penalties, including civil andninal penalties, damages, fines, exclusion frodefal health care programs and/or the
curtailment or restructuring of our operations. Tis& of our being found in violation of these laigsncreased by the fact that many of them
have not been fully interpreted by the regulatartharities or the courts, and their provisions subject to a variety of interpretations. Any
action against us for violation of these laws, efeve successfully defend against them, could eaussto incur significant legal expenses and
divert our management’s attention from the openatibour business.

The sales and marketing practices of our indusagetbeen the subject of increased scrutiny frorariddand state government agencies,
and we believe that this trend will continue. Weda place policies to govern how we may retaialtiecare professionals as consultants tha
reflect the current climate on this issue and ao@iding training on these policies. Any action exgaus for violation of these laws, even if we
successfully defend against them, could cause ueto significant legal expenses and divert ounaggement’s attention from the operation of
our business.

Future health care reform measures could hinder or prevent commercial success of our products and drug candidates.

The United States federal government and otherrgovents have shown significant interest in pursiieglth care reform. Any
government-adopted reform measures could adveaiegt the pricing of health care products, inchgdour approved products and/or any
future drug candidates approved for sale. The pamg efforts of governments, insurance compamiesiaged care organizations and other
payors for health care products to contain or rechealth care costs may adversely affect our plbdiset prices we believe are fair for our
products or any drugs we may develop and commeéreial

New laws, regulations and judicial decisions, owmeterpretations of existing laws, regulations aedisions, relating to health care
availability, methods of delivery or payment fouds, or sales, marketing or pricing, may limit potential revenues, and we may need to
revise our research and development or commeraializ programs. The pricing and reimbursement envirent may change in the future and
become more challenging for any of several reasookiding policies advanced by the U.S. governmeetv health care legislation or fiscal
challenges faced by government health administratighorities. Specifically, in the United Statesl some foreign jurisdictions, there have
been a number of legislative and regulatory prolscead initiatives to change the health care systeways that could affect our ability to sell
products. Some of these proposed and implementede could result in reduced reimbursement raiestir current or future products,
which would adversely affect our business, openatiand financial results. The ACA has far reacltigsequences for biopharmaceutical
companies like us. As a result of this legislatisuystantial changes are being made to the cisystém for paying for health care in the
United States, including changes made in ordextienel medical benefits to those who would otherhask health insurance coverage. If
reimbursement for our products is substantiallg tbsin we expect in the future, or rebate obligatiassociated with them are substantially
increased, our business could be materially andéradly affected.
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Further federal and state proposals and healthrefoems in and outside of the United States céioid the prices that can be charged for
our products and may further limit our commercipportunity. Our results of operations could be mally adversely affected by the ACA, by
the Medicare prescription drug coverage legislatinthe possible effect of such current or futeggslation on amounts that private insurers
will pay and by other health care reforms that hayenacted or adopted in the future.

Risks Related to Development, Clinical Testing anBegulation of our Products and Drug Candidates

We are investing significant resourcesin our development program for VX-809 in combination with ivacaftor, based primarily on data from
a Phase 2 clinical trial in which patients received VX-809 in combination with ivacaftor over a short duration. If we are unable to show the
safety and efficacy of VX-809 in combination with ivacaftor, or experience delaysin doing so, our business would be materially harmed.

In February 2013, we initiated a Phase 3 cliniealelopment program for V809 in combination with ivacaftor. We initiatedghprogran
based primarily on data from a Phase 2 clinical tni which a relatively small number of patiereseived VX-809 as a monotherapy for 28
days, followed by VX-809 in combination with ivataf for 28 days. The pattern of lung function resgmobserved in both Cohort 2 and
Cohort 3 of this clinical trial was similar, withdecline in FEV; during the VX-809 monotherapy dosing period follaWsy a statistically
significant increase in FEMduring the VX-809 and ivacaftor combination dospegiod. We expect to enroll approximately 500 patevith
CF who are homozygous for the F508del mutatiorarhenf our two Phase 3 clinical trials, for a tathhpproximately 1,000 patients. VX-809
will be evaluated in combination with ivacaftor owesignificantly longer dosing period of 24 weeksl without the monotherapy lead-in
period. In order to obtain approval for VX-809 imngbination with ivacaftor, we will need to show thé&X-809 in combination with ivacaftor
safe and effective in a significantly larger numbgpatients than were involved in the Phase dddirtrial, over the significantly longer 24-
week combination dosing period. If we are unablshtow the safety and efficacy of VBG9 and ivacaftor in the relevant patient poputatjcot
experience delays in doing so, our business woellchaterially harmed.

Our drug candidates remain subject to clinical testing and regulatory approval. If we are unable to successfully devel op additional drug
candidates, our business will be materially harmed.

Our business depends upon the successful develdamérommercialization of additional drug candédafThese drug candidates are in
various stages of development and must satisfyaigostandards of safety and efficacy before tlaeybe approved by the FDA or comparable
foreign regulatory authorities for sale. To satiffgse standards, we must allocate resources aowngrious development programs and r
engage in expensive and lengthy testing of our danglidates. Discovery and development effortsiéaw pharmaceutical products, including
new combination therapies, are resource-intensidenaay take 10 to 15 years or longer for each dauglidate. Despite our efforts, our drug
candidates may not:

» offer therapeutic or other improvement over exgiompetitive drug

» be proven safe and effective in clinical tri

* meet applicable regulatory standa

» be capable of being produced in commercial quastait acceptable costs

« if approved for commercial sale, be successfullyked as pharmaceutical produ

We have ongoing or planned clinical trials for amngr of our drug candidates and ivacaftor, whidbeisig evaluated in additional patient
groups. The strength of our company’s product pbafand pipeline will depend in large part upoe tiutcomes of these clinical trials.
Findings, including toxicology findings, in nondiial studies conducted concurrently with clinia#&ls as well as results of our clinical trials
could lead to abrupt changes in our developmeitiges, including the possible cessation of depetent activities associated with a partic
drug candidate or program. Furthermore, result® foor clinical trials may not meet the level oftitical significance required by the FDA or
other regulatory authorities for approval of a doagdidate.

Many companies in the pharmaceutical and biotedgyoindustries, including us, have suffered sigaifit setbacks in later-stage clinical
trials even after achieving promising results irlieastage clinical trials. Accordingly, the resifrom
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completed preclinical studies and clinical trialaymot be replicated in later clinical trials, amoing clinical trials for our drug candidates
may not be predictive of the results we may obiailater-stage clinical trials or of the likelihood approval of a drug candidate for
commercial sale. In addition, from time to time s@port interim data from our clinical trials. Ini@rdata from a clinical trial may not be
predictive of final results from the clinical trial

If we are unable to obtain regulatory approval, we will be unable to commercialize our drug candidates.

Our drug candidates are subject to extensive gavental regulations relating to their developmelmj@al evaluation, manufacturing and
commercialization. Rigorous nonclinical testing afidical trials and an extensive regulatory apitqrocess are required in the United State
and in most other countries prior to the commersddé of drug candidates. Satisfaction of theseoéimer regulatory requirements is costly,
time-consuming, uncertain and subject to unanticipagdayd. It is possible that none of the drug cardilae are developing will be appro
for marketing.

The time required to complete clinical trials andétisfy the FDA and other countries’ regulatayiew processes is uncertain and
typically takes many years. Our analysis of dataioled from nonclinical and clinical activitiessabject to confirmation and interpretation by
regulatory authorities, which could delay, limitgmevent regulatory approval. We also may encoumanticipated delays or increased costs
due to government regulation from future legislatis administrative action or changes in governmigmlicy during the period of drug
development, clinical trials and governmental ratprly review.

Any failure to obtain regulatory approvals for agicandidate would prevent us from commercializivg drug candidate. Any delay in
obtaining required regulatory approvals could matigradversely affect our ability to successfutymmercialize a drug candidate.
Furthermore, any regulatory approval to marketusanay be subject to limitations that we do noteztn the indicated uses for which we
may market the drug. Any such limitations couldusglthe size of the market for the drug.

We also are subject to numerous foreign regulateguirements governing the conduct of clinicallgriananufacturing and marketing
authorization, pricing and third-party reimbursemdie foreign regulatory approval process inclualésf the risks associated with the FDA
approval process described above, as well asatstiisutable to the satisfaction of foreign reqments. Approval by the FDA does not ensure
approval by regulatory authorities outside the eahiStates and approval by a foreign regulatoryaityhdoes not ensure approval by the Fl
In addition, the FDA may not favorably considerad&tom clinical trials conducted in foreign juristions. Foreign jurisdictions have different
approval procedures than those required by the BBtAmay impose additional testing requirement®fordrug candidates.

If clinical trials are prolonged or delayed, our development timelines for the affected devel opment program could be extended, our coststo
develop the compound could increase and the competitive position of the compound could be adversely affected.

We cannot predict whether or not we will encoumpteblems with any of our completed, ongoing or pkahclinical trials that will cause
us or regulatory authorities to delay or suspemdadl trials, or delay the analysis of data froor completed or ongoing clinical trials. Any of
the following could delay our development programs:

e ongoing discussions with the FDA or comparableifgn authorities regarding the scope or desigsuoftlinical trials and the number
of clinical trials we must conduct;

« delays in enrolling volunteers or patients ioliaical trials, including as a result of low nunmb@f patients that meet the eligibility
criteria for the trial;

« alower than anticipated retention rate of volurge® patients in clinical trial
» the need to repeat clinical trials as a resulhobnclusive results, unforeseen complicationsstirtg or clinical investigator errc
» inadequate supply or deficient quality of drug ddatk materials or other materials necessary foctinduct of our clinical trial

» unfavorable FDA or foreign regulatory authoiitgpection and review of a manufacturing facilttat supplied clinical trial materials
or its relevant manufacturing records or a clinicial site or records of any clinical or precliaiénvestigation;

37




Table of Contents

» unfavorable scientific results from clinical trig

» serious and unexpected drug-related side-eféegisrienced by participants in our clinical triatsby participants in clinical trials
being conducted by our competitors to evaluate deuglidates with similar mechanisms of action arcttires to drug candidates that
we are developing;

» favorable results in testing of our competitaiglg candidates, or FDA or foreign regulatory autly approval of our competitors’
drug candidates; or

e action by the FDA or a foreign regulatory authotiyplace a clinical hold on a tri

Our ability to enroll patients in our clinical tiain sufficient numbers and on a timely basisuisjsct to a number of factors, including the
size of the patient population, the nature of tteqzol, the proximity of patients to clinical Stehe availability of effective treatments for the
relevant disease, the number of other clinicaldregoing and competing for patients in the samdé&ation and the eligibility criteria for the
clinical trial. In addition, patients may drop aftour clinical trials or may be lost to follow-upedical evaluation after treatment ends, and thi
could impair the validity or statistical significes of the trials. Delays in patient enroliment nfareseen drop-out rates may result in increase
costs and longer development times.

We, our collaborators, the FDA or other applicalkeigulatory authorities may suspend clinical triafl& drug candidate at any time if we or
they believe the healthy volunteers or patienttigpating in such clinical trials are being expdde unacceptable health risks or for other
reasons. Any such suspension could materially adliyeaffect the development of a particular drugdidate and our business.

We may not successfully develop VX-135 or VX-222 and, as a result, we could be subject to significant impairment charges in future periods.

In 2011, we licensed HCV nucleotide analogues fAdios and recorded $250.6 million as an intangédset on our consolidated balance
sheet. In 2009, we acquired ViroChem Pharma Im¢/imChem, for $100.0 million in cash and 10.7 Iioit shares of our common stock. We
acquired ViroChem to secure rights to two non-nosilde HCV polymerase inhibitors, VX-222 and VX-75®the third quarter of 2011, we
determined that the fair value of VX-759 was zeotiads, which resulted in a $105.8 million impainmieharge in the third quarter of 2011. As
of December 31, 2012, our consolidated balancet sheladed intangible assets of $412.9 million tethto VX-222 and $250.6 million related
to the Alios HCV nucleotide program.

There are numerous reasons why we may not be@blectessfully develop a combination therapy fertthatment of HCV infection that
includes VX-222, VX-135 or a combination of bothtbém, including:

«data from clinical trials involving compounds evatied separately may not predict possible outcosuesy as unforeseen drug interacti
from compounds dosed in combination, which coulgatigely affect the efficacy and safety profiletbé combination therapy;

epositive results in small clinical trials and nanaal studies may not be predictive of resultslinical trials involving large numbers of
patients; and

favorable results of testing or earlier FDA or igreregulatory approval of competitorg'oducts with a better product prof

There can be no assurance that we will successfairglop VX-222 or VX-135, and if we do not sucdeklg develop both of these drug
candidates we will incur additional impairment aes in future periods related to VX-222 and/or V351If we incur a significant impairment
charge, the value of our common stock could deereas

If our processes and systems are not compliant with regulatory requirements, we could be subject to restrictions on marketing our products
or could be delayed in submitting regulatory filings seeking approvals for our drug candidates.

We have a number of regulated processes and sy#tatrere required to obtain and maintain reguwaamproval for our drugs and drug
candidates. These processes and systems are golgeatinual review and periodic inspection by Bi2A and other regulatory bodies. If
compliance issues are identified at any point exdbvelopment and approval process,
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we may experience delays in filing for regulatoppeoval for our drug candidates, or delays in obitgj regulatory approval after filing. Any
later discovery of previously unknown problems afiesy issues with approved drugs or manufacturioggsses, or failure to comply with
regulatory requirements, may result in restrictionssuch drugs or manufacturing processes, withalrafvdrugs from the market, the
imposition of civil or criminal penalties or a rafal by the FDA and/or other regulatory bodies tprape pending applications for marketing
approval of new drugs or supplements to approveticgtions, any of which could have a material adgesffect on our business. In addition,
we are a party to agreements that transfer redpibtysior complying with specified regulatory reigements, such as filing and maintenance o
marketing authorizations and safety reporting engpliance with manufacturing requirements, to odlatmrators and third-party
manufacturers. If our collaborators or third-partgnufacturers do not fulfill these regulatory obtigns, any drugs for which we or they obtair
approval may be subject to later restrictions omunfiacturing or sale, which could have a materiaieasske effect on our business.

Risks Related to Collaborators, Manufacturing and Reliance on Third Parties

We depend on our collaborators to work with usto develop, manufacture and commercialize our products and some of our drug candidates.

We have granted development and commercializatigms for telaprevir to Janssen (worldwide othemttNorth America and specific
countries in Asia) and to Mitsubishi Tanabe (spedbuntries in Asia). We are entitled to royaltiszm sales of INCIVO (telaprevir) in
Janssen’s territories. The success of the comntizgatian of INCIVO in Janssen'’s territories is depent, in part, upon Janssen’s sales and
marketing efforts, which we do not control and may be able to effectively influence. If Jansserglnot effectively market INCIVO, our
cash flows from royalties on net sales of INCIVOulgbbe materially harmed. We also in-license VX-1@8n Alios and any loss of this
license would materially harm our efforts to deyedm all-oral, interferon-free treatment regimenH&V infection.

The risks that we face in connection with thesstég and any future collaborations include théofeing:

e Our collaborators may change the focus of theurelopment and commercialization efforts or mayehasufficient resources to
effectively develop our drug candidates. The abiit some of our products and drug candidatesaohr¢heir potential could be
limited if collaborators decrease or fail to ingealevelopment or commercialization efforts relatethose products or drug
candidates.

» Any future collaboration agreements may haveetffect of limiting the areas of research and depelent that we may pursue, either
alone or in collaboration with third parties.

» Collaborators may develop and commercializéegitlone or with others, drugs that are similasrtoompetitive with the drugs or
drug candidates that are the subject of their bolations with us. For example, Janssen is dedigaignificant development
resources and planning to seek approval to mad&l4i35, a potentially competitive HCV protease inttly which could increase tl
likelihood that Janssen would terminate our coltabion or apply fewer resources to marketing INCIVO

« Our collaboration agreements are subject toiteation under various circumstances, includingnabe case of our agreement with
Janssen, termination without cause. Any such teatitin by Janssen could have a material adverset@fficour financial condition
and/or disrupt the commercial sale of INCIVO inskan'’s territories.
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We depend on third-party manufacturers, including sole source suppliers, to manufacture our products and the materials we require for our
clinical trials. We may not be able to maintain these relationships and could experience supply disruptions outside of our control.

We rely on a worldwide network of third-party maacturers to manufacture and distribute INCIVEKdpgkvir) and KALYDECO
(ivacaftor) for commercial sale and clinical trigd&xd our drug candidates for clinical trials. A®ault of our reliance on these third-party
manufacturers and suppliers, including sole sosugpliers of certain components of our productsdmg candidates, we could be subject to
significant supply disruptions outside of our coht©Our supply chain for sourcing raw materials amhufacturing drug product ready for
distribution is a multi-step international endeaviird-party contract manufacturers, including som China, supply us with raw materials,
and contract manufacturers in the European Uniantlae United States convert these raw materiatsdnig substance and convert the drug
substance into final dosage form. Establishingraadaging this global supply chain requires a sigaift financial commitment and the
creation and maintenance of numerous third-pantgractual relationships. Although we attempt teefively manage the business
relationships with companies in our supply chaia,d@ not have control over their operations.

Supply disruptions may result from a number ofdagtincluding shortages in product raw materialsor or technical difficulties,
regulatory inspections or restrictions, shippingastoms delays or any other performance failurarythird-party manufacturer on which we
rely. Any supply disruptions could disrupt saleaf products and/or the timing of our clinicahts. Furthermore, we may be required to
modify our production methods to permit us to ecoimally manufacture our drugs for sale and our draigdidates for clinical trials. These
modifications may require us to re-evaluate ououeses and the resources of our third-party mamwrfacs, which could result in abrupt
changes in our production methods and supplies.

We require a supply of INCIVEK for sale in North A&nica. We believe there are multiple third partiepable of providing most of the
materials and services we need in order to marwfetnd distribute INCIVEK. It is also possiblettsapply of materials that can not be
second-sourced can be managed with inventory plgnkiVe have limited flexibility to adjust our supph response to changes in demand, du
to the significant lead times required to manufextilNCIVEK.

We require a supply of ivacaftor for commerciaksg@s KALYDECO) and for use in our clinical trial&/e obtain ivacaftor to meet our
commercial and clinical supply needs through atpiarty manufacturing network. Our supply chairludes several sole source suppliers. A
disruption in the commercial supply of KALYDECO fpatients would have a significant impact on pasieaur business and our product
revenues. A disruption in the clinical supply cdéaftor could delay the completion of clinical Isiand impact timelines for filing an SNDA or
NDA. In 2013, we plan to obtain an alternative seufor the active ingredient of ivacaftor, whichaisol-sourced material that is critical to 1
supply of ivacaftor, and to obtain second sourgmbers in 2014 for other components of the ivamasupply chain. There can be no assuranc
that we will be able to establish secondary soufmeall of our KALYDECO supply needs on a timelgdis or at all.

In the course of providing its services, a contraahufacturer may develop process technology ietat¢he manufacture of our products
or drug candidates that the manufacturer ownseeittdependently or jointly with us. This would irase our reliance on that manufacturer ot
require us to obtain a license from that manufaetimm order to have our products or drug candidatasufactured by other suppliers utilizing
the same process.

In 2012, we recorded an aggregate of $133.2 million in charges for excess and obsolete NCIVEK inventories, and future adverse changesin
the outlook for commercial sales of INCIVEK could result in additional inventory write-downs and related charges.

In 2012, we recorded an aggregate of $133.2 milliczharges for excess and obsolete INCIVEK invaasiThese charges were baset
our analysis of our INCIVEK inventory levels in agibn to our commercial outlook for INCIVEK. As paf the analysis, we considered,
among other factors, (i) decreases in demand f@IWEK during 2012 and our expectation that demawndlal decrease further in the future,
(ii) the potential development by us of other dragsl combination treatments for HCV infection, udihg pursuant to collaboration
agreements to evaluate VX-135 in combination witlgccandidates controlled by third parties, thakenia unlikely that INCIVEK will play a
role in future combination therapies, (iii) the gdgment of a Boxed Warning on the INCIVEK prescripinformation in December 2012, (iv)
the potential development by our competitors oeotifrugs and combination treatments for HCV infatt(v) positive results reported in 2012
from clinical trials of drug candidates being deyedd by us and our competitors and (vi) the
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initiation by our competitors of additional Phasarfl Phase 3 clinical trials evaluating drug caaigisl for the treatment of HCV infection. We
will continue to evaluate our INCIVEK inventories @ quarterly basis, and future adverse changé=inutlook for commercial sales of
INCIVEK, including changes due to future developtsanith respect to demand for INCIVEK or the advament or approval of other drugs
or combination treatments for HCV infection, cowddult in additional inventory writdewns and related charges in future periods, wbdehd
be material.

We may not be able to attract collaborators or external funding for the development and commercialization of certain of our drug candidates.

As part of our ongoing strategy, we may seek aatuli collaborative arrangements or external fundangertain of our development
programs and/or seek to expand existing collabmmatio cover additional commercialization and/oredepment activities. We have a number
of research programs and early-stage and mid-stageal development programs, and we have entetechon-exclusive collaboration
agreements to evaluate VX-135 in combination withpounds controlled by Janssen and GlaxoSmithKRhany time, we may determine
that in order to continue development of a drugdadate or program or successfully commercializeug dve need to identify a collaborator or
expand an existing collaboration. Potentially, degending on the circumstances, we may desiratballaborator either agree to fund
portions of a drug development program led by usgoee to provide all the funding and directlydéle development and commercialization
of a program. No assurance can be given that dagtefve make to seek additional collaborative rgeaments will be successfully completed
on a timely basis or at all. If we are unable tteemto acceptable collaborative relationshipg onmore of our development programs could
be delayed or terminated and the possibility ofregeiving a return on our investment in the progcmuld be impaired.

Werely on third partiesto conduct our clinical trials, and those third parties may not perform satisfactorily, including failing to meet
established deadlines for the completion of such trials or regulatory requirements.

We rely on third parties such as contract researghnizations to help manage our clinical trialqggss and on medical institutions and
clinical investigators to enroll qualified patiersisd conduct our clinical trials. Our reliance bede third parties for clinical development
activities reduces our control over these actigiticcordingly, these thirgarty contractors may not complete activities dmesitile, or may n
conduct our clinical trials in accordance with riagory requirements or our trial design. If thelsied parties do not successfully carry out their
contractual duties or meet expected deadlines, myeba required to replace them. Although we belibe there are a number of other third-
party contractors we could engage to continue thegeities, it may result in a delay of the affsttrial. If clinical trials are not conducted in
accordance with our contractual expectations auleggry requirements, action by regulatory autlesitnight significantly and adversely aff
the conduct or progress of these trials or in jgecircumstances might result in a requirement tghaial be redone. Accordingly, our efforts to
obtain regulatory approvals for and commercialigedrug candidates could be delayed.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property
If our patents do not protect our drugs, or our drugsinfringe third-party patents, we could be subject to litigation and substantial liabilities.

We have numerous issued patents and patent ajpmtisgtending in the United States, as well as @patts in other countries. Our
success will depend, in significant part, on odulitgtto obtain and maintain U.S. and foreign patprotection for our drugs, their uses and our
processes, to preserve our trade secrets and tatepgthout infringing the proprietary rights dfitd parties. In particular, we believe that
composition-of-matter claims are the most signifigaatent claims for companies in our segment efpfilarmaceutical industry, which focuses
on small molecules that are new chemical compounisle we have patents or patent applications watmposition-of-matter claims for each
of our products and clinical drug candidates, aportion of these patents have been granted. Weotée certain that any patents will issue
from our patent applications or, even if patengsiésor have issued, that the issued claims willigeous with any significant protection against
competitive products or otherwise be valuable conciably.

Due to evolving legal standards relating to theptbility, validity and enforceability of paterdsvering pharmaceutical inventions and
the scope of claims made under these patentspdity & maintain, obtain and enforce patentsnsertain and involves complex legal and
factual questions. U.S. and foreign patent apptioattypically are maintained in confidence foreipd of time after they initially are filed
with the applicable patent office. Similarly,
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publication of discoveries in the scientific litawee often lag behind actual discoveries. Consetijyeme cannot be certain that we or our
licensors were the first to invent, or the firsfiite patent applications on, our products or deagdidates or their use. If a third party also has
filed a U.S. patent application relating to ourguwots or drug candidates or a similar invention/may have to participate in interference
proceedings to determine priority of invention aodld lose our patent position. Furthermore, we matyhave identified all U.S. and foreign
patents or published applications that affect awgifess by blocking our ability to commercialize deugs or drug candidates.

Our patents may be challenged by third partiesiltiag in the patent being deemed invalid, unerdafde or narrowed in scope, or the
third party may circumvent any such issued pateXito, our pending patent applications may noteéssund we may not receive any additional
patents. Our patents might not contain claimsahatufficiently broad to prevent others from miflig our technologies. For instance, the
issued patents relating to our products or druglicites may be limited to a particular moleculen@lecules and may not cover similar
molecules that have similar clinical propertiesn€equently, our competitors may independently agvebmpeting products that do not
infringe our patents or other intellectual property

The laws of many foreign jurisdictions do not pritetellectual property rights to the same extenin the United States and many
companies have encountered significant difficuliregrotecting and defending such rights in forgignsdictions. If we encounter such
difficulties in protecting or are otherwise prechadfrom effectively protecting our intellectual pesty rights in foreign jurisdictions, our
business could be substantially harmed.

Because of the extensive time required for devetpntesting and regulatory review of a drug caatdidit is possible that, before a drug
candidate can be commercialized, the related patagptexpire or remain in force for only a shortipeifollowing commercialization of such
drug candidate, thereby reducing any advantagdseqiatent. To the extent our drug candidates areommercialized significantly ahead of
the expiration date of any applicable patent, dhtoextent we have no other patent protectioruch slrug candidates, those drug candidates
would not be protected by patents, and we would tkeéy solely on other forms of exclusivity, suchragulatory exclusivity provided by the
FDCA.

Risks Related To Our Operations

If we are unable to successfully implement our strategic plan, our business may be materially harmed.

Our strategy is to make focused investments tonhaad develop innovative drugs, while we contitmenarket INCIVEK and
KALYDECO to eligible patients to generate revenaad maintain a strong financial position. We exprattotal revenues to decline in 2013
as compared to 2012 as a result of expected desr@atNCIVEK revenues. While we are seeking toéase our revenues from KALYDECO
monotherapy, we do not believe that in the nean thiese potential increased revenues will be safftto offset expected declines in
INCIVEK revenues. In order to maintain a strongafigial position, we are focusing our developmemeatment on our three key mid- to late-
stage development programs in CF, HCV infection animmune diseases. We also plan to continugeastment in research programs
with a focus on identifying drug candidates for@spky markets.

Our INCIVEK net product revenues may decline marikly than we currently anticipate and we may lo@fable to increase or sustain
our KALYDECO revenues, which would make it difficib maintain a strong financial position and couné our research and development
investments at the levels we currently plan. Inithoit, there can be no assurance that our key dpwegnt programs will be successful or that
our research programs will result in drugs thatcae successfully develop and commercialize.

If we fail to manage our operations effectively, our business may suffer.

We have experienced growth in our headcount and baganded our global operations, which has plaasdiwill continue to place,
significant demands on our management and our tipead research and development and financiaasifucture. To effectively manage our
current and future potential growth, we will need t

* implement and clearly communicate our corporeitde strategie:
« enhance our operational and financial infrastrugtincluding our controls over records and infoiiog

« enhance our operational, financial and managepresesses, including our cross-functional denisiaking processes and our
portfolio management systems;
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» train and manage our global employee

» transition from a U.S.-centric company into agamization capable of developing and commerciadiznultiple drug candidates in
international markets; and

» enhance our compliance and legal resou

The transition to our new corporate headquartersin Boston, Massachusetts could materially disrupt our business operations.

We expect that the transition to our new corpona@dquarters in Boston, Massachusetts will be doatpt and will require us to expend
significant logistical and financial resources othbh2013 and 2014. Our corporate headquarters amauyy research facilities have been loc:
in Cambridge, Massachusetts in close proximityumarous other biotechnology companies since ourdimg in 1989. While we do not
expect the move to result in significant turnowee, cannot be sure that we will be able to retdioa key scientific, commercial and
management employees.

We are endeavoring to complete the interioofit-of the two new buildings in Boston, Massachtisdey late 2013, and we are planning
a staggered move of employees, office and laboratgoplies and certain equipment from our currantlifies to our new corporate
headquarters beginning after the completion ofitheut of the two new buildings. We will need toraplete the fit-out and conduct the move
on schedule in order to complete the decommissipairour existing facilities in Cambridge, Massaséttis in a timely manner. We expect tha
the move, even if executed on schedule, will calisiptions to our business operations in Massattsjsncluding disruptions to our use of
certain laboratories and other research and demednpfacilities. Our business operations could béemially harmed if the completion of the
interior fit-out is significantly delayed, if theawe does not proceed as scheduled or if the disngto our use of laboratories and other
research and development facilities are more sagmf than expected.

Our business has a substantial risk of product liability claims. |f we do not obtain appropriate levels of insurance, product liability claims
could adversely affect our business.

Our business exposes us to significant potent@dyost liability risks that are inherent in the dieyement, clinical testing, manufacturing
and sales and marketing of human therapeutic ptedie have product liability insurance and clihtcal insurance in amounts that we
believe are adequate to cover this risk. Howewarjrsurance may not provide adequate coveragestgadtential liabilities. If a claim is
brought against us, we might be required to pagllagd other expenses to defend the claim, asasgdhy uncovered damages awards resi
from a claim brought successfully against us aedd¢ldamages could be significant and have a nladriarse effect on our financial
condition. Furthermore, whether or not we are wtiely successful in defending any such claims, vghhbe required to direct significant
financial and managerial resources to such defendeadverse publicity is likely to result.

Risks associated with operating in foreign countries could materially adversely affect our business.

We have expanded our operations in Canada in todaarket INCIVEK and KALYDECO and in other intetienal markets in order to
market KALYDECO. A significant portion of our commagal supply chain, including sourcing of raw méés and manufacturing, is locatec
China, Japan and the European Union. Consequerglare, and will continue to be, subject to riskated to operating in foreign countries.
Risks associated with conducting operations inifsreountries include:

» differing regulatory requirements for drug apprevand regulation of approved drugs in foreign coes
» collectibility of accounts receivab

* unexpected changes in tariffs, trade barriers agdlatory requiremen

* economic weakness, including inflation, or polititestability in particular foreign economies an@nmkets
« compliance with tax, employment, immigration aniddalaws for employees living or traveling abrc

» foreign taxes, including withholding of payroll &s

« foreign currency fluctuations, which could resalincreased operating expenses or reduced regeand other obligations incident to
doing business or operating in another country;
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» workforce uncertainty in countries where labor @hig more common than in the United St:
* production shortages resulting from any eventsctiffg raw material supply or manufacturing capéibii abroad; ar

* business interruptions resulting from gaalitical actions, including war and terroris

These and other risks associated with our intesnatioperations could materially adversely affeatlmusiness.

In addition, our international operations are sobje regulation under U.S. law. For example, thesign Corrupt Practices Act prohibits
U.S. companies and their representatives fromiafjepromising, authorizing or making paymentsdrefgn officials for the purpose of
obtaining or retaining business abroad. In manynti@s, the health care professionals we regulatgract with may meet the definition of a
foreign government official for purposes of the &ign Corrupt Practices Act. We also are subjeanfmort/export control laws. Failure to
comply with domestic or foreign laws could resulivarious adverse consequences, including thelgestlay in approval or refusal to
approve a product, recalls, seizures, withdrawalofpproved product from the market, the impasitibcivil or criminal sanctions, the
prosecution of executives overseeing our internatioperations and corresponding bad publicity meghtive perception of our company in
foreign countries.

If we acquire or license technologies, resources or drug candidates, we will incur a variety of costs and may never realize benefits from the
transaction.

If appropriate opportunities become available, wghtlicense or acquire technologies, resourcagysior drug candidates. We might
never realize the anticipated benefits of suckastction, and we may later incur impairment clargkated to assets acquired in any such
transaction. In particular, due to the risks innéie drug development, we may not successfullyettgy or obtain marketing approval for the
drug candidates we acquire. For example, we indwr$105.8 million impairment charge in the thirchger of 2011 in connection with VX-
759, which we obtained through our 2009 acquisitibiroChem. Future licenses or acquisitions caelsult in potentially dilutive issuances
of equity securities, the incurrence of debt, tremtion of contingent liabilities, impairment exges related to goodwill, and impairment or
amortization expenses related to other intangiséets, which could harm our financial condition.

If wefail to attract and retain skilled employees, our business could be materially harmed.

The number of our employees increased by approrimnan% during 2012 and approximately 18% during2pand we are likely to
experience additional growth in 2013. Because oug discovery and development activities are higbghnical in nature, we require the
services of highly qualified and trained scientist® have the skills necessary to conduct theseitaes. In addition, we need to attract and
retain employees with experience in marketing awdroercialization of medicines. We face intense ostitipn for our personnel from our
competitors and other companies throughout ourstrduMoreover, the growth of local biotechnolognganies and the expansion of major
pharmaceutical companies into the Boston area inaveased competition for the available pool oflelliemployees, especially in technical
fields, and the high cost of living in Massachusetiakes it difficult to attract employees from atparts of the country to Massachusetts. Our
ability to commercialize our products, and achieueresearch and development objectives, dependsraability to respond effectively to
these demands and expand our internal organiz@tiaccommodate anticipated growth. If we are unabtare qualified personnel or manage
our growth effectively, there could be a materilerse effect on our business.

The loss of the services of key employees or the failure to effectively integrate key employees could negatively affect our business and future
growth.

Our future success will depend in large part onafility to retain the services of our key scigntdnd management personnel and to
integrate new scientific and management persomt@laur business. A loss of key personnel or aifaito properly integrate new personnel
could be disruptive. We have entered into employtragreements with some executives and provide cosgp@n-related benefits to all of our
key employees that vest over time and thereforedadhem to remain with us. However, the employnagnéements can be terminated by the
executive on relatively short notice. The valuenaployees of stock-related benefits that vest twee—such as options and restricted stock—
is significantly affected by movements in our stpeice, and may at any point in time be insuffitisncounteract more lucrative offers from
other companies. A failure to retain, as well ag Hrain and effectively integrate into our orgaation a sufficient
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number of qualified scientists, professionals, sakersonnel and senior management would negatiffelgt our business and our ability to
grow our business.

If we do not comply with laws regulating the protection of the environment and health and human safety, our business could be adversely
affected.

Our research and development efforts involve throtied use of hazardous materials, chemicalsvanidus radioactive compounds.
Although we believe that our safety procedureshéondling and disposing of these materials compti tie standards prescribed by state,
federal and foreign regulations, the risk of acotdeécontamination or injury from these materiads ©ot be eliminated. If an accident occurs,
we could be held liable for resulting damages, Witiculd be substantial. We also are subject to momseenvironmental, health and workplace
safety laws and regulations, including those gowerfaboratory procedures, exposure to blood-bpatbogens and the handling of
biohazardous materials. Although we maintain wakeompensation insurance to cover us for costenag incur due to injuries to our
employees resulting from the use of these matethsinsurance may not provide adequate covesiggast potential liabilities. We maintain
insurance to cover pollution conditions or othetr&ardinary or unanticipated events relating to wse and disposal of hazardous materials th
we believe is appropriate based on the small amafumazardous materials we generate. Additionatrfald state and local laws and regulations
affecting our operations may be adopted in therbutWe may incur substantial costs to comply watig substantial fines or penalties if we
violate, any of these laws or regulations.

Risks Related to Holding Our Common Stock and Potdial Financing Activities
Our stock price may fluctuate.

Market prices for securities of companies suchuas are highly volatile. From January 1, 2011 te@®wgber 31, 2012, our common stock
traded between $26.50 and $66.10 per share. Theetrfar our stock, like that of other companiesha pharmaceuticals industry, has from
time to time experienced significant price and wodufluctuations. The future market price of ounséies could be significantly and adversely
affected by factors such as:

» the information contained in our quarterly eags releases, including our net product revenugsity revenues and operating
expenses for completed periods and guidance regpfdiure periods;

e prescription data and other information disctbbg thirdparties regarding our business or prodi

» announcements of FDA actions with respect todsugs or our competitors’ drugs, or regulatorindis for our drug candidates or
those of our competitors or of results of clinitrédls or nonclinical studies relating to our drudeug candidates or those of our
competitors;

» technological innovations or the introduction ofwng@rugs by our competitol

e government regulatory actic

* public concern as to the safety of drugs develdpeds or our competitol

» developments in patent or other intellectual propeghts or announcements relating to these g

» developments in domestic and international govemaigolicy or regulation, for example relatingintellectual property right

» developments relating specifically to other camips and market conditions for pharmaceuticalldogtchnology stocks or stocks in
general;

* business development, capital structuring or fiframectivities; an
» general worldwide or national economic, politicaticapital market conditior
Our quarterly operating results are subject to significant fluctuation.

Our operating results have fluctuated from quddejquarter in the past, and we expect that thelyowittinue to do so in the future. Factors
that have caused quarterly fluctuations in the pedtide variable amounts of product revenues and
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collaboration revenues, impairment charges, chdayesxcess and obsolete INCIVEK inventories andngfes in the fair value of derivative
instruments. We cannot accurately predict our itevenues from our products, and our revenues éwamproducts could vary on a quarterly
basis. Our revenues from our products, and inqasi INCIVEK, may be affected by, among other dast seasonality and the timing of orc
from our significant customers. Our quarterly résalso could be significantly affected by sigrdfit charges, which may or may not be sin
to charges we have experienced in the past. Mastiobperating expenses relate to our researcldevelopment activities, do not vary dires
with the amount of revenues and are difficult tfuatin the short term. As a result, if revenuea articular quarter are below expectations
are unlikely to proportionately reduce operatingenses for that quarter.

These examples are only illustrative and othersrigicluding those discussed in these “Risk Fagtomild also cause fluctuations in our
reported financial results. Our operating resultsray any one period do not necessarily suggestethdts of future periods.

We expect that results from our clinical development activities and the clinical development activities of our competitorswill continue to be
released periodically, and may result in significant volatility in the price of our common stock.

Any new information regarding our products and dragdidates or competitive products or potentiedlynpetitive drug candidates can
substantially affect investorgerceptions regarding our future prospects. Wegcollaborators and our competitors periodicallyvitle update
regarding drug development programs, typically tigio press releases, conference calls and preserstati medical conferences. These
periodic updates often include interim or finaluks from clinical trials conducted by us or oungeetitors and/or information about our or our
competitors’expectations regarding regulatory filings and sugsioins as well as future clinical development ofmeducts or drug candidat:
competitive products or potentially competitive glieandidates. The timing of the release of inforomaby us regarding our drug development
programs is often beyond our control and is infekeshby the timing of receipt of data from our dalitrials and by the general preference
among pharmaceutical companies to disclose cliniat during medical conferences. In addition,itfi@mation disclosed about our clinical
trials, or our competitors' clinical trials, may based on interim rather than final data that maglve interpretation difficulties and may in a
event not accurately predict final results.

We could be negatively affected by securities class action complaints.

On September 6, 2012, a purported securities alag®n lawsuit was commenced in the United Staisgitt Court for the District of
Massachusetts under the captity of Bristol Pension Fund v. Vertex Pharmacealidncorporated, et al. naming as defendants us and
certain of our current and former officers and clioes. The lawsuit alleges that we made materiatepresentations and/or omissions of
material fact in our public disclosures during gregiod from May 7, 2012 through June 28, 2012inalliolation of Section 10(b) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, atal Rib-5 promulgated thereunder. By order datecebBber 12, 2012, the court appointed
the City of Bristol lead plaintiff and appointecetiCity of Bristol's attorneys lead counsel. Thenifis filed an amended complaint on Febrt
11, 2013. The plaintiffs seek unspecified monetiagnages on behalf of the putative class and andagiarosts and expenses, including
attorney's fees, as well as disgorgement of thegaas from certain individual defendants' salesuofcommon stock. We believe that this
action is without merit and intend to defend itasigusly. This action will take time and money tdestel and may distract us from more
productive activities. No assurance can be provttatiwe will be successful in defending this clainthat insurance proceeds will be
sufficient to cover any liability under such claims

We may need to raise additional capital that may not be available.

Although we do not have any plans to do so in & herm, we may in the future need to raise amditicapital. Any potential public
offering or private placement may or may not beilgirro the transactions that we have completetiénpast. Any debt financing may be on
terms that, among other things, include converiatures that could result in dilution to our thetisting security holders and restrict our
ability to pay interest and dividends—although weendt intend to pay dividends for the foreseeablare. Any equity financings would result
in dilution to our then-existing security holdelfsadequate funds are not available on acceptabhed, or at all, we may be required to curtail
significantly or discontinue one or more of ouraash, drug discovery or development programsudint clinical trials, incur significant ca
exit costs, or attempt to obtain funds throughrageanents with collaborators or others that mayirequs to relinquish rights to certain of our
technologies, drugs or drug candidates. Based ay fiagtors, including general economic conditicadditional financing may not be availa
on acceptable terms, if at all.
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Outstanding indebtedness may make it more difficult to obtain additional financing or reduce our flexibility to act in our best interests.

We are obligated to repay an aggregate of $400dlmfor our convertible senior subordinated nodee 2015, or 2015 Notes, no later
than October 1, 2015. We also are obligated to msak@-annual interest payments on the outstandingipal amount of the 2015 Notes. We
may issue additional convertible debt or incur otigpes of indebtedness in the future. The levalwfindebtedness could affect us by:

* making it more difficult to obtain additionahtncing for working capital, capital expenditurdsbt service requirements or other
purposes;

« shortening the duration of available revolving érégcause lenders may seek to avoid conflictingunity dates

» constraining our ability to react quickly in anfavorable economic climate or to changes in asiriess or the pharmaceutical
industry; or

» potentially requiring the dedication of substaihhmounts to service the repayment of outstandetg, including periodic interest
payments, thereby reducing the amount of cashablaifor other purposes.

I ssuances of additional shares of our common stock could cause the price of our common stock to decline.

As of December 31, 2012 , we had 217.3 million ekaf common stock issued and outstanding. As oéBéer 31, 2012 , we also had
outstanding options to purchase 19.7 million shafemmmon stock with a weighted-average exercige pf $38.09 per share aB® million
shares of common stock issuable upon conversiono2015 Notes, at a conversion price of approxetya$48.83 per share. Outstanding
vested options are likely to be exercised if thekagprice of our common stock exceeds the appkcakercise price, and, in the future, we
expect to issue additional options and restrictedksto directors and employees. In addition, we msaue additional common stock or
restricted securities in the future as part oftiiciag activities or business development activitied any such issuances may have a dilutive
effect on existing shareholders. Sales of substaatiounts of our common stock in the open madkehe availability of such shares for sale,
could adversely affect the price of our commonlstdit addition, the issuance of restricted commtocksor common stock upon exercise of
any outstanding options would be dilutive, and roayse the market price for a share of our commumkgb decline.

We have adopted anti-takeover provisions and are subject to Massachusetts corporate laws that may frustrate any attempt to remove or
replace our current management or effectuate a business combination involving Vertex.

Our corporate charter and by-law provisions andddelusetts state laws may discourage certain bffesnsactions involving an actual
or potential change of control of Vertex that migbtbeneficial to us or our security holders. Charter provides for staggered terms for the
members of the Board of Directors. Our by-laws gtha directors a right to adjourn annual meetiofgshareholders, and certain provisions of
our by-laws may be amended only with an 80% shddeheoote. We may issue shares of any class cesefipreferred stock in the future
without shareholder approval and upon such ternmia8oard of Directors may determine. The rigttthe holders of common stock will be
subject to, and may be adversely affected by, itfres of the holders of any class or series ofgrefl stock that may be issued in the future.
Massachusetts state law prohibits us from engagisgecified business combinations, unless the auatibn is approved or consummated
prescribed manner, and prohibits voting by anyedtader who acquires 20% or more of our voting lsteithout shareholder approval. As a
result, shareholders or other parties may findaterdifficult to remove or replace our current mgaaent.

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Annual Report on Form 10-K and, in particuthe description of our Business set forth in Itenthe Risk Factors set forth in this
Item 1A and our Management’s Discussion and AnalgéiFinancial Condition and Results of Operatiseisforth in Item 7 contain or

incorporate a number of forward-looking statemevithin the meaning of Section 27A of the Securitdes of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1834amended, including statements regarding:
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* expectations regarding the amount of, timinged trends with respect to our revenues, costerpenses and other gains and losses
including those related to net product revenues fsales of INCIVEK and KALYDECO and royalty revesueom net sales of
INCIVO and to the intangible assets associated thighvViroChem acquisition and the Alios collabavati

e our expectations regarding clinical trials, depenent timelines and regulatory authority filingsd submissions for telaprevir,
ivacaftor, VX-135, VX-222, VX-509, VX-661, VX-787mal VX-809;

* our expectations regarding the timing of daterfrour clinical trials of ivacaftor monotherapy avid-809 in combination with
ivacaftor, the possibility of using that data t@part regulatory submissions and the timing of éhpatential submissions;

» our ability to successfully market INCIVEK and/oAKYDECO or any of our other drug candidates if wsain regulatory approvi

e our expectations regarding the timing and stnecof clinical trials of our drugs and drug caradek, including telaprevir, ivacaftor,
VX-135, VX-222, VX-509, VX-661, VX-787 and VX-80%nd the expected timing of our receipt of data flamongoing and
planned clinical trials;

» the data that will be generated by ongoing andr@drclinical trials and the ability to use thataded support regulatory filinc

e our beliefs regarding the support provided bgichl trials and preclinical and nonclinical stesliof our drug candidates for further
investigation, clinical trials or potential useatreatment;

» the focus of our drug development efforts andfmancial and management resources and our plaortinue investing in our
research and development programs and our strédedpvelop our drug candidates, alone or with thady-collaborators;

» the establishment, development and maintenancellaborative relationship
e potential business development activit

* our ability to use our research programs totifieand develop new drug candidates to addressigediseases and significant unmet
medical needs;

e our estimates regarding obligations associated avitase of a facility in Kendall Square, Cambridgdassachusetts; a
» our liquidity and our expectations regarding thegibility of raising additional capiti

Any or all of our forward-looking statements indlAnnual Report on Form 10-K may turn out to bemngroThey can be affected by
inaccurate assumptions or by known or unknown rsid uncertainties. Many factors mentioned in #riaual Report on Form 10-K will be
important in determining future results. Conseglyemnib forward-looking statement can be guarantéetual future results may vary
materially from expected results. We also providaationary discussion of risks and uncertaintieden “Risk Factors” above in this Item 1A.
These are factors and uncertainties that we tronkdecause our actual results to differ materifiltyn expected results. Other factors and
uncertainties besides those listed there couldaadsersely affect us.

Without limiting the foregoing, the words “belieyé&anticipates,” “plans,” “intends,” “expects” argimilar expressions are intended to
identify forward-looking statements. There are enbar of factors and uncertainties that could caaseal events or results to differ materially
from those indicated by such forwalmbking statements, many of which are beyond ouatrot, including the factors and uncertaintiesfeeth
under “Risk Factors” above in this Iltem 1A. In aduh, the forward-looking statements contained imerepresent our estimate only as of the
date of this filing and should not be relied upsmrepresenting our estimate as of any subsequent\ithile we may elect to update these
forward-looking statements at some point in therfeitwe specifically disclaim any obligation to simto reflect actual results, changes in
assumptions or changes in other factors affectileh $orward-looking statements.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

We did not receive any written comments from theusiies and Exchange Commission prior to the d&8tedays before the end of the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2012 regardingitimgs$ under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934amended, that have not been resolvec

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
Massachusetts Headquarters

We lease an aggregate of approximately 870,000-sdeat of space in eleven facilities situated rearcurrent corporate headquarters
located at 130 Waverly Street in Cambridge, Masssetts. In May 2011, in order to consolidate owgrafions in Massachusetts into one
campus, we entered into two leases pursuant tohwhécagreed to lease approximately 1.1 million sgeet of office and laboratory space in
two connected buildings being built at Fan PieBaston, Massachusetts, which will become our nenparate headquarters. We expect that
the leases will commence in December 2013 andexi#nd for 15 years from the commencement dateh&Ve an option to extend the tern
the leases for an additional ten years. In addifiosonnection with our relocation to Boston, wieged into a lease in June 2012 for
approximately 100,000 square feet of space in t&dh Marine Industrial Park, in close proximitythe Fan Pier site. We expect to use this
additional space for certain logistical and labonabperations and small-scale manufacturing eqaigrthat will complement the new office
and laboratory facilities at our Fan Pier headagrart

Existing Facilities in Massachuse

We currently lease approximately 100,000 squaredikaboratory and office space for our 130 Way&treet corporate headquarters anc
approximately 192,000 square feet of laboratory @ffide space at 200 Sidney Street, located adjdoevur corporate headquarters. The 130
Waverly Street and 200 Sidney Street leases erpifeecember 31, 2015. We lease approximately 185600are feet at 88 Sidney Street,
Cambridge, Massachusetts under a lease that expidese 2014. We also lease approximately 56,608re feet of office space at One
Marina Park Drive, Boston, Massachusetts. Thisfigeayear lease that began in the third quarte&?Gff1 with one option to extend for either
five or ten years.

The lease for our Kendall Square, Cambridge, Mdmssatts facility will expire in 2018. We have thgtion to extend this lease for two
consecutive ten-year terms. We have subleased>dpyately 145,000 square feet of the Kendall Sqéacéity and use the remaining 147,000
square feet of space we lease in the facility torresearch operations. The subleases are for wmdisg in 2015, with one sublease having ar
extension option to 2018.

Transition to Fan Pier Corporate Headquarters

We are in the process of planning our transitioatonew corporate headquarters at Fan Pier. Wecttipat this transition will be
complicated and will require us to expend significiagistical and financial resources in both 2@h8 2014. We are endeavoring to complete
the interior fit-out of the two new buildings bytda2013, including the construction of new labonatand office space that will support our
current and future needs. We also are planning &iaggered move of employees, office and laboratapplies, and specific equipment from
our current facilities to our new headquarters beigig after completion of the faut of the two new buildings in early 2014 and amnihg intc
mid-2014. In addition, we are preparing to deconsiois our existing laboratory facilities in Cambrgjdviassachusetts upon completion of the
move to our Fan Pier headquarters.

Additional United States and Worldwide Locations

In addition to our facilities in Massachusetts, le@se an aggregate of approximately 230,000 sdeet®f space in facilities located in
California, Washington DC, lowa, Canada, Switzedlahe United Kingdom, France, Germany and Austrdlhis includes laboratory and
office space to support our research and developarganizations in San Diego, California, Montre@iiebec, Coralville, lowa and Milton
Park, Abingdon, England.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On September 6, 2012, a purported shareholder atdiss, City of Bristol Pension Fund v. Vertex Pharmacealidncorporated, et al.
was filed in the United States District Court fbetDistrict of Massachusetts, naming us and cedfagur current and former officers and
directors as defendants. The lawsuit alleges tleatnade material misrepresentations and/or omissibmeterial fact in our public disclosures
during the period from May 7, 2012 through JuneZtg,2, all in violation of Section 10(b) of the 8dties Exchange Act of 1934, as ameni
and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder. By ordesddBiecember 12, 2012, the court appointed thed€iBristol lead plaintiff and appointed
the City of Bristol's attorneys lead counsel. Thaniffs filed an amended complaint on February 2013. The plaintiffs seek unspecified
monetary damages on behalf of the putative cladsaaraward of costs and expenses, including affrfiees, as well as disgorgement of the
proceeds from certain individual defendants' safemir common stock. We believe that this actiowithout merit and intend to defend it
vigorously.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART Il

ITEM5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOC KHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market I nformation

Our common stock is traded on The NASDAQ Globak8eMarket under the symbol “VRTX.” The followinghile sets forth for the
periods indicated the high and low sale pricesspare of our common stock as reported by NASDAQISkdarket LLC:

Year Ended December 31, 2012: High Low

First quarter $ 431t $ 32.0¢
Second quarter 66.1( 35.2¢
Third quarter 59.9¢ 46.0:
Fourth quarter 60.0( 38.4¢

Year Ended December 31, 2011:

First quarter $ 521:$ 35.1¢

Second quarter 58.8i 44.5]

Third quarter 54.3¢ 39.0¢

Fourth quarter 45.2¢ 26.5(
Shareholders

As of February 15, 2013, there were 2,277 holdérscord of our common stock.

Performance Graph
CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Based on Initial Investment of $100 on December28D,7
with dividends reinvested (fiscal years ended Ddmam31)
§200

207 12708 1208 1210 12M1 1aha

—+=— Wertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated - - - NASDAQ Compoaits  ---2--- NASDAQ Pharmaceutical
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Dividends

We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocommon stock, and we currently expect thgtfature earnings will be retained
for use in our business.

I ssuer Repurchases of Equity Securities

The table set forth below shows all repurchasesofirities by us during the three months ended ibbee31, 2012 :

Total Number of Shares Maximum Number of

Purchased as Part of Shares that May Yet
Total Number Average Price Publicly Announced be Purchased Under
Period of Shares Purchased Paid per Share Plans or Programs the Plans or Programs
Oct. 1, 2012 to Oct. 31, 2012 14,42F $ 0.01 — —
Nov. 1, 2012 to Nov. 30, 2012 27,15¢ $ 0.01 — —
Dec. 1, 2012 to Dec. 31, 2012 23,57 $ 0.01 — —

The repurchases were made under the terms of oended and Restated 2006 Stock and Option Plan.riimdeplan, we award shares
restricted stock to our employees that typically subject to a lapsing right of repurchase by us.ritdy exercise this right of repurchase if a
restricted stock recipient’s service to us is te@ed. If we exercise this right, we are requiedepay the purchase price paid by or on behalf
of the recipient for the repurchased restricteaeshavhich typically is the par value per shar8@01. Repurchased shares returned to the
Amended and Restated 2006 Stock and Option Plaavaikable for future awards under the terms of fitan.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following unaudited selected consolidated folalndata are derived from our audited consolidéitezhcial statements. These data
should be read in conjunction with our audited otfidated financial statements and related notesatteincluded elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K and with “Management’s Discassind Analysis of Financial Condition and Resaft©perations” included in ltem 7
below.

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Consolidated Statements of Operations Datz
Product revenues, net $ 133345 $ 950,88¢ $ — — 3 —
Royalty revenues 141,49¢ 50,01t 30,24 28,32( 37,48:
Collaborative revenues 52,08¢ 409,72. 113,12¢ 73,56¢ 138,02:
Total revenues 1,527,04; 1,410,621 143,37( 101,88¢ 175,50«

Total costs and expenses (1) 1,524,711 1,296,80! 839,44° 715,90: 638,21:
Income (loss) from operations 2,33 113,82( (696,07") (614,017 (462,709
Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling

interest (Alios) (2) (55,897 (11,609 — — —
Net income (loss) attributable to Vertex $ (107,03) $ 29,57 $ (754,62) $ (642,179 (459,85))
Net income (loss) per diluted share attributable

to Vertex common shareholders $ 050 $ 01£ $ 3.77) $ (3.7 (3.27)
Shares used in per diluted share calculation: 211,94¢ 208,80 200,40: 173,25¢ 140,55¢

As of December 31,
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
(in thousands)
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable
securities $ 132121 $ 968,92. $ 1,031,41 $ 1,284,991 832,10:
Total assets 2,759,28 2,204,28! 1,725,44 1,955,48: 980,47¢
Total current liabilities 432,62: 392,34¢ 474,78 284,88: 216,56
Long-term debt obligations (3) 400,00t 400,00( 400,00( 159,97: 287,50(
Construction financing lease obligation (4) 268,03: 55,95( — — —
Other long-term obligations 424,25: 390,47( 346,69( 414,28 237,54
Q) In 2012, total costs and expenses includeagamegate of $133.2 million in lower of cost orrket charges for excess and obsolete INCIVEK

inventories. See Note F to our financial statements

In 2011, total costs and expenses included angitilnasset impairment charge of $105.8 milliore Sete | to our financial

statements.
2) Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrollinteiest (Alios) relates to our collaboration withids. SeeNote Bto our financial statemen
3) As of December 31, 2012, long-term debt obiayes consisted of $400.0 million in aggregate @pal amount of convertible senior

subordinated notes (due 2015). See Note K to aanfiial statements.

4) In 2011, we entered into two leases for oturel corporate headquarters. We are deemed fouating purposes to be the owner of the
buildings during the construction period. See Nét® our financial statements.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL C ONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
OVERVIEW

We are in the business of discovering, developimgnufacturing and commercializing small moleculegdrfor patients with serious
diseases. Over the last two years, we have obtaipgbval for, and initiated commercial sales of;, first two products: INCIVEK (telaprevil
which we market in the United States and Canadthitreatment of adults with genotype 1 hepatltisrus, or HCV, infection; and
KALYDECO (ivacaftor), which we market in the Unit&tates, Canada and Europe for the treatment sfnpesix years of age and older with
cystic fibrosis, or CF, who have a specific genegtigtation that is referred to as the G551D mutafide receive royalties from sales in Europe
and other countries of telaprevir, which is mardeas INCIVO, by our collaborator, Janssen PharmameuN.V.

We invest in scientific innovation to create tramgfative medicines for patients with serious diesawith a focus on specialty markets.
Our strategy is to make focused investments tonhaad develop innovative drugs, while we contitmenarket INCIVEK and KALYDECO
to eligible patients to generate revenues and @iaiat strong financial position.

Each of our products has achieved rapid acceptfantke treatment of patients in the United Stasesl our total revenues have increased
from $143.4 million in 2010 to $1.5 billion in 201@ur 2012 total revenues included INCIVEK net prodrevenues of $1.2 billion and
KALYDECO net product revenues of $171.6 millions Af December 31, 2012, we had cash, cash equigaled marketable securities of
$1.3 hillion . We expect that our total net produastenues will decline in 2013. Our net produceraes from sales of INCIVEK declined over
the course of 2012, and we expect this trend téirmes due to reduced demand for current therapiesl€V infection, as it appears that new
competitive therapies will reach the market overrlext several years. We expect that KALYDECO pobdevenues will increase in 2013 as
compared to 2012, as we secure reimbursement farYRECO in additional international markets. In theture, we expect that our ability to
increase net product revenues will be dependent iqmeasing KALYDECO sales and introducing onenare of our late-stage development
products to the market.

In the near term, we plan to focus most of our diegelopment investment on the following key progsa

Cystic Fibrosis -Our goal is to develop treatment regimens thatpvidlvide benefits to as many patients with CF assiixte and to
maximize those benefits. We are conducting threes® label-expansion clinical trials and a prded¢ancept clinical trial of ivacaftor
monotherapy in people with certain mutations irirthgstic fibrosis transmembrane conductance reégylar CFTR,gene that were not
studied in prior Phase 3 clinical trials. In Febsua013, we initiated an international pivotal Plh&sdevelopment program to evaluate
combinations of ivacaftor and our investigation& &rrector VX809 for patients with the most prevalent genetit¢ation that causes C

HCV - We are investigating all-oral, interferon-freeatment regimens that are 12 weeks or less inidoraith a goal of providing a
high viral cure rate and improved tolerability drder to be commercially competitive in the HCV ketrof the future. We plan to conduct
multiple Phase 2 clinical trials to evaluate alklarombination treatment regimens that includet@WV nucleotide analogue VX-135
together with molecules that have potentially cdmphtary mechanisms, such as ribavirin, or RBV, H@¥%tease inhibitors, HCV NS5A
inhibitors and non-nucleoside HCV polymerase iroifsi.

Autoimmune DiseasedNe are evaluating our JAK3 inhibitor, VX-509,arPhase 2 clinical trial that is expected to enroll
approximately 350 patients with rheumatoid arthriti

We may seek collaborators for some of our drug ickatels in order to diversify risk, broaden or aecate or otherwise benefit a
development program in an effort to fully-realibe tvalue of a drug candidate.

We plan to continue investing in our research ot and supporting scientific innovation in ordeidentify and develop transformative
medicines. We believe that pursuing research iardevareas allows us to balance the risks inherelmig development and may provide the
drug candidates that will form our pipeline in frdwyears. We have later-stage research prograths @reas of cystic fibrosis, Huntington's
disease, multiple sclerosis and cancer.

Discovery and development of a new pharmaceutiealyzt is a difficult and lengthy process that rieggisignificant financial resources
along with extensive technical and regulatory etiperand can take 10 to 15 years or more. Potadnigl candidates are subjected to rigorous
evaluations, driven in part by stringent regulatooynsiderations, designed to
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generate information concerning efficacy, side-@feproper dosage levels and a variety of othgsiphl and chemical characteristics that are
important in determining whether a drug candidateutd be approved for marketing as a pharmaceysicaluct. Most chemical compounds
that are investigated as potential drug candidaesr progress into development, and most drugidates that do advance into development
never receive marketing approval. Because our timasts in drug candidates are subject to consiteeraiks, we closely monitor the results
our discovery research, clinical trials and norichhstudies, and frequently evaluate our drug tigment programs in light of new data and
scientific, business and commercial insights, whih objective of balancing risk and potential. Tiigcess can result in relatively abrupt
changes in focus and priority as new informatioodmees available and we gain additional understanaiirour ongoing programs and poter
new programs as well as those of our competitors.

If we believe the data from a completed registrapoogram support approval of a drug candidatesutmmit a New Drug Application, or
NDA, to the United States Food and Drug Administrator FDA, requesting approval to market the dragdidate in the United States ¢
seek analogous approvals from comparable regulatathorities in foreign jurisdictions. To obtainpapval, we must, among other things,
demonstrate with evidence gathered in nonclinitalies and well-controlled clinical trials that theug candidate is safe and effective for the
disease it is intended to treat and that the matwiag facilities, processes and controls forranufacture of the drug candidate are adequat
The FDA and foreign regulatory authorities havessaitial discretion in deciding whether or not agdcandidate should be granted approval
based on the benefits and risks of the drug catalidahe treatment of a particular disease, anddcdelay, limit or deny regulatory approval.
If requlatory delays are significant or regulatapproval is limited or denied altogether, our ficiahresults and the commercial prospects for
the drug candidate involved will be harmed.

CF

KALYDECO (ivacaftor) is approved in the United Stat Canada and the European Union for the treatofigratients with CF six years
age and older who have the G551D mutation on at taze allele of th€FTRgene. We are continuing our work in CF to idenéifid develop
treatment regimens that will provide benefits torasy patients with CF as possible and to maxirtiizee benefits. We have multiple ongoing
clinical development programs to evaluate our @&ttnent regimens, and our research group is wotkiidentify additional corrector
compounds that could be included in future duad/@ntriple-combination treatment regimens thatehthe potential to provide additional
benefits to patients with CF.

Ivacaftor (monotherapy)
We are conducting three Phase 3 label-expansioicalitrials and a Phase 2 clinical trial of ivaoaimonotherapy:

 We have completed enroliment in a Phase 3 dini@l evaluating ivacaftor in patients six yeafsage and older with CF with gating
mutations other than the G551D mutation.

* We are continuing enrollment in a Phase 3 dihidal evaluating ivacaftor in patients six yeafsage and older with CF with the
R117H mutation in th€FTRgene on at least one allele.

* We have begun dosing patients in a Phase Zaliiial in which we are evaluating a pediatricnfioilation of ivacaftor as a treatment
for children two to five years of age with gatingitations in theCFTRgene, including the G551D mutation.

* We are enrolling patients in a Phase 2 clinigal in which we are evaluating ivacaftor in patie with CF who have clinical evidence
of residual CFTR function.

If we are able to establish that these additioasiept groups will benefit from ivacaftor monotheyathere is the potential to increase the
number of patients eligible for treatment with igétor monotherapy to more than 10% of patients With We expect to obtain data from the
Phase 3 clinical trials evaluating patients sixrged age and older in 2013.
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VX-809 in Combination with Ivacaftor

In February 2013, we initiated an internationalgpal Phase 3 clinical program to evaluate combamatiof VX-809 and ivacaftor in
patients with CF who have two copies of the F508alatation in theilCFTRgene (homozygous). We plan to conduct two 24-wdese 3
clinical trials that are designed to support appt@f the combination of VX-809 and ivacaftor fatignts 12 years of age and older. Each
Phase 3 clinical trial will enroll approximately ®@atients with CF who are homozygous for the FB08tltation, for a total of approximately
1,000 patients. The two clinical trials have thmealesign and together will be conducted at apprately 200 clinical trial sites in North
America, Europe and Australia. We expect to obfiaial safety and efficacy data from both Phaseirfi@l trials in 2014. If these trials are
successful, we plan to submit an NDA to the FDR®14 and a Marketing Authorization Application,MAA, to the European Medicines
Agency, or EMA.

We also plan to conduct an 8-week exploratory PRadmical trial of VX-809 in combination with iwaftor in patients with CF who are
12 years of age and older and who have one cothed¥508del mutation in tHeFTRgene and a pharmacokinetics and safety clinicall tivi
evaluate VX-809 in combination with ivacaftor inildhen with CF six to eleven years of age who hi&ave copies of the F508del mutation. If
successful, we plan to use the data from the phaokirzetics and safety clinical trial, along withtaldrom the two Phase 3 clinical trials, for
registration in the United States in patients sieleven years of age, following registration itigrats 12 years of age and older, and are
continuing discussions with European regulatorynagees for patients in this age group.

HCV

Janssen and we market INCIVEK/INCIVO in direct catifion with Merck & Co., Inc.'s VICTRELIS™ (bocegxir), another HCV
protease inhibitor that was approved for sale @mWhited States and Europe in 2011. We expectthamber of new therapies for HCV
infection will become available to patients oves tiext several years. The most advanced drug caedidGilead's GS-7977 and Janssen's
TMC435, may be approved for administration in camaltion with pegylated-interferon, or peg-IFN, arB\R as soon as late 2013 or 2014.
The toptine results reported by Gilead and Janssen framntty completed Phase 3 clinical trials suggesst tie safety and efficacy profiles
GS-7977 and TMC435 will position them, if approvempotentially take a significant portion of therket for HCV therapies.

We plan to compete in the HCV infection markettashifts away from current treatment regimens,udeig our INCIVEK triple-
combination therapy, to regimens that incorporate drugs with improved safety, efficacy and/or tal#lity, by pursuing development of all-
oral regimens incorporating one or more of our dragdidates, particularly our HCV nucleotide anaky X-135. A number of
pharmaceutical companies are investigating comioimaegimens that incorporate one or more of an H@ease inhibitor, an HCV
nucleotide analogue, an HCV non-nucleotide polyseiahibitor or an NS5A inhibitor. Clinical triatff these investigational combination
regimens are being conducted in a wide varietyatiept populations, including treatment-naive aedtment-failure patients, and across all
HCV genotypes, which respond differently to diffiereombinations of molecules employing differentofmenisms. In the future, we expect-
the market for any specific HCV treatment regimanluding INCIVEK triple-combination therapy, coub# affected by the introduction of
new competitive drugs or drug combinations, salesifcurrently approved drugs, adverse informategarding the safety characteristics or
efficacy of the regimen, significant new informaticegarding potential treatment regimens beinguated in clinical trials, and enroliment by
patients in clinical trials being conducted by n®or competitors. While it is possible that a pmrtof patients with HCV infection would
continue to benefit from treatment regimens theluide peg-IFN, we expect that treatment regimeasititlude the administration of peg-IFN
by injection will command a relatively small pontiof the overall market.

We are evaluating potential all-oral treatmentmegyis in planned and ongoing Phase 2 clinical tia¢sder to determine which regimen
or regimens appear likely to provide benefits tbgrdas and to take forward into Phase 3 clinicaleigoment. Some of our competitors'
potential all-oral treatment regimens are more aded, including all-oral treatment regimens thatlaging evaluated in Phase 3 clinical trials
by Gilead and Abbvie, Inc. While the developmerd aggulatory timelines for drug candidates fortileatment of HCV infection are subjec
risk and uncertainty, and the development of a rrmabHCV infection drug candidates, including BoisMyers Squibb's BMS-986094 and
one of our two HCV nucleotide analogues, ALS-21&8&]ed in 2012, we believe that (i) substantial itk clinical data regarding potential
all-oral treatment regimens will become availabl2013 and (ii) it is possible that one or moreoadll treatment regimens for genotype 1 HCV
infection could be commercially available as sostate 2014. As a result, if we are successfukivetbping all-oral treatment regimens that
include VX-135 and/or VX-222, independently or wittcollaborator, it is likely
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that our all-oral treatment regimens would compuitectly with one or more previously approved athldreatment regimens.
Drug Supply

In order to generate revenues from our approvedyats, we must manufacture, or have manufacturadpr@ducts in accordance with «
specifications and regulatory requirements andifficsent quantities to satisfy demand. We relyaminternational network of third parties to
manufacture and distribute our products and fopbeg of compounds for clinical trials, and we estiat we will continue to rely on third
parties to provide these manufacturing serviceshieiforeseeable future. Third-party contract maatufrers, including some in China, supply
us with raw materials, and contract manufacturetbé European Union and the United States cotivese raw materials into drug substance
and convert the drug substance into final dosaga.fEstablishing and managing this global suppbirchequires a significant financial
commitment and the creation and maintenance of musehird-party relationships. Although we believe effectively manage the business
relationships with companies in our supply chaia,d@ not have complete control over their actisitie

We require a supply of INCIVEK for commercial salehe United States and Canada. We attempt to geaoar INCIVEK inventory
levels based on forecasted demand, which has hablaresults due to the rapidly evolving natuf¢he HCV market, which resulted in
decreased demand for INCIVEK. We currently belithat we have sufficient supply to meet forecastemiahd for INCIVEK. In addition, we
have significant quantities of materials that wendb expect to utilize.

We require a supply of ivacaftor for commerciaksg@s KALYDECO) and for use in our clinical trial&/e obtain ivacaftor to meet our
commercial and clinical supply needs through atpiarty manufacturing network. Our supply chainides sole source suppliers. A
disruption in the commercial supply of KALYDECO fpatients would have a significant impact on pasigour business and our product
revenues. A disruption in the clinical supply cdéaftor could delay the completion of clinical isiand impact timelines for filing an sNDA or
NDA. Accordingly, we are in the process of estadhifig secondary sources for our KALYDECO supply reetedreduce the risk of a supy
disruption. In 2013, we plan to obtain an altew&tource for the active ingredient of ivacaftonjei is a sole-sourced material that is critical
to the supply of ivacaftor, and to obtain seconare®e suppliers in 2014 for other components ofitheaftor supply chain. There can be no
assurance that we will be able to establish seagratairces for all of our KALYDECO supply needsatimely basis or at all.

Regulatory Compliance

Our marketing of pharmaceutical products, whichareip 2011, is subject to extensive and compleslamd regulations. We have a
corporate compliance program designed to actiwEptify, prevent and mitigate risk through the igmkntation of compliance policies and
systems and the promotion of a culture of compkakanong other laws, regulations and standardsar@subject to various federal and state
laws pertaining to health care fraud and abusdydirg anti-kickback and false claims statutes, @wes prohibiting the promotion of drugs for
unapproved, or off-label, uses. Anti-kickback lawake it illegal for a prescription drug manufactuesolicit, offer, receive or pay any
remuneration in exchange for, or to induce, therraf of business, including the purchase or pieson of a particular drug. False claims laws
prohibit anyone from presenting for payment tod¥party payors, including Medicare and Medicaidjrols for reimbursed drugs or services
that are false or fraudulent, claims for itemsawies not provided as claimed or claims for maltljaunnecessary items or services. We
expect to continue to devote substantial resouesintain, administer and expand these complignoegrams globally.

Operations

Over the last several years we experienced sigmfigrowth and expanded our operations globalsufaport the launch of our first two
products and our continued investment in key dearaknt and research programs. We are planning t@ morcorporate headquarters and a
majority of our employees from a number of building Cambridge, Massachusetts into a new facititBdston, Massachusetts in the first hall
of 2014. This move is intended to allow us to cdidste our headquarters into one campus and totepma physical infrastructure, including
our laboratories and other research facilitiesorbher to manage the global expansion of our basiaed our move to these new headquarters
we will need to enhance our cross-functional openat, financial and management processes whiléragng to attract and maintain highly
skilled employees. We expect that managing our grgwperations will be challenging and will requgignificant financial and management
resources.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

2012/2011 2011/2010
Comparison Comparison
Increase Increase Increase Increase/
2012 2011 2010 (Decrease) (Decrease) (Decrease) (Decrease)
(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentages)
Revenues $ 1527,04 $ 1410620 $ 14337( $  116,41¢ 8% $ 1,267,25 884%
Operating costs and expenses 1,524,711 1,296,801 839,44 227,90: 18 % 457,35¢ 54%
Other loss, net (53,467 (72,647 (58,549 (19,179 (26)% 14,09: 24%
Net loss (income) attributable to
noncontrolling interest (Alios) (55,897 (11,609 — 44,29: 382 % 11,60¢ n/e
Net income (loss) attributable to
Vertex $ (107,03) $ 29,57: $ (754,620 n/e n/e n/e n/e

Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Vertex

Net loss attributable to Vertex was $(107.0) millia 2012 compared to net income attributable taéieof $29.6 millionn 2011. The ne
loss attributable to Vertex in 2012 as comparetthéonet income attributable to Vertex in 2011 was tb increased operating expenses pat
offset by increased revenues. Our increased regan#012 as compared to 2011 were due to incidS€IVEK net product revenues,
increased INCIVO royalty revenues and KALYDECO peiduct revenues for which there were no companasenues in 2011, partially
offset by decrease d collaborative revenues. Oerating costs and expenses increased in 2012 gsacechto 2011 , principally due to
increased research and development expenses,sadreales, general and administrative expenseisemrgdsed cost of product revenues.

In 2012, net income (loss) attributable to Verteaswmegatively affected by an aggregate of $133llBomin lower of cost or market
charges for excess and obsolete INCIVEK inventai@san increase in the fair value of contingeréshbne payments and royalties payable
by us to Alios of $115.0 million . In 2011, net are attributable to Vertex was negatively affedigén impairment charge that had a net
effect of $73.1 million and an increase in the faitue of contingent milestone payments and ragmitiayable by us to Alios of $70.0 million .

In 2010, prior to the obtaining marketing approfealour first product in 2011, we had net lossihtttable to Vertex of $(754.6) million .
Our increased revenues in 2011 as compared to\26ddthe result of INCIVEK net product revenues ealiborative milestone revenues in
2011 for which there were no comparable revenu@8i®. Our increased revenues were partially offgéhcreased operating costs and
expenses in 2011 as compared to 2010.

Our operating costs and expenses in 2012 , 2012@H@ included $114.3 million , $118.2 million a®@l1.1 million , respectively, of
stock-based compensation expense.

Net I ncome (Loss) Attributable to Vertex per Diluted Share

Net loss attributable to Vertex was $(0.50) penteidl share in 2012 as compared to net income attible to Vertex of $0.14 per diluted
share in 2011 and net loss attributable to Verte®(®.77) per diluted share in 2010 .
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Revenues
2012/2011 2011/2010
Comparison Comparison
Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/
2012 2011 2010 (Decrease) (Decrease) (Decrease) (Decrease)
(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentages)
Product revenues, net  § 1,333,451 $ 950,88¢ $ — 3 382,56¢ 4C% $ 950,88 n/e
Royalty revenues 141,49 50,01 30,24« 91,48 182 % 19,77: 65%
Collaborative revenues 52,08¢ 409,72: 113,12t (357,630) (87)% 296,59 262%
Total revenues $ 152704 $ 141062 $ 143,37 $ 116,41 g% $ 1,267,25 884%
Product Revenues, Net
2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)
INCIVEK $ 1,161,81: $ 950,88¢ $ =
KALYDECO 171,64! — —
Total product revenues, net $ 1,333,45 $ 950,88¢ $ =

Our total net product revenues increase d by 402012 as compared to 2011 due to increased INCIW&product revenues in 2012 as
compared to 2011 and KALYDECO net product revenné®12 for which there were no comparable revemu@§11. In 2013, we expect t
total product revenues will decline due to an eigedecrease in INCIVEK net product revenues gbrtidfset by an expected increase in
KALYDECO net product revenues.

We began recognizing net product revenues frons sdlENCIVEK in the second quarter of 2011. Our INEK net product revenues
increased by $210.9 million 2012 as compared to 2011 due to our recognitfdNICIVEK net product revenues over a full fisg&lar in 201
as compared to for a partial fiscal year in 20NCIVEK net product revenues have been declining goarterly basis since reaching a pee
the fourth quarter of 2011 and were $222.8 milliothe fourth quarter of 2012. The declines in INEK net product revenues in 2012 were
principally due to decreasing numbers of patierite genotype 1 HCV infection who chose to staratneent with available treatment options.
We believe these decreases are the result of aigatitm of factors, including new safety and effigalata that have been reported by our
competitors regarding treatment regimens for HCédtion that may become commercially available dliernext several years.

We began recognizing net product revenues frons s€l&ALYDECO in the first quarter of 2012, and KXDECO net product revenues
increased on a quarterly basis during 2012. Stscapiproval, most eligible patients in the Unitéat& have initiated and are receiving
treatment with KALYDECO. KALYDECO net product revaes were $58.5 million in the fourth quarter of 20ihcluding $8.6 million of net
product revenues from countries in Europe. Fuitheneases in KALYDECO net product revenues in 28d8dependent on ongoing
reimbursement decisions in international markets.dirently receive funding for KALYDECO from Framand Germany, while we are
continuing to discuss the reimbursement rate wkradkeive in those countries in future periods.dtng for KALYDECO has been
recommended in England and Ireland, and we anteithet reimbursement in these countries will bégithe second quarter of 2013.

Royalty Revenues

Janssen obtained approval to market INCIVO in thegean Union in the third quarter of 2011. Ouralgyrevenues increased by $91.5
million in 2012 as compared to 2011 due to a $&TlBon increasen royalty revenues from sales of INCIVO by Jans&2uar royalty revenue
increased by $19.8 million in 2011 as comparedittO2due to $20.3 million of revenues recognizeddml from sales of INCIVO by Janssen
for which there were no comparable revenues in 20iBsubishi Tanabe's license to market telaprgvitapan is fully paid.

We recognized royalty revenues related to salgSlayoSmithKline of an HIV protease inhibitor thahsvdiscovered and developed
pursuant to our collaboration with GlaxoSmithKlioe$23.9 million , $29.7 million and $30.2 millian 2012 , 2011 and 2010 , respectively.
We sold our rights to these HIV royalties in 2008 & one-time cash payment of $160.0 million .
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Collaborative Revenues

Our collaborative revenues have fluctuated sigaiftty on an annual basis. This variability has bées to, among other things: the
achievement of significant milestone revenues ih12@he 2009 amendment of our collaboration agre¢mih Mitsubishi Tanabe, which
provided for an up-front payment that was recoghiazeer the period from the third quarter of 200@®tigh the second quarter of 2012; the
2011 amendment to our collaboration agreement th@éhCystic Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics Incaafea, or CFFT, which began
providing us additional research and developmeppst in 2011; and variable revenues we receiveah fservices we provided to Janssen an
Mitsubishi Tanabe through our third-party manufaicig network.

The table presented below is a summary of our looiktive revenues for 2012 , 2011 and 2010 :

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Collaborative revenues:

Janssen $ 16,17¢ $ 274,390 % 30,75(
Mitsubishi Tanabe 18,87¢ 121,67! 81,86¢
CFFT 16,96( 13,65¢ —
Other 69 — 50¢&

Total collaborative revenues $ 52,08 $ 409,72. $ 113,12¢

In 2011 , we recognized $250.0 million in milesteaeenues under our collaboration agreement witksskn, for which there were no
comparable milestone revenues in 2012 or 2010.othar collaborative revenues from Janssen relateetamortization of an ufgent paymen
we received in 2006, net reimbursements (payménmts@laprevir development costs and reimbursemfentsianufacturing services. We do
not expect to earn any future milestone paymentsuaunt to this collaboration agreement with Janssen

From the beginning of 2010 through the first quaofe2012, we recognized $9.6 million each quairterollaborative revenues related to a
one-time payment that we received from Mitsubistidbe in 2009. In addition, in the fourth quarte2@l 1, we recognized a $65.0 million
commercial milestone payment from Mitsubishi Tanabd from the second quarter of 2010 through thersquarter of 2012 we recognized
revenues related to manufacturing services we gealvio Mitsubishi Tanabe through our third-partynofacturing network. We did not
recognize any collaborative revenues from Mitsublgnabe in the second half of 2012 and will nabgnize any future collaborative
revenues pursuant to our collaboration agreemehtMitsubishi Tanabe.

Operating Costs and Expenses

2012/2011 2011/2010
Comparison Comparison
Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/
2012 2011 2010 (Decrease) (Decrease) (Decrease) (Decrease)
(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentages)
Cost of product revenues $ 236,74: $ 63,628 $ — $ 17311 272% $ 63,62¢ n/e
Royalty expenses 43,14: 16,88( 12,73( 26,26: 15€ % 4,15( 33%
Research and development expenses 806,18! 707,70t 637,41¢ 98,47¢ 14 % 70,29( 11%
Sales, general and administrative
expenses 436,79t 400,72: 187,80( 36,07¢ 9% 212,92: 11%%
Restructuring expense 1,84¢ 2,07¢ 1,501 (230) (11)% 57/ 38%
Intangible asset impairment charge — 105,80! — (105,801 (100)% 105,80( n/e
Total costs and expenses $ 1,524,711 $ 1,296,800 $ 839,44 $ 227,90 189 $  457,35¢ 54%

Cost of Product Revenues

Our cost of product revenues in 2012 and 2011 deadithe cost of producing inventories that corragpd to product revenues for the
reporting period, plus the third-party royaltieyahle on our net sales of INCIVEK and KALYDECO.dddition, cost of product revenues in
2012 included an aggregate of $133.2 million inrgka for excess and obsolete INCIVEK inventoriesshf the manufacturing costs of
INCIVEK and KALYDECO sold in the periods presentgdre expensed as research and development expepsas periods.
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Our cost of product revenues increased in 2012 eoeapto 2011 due to our increased net product tegeand the charges for excess anc
obsolete INCIVEK inventories that we incurred infl20As of December 31, 2012 , we had $22.8 miliforemaining INCIVEK inventories.
We evaluate our INCIVEK inventories on a quartdrhsis, and future changes in the commercial oulooKNCIVEK could result in
additional charges for excess and obsolete INCI\fBkentories in future periods.

Royalty Expenses

Royalty expenses include third-party royalties fyaipon net sales of telaprevir by our collabasatnd royalty expenses related to a
subroyalty payable to a third party on net salesroHIV protease inhibitor sold by GlaxoSmithKlirRoyalty expenses in 2012 increased
compared to 2011 primarily due to increased thadyproyalties payable on net sales of INCIVO bgs¥en. Our royalty expenses in future
periods will be dependent on our collaborators'sadgs of telaprevir in their territories. Royadtypenses in 2010 and in 2011 prior to the
launch of INCIVO by Janssen primarily related teudroyalty payable to a third party on net salesoHIV protease inhibitor sold by
GlaxoSmithKline. The subroyalty expense offsete@asponding amount of HIV royalty revenues. Weesto continue to recognize this
subroyalty as an expense in future periods.

Research and Development Expenses

2012/2011 2011/2010
Comparison Comparison
2012 2011 2010 Increase Increase Increase Increase
(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentages)
Research expenses $ 23558 $ 216,90: $ 189,27. $ 18,68¢ 9% $ 27,63( 15%
Development expenses 570,59 490,80: 448,14 79,79¢ 16% 42,66( 10%
Total research and development

expenses $ 806,185 $ 707,70‘ $ 637,41' $ 98,47S 14% $ 70,29( 11%

Our research and development expenses includaatt@nd external costs incurred for research amdldpment of our drugs and drug
candidates. We do not assign our internal costs) as salary and benefits, stock-based compensatimense, laboratory supplies and
infrastructure costs, to individual drugs or dragdidates, because the employees within our rédseart development groups typically are
deployed across multiple research and developnregtgms. These internal costs are significantlagnethan our external costs, such as the
costs of services provided to us by clinical rese@rganizations and other outsourced researclthwie do allocate by individual program.
All research and development costs for our drugsdang candidates are expensed as incurred.

To date, we have incurred in excess of $5.5 billioresearch and development expenses associatedng discovery and development.
The successful development of our drug candidatbegyhly uncertain and subject to a number of rigkaddition, the duration of clinical tris
may vary substantially according to the type, caripy and novelty of the drug candidate and theakg indication being targeted. The FDA
and comparable agencies in foreign countries impabstantial requirements on the introduction efdpeutic pharmaceutical products,
typically requiring lengthy and detailed laboratatyd clinical testing procedures, sampling actgitaind other costly and time-consuming
procedures. Data obtained from nonclinical andadinactivities at any step in the testing proaesy be adverse and lead to discontinuation c
redirection of development activities. Data obtdifem these activities also are susceptible tgingrinterpretations, which could delay, limit
or prevent regulatory approval. The duration amst obdiscovery, nonclinical studies and clinigéls may vary significantly over the life of a
project and are difficult to predict. Thereforecaate and meaningful estimates of the ultimatésdmsbring our drug candidates to market are
not available.

Over the three year period ended December 31, 2058 related to our HCV and CF programs haveesgmted the largest portion of our
development costs. Any estimates regarding devedoprend regulatory timelines for our drug candidae highly subjective and subject to
change. In the first quarter of 2013, we initiategivotal Phase 3 clinical program to evaluate 8@ in combination with ivacaftor. We exp:
to obtain final safety and efficacy data from twwaBe 3 clinical trials in this program in 2014thése clinical trials are successful, we plan to
submit an NDA to the FDA in 2014. We cannot makeeaningful estimate when, if ever, our other clhidevelopment programs will
generate revenues and cash flows.

61




Table of Contents

Research Expenses

2012/2011 2011/2010
Comparison Comparison
Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/
2012 2011 2010 (Decrease) (Decrease) (Decrease) (Decrease)
(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentages)
Research Expenses:
Salary and benefits $ 7848 $ 7635 $ 67,50t $ 2,13¢ 3% $ 8,847 13%
Stock-based compensation expense 25,14 25,30¢ 23,49¢ (15¢) (1)% 1,80¢ 8%
Laboratory supplies and other direct

expenses 40,00¢ 35,64 29,14¢ 4,364 12% 6,49¢ 22%
Contractual services 21,47: 13,21: 9,881 8,25¢ 62 % 3,33¢ 34%
Infrastructure costs 70,47 66,38¢ 59,24 4,08¢ 6 % 7,14¢ 12%
Total research expenses $ 23558 $ 216,900 $ 189,27. $ 18,68t 9oy, $ 27,63( 15%

Over the past three years we have maintained daslad investment in research activities resuliimg 9% increase in research expenses
in 2012 as compared to 2011 and a 15% increassa@arch expenses in 2011 as compared to 2010 xpetdo continue to invest in our
research programs with a focus on identifying dvagdidates for specialty markets.

Development Expenses

2012/2011 2011/2010
Comparison Comparison
Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/
2012 2011 2010 (Decrease) (Decrease) (Decrease) (Decrease)
(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentages)
Development Expenses:
Salary and benefits $ 14757 $ 12644 $ 10861 $ 21,13: 17% $ 17,82¢ 16 %
Stock-based compensation expense 46,38¢ 50,26¢ 41,70: (3,889 (8% 8,567 21%
Laboratory supplies and other direct

expenses 36,58t 33,58¢ 33,23: 2,997 9% 357 1%
Contractual services 217,40t 149,03: 113,03: 68,37¢ 46 % 36,00: 32%
Drug supply costs 14,04« 34,13: 65,90z (20,089 (59% (31,769 (48)%
Infrastructure costs 108,60: 97,33¢ 85,66( 11,26 12% 11,67¢ 14%
Total development expenses $ 570,597 $ 490,800 $ 448,14 $ 79,79¢ 16% $ 42,66( 10%

Our development expenses increased by $79.8 mjllawri6% , in 2012 as compared to 2011 and by7dilllion , or 10% , in 2011 as
compared to 2010, principally due to increasdseimdcount and the expansion of our developmenttefis we completed the registration
programs for telaprevir and ivacaftor, preparedrégulatory filings needed to obtain approval fuede products and continued the
development of our other drug candidates. We exmarctievelopment expenses to increase in 2013rapared to 2012 due to ongoing and
planned clinical trials in the areas of CF, HCVeiction and autoimmune diseases.

Sales, General and Administrative Expenses

2012/2011 2011/2010
Comparison Comparison
2012 2011 2010 Increase Increase Increase Increase
(in thousands) (in thousands, except percentages)
Sales, general and administrative expensg 436,79¢ $ 400,72: $ 187,80( $ 36,07 % $ 212,92 11%%

Sales, general and administrative expenses inaéag912 compared to 2011 by 9%, primarily duéheexpansion of our global
commercial organization to support the launch oflKAECO in North America and Europe and increasempensation and benefits for our
INCIVEK sales force for a full year in 2012 versugartial year in 2011, when we
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launched INCIVEK in the United States in May 20%hles, general and administrative expenses inaeadestantially in 2011 compared to
2010 as a result of increases in workforce expeasege prepared for and commercially launched INE{\ih 2011 and KALYDECO in early
2012. We expect that our sales, general and admaitive expenses will decrease in 2013 as compar2d12.

Restructuring Expense

Our restructuring expense relates to remainingelefdigations for space that we do not occupy feithg restructuring activities in 2003.
As of December 31, 2012, our accrued restructUidglity was $23.3 million . In 2012 , 2011 and12D, we recorded restructuring expense o
$1.8 million , $2.1 million and $1.5 million , resgtively. In 2012 , 2011 and 2010 , we made cagmpats of $14.9 million , $14.9 million
and $14.8 million , respectively, against the aedraxpense and received $10.0 million , $9.5 mmildod $8.8 million , respectively, in
sublease rental payments. During 2013, we expauite additional cash payments of $15.5 millionmgjehe accrued expense and to receiv
$10.7 million in sublease rental payments.

Intangible Asset Impairment Charge

In 2011 , we recorded a $105.8 million impairmemrge related to VX-759, a non-nucleoside HCV pdayese inhibitor that we acquired
through our acquisition of ViroChem Pharma Inc.VooChem, in 2009. In connection with this impa@nt charge, we recorded a credit of
$32.7 million in our provision for income taxesukigg in a net effect on our income related ta thipairment charge of $73.1 milliam 2011
There were no corresponding intangible asset impait charges in 2010 or 2012.

Non-operating | tems
Interest Income

Interest income was $1.9 million in both 2012 afd 2. Interest income decreased by $0.1 million4% , to $1.9 million in 2011 from
$2.0 million in 2010 . Our cash, cash equivalemis marketable securities yielded less than 1% cemanal basis in 2012.

Interest Expense

Interest expense decreased by $21.8 million , &6 5% $16.7 million in 2012 from $38.5 million #011 . This decrease was the result of
decreased interest expense related to our secatesl due 2012, which were redeemed in 2011. Iritexpense increased by $19.2 million , or
99% , to $38.5 million in 2011 from $19.3 million 2010 . This increase was primarily the resuthef3.35% convertible senior subordinated
notes due 2015, or 2015 Notes, we issued in Segtedt10. In 2013, we expect to incur $13.4 milliointerest expense related to the 2015
Notes.

Change in Fair Value of Derivative Instruments

In 2011 and 2010 , we recorded losses of $16.8omiind $41.2 million , respectively, in connectigith the embedded and free-standing
derivatives associated with two financial transatdithat we entered into in September 2009. In 2BElcontingent milestone payments that
were the subject of the 2009 financial transactiwase earned in full and we recorded our final exges related to these transactions.

Provision for Income Taxes

In 2012, we recorded a provision for income taxe$38.8 million . This provision for income taxessvprincipally due to a provision of
$39.0 million attributable to noncontrolling intstgAlios).

In 2011, we recorded a provision for income taxe®l®.3 million . This provision for income taxessvdue to a provision 48.8 millior
attributable to noncontrolling interest (Alios)attd to the accounting for the collaboration betw&kos and us and a provision $8.7 million
for state taxes, partially offset by a benefit froroome taxes of $32.7 million due to a tax benefulting from the impairment of VX-759.

Provisions for income taxes payable by Alios in2@hd 2011 reduced net income attributable to nutnaliing interest (Alios) by a
corresponding amount and as a result had no effettie net income (loss) attributable to Verte@®12 or 2011.
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Noncontrolling Interest (Alios)

The net loss (income) attributable to noncontrgliimerest (Alios) recorded on our consolidatedesteents of operations reflects Aliggét
loss (income) for the reporting period, excludiegenues related to the up-front payment and mibespayments earned by Alios and adjuste
for any changes during the reporting period inftievalue of the contingent milestone and royalayments payable by us to Alios.

A summary of net loss (income) attributable to rartoolling interest (Alios) in 2012 and 2011 isfaBows:

2012 2011
(in thousands)
Loss (income) before provision for (benefit fromgome taxes $ 20,04: $ 9,53¢
Decrease (increase) in fair value of contingenestdne and royalty payments (114,97() (69,95()
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 39,02¢ 48,80¢
Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrollinteirest (Alios) $ (55,897 $ (11,60

In 2012 and 2011, the fair value of contingent std@e payments and royalties payable by us to Adiogased by
$115.0 million and $70.0 million , respectively.e€lmcreases in the fair value of contingent milestpayments and royalties payable by us to
Alios were due to the advancement of our HCV nuadeoanalogue program in 2011 and 2012, includiegpositive data we received in 2012
from a Phase 1 clinical trial that evaluated AL®@Znow formulated as VX-135).

Increases in the fair value of the contingent ndlee payments and royalties payable by us to Aégslt in a decrease in net income
attributable to Vertex (or an increase in net latssbutable to Vertex) on a dollar-for-dollar badif VX-135 continues to advance in clinical
development, we expect to record additional in@sas the fair value of these contingent milestané royalty payments. Changes in the fair
value of these contingent milestone and royaltynpets and the effects of these changes on net m¢loss) attributable to Vertex were
material in 2012 and 2011 and may be material tiréuperiods.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As of December 31, 2012 , we had cash, cash egmitsaind marketable securities, excluding Alioshcand cash equivalents, of $1.3
billion , which was an increase of $352.3 millionrh $968.9 million as of December 31, 2011 . Thigéase was due to cash receipts from
product sales and royalties and $191.7 millionashcwe received from issuances of common stoclupntdo employee benefit plans. These
cash receipts were partially offset by cash exgane we made related to, among other things, relsead development expenses, sales,
general and administrative expenses and milestapm@nts to Alios, as well as $92.6 million for dapexpenditures for property and
equipment.

Sources of Liquidity

We intend to rely on cash flows from product sale®ur primary source of liquidity and cash flonanf royalties as a secondary sourc
liquidity. We also generate proceeds from the issaaf common stock under our employee benefityl@ther possible sources of liquidity
include commercial debt, public and private offgdrof our equity and debt securities, strategitaborative agreements that include research
and/or development funding, development milest@mekroyalties on the sales of products, softwadeeguipment leases, strategic sales of
assets or businesses and financial transactions.

Future Capital Requirements

We are incurring substantial expenses to comméeitNCIVEK and KALYDECO, while at the same timentmuing focused investme
in our research and development programs. We noireecapital to repay the $400.0 million in aggregprincipal amount of 2015 Notes that
mature on October 1, 2015. The 2015 Notes beaesttat the rate of 3.35% per annum, and we argregtjito make semi-annual interest
payments on the outstanding principal balance ®2®i5 Notes on April 1 and October 1 of each yEae. 2015 Notes are convertible, at the
option of the holder, into our common stock atiagequal to approximately $48.83 per share, stibjegdjustment, and can be called by us a
any time on or after October 1, 2013. In additiwe,have substantial lease obligations that willticme through 2028.
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We expect that cash flows from INCIVEK/INCIVO and\KYDECO together with our current cash, cash edglents and marketable
securities will be sufficient to fund our operatidior at least the next twelve months. The adeqoéoyr available funds to meet our future
operating and capital requirements will depend @myrfactors, including the amounts of future revengenerated by INCIVEK/INCIVO and
KALYDECO, and the number, breadth, cost and prospeicour research and development programs.

Financing Strategy

Although we do not have any plans to do so in @ nerm, we may raise additional capital througblip offerings or private placements
of our securities, securing new collaborative agrests or other methods of financing. As part of straitegy for managing our capital
structure, we have from time to time adjusted tin@want and maturity of our debt obligations throungtw issues, privately negotiated
transactions and market purchases, depending dretr@nditions and our perceived needs at the §feexpect to continue pursuing a
general financial strategy that may lead us to ttalle one or more additional transactions with eesfo our outstanding debt obligations, and
the amounts involved in any such transactionsyiddally or in the aggregate, may be material. Wiea@ntinue to manage our capital
structure and to consider all financing opport@asitiwvhenever they may occur, that could strengblietong-term liquidity profile. Any capital
transaction related to our outstanding debt okbgatmay or may not be similar to transactions micly we have engaged in the past. There
be no assurance that any such financing opporésnitill be available on acceptable terms, if at all

CONTRACTUAL COMMITMENTS AND OBLIGATIONS

The first part of the following table sets forthnamitments and obligations that were recorded orcousolidated balance sheet at
December 31, 2012. Certain other obligations amdreitments, while not required to be included ondbasolidated balance sheet, may he
material effect on our liquidity. We have presentaese items in the remaining rows of the tableweh order to present a more complete
picture of our financial position and liquidity.

Payments Due by Period
2013 2014-2015 2016-2017 2018 and later Total
(in thousands)

Commitments and Obligations Recorded on the Consolidated
Balance Sheet at December 31, 2012:

Convertible senior subordinated notes (due Octab&b)

principal payment $ — ¢ 400,000 $ — —  $ 400,00(
Convertible senior subordinated notes (due Oct2b&b)

interest payment 3,35( — — — 3,35(C
Capital lease obligations 13,70° 15,17( — — 28,87
Construction financing lease obligation — 912 1,151 138,18¢ 140,25:
Research, development and drug supply costs 5,771 — — — 5,771

Additional Commitments and Obligations at December 31,

2012:
Convertible senior subordinated notes (due Oct2b&b)

interest payments 10,05( 26,80( — — 36,85(
Facility operating leases, excluding Fan Pier Lease 61,50 99,96( 55,49¢ 36,72: 253,68:
Fan Pier Leases 83,30¢ 133,50( 133,26: 676,21 1,026,28!
Research, development and drug supply costs 4,247 — — — 4,247
Other 13,68: 2,49i 164 — 16,34:
Total contractual commitments and obligations $ 195,61 $ 678,83¢ $ 190,07 $ 851,127 $ 1,915,65.

Commitments and Obligations Recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2012

In 2010, we issued $400.0 million in aggregate @pal amount of 2015 Notes. The principal and eséaccrued as of December 31, 2
under these notes is included on our consolidagéahbe sheet as of December 31, 2012. The intdast due for periods after December 31,
2012 is not required under GAAP to be reflectedonconsolidated balance sheet and is set fortaraggly on the table above.
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In 2012, we entered into various agreements foletaige of equipment and software licenses, expini15. The leases were accounted
for as capital leases. Liabilities assumed undpitaldeases are recorded within “Capital leaségaltlons, current portion” and “Capital lease
obligations, excluding current portion” on our colidated balance sheet.

Our construction financing lease obligation relatesvo buildings under construction on Fan PieBaston, Massachusetts. Although we
will lease the space in these buildings, we arendekefor accounting purposes to be the owner ofthesidings during the construction period
and have recorded a long-term liability under taption “Construction financing lease obligation” aur consolidated balance sheet.

Commitments set forth under “Research, developrmedtdrug supply costs” represent contractual comarits entered into for materials
and services in the normal course of businessntbed reflected in “Accrued expenses” on our cosdéd balance sheet as of December 31,
2012,

Additional Commitments and Obligations Not Required to be Recorded on Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2012

Our future minimum commitments and contractualgdtions include interest that will accrue on th&20lotes after December 31, 2012,
facility operating leases, our leases for the Hen IRuildings, and contractual commitments reldatedur research, development and drug
supply activities. These items are not requirebe@ecorded on our consolidated balance sheet.

Our future minimum commitments under our Kendall&g lease for the period commencing on Janua2@13 are $18.3 million for
2013, $36.7 million for 2014 and 2015 , $36.7 imillfor 2016 and 2017 , and $6.1 million from Jayul 2018 through the expiration of the
lease in April 2018. These amounts are includdatiérntable above as part of our facility operatiegses. Rent payments for our Kendall Squat
lease will be subject to increase in May 2013, dasechanges in an inflation factor. We are usipgraximately 40% of the Kendall Square
facility for our operations. We have entered imo subleases for the remaining rentable squaradeocat the Kendall Square facility to offset
our on-going contractual lease obligations. Tharkiminimum committed income from the subleas&8iS million for 2013 an&12.5 millior
for 2014 and 2015 . These amounts are not offshagour obligations set forth in the table ab&ee Note Q, "Restructuring Expense," to
our consolidated financial statements.

“Fan Pier Leases” sets forth the future minimuntakpayments that we are obligated to pay aftentaccupancy of approximately
1.1 million square feet of office and laboratorasg in two buildings under construction in Bostdlassachusetts less certain amounts refli
on the consolidated balance sheet as of Decembh@&032 under the caption “Construction financinaske obligation.We expect to commen
these rental payments in December 2013. The rpatahents will extend for 15 years from the commemaet date.

Commitments set forth under “Research, developrmedtdrug supply costs” represent contractual comarits entered into for materials
and services in the normal course of businessitbet not recorded on our consolidated balance stseeft December 31, 2012.

A commercial milestone payment we expect to pa@k& T upon achievement of certain sales levels #EXDECO is included in
“Other” for 2013.

Collaborative Arrangements

We have entered into certain research and developro#iaboration agreements with third parties thalude the funding of certain
development, manufacturing and commercializatidoref with the potential for future milestone amyalty payments upon the achievemet
pre-established developmental, regulatory and/omeercial targets. Our obligation to fund these r$fés contingent upon continued
involvement in the programs and/or the lack of adyerse events that could cause the discontinuzrtbe programs. Due to the nature of
these arrangements, the future potential paymelated to the attainment of specified developmedtragulatory approval milestones over a
period of several years are inherently uncertaid,accordingly, no amounts have been recordedricansolidated balance sheet as of
December 31, 2012. See Note B, "Collaborative Agesments," to our consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to our collaboration with Alios, Aliosakgible to receive development milestone paymémois us of up to $312.5 million if
VX-135 is approved and commercialized. The agreémeavides for additional development milestone
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payments to Alios if a second HCV nucleotide anatos approved and commercialized. As of Decembef312, Alios had earned $60.0
million of these milestone payments, all of whicdieen paid as of December 31, 2012. Alios alstigible to receive commercial milestone
payments from us of up to $750.0 million , as veslitiered royalties on net sales of approved diQgsatingent payments under this agreemen
become due and payable only upon achievement w@ficenilestones and are not included in the cotue®bligations table above.

Tax-related Obligations

We exclude liabilities pertaining to uncertain faositions from our summary of contractual obligai@s we cannot make a reliable
estimate of the period of cash settlement withréspective taxing authorities. As of December 31,22 we have $4.1 million of liabilities
associated with uncertain tax positions, $2.7 omllof which are directly attributable to Alios. Wave no legal obligation associated with
Alios’ potential tax liabilities. As of December 32012, we cannot reasonably estimate the amouetxpect to pay within the next twelve
months in connection with such settlements.

Other Funding Commitments

As of December 31, 2012, we have several ongoingal trials. We make our most significant clinitaal payments to clinical research
organizations, or CROs. Although our contracts V@fROs are cancelable, at our option, with notice higtorically have not cancelled such
contracts. We have recorded accrued expenses abapyately $26 million on our consolidated balasteet for expenditures incurred for
clinical trials as of December 31, 2012. We havgraximately $170 million in cancelable future conrménts based on existing contracts a
December 31, 2012 that are not included in theraotital commitments and obligations table beca@iseotermination rights. These amounts
reflect commitments based on existing contractsdandot reflect any future modifications to, omémations of, existing contracts or
anticipated or potential new contracts.

Our table detailing contractual commitments andgalblons does not include severance payment oliggto certain of our executive
officers in the event of a not-for-cause employntennination under existing employment contracts.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our discussion and analysis of our financial caaditnd results of operations is based upon ousaaiated financial statements prepe
in accordance with generally accepted accountiimgiples in the United States, or GAAP. The prepareof these financial statements
requires us to make certain estimates and assumsgtiat affect the reported amounts of assetsiabitities and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reported pekidelsnonitor and analyze changes in facts and cirtamss that might have a material ef
on our estimates and assumptions. Changes in ¢stirage reflected in reported results for the pkinowhich they become known. We base
our estimates on historical experience and vandier assumptions, including in certain circumsésfuture projections, that we believe to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Actual resdysdiffer from our estimates.

We believe that our application of the followingcaanting policies, each of which requires significmdgments and estimates on the par
of management, are the most critical to aid inyfuthderstanding and evaluating our reported firgmeisults:

. revenue recognitio

. consolidation of variable interest ent
. intangible asset

. accruals

. commercial supplies and inventories;
. income taxe:

Our accounting policies, including the ones diseddselow, are more fully described in the Notesupconsolidated financial statements,
including Note A, "Nature of Business and Accougtiolicies," included in this Annual Report on FatfiK.
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Revenue Recognition
Product Revenues, Net

We generate product revenues principally from saléise United States. We sell our products tordtéid number of major wholesalers, as
well as selected regional wholesalers and speqgilymacy providers, collectively our customerspwhbsequently resell our products to
patients and health care providers. Separatelyrave arrangements with numerous third-party pagasprovide for government-mandated
and privately-negotiated rebates, chargebacks meduhts. We recognize net product revenues frdes sd our products upon delivery to our
customers as long as:

. there is persuasive evidence that an arrangemsts éetween us and our custor
. collectability is reasonably assured;
. the price is fixed or determinak

We have written contracts with our customers anively occurs when a customer receives our prod¥¥tsevaluate the creditworthiness
of each of our customers and have determined thatt aur material customers are creditworthy. hder to conclude that the price is fixed or
determinable, we must be able to calculate oursgposduct revenues from our customers and reasorabiate our net product revenues.
Our gross product revenues are based on the fiee for our products that we charge our customaifes estimate our net product revenues b
deducting from our gross product revenues (i) ti@bievances, such as invoice discounts for promagtpent and customer fees, (ii) estimated
government and private payor rebates, chargebakdiacounts, such as Medicaid reimbursementsy€sierves for expected product returns
and (iv) estimated costs of incentives offerederain indirect customers, including patients. Ehestimates, and in particular the estimate
rebates, chargebacks and discounts and expectedgpreturns, require us to make significant judgta¢hat materially affect our recognition
of net product revenues on sales of our products.

The value of the rebates, chargebacks and discpunw&ded to third-party payors per course of imeait vary significantly and are based
on government-mandated discounts and our arrangemh other third-party payors. Typically, govarent-mandated discounts in the
United States and Canada are significantly largen discounts provided to other third-party paybrarder to estimate our total rebates,
chargebacks and discounts, we estimate the pegeeafgrescriptions that will be covered by eadhdtparty payor, which is referred to as the
payor mix. We track available information regardoignges, if any, to the payor mix for our produtiur contractual terms with third-party
payors and to applicable governmental programsegualations and levels of our products in the itigtion channel. We adjust our estimated
rebates, chargebacks and discounts based on nemmatfon, including information regarding actuaba&es, chargebacks and discounts for ot
products, as it becomes available. Claims by thady payors for rebates, chargebacks and discéwapsently are submitted to us three to six
months following the related sales, potentiallyutésg in adjustments in the period in which thevriaformation becomes known. If we
increased our estimate of the percentage of patreceiving our products covered by third-partygrayentitled to government-mandated
discounts by two percentage points, our net prothwenues would decrease by less than one pewrethief three months ended December 31
2012.

Our customers have the right to return unopenedescepbed packages beginning six months prioréddbeled expiration date and enc
twelve months after the labeled expiration dateofBecember 31, 2012, returns of our products leen minimal. Based on our specialty
distribution model with weekly reporting of invemydevels provided to us by our limited number aftomers, prescription data from third
parties, the estimated remaining shelf life of products previously shipped and currently beingshd, and contractual agreements with our
customers, which include provisions designed tat lie amount of inventory they maintain, we hag8reated that our product returns will be
less than one percent of cumulative sales. We tattkal returns by individual production lots anitl @ontinue to monitor inventory levels in
the distribution channel. If necessary, we williedjour estimated product returns based on newnration as it becomes available.

KALYDECO was approved in the European Union inttied quarter of 2012 and international KALYDECCt peoduct revenues did not
represent a significant portion of our total negdarct revenues in 2012. In 2013, we expect théneeased percentage of our net product
revenues will be due to sales of KALYDECO in intational markets. We sell KALYDECO in Europe prinhato distributors, government r
hospitals and private pharmacies that prescribe XBECO to patients. We recognize net product revsritgm sales of KALYDECO in
Europe upon delivery to our customers as long @®tis persuasive evidence that an arrangemens édsveen us and our customer,
collectability is reasonably assured, and the psdixed or determinable.
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Up-front License Fees

We recognize revenues from nonrefundable, up-fioahse fees related to collaboration agreememttjding the $165.0 million we
received from Janssen in 2006, on a straight-lassbover the contracted or estimated period dbopeance. The period of performance over
which the revenues are recognized is typicallypdeod over which the research and/or developnseexpected to occur. When the period of
performance is based on the period over which reBesnd/or development is expected to occur, weedaneired to make estimates regarding
drug development and commercialization timelinescdise of the many risks and uncertainties assdoreth the development of drug
candidates, these estimates regarding the peripdrédrmance have changed in the past and may eharbe future. Our estimates regarding
the period of performance under the Janssen calitiba agreement were adjusted in 2007, 2009 aa@,2% a result of changes in the global
development plan for telaprevir. These adjustmesei® made on a prospective basis beginning inehiegs in which the changes were
identified and resulted in decreases in the amofirevenues we recognized on a quarterly basis fhadanssen collaboration.

Milestone Payments

At the inception of each agreement that includegingent milestone payments payable to us, we at@lvhether the contingencies
underlying each milestone event are substantivegipally reviewing factors such as the scientéitd other risks that must be overcome to
achieve the milestone event, as well as the leveliccessful effort and investment required. Ifdeenot consider a milestone event to be
substantive, the revenues from the related milespayment will be recognized over the period ofgremrance. Where a substantive milestone
event is achieved pursuant to a collaboration ageeé and the corresponding payment is reasonabiyed, we recognize the payment as
earned. Because achievement of a substantive arikegtivent under a collaboration agreement typicetiyiires the completion of a number of
activities conducted over a significant periodinfd, the expenses related to achieving the milestment often are incurred prior to the period
in which the milestone payment is recognized. Tliestone events that we achieved under our Jarsskaooration agreement in 2011 that
resulted in $250.0 million in revenues were cong@desubstantive and the revenues related to edebtonie event were recognized in the
quarter in which the corresponding payment becaasanably assured.

Royalty Revenues

Royalty revenues for INCIVO are recognized basedetrsales of INCIVO as reported to us by Jansedrage recognized in the period
the sales occur. Because net sales as reporteahbgeh include certain estimates, we could expmrifriure adjustments to royalty revenues
and the adjustments could be significant.

Consolidation of Variable I nterest Entity

In 2011, we entered into an agreement with Aliospant to which we agreed to collaborate on theareh, development and
commercialization of ALS-2200 (now formulated as-XX5) and ALS-2158, two HCV nucleotide analoguesaovered by Alios. In 2012, we
received data from Phase 1 clinical trials in whidios evaluated ALS-2200 and ALS-2158. Based as dlata, we are continuing the
development of VX-135 and have ended all develograetivities related to ALS-2158. We are resporesibl all expenses related to the
development and commercialization of the compowamdsprovide research funding to Alios. We paid 8l&$60.0 million up-front payment,
and Alios is eligible to receive research and degwelent milestone payments, commercial milestonengays and tiered royalties on net sales
of any approved drugs licensed by us under thalsothtion agreement. Our interests in Alios arédithto those accorded to us pursuant to
our collaboration agreement with Alios, and we hagesquity interest, or right to acquire any eqinitgrest, in Alios. In addition to Alios’
activities related to HCV nucleotide analoguespalis engaged in separate programs directed alogkévg novel drugs.

Our collaboration with Alios requires us to appbcaunting policies that involve significant judgni®and that have a material effect on
our consolidated financial statements. Under appli accounting guidance, as a result of the oglghiip established through the collaboratior
agreement, Alios is deemed to be a variable intersy, or VIE. Because we acquired an exclusnense to certain intellectual property
belonging to the VIE, and based on the significaofdbe licensed intellectual property to Alios ¢akas a whole, the collaboration is treatec
accounting purposes as if we have acquired areisttér the entire VIE. In the Alios collaboratiavhere (a) through the joint steering
committee, we have the power to direct the devetogrand commercialization of VX35, which are the activities that most signifitaaiffect
the
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economic performance of Alios, (b) we are requicetlind research and development activities reltidte licensed assets and (c) we are
entitled to receive a majority of the potentialerues from sales of any drugs developed pursudhetoollaboration, we are deemed under
accounting guidance to be the primary beneficidry GIE that is a business. As a result, we areired to consolidate Alios’ financial
statements into our financial statements.

We believe that the following effects of the comdation on our consolidated financial statemengsthe most significant:

. In each period, we record net loss (income)attable to the Alios noncontrolling interest. Thist loss (income) reflects Alios’ net
loss (income) for the period as adjusted for gaimd losses in the fair value of the contingent shdiee and royalty payments payable
by us to Alios. Determining the fair value of thentingent milestone and royalty payments payablaso Alios requires us to make
significant estimates regarding the probability @oetential timing of achieving each of the milesterpursuant to the agreement, fu
potential net sales of the HCV nucleotide analodicesised from Alios and appropriate discount eandrates. We base our estimat
the probability of achieving the relevant milestsro® industry data for similar assets and our oxpregence. The discount rates used
in the valuation model represent a measure of cristiassociated with settling the liability. Sificant judgment is used in
determining the appropriateness of these assungptibeach reporting period. Changes in these asgmagould have a material
effect on the fair value of milestone and royaléyment obligation. We expect that the net lossofime) attributed to noncontrolling
interest (Alios) will continue to be affected byartyes in the fair value of the contingent milestaneé royalty payments. For example,
in 2012 we received positive results from a Phasknical trial of ALS2200 and the fair value of the contingent milestané royalty
payments increased by $115.0 million due to in@eas the likelihood of achieving milestones anthabing regulatory approvals,
together with decreases in the time period oveckviaie are discounting potential milestone and tgy@hyments. Increases in the 1
value of the contingent milestone payments andltieggpayable by us to Alios result in a decreasedt income attributable to Vert
(or an increase in net loss attributable to Vertexp dollar-fordollar basis. Changes in the fair value of thesgingent milestone ar
royalty payments and the effects of these changesbincome (loss) attributable to Vertex wereeriat in 2012 and 2011 and may
be material in future periods.

. Since the effective date of the collaboratioreagnent we have consolidated all of Alios’ experasesrevenues into our consolidated
statements of operations, eliminating all intercampbalances and transactions. In future periéddids increases its headcount
and/or expands its activities related to its offregrams, its operating expenses could increassantially. To the extent that Alios
pursues other programs, we expect that expensilfosfrelated to those activities would be reflecie our research and development
expenses and our sales, general and administeatpenses as a result of the financial statemersotioiation. We would not be
entitled to any benefits from those activitieswl cease to have the power to direct the activitissmost significantly affect the
economic performance of Alios because of the exparsf Alios' activities related to its other pragns or for any other reason cease
to be Alios' primary beneficiary, we would decoridate Alios.

. We reflect all of Alios’ cash and cash equivaseas restricted cash and cash equivalents (Albgh we consolidate Alios’ balance
sheets. We do not have any rights to Alicassh or cash equivalents; these resources areaitlde to fund research and developn
programs pursuant to the collaboration agreemehttase amounts do not provide us with any additibguidity. As a result of
payments we have made to Alios under the collalmragreement, Alios had significant liquid assstof December 31, 2012. Alios
has control over the restricted cash and cash algmis (Alios), including the ability to distributiee restricted cash and cash
equivalents to Alios’ equityholders, and as a regus$ asset, although carried on our consolidatddnce sheet, is not included in the
discussion of our liquidity and should be disregartvhen evaluating our financial condition.

I ntangible Assets

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, our intangilbdetssconsisted of indefinite-lived in-process redeand development assets of (i)
$250.6 million related to our HCV nucleotide analegprogram, which includes the HCV nucleotide agaéoVX-135 and included the HCV
nucleotide analogue ALS-2158 and (ii) $412.9 millrelated to VX-222. We collaborate with Alios asearch and development activities
related to the HCV nucleotide program and acquu¥e2?22 when we acquired ViroChem Pharma Inc., aoZhem, in 2009.
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Each of these research and development assets telditug candidates that are being developedétreatment of HCV infection. We
maintain an indefinite-lived in-process researcti development asset on our consolidated balan@# shél either the research and
development project underlying it is completedra asset becomes impaired. If we complete a prajectill amortize the carrying value of
the related intangible asset as part of cost adywrbrevenues over the remaining estimated lifitnefasset. If we determine that an asset has
become impaired or we abandon a project, we watendthe carrying value of the related intangiblgedso its fair value and take an
impairment charge in the period in which the impegnt occurs.

We assess the fair value of assets, including giltéa assets such as in-process research and gewvahb assets, using a variety of
methods, including present-value models that asedapon multiple probability-weighted scenariosiring the development and potential
commercialization of the acquired drug candidaié® present-value models require us to make sggmfiassumptions regarding the estimate
that market participants would make in evaluatirdyueg candidate, including the probability of susfally completing clinical trials and
obtaining regulatory approval to market the drugdidate, the timing of and the expected costs toptete in-process research and
development projects, future net cash flows froneptal drug sales, which are based on estimatdsedfales price of the drug, the number of
patients that will be diagnosed and treated andcompetitive position in the marketplace, and appede discount and tax rates.

We test our intangible assets for impairment oaramual basis as of October 1, and more frequefithglicators are present or changes in
circumstance suggest that impairment may existnivwhat could result in an impairment, or triggarinterim impairment assessment, include
the receipt of additional clinical or nonclinicadtd regarding our drug candidate or a potentiaippetitive drug candidate, changes in the
clinical development program for a drug candidateew information regarding potential sales for dneg. In connection with each annual
impairment assessment and any interim impairmesgsasnent, we compare the fair value of the ass#tthe date of the assessment with the
carrying value of the asset on our consolidatedrwad sheet.

The field of HCV infection treatment is highly coetjiive and characterized by rapid technologicataades, and several of our
competitors are conducting Phase 3 clinical teaisluating their drug candidates for the treatnoéigenotype 1 HCV infection, including
clinical trials evaluating all-oral treatment re@ns and combination treatment regimens that inghedelFN and ribavirin. There can be no
assurance that we will successfully develop VX-28%X-222. If the fair value of VX-135 and/or VX-2Zecomes impaired due to (i)
unfavorable safety or efficacy data from any ongain future clinical trial of our drug regimens) fegulatory delays, (iii) favorable results of
testing or earlier FDA or foreign regulatory appabef competitors' products or (iv) any other imf@ation that affects the prospects of
successfully developing or commercializing VX-1354X-222, we would incur significant charges in §heriod in which the impairment
occurs.

Alios Collaboration

We recorded $250.6 million of intangible asset®onconsolidated balance sheet based on our estiwh#te fair value of Alios' HCV
nucleotide analogue program as of the transactiwa @nd made significant estimates regarding: thlegbility of obtaining regulatory approy
of an HCV nucleotide analogue; the timing and expeécosts of clinical trials and other developmestivities; future potential cash flows fri
sales of drugs and the appropriate discount anthtax. We determined because of the advancem&X-df35 that there was no impairmen
the Alios HCV nucleotide program in the third qeardf 2012 when we ended development of ALS-2158imMpairment has been found with
respect to these intangible assets since the iwedate of the collaboration.

ViroChem Acquisition

As of December 31, 2010, the intangible assetsieamjfrom ViroChem that were reflected on our cditksted balance sheet related to
two drug candidates, VX-222 and VX-759. VX-222 afng-759 had estimated fair values on the acquisitiate and December 31, 2010 of
$412.9 million and $105.8 million, respectively.eTstimated fair values ascribed to VX-222 and \B®9-@n the acquisition date were based
on the estimated fair value that would be ascribeshch of these drug candidates by a market matitthat acquired both drug candidates
single transaction.

In the third quarter of 2011, we identified certfantors that were considered impairment indicatelated to VX-759. We determined that
the fair value of VX-759 was zero dollars, basedf@madvancement of VX-222 in the third quarte@11, our consideration of potentially
competitive drug candidates and other factors. @atermination resulted in a $105.8 million impa@mhcharge in 2011.
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We have tested the fair value of VX-222 on an ahbaasis since the acquisition date and no impaitrhas been identified. As of October
1, 2012, we estimated the fair value that woula@ittebuted to VX-222 by a market participant basadprobability weighted present-value
models involving updated assumptions and estintatgarding the status of the VX-222 development oy the potential future cash flows
from sales of VX-222, and an appropriate discoaté.rwWhen we updated our assumptions, we considenedg other factors, the following:
(i) we continue to evaluate VX-222 in Phase 2 chihirials and believe that a treatment regimertainimg VX-222 in combination with other
direct-acting antivirals such as VX35 can be developed for patients with genotypeCY lihfection, (ii) our competitors initiated seveRhase
2 and Phase 3 clinical trials during the seconfidf&2012 that include treatment arms with non-roside HCV polymerase inhibitors in
combination with other direaeting antivirals that could potentially be compredi in the market for the treatment of HCV infectiand (ii) we
believe that in the future several competitivetiment regimens will be available to treat patiemith genotype 1 HCV infection. Using these
updated assumptions, we determined that as of @cigl2012, a market participant would assign vaue to VX-222 exceeding the value
reflected on our consolidated balance sheet. Adeghyd we determined that the value of VX-222 was$ impaired as of October 1, 2012 and
there were no indicators of impairment as of Decen®i, 2012.

Accruals

Research and development expenses, including amfuntded through research and development colléibnsa and sales, general and
administrative expenses are expensed as incurrkdn\tthird-party service providers' billing termsriat coincide with our period-end, we are
required to make estimates of our obligations ts¢hthird parties, including clinical trial and pimaceutical development costs, contractual
services costs, costs for drug supply, marketingeeges and infrastructure expenses incurred imes giccounting period and record accruals
at the end of the period. We base our estimatesioknowledge of the research and development anogjrservices performed for the period,
past history for related activities and the expa:cteration of the third-party service contract, vehapplicable.

Commercial Supplies and I nventories

We began capitalizing the costs of our INCIVEK int@ries on January 1, 2011 and the costs of our XBECO inventories on January
2012. We capitalize inventories produced in prejianeor initiating sales of a drug candidate witlea related drug candidate is considered to
have a high likelihood of regulatory approval ahd telated costs are expected to be recoveraldeghrsale of the inventories. In determining
whether or not to capitalize such inventories, walate, among other factors, information regardiregdrug candidate's safety and efficacy,
the status of regulatory submissions and commuoitatvith regulatory authorities and the outlookdommercial sales, including the
existence of current or anticipated competitivegdrand the availability of reimbursement. In addifiwe evaluate risks associated with
manufacturing the drug candidate and the remaisitialf life of the inventories. After we begin cabiting inventories, we perform an
assessment of the recoverability of capitalize@imuery during each reporting period, and write d@amg excess and obsolete inventories to
their net realizable value in the period in whibb tmpairment is first identified.

The field of treatment of HCV infection is highlpmpetitive and characterized by rapid technologicidances. In 2012, following
periodic assessments of the recoverability of puemntories, we recorded within cost of product raxes an aggregate of $133.2 million in
charges for excess and obsolete INCIVEK inventofesiodic assessments of the recoverability oitaliped costs involve significant
estimates and judgments on the part of managefieatcharges and corresponding inventory write-dome® based on our analysis of our
INCIVEK inventory levels in relation to our commétoutlook for INCIVEK. As part of the analysisgnconsidered, among other factors,
(i) decreases in demand for INCIVEK during 2012 and expectation that demand would decrease fuithire future, (ii) the potential
development by us of other drugs and combinatieattnents for HCV infection, including pursuant tdl@boration agreements to evaluate
VX-135 in combination with drug candidates contdlby third parties, that make it unlikely that IMEK will play a role in future
combination therapies, (iii) the placement of a 8db¥Varning on the INCIVEK prescribing informatianDecember 2012, (iv) the potential
development by our competitors of other drugs andhination treatments for HCV infection, (v) positiresults reported in 2012 from clini
trials of drug candidates being developed by usamdompetitors and (vi) the initiation by our coatitors of additional Phase 2 and Phase 3
clinical trials evaluating drug candidates for treatment of HCV infection. As of December 31, 2012 had $22.8 million in remaining
INCIVEK inventories. We evaluate our INCIVEK invamtes on a quarterly basis, and future changesamutlook for commercial sales of
INCIVEK, including changes due to future developtsanith respect to demand for INCIVEK or the advament or approval of other drugs
or combination treatments for HCV infection, cotdgult in additional inventory write-downs and tethcharges in future periods.
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Income Taxes

We maintain a valuation allowance on our net ofregabsses and other deferred tax assets becausawgean extended history of annual
losses. Our U.S. federal net operating loss canmgads totaled approximately $2.6 billion as of Beber 31, 2012. On a quarterly basis, we
reassess the valuation allowance for deferred iectax assets. After consideration of all the evigemoth positive and negative, we continue
to maintain a valuation allowance on the defereedaisset as of December 31, 2012 because it islikelethan not that the deferred tax asset
will not be realized. In future periods, if we deténe that it is more likely than not that the dede tax asset will be realized, (i) the valuation
allowance would be decreased, (ii) a portion ophthe deferred tax asset would be reflected orconsolidated balance sheet and (iii) we
would record non-cash benefits in our statementgpefations related to the reflection of the defémax asset on our consolidated balance
sheet.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Refer to Note A, "Nature of Business and Accountadicies," in the accompanying notes to the cadatdd financial statements for a
discussion of recent accounting pronouncements.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

As part of our investment portfolio, we own fina@dinstruments that are sensitive to market riske investment portfolio is used to
preserve our capital until it is required to furkeations, including our research and developmetities. None of these market risk-sensitive
instruments are held for trading purposes. We ddawee derivative financial instruments in our istreent portfolio.

Interest Rate Risk

We invest our cash in a variety of financial ingtents, principally securities issued by the Unitattes government and its agencies,
investment grade corporate bonds and commerci&rpapd money market funds. These investmentsearendinated in U.S. dollars. All of
our interest-bearing securities are subject taésterate risk and could decline in value if ingtnates fluctuate. Substantially all of our
investment portfolio consists of marketable se@sgitvith active secondary or resale markets to éefure portfolio liquidity, and we have
implemented guidelines limiting the term-to-matyigf our investment instruments. Due to the corstire nature of these instruments, we do
not believe that we have a material exposure &rést rate risk.

Foreign Exchange Market Risk

As a result of our foreign operations, we face axpe to movements in foreign currency exchange rat@marily the Euro, Swiss Franc,
British Pound and Canadian Dollar against the ddiar. The current exposures arise primarily froash, accounts receivable, intercompany
receivables, payables and inventories, and calonkabf royalties receivable from net sales denateid in foreign currencies. Both positive
and negative affects to our net revenues frommniaténal product sales from movements in foreigmency exchange rates are partially
mitigated by the natural, opposite affect that ifigmecurrency exchange rates have on our internaltioperating expenses.

We are considering a foreign currency managememgram with the objective of reducing the volatildfexchange rate fluctuations on
our operating results and to increase the visyhilftthe foreign exchange impact on forecastedmees.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
The information required by this Iltem 8 is contairen pages F-1 through F-44 of this Annual ReporEorm 10-K.
ITEM 9. CHANGES AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOU NTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.
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ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(1) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedurg The Companys chief executive officer and chief financial offi¢ after evaluatin
the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure odtaind procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15@@Rate 15d-15(e) promulgated under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) #eeadénd of the period covered by this Annual ReporEorm 10-K, have concluded that,
based on such evaluation, the Company’s disclasamrols and procedures were effective. In desigaind evaluating the disclosure controls
and procedures, the Company’s management recogthiaeeny controls and procedures, no matter holvdesigned and operated, can
provide only reasonable assurance of achievingléséed control objectives, and the Companyanagement necessarily was required to
its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relasioip of possible controls and procedures.

(2) Management’s Annual Report on Internal ControlOver Financial Reporting. The management of the Company is responsible fol
establishing and maintaining adequate internalroboter financial reporting. Internal control ovi@grancial reporting is defined in Rule 13a-1-
(f) and Rule 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Sei@srExchange Act of 1934, as amended, as a prdesggned by, or under the supervision
of, the Company’s principal executive and princifi@gncial officers and effected by the Companioard of Directors, management and o
personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regattareliability of financial reporting and thegpiaration of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepteduatiog principles. The Company’s internal contreéofinancial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that:

. pertain to the maintenance of records thateasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflecttthasactions and dispositions of the
assets of the Company;

. provide reasonable assurance that transactiengeorded as necessary to permit preparationarfdial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, tirad receipts and expenditures of the Company e@iregbmade only in accordance
with authorizations of management and directorthefCompany; and

. provide reasonable assurance regarding preveatiimely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose or disposition of the Company’s
assets that could have a material effect on tlenéial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssaubject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

The Company’s management assessed the effectivehess Companys internal control over financial reporting as afd@mber 31, 201
In making this assessment, it used the criterifostt in the Internal Control—Integrated Framewagued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO¥ellaon its assessment, the Company’s managemeodmesded that, as of
December 31, 2012, the Company’s internal contvel dinancial reporting is effective based on thosteria.

The Company'’s independent registered public ac@ogifirm, Ernst & Young LLP, issued an attestatieport on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting. See Section 4dhbel

(3) Changes in Internal Controls.During the quarter ended December 31, 2012, there wo changes in the Company's internal control

over financial reporting that materially affected,are reasonably likely to materially affect, empany's internal control over financial
reporting.
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(4) Report of Independent Registered Public Accouintg Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated

We have audited Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorpoiatetérnal control over financial reporting as@écember 31, 2012, based on criterie
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framdwssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organinatiaf the Treadway Commission (the
COSO criteria). Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporatethnagement is responsible for maintaining eiffednternal control over financial
reporting, and for its assessment of the effecagsrof internal control over financial reportinglirded in the accompanying Management’s
Annual Report on Internal Control Over FinanciapBeing. Our responsibility is to express an opinim the company'’s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversightri8q&nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the &ndbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigéfénternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe@is: audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness etésting and evaluating the design and operatifegéfeness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsre® considered necessary in the circumstancefeliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting princip
A company'’s internal control over financial repogiincludes those policies and procedures thai€fthin to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositions of the assdtseocfompany; (2) provide reasonable assuranc
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatg@aparation of financial statements in accor@awith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®ttbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely detectfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdeanaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporatentained, in all material respects, effectivielinal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2012, based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Vertex Pharmac&utit@orporated as of December 31, 2012 and 201d.ttee related consolidated statements
of operations, comprehensive income (loss), shadlers equity and noncontrolling interest, and cfistvs for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2012 of Vertex Pharmmedsitncorporated and our report dated March 1328pressed an unqualified opinion
thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 1, 2013

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable.
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PART IlI

Portions of our definitive Proxy Statement for #3843 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, or 2013 PiStatement, during which, we exp
to, among other things, (i) elect our Class Illdgiors, (ii) conduct the non-binding advisory voteour executive compensation program and
(iii) ratify the appointment of our independentistgred accounting firm, are incorporated by refeeeinto this Part Il of our Annual Report
Form 10-K.

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

The information regarding directors required by thém 10 will be included in our 2013 Proxy Stagermnunder “Election of Directors,”
“Corporate Governance and Risk Management” andr&étadder Proposals for the 2014 Annual Meeting ldadhinations for Director” and is
incorporated herein by reference. Other informataguired by this Item 10 will be included in th@13 Proxy Statement under “Section 16(a)
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” and “@af Conduct” and is incorporated herein by refeeeMhe information regarding
executive officers required by this Item 10 as vaslicertain information regarding our director@uded in Part | of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item 11 will becinded in the 2013 Proxy Statement under “Compeérs&ommittee Interlocks and
Insider Participation,” “Compensation Discussionl &mnalysis,” “Compensation and Equity Tables,” “&itor Compensation,” “Management
Development and Compensation Committee Report’aari@orporate Governance and Risk Management” aicorporated herein by
reference.

” ow

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Iltem 12 will becinded in the 2013 Proxy Statement under “Sec@itnership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Management” and “Equity Compensation Pitormation” and is incorporated herein by refere.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item 13 will becinded in the 2013 Proxy Statement under “ ElectibBirectors,” “Corporate
Governance and Risk Management,” “Approval of Rala®erson Transactions” and “Transactions with teélRersons” and is incorporated
herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Iltem 14 will becinded in the 2013 Proxy Statement under “Ratificabf the Appointment of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” aniticorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)(1) The Financial Statements required to bel filg tems 8 and 15(c) of Form 10-K, and filed lwégtk, are as follows:

Page Number in
this Form 10-K

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfinm F-1
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeaded December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 F-2
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Incomss{lfor the years ended December 31, 2012, 201 2Gtal F-3
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&812011 F-4
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ EquityNontontrolling Interest for the years ended Decen®d, 2012, 2011 and 2010 5F-
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeraded December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-7

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules have beeriazhfiecause they are either not applicable oraygired information is included in the
consolidated financial statements or notes thdigtd in (a)(1) above.

(a)(3) Exhibits.
The following is a list of exhibits filed as paftthis Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Incorporated by
Reference herein

Exhibit Filed with from—Form Filing Date/ SEC File/
Number Exhibit Description this report or Schedule Period Covered  Reg. Number
3.1 Restated Atrticles of Organization of Vertex Phareudicals Incorporated, as 10-Q August 11, 2008 00@931¢
amended. (Exhibit 3.1)
3.2 By-laws of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporatecaraended and restated as of 8-K February 11, 2013 0009319
February 5, 2013. (Exhibit 3.1)
4.1 Specimen stock certificate. S-1 July 18, 1991 330966
(Exhibit 4.1)
4.2 Subordinated Indenture, dated as of Septemberd®, dy and between Vertex 8-K September 29, 2010 0a®31¢
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and U.S. Bank Natidsabciation, as trustee. (Exhibit 4.1)
4.3 First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of Septe@®e2010, by and between September 29, 2010 0a®318
Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and U.S. BaatioNal Association, as 8-K
trustee. (Exhibit 4.2)
4.4 Form of 3.35% Convertible Senior Subordinated Nite 2015. 8-K September 29, 2010 0a®318
(Exhibit 4.3)
Collaboration Agreements
10.1 License, Development, Manufacturing and Commemasibn Agreement, dated 10-K February 22, 2012 0009319
June 30, 2006, by and between Vertex Pharmaceutimabdrporated and Janssen (Exhibit 10.1)
Pharmaceutica, N.V.t
10.2 License, Development and Commercialization Agredndated as of June 11, November 9, 2009 000931¢
2004, between Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporatddvitsubishi Pharma 10-Q
Corporation.t (Exhibit 10.1)
10.3 Second Amendment to License, Development and Couniatieation Agreement, November 9, 2009 000931¢
dated July 30, 2009, between Mitsubishi TanaberRa&orporation and Vertex 10-Q
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated.t (Exhibit 10.2)
10.4 Research Agreement and License Agreement, botld @steember 16, 1993, 10-K Year Ended 00019319
between Vertex and Burroughs Wellcome Co.t (Exhibit 10.16) December 31, 1993
10.5Research, Development and Commercialization Agregrdated as of May 24, August 19, 2011 0009318
2004, between Vertex Pharmaceuticals IncorporatddCystic Fibrosis 10-Q/A
Foundation Therapeutics Incorporated.t (Exhibit 10.2)
10.6 Amendment No. 1 to Research, Development and Couoiatieation Agreement, March 16, 2006 00@931¢

dated as of January 6, 2006, between Vertex Phautieals Incorporated and
Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics Incorpatdte

77

10-K
(Exhibit 10.9)




Table of Contents

Incorporated by
Reference herein

Exhibit Filed with from—Form Filing Date/ SEC File/
Number Exhibit Description this report or Schedule Period Covered  Reg. Number
10.7 Amendment No. 2 to Research, Development and Couoiatieation Agreement, August 19, 2011 00@931¢
dated as of March 17, 2006, between Vertex Phamtiaeés Incorporated and 10-Q/A
Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics Incorpatrate (Exhibit 10.6)
10.8 Amendment No. 5 to Research, Development and Coniafieation Agreement, August 9, 2011 0009318
effective as of April 1, 2011, between Vertex Phaceuticals Incorporated and 10-Q
Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics Incorpatdte (Exhibit 10.3)
10.9 Research and Development Agreement between the &gngmd Eli Lilly and 10-Q August 14, 1997 0009318
Company effective June 11, 1997t (Exhibit 10.1)
10.10License and Collaboration Agreement, dated Jun@dRl, by and between Alios August 9, 2011 0029318
BioPharma, Inc. and Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incatgorand Vertex 10-Q
Pharmaceuticals (Switzerland) LLC.T (Exhibit 10.1)
Financial Transaction
10.11 Purchase Agreement, dated May 30, 2008, by andeleetWertex 10-Q August 11, 2008 0009318
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and FosamprenavirligoyaP. (Exhibit 10.2)
Leases
10.12Lease, dated May 5, 2011, between Fifty Northerare LLC and Vertex 10-Q August 9, 2011 0029318
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated.t (Exhibit 10.4)
10.13Lease, dated May 5, 2011, between Eleven Fan PigleBard LLC and Vertex 10-Q August 9, 2011 0029318
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated.t (Exhibit 10.5)
10.14 Lease, dated as of March 3, 1995, between Fort Wgatsim Realty Trust and 10-K Year Ended 00019319
Vertex. (Exhibit 10.15) December 31, 1994
10.15First Amendment to Lease, dated as of Decembet@®h, between Fort 10-K Year Ended 00019319
Washington Realty Trust and Vertex Pharmaceuticaisrporated. (Exhibit 10.15) December 31, 1995
10.16 Second Amendment to Lease, dated as of June 13, h&8veen Fort Washingt 10-K March 26, 1998 00@931¢
Realty Trust and Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorpdrate (Exhibit 10.20)
10.17 Third, Fourth and Fifth Amendments to Lease betweamn Washington Realty 10-K March 26, 2001 0009318
Trust and Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated.t (Exhibit 10.14)
10.18Lease, dated as of September 17, 1999, betweete&susf Fort Washington 10-Q November 15, 1999 0009319
Realty Trust and Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorpdrdite (Exhibit 10.27)
10.19 Amendment to Lease, dated January 12, 2009, bpetkeen BMR-200 Sidney May 11, 2009 0009318
Street LLC (as successor in interest to Fort WaghmRealty Trust), and Vertex 10-Q
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated. (Exhibit 10.4)
10.20Lease, dated as of January 18, 2001, between KSglare, LLC and Vertex 10-K March 26, 2001 0009318
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated.t (Exhibit 10.16)
10.21 Agreement for Lease, dated as of November 4, 1888/een Milton Park March 30, 1999 00@931¢
Limited, Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated andé&ePharmaceuticals 10-K
(Europe) Limited. (Exhibit 10.21)
10.22 Lease between MEPC Milton Park No.1 Limited and \BW®ilton Park No. 2 August 10, 2009 0009318
Limited, Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Europe) Limited afertex Pharmaceuticals 10-Q
Incorporated, dated June 10, 2009. (Exhibit 10.1)
Equity Plans
10.231996 Stock and Option Plan, as amended and restateidMarch 14, 2005.* 10-K March 16, 2005 0009318
(Exhibit 10.3)
10.24 Form of Stock Option Grant under 1996 Stock andddg®lan.* 8-K February 9, 2005 0009318
(Exhibit 10.1)
10.25Amended and Restated 2006 Stock and Option Plan.* 10-Q August 8, 2012 0009318
(Exhibit 10.3)
10.26 Form of Stock Option Grant under 2006 Stock andddg®lan.* 8-K May 15, 2006 0009318
(Exhibit 10.2)
10.27 Form of Restricted Stock Award under 2006 Stock@ptlon Plan.* 8-K May 15, 2006 00Qa-931¢
(Exhibit 10.3)
10.28 Form of Restricted Stock Award (Performance Acekt Restricted Stock) 8-K May 15, 2006 0009318
under 2006 Stock and Option Plan.* (Exhibit 10.4)
10.29Form of Stock Option Grant-Performance Acceler@@@9 Stock-Options.* 10-K February 19, 2010 00D9319
(Exhibit 10.33)
10.30Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated Employee SRackhase Plan, as amended 10-Q August 8, 2012 0029318

and restated.*
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Incorporated by
Reference herein

Exhibit Filed with from—Form Filing Date/ SEC File/
Number Exhibit Description this report or Schedule Period Covered  Reg. Number
Agreements with Executive Officers and Directors
10.31Agreement between Jeffrey M. Leiden and Vertexed&ecember 14, 2011.* 10-K February 22, 2012 0019319
(Exhibit 10.34)
10.32 Employee Non-disclosure, Non-competition and Iniarg Agreement between 10-K February 22, 2012 0009319
Jeffrey M. Leiden and Vertex, dated December 14120 (Exhibit 10.35)
10.33Transition Agreement between Matthew W. Emmens\értex, dated 10-K February 22, 2012
December 14, 2011.* (Exhibit 10.38) 0001931¢
10.34 Employment Agreement, dated as of August 27, 26&Ryeen Vertex 10-Q November 6, 2012 0009318
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and Stuart Arbuckle.* (Exhibit 10.1)
10.35Change of Control Agreement, dated as of Augus@T2, between Vertex 10-Q November 6, 2012 0009318
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and Stuart Arbuckle.* (Exhibit 10.2)
10.36 Employment Agreement, dated as of June 11, 2012clka Vertex 10-Q August 8, 2012 00@931¢
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and Kenneth L. Harton. (Exhibit 10.1)
10.37 Change of Control Agreement, dated as of June@1l2,2between Vertex 10-Q August 8, 2012 0029318
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and Kenneth L. Harton. (Exhibit 10.2)
10.38 Second Amended and Restated Employment Agreereget] 8lovember 15, X
2012, between Peter Mueller and Vertex.*
10.39 Second Amended and Restated Change of Control gt dated November
15, 2012, between Vertex and Peter Mueller.* X
10.40 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datefiNsvember 8, 2004, 10-Q November 9, 2004 0009318
between Vertex and lan F. Smith.* (Exhibit 10.13)
10.41 Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Employegrgement between lan 10-K February 17, 2009 0009319
F. Smith and Vertex, dated December 29, 2008.* (Exhibit 10.66)
10.42 Employment Agreement, dated as of January 26, Béfieen Vertex and David 10-K February 22, 2012 0019319
T. Howton.* (Exhibit 10.50)
10.43 Change of Control Agreement, dated as of Januarg@& between Vertex and 10-K February 22, 2012 0019319
David T. Howton.* (Exhibit 10.51)
10.44 Separation and General Release Agreement, datdd\awember 29, 2012, X
between Vertex and David T. Howton.*
10.45Form of Employee Non-Disclosure and Inventions Agnent.* S-1 May 30, 1991 3310966
(Exhibit 10.4)
10.46 Vertex Employee Compensation Plan.* X
10.47 Vertex Pharmaceuticals Non-Employee Board Compemsat 10-K February 22, 2012 00D9319
(Exhibit 10.57)
Subsidiaries
21.1 Subsidiaries of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorpotated X
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing Ernst & Young LLP. X
Certifications
31.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer undgection 302 of the Sarbanes- X
Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer undgection 302 of the Sarbanes- X
Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer ancethief Financial Officer under X
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101.INS XBRL Instance X
101.SCFXBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema X
101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation X
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels X
101.PREXBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation X
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition X

* Management contract, compensatory plan oreagest.

tConfidential portions of this document have beésdfseparately with the Securities and Exchangerfiisgion pursuant to a request for confidential

treatment.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated Becember 31, 2012 and 20
and the related consolidated statements of opamgtammprehensive income (loss), shareholderstygnd noncontrolling interest, and cash
flows for each of the three years in the periodeehDecember 31, 2012. These financial statemeatharresponsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express aniopion these financial statements based on outsaud

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the &mdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digis in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managenenielhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@alove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated financial position of Vertex
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated at December 31, 20d2@11, and the consolidated results of its omeratand its cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 20®nformity with U.S. generally accepted accoogtprinciples.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), Vertex
Pharmaceuticals Incorporated’s internal controlrdvencial reporting as of December 31, 2012, Hasethe criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the CommitteSponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Casaions and our report dated
March 1, 2013 expressed an unqualified opinionetbier

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Boston, Massachusetts
March 1, 2013
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
Revenues:
Product revenues, net $ 133345 $ 950,88¢ $ —
Royalty revenues 141,49t 50,01¢ 30,24¢
Collaborative revenues 52,08¢ 409,72. 113,12¢
Total revenues 1,527,04. 1,410,62 143,37(
Costs and expenses:
Cost of product revenues (Note F) 236,74. 63,62¢ —
Royalty expenses 43,14: 16,88( 12,73(
Research and development expenses 806,18! 707,70¢ 637,41¢
Sales, general and administrative expenses 436,79t 400,72: 187,80(
Restructuring expense 1,844 2,074 1,501
Intangible asset impairment charge — 105,80( —
Total costs and expenses 1,524,71 1,296,80! 839,44
Income (loss) from operations 2,332 113,82( (696,07
Interest income 1,94( 1,87¢ 1,95¢
Interest expense (16,657 (38,45 (29,279
Change in fair value of derivative instruments — (16,809 (41,229
Income (loss) before provision for (benefit fromgdome taxes (12,38)) 60,44: (754,621
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 38,75¢ 19,26¢ —
Net income (loss) (51,13 41,17¢ (754,621
Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrollingeiest (Alios) (55,89) (12,609 —
Net income (loss) attributable to Vertex $ (107,03) $ 29,57¢ % (754,621
Net income (loss) per share attributable to Vecmxmon shareholders:
Basic $ (0.50) % 014 % (3.79)
Diluted $ (0.50 % 014 % (3.77%)
Shares used in per share calculations:
Basic 211,94t 204,89: 200,40:
Diluted 211,94t 208,80° 200,40:

The accompanying notes are an integral part oftimsolidated financial statements.
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (ks)

(in thousands)

Year ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010

Net income (loss) $ (51,139 $ 41,17¢ % (754,62)
Changes in other comprehensive income (loss):

Unrealized holding gains (losses) on marketablersies, net of tax 30¢ (119 46

Foreign currency translation adjustment 19¢ 13z (473
Total changes in other comprehensive income (loss) 508 14 (427)
Comprehensive income (loss) (50,637 41,19¢ (755,05)
Comprehensive loss (income) attributable to norradiittg interest (Alios) (55,897 (11,60 —
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Vertex $ (106,529 $ 2958t  § (755,05

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 31,

2012 2011
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 489,400 $ 475,32
Marketable securities, available for sale 831,80 493,60:
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (Alios) 69,98: 51,87¢
Accounts receivable, net 143,25( 183,13!
Inventories 30,46 112,43(
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 24,67: 14,88¢
Total current assets 1,589,58 1,331,25
Restricted cash 31,93 34,09(
Property and equipment, net 433,60! 133,17¢
Intangible assets 663,50( 663,50(
Goodwill 30,99 30,99.
Other assets 9,66¢ 11,26¢
Total assets $ 2,759,28 % 2,204,28
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 101,29: $ 74,64
Accrued expenses 264,88: 243,18
Deferred revenues, current portion 27 ,56¢ 45,03’
Accrued restructuring expense, current portion 4,75¢ 4,93:
Capital lease obligations, current portion 13,70" —
Income taxes payable (Alios) 71t 12,07¢
Other liabilities, current portion 19,70: 12,47*
Total current liabilities 432,62 392,34¢
Deferred revenues, excluding current portion 96,24. 118,09
Accrued restructuring expense, excluding currentiqro 18,57( 21,38:
Capital lease obligations, excluding current partio 15,17( —
Convertible senior subordinated notes (due 2015) 400,00( 400,00(
Deferred tax liability 280,36 243,70
Construction financing lease obligation 268,03: 55,95(
Other liabilities, excluding current portion 13,90: 7,287
Total liabilities 1,524,90 1,238,76i
Commitments and contingencies (Note S and Note U)
Redeemable noncontrolling interest (Alios) 38,53( 37,03¢
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 1,000,000 stear#®rized; none issued and outstanding at Dece®ih@012 and 2011 _ _
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 300,000,000 shatt®iazed at December 31, 2012 and 2011; 217,28686 209,303,995
shares issued and outstanding at December 31,82@{12011, respectively 2,14¢ 2,072
Additional paid-in capital 4,519,44: 4,200,65'
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (550 (1,059
Accumulated deficit (3,521,86) (3,414,83)
Total Vertex shareholders’ equity 999,18( 786,84
Noncontrolling interest (Alios) 196,67: 141,63:
Total shareholders’ equity 1,195,85: 928,47(

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 2,759,28 % 2,204,28




1) Amounts include the assets and liabilitie¥eftex’s variable interest entity (“VIE”), Alios BPharma, Inc. (“Alios”). Vertex’s interests and
obligations with respect to the VIE's assets aabilities are limited to those accorded to Verteits agreement with Alios. See Note B,
"Collaborative Arrangements," to these consolidditegihcial statements for amounts.

The accompanying notes are an integral part oftimsolidated financial statements.
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Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity antlloncontrolling Interest

(in thousands)

Accumulated

Common Stock Other Total Vertex Total Redeemable
Additional Comprehensive Accumulated Shareholders’ Noncontrolling Shareholders’ Noncontrolling
Shares Amount Paid-in Capital Income (Loss) Deficit Equity Interest (Alios) Equity Interest (Alios)
Balance, December 31,2009  19995! $ 1,98. $ 3,78478 $ 640 $ (2,689,78) $ 1,096,334 $ — $ 1,096,34 $ —
Unrealized holding gains
(losses) on marketable
securities, net of tax 4€ 4€ 4€
Foreign currency translation
adjustment (473) (473) (473)
Netincome (loss) (754,621) (754,621) (754,621)
Issuances of common stock:
Convertible senior
subordinated notes (due
2013) conversion 1,38¢ 14 31,55! 31,56¢ 31,56¢
Bzl Dz 2,18: 20 39,97 39,99 39,99
Stock-based compensation
expense 91,12« 91,12« 91,12¢
Balance, December 31,2010  20352: $ 2,01¢ $ 3,947,43 $ (1,067 $ (3,444,40) $ 503,97 $ — 3 503,97 $ —_
Unrealized holding gains
(losses) on marketable
securities, net of tax (119 (119 (119
Foreign currency translation
adjustment 13¢ 13¢ 13<
Netincome (loss) 29,57 29,57 11,60 41,17¢
Issuances of common stock:
Benefit plans 5,781 56 133,36: 133,41 (25) 133,39:
Stock-based compensation
expense 118,96 118,96 304 119,26¢
Tax benefit from equity
compensation 90( 90( 90(
Alios noncontrolling interest
upon consolidation 130,48t 130,48t 36,29¢
Change in liquidation value of
noncontrolling interest (737) (737) 7371
Balance, December 31,2011 209,30 $ 2,07: $ 4,20065 $ (1,059 $ (3,41483) $ 786,84. $ 141,63 $ 928,47¢ $ 37,03¢
Unrealized holding gains
(losses) on marketable
securities, net of tax 30¢ 30¢ 30¢&
Foreign currency translation
adjustment 19¢ 19¢ 19¢
Netincome (loss) (107,03) (107,03) 55,89 (51,131
Issuances of common stock:
Benefit plans 7,98: 77 201,76 201,83 15¢ 201,99:
Stock-based compensation
expense 115,05¢ 115,05¢ 481 115,53¢
Tax benefit from equity
compensation 1,971 1,971 1,971
Change in liquidation value of
redeemable noncontrolling
interest (1,499 (1,499 1,49¢
Balance, December 31,2012 217,28 $ 2,14¢ $ 4,519,441 $ (55¢) $ (3,521,86) $ 999,18( $ 196,67 $ 1,19585 % 38,53(

The accompanying notes are an integral part oftinsolidated financial statements.
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income (loss)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to mshaprovided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization expense
Stock-based compensation expense
Other non-cash based compensation expense
Intangible asset impairment charge
Secured notes (due 2012) discount amortizationresgpe
Change in fair value of derivative instruments
Deferred income taxes
Loss on disposal of property and equipment
Write-downs of inventories to net realizable value
Other non-cash items, net

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, exofuthe effects of the acquisition of a variableiest
entity (Alios):

Accounts receivable, net

Inventories

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Accounts payable

Accrued expenses and other liabilities

Excess tax benefit from share-based payment amzenfs
Accrued restructuring expense

Income taxes payable (Alios)

Deferred revenues

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchases of marketable securities

Sales and maturities of marketable securities

Payment for acquisition of a variable interesttgr{#lios)
Expenditures for property and equipment

Decrease (increase) in restricted cash and castadents
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash and casvadents (Alios)
Decrease (increase) in other assets

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:

Excess tax benefit from share-based payment amaemgs
Issuances of common stock from employee benefitspla
Issuance of convertible senior subordinated nates 2015)
Payments to redeem secured notes (due 2012)
Settlement of milestone derivatives
Payments on capital lease obligations
Payments on construction financing lease obligation
Debt conversion costs

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of changes in exchange rates on cash

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equisalent

(ach and rach eniiivale—heninninn nf nerine

Year Ended December 31,

2012 2011 2010
(51,13) $ 4117¢  $ (754,621
38,19 35,04 30,45¢
114,28 118,22 91,12
10,26: 8,52t 6,55:

= 105,801 —

— 18,40¢ 13,58¢

— 16,80 41,22
36,66( (7,507) —
39¢ 55 3¢
133,18¢ — —
(212) 264 (31)
39,91 (170,601 (2,929
(29,92 (111,389 —
(12,259 (1,719 (600)
14,89: 37,46t (1,187
29,23: 116,82 11,21
(1,979 (900) —
(2,98 (3.28) (4,42
(11,360 12,07t —
(39,329 (71,53) (65,862)
267,84 143,73! (635,44)
(1,705,82) (721,54%) (1,234,71)
1,367,92 1,016,04 1,284,80
— (60,000 —
(71,140 (34,59%) (38,05
2,15¢ — (3,77)
(18,10 12,69 —
(826) (189) (955)
(425,81) 212 41 7,301
1,971 90C —
191,72 124,86: 33,43
_ — 391,64!

— (155,001 —

— (95,000 —
(2,61¢ — —
(18,87 — —
— — (22)
172,20 (124,239 425,05
(141) 214 (377)
14,08 232,12 (203,46)

A= AA

AAA aA-

AAr~ A



Cash and cash equivalents—end of period 489,40 475,32( 243,19
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest $ 13,40( 13,51: 761
Cash paid for income taxes $ 9,31¢ — —
Conversion of convertible senior subordinated n¢des 2013) for common stock $ — _ 32,07
Accrued interest offset to additional paid-in cap@n conversion of convertible senior subordinatetds (due

2013) $ — — 14C
Unamortized debt issuance costs of converted ctibiesenior subordinated notes (due 2013) offset t

additional paid-in capital $ — — 624
Capitalization of construction in-process relaedanstruction financing lease obligation $ 235,59 54,65t _
Assets acquired under capital lease obligations $ 30,102 — —

The accompanying notes are an integral part ofdmsolidated financial statements.
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VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A. Nature of Business and Accounting Policit
Busines:

Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated (“Vertex” ar tEompany”) is in the business of discovering,aleping, manufacturing and
commercializing small molecule drugs for patientdwgerious diseases. The Company's two produetfNSEIVEK (telaprevir), which the
Company markets in the United States and Canadaéddreatment of adults with genotype 1 hepdtigrus ("HCV") infection, and
KALYDECO (ivacaftor), which the Company marketstie United States, Canada and Europe for the tezdtof patients six years of age anc
older with cystic fibrosis ("CF"), who have a sgargenetic mutation that is referred to as the G3®utation.

The Company began recognizing net product revefnaessales of INCIVEK and KALYDECO, and related to$ product revenues
related to INCIVEK and KALYDECO, in the second quaairof 2011 and first quarter of 2012, respectivélye Company’s collaborator,
Janssen Pharmaceutica, N.V. (“Janssen”), beganetiragkelaprevir in its territories under the brarane INCIVO in September 2011. The
Company’s net loss attributable to Vertex for 20ds $(107.0) million , or $(0.50) per share. APetember 31, 2012 , the Company had
cash, cash equivalents and marketable securitigs.8fbillion . The Company expects that cash flinm the sales of its products and the
royalties it expects to receive from Janssen, tagewith the Company’s cash, cash equivalents aattetable securities, will be sufficient to
fund its operations for at least the next twelventhe.

Vertex is subject to risks common to companiessimnidustry including, but not limited to, the degence on revenues from its lead
products, competition, uncertainty about clinic&ltoutcomes, uncertainties relating to pharmacalpricing and reimbursement, rapid
technological change, uncertain protection of pgpry technology, the need to comply with governtiregulations, share price volatility,
dependence on collaborative relationships and gatgmoduct liability.

Basis of Presentatio

The consolidated financial statements reflect therations of (i) the Company, (i) its wholly-ownsdbsidiaries and (jii) Alios
BioPharma, Inc. (“Alios”), a collaborator that isvariable interest entity (a “VIE”") for which theoBpany is deemed under applicable
accounting guidance to be the primary beneficiAtymaterial intercompany balances and transactieng been eliminated. The Company
operates in one segment, pharmaceuticals. PlefesaadNote W, "Segment Information," for enterpriwide disclosures regarding the
Company’s revenues, major customers and long-@assets by geographic area.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statesmé@nticcordance with accounting principles gengiadcepted in the United States of
America (“GAAP”) requires management to make certain estimatesssutihgtions that affect the reported amounts oftassel liabilities an
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitiekhatdate of the consolidated financial statementd,the amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reported periods. Significant estimatethese consolidated financial statements have brle in connection with the calculatiol
revenues, inventories, research and developmeensgp, sales, general and administrative expesteek;based compensation expense,
restructuring expense, the fair value of intangdssets, noncontrolling interest (Alios), income peovision, derivative instruments and debt
securities. The Company bases its estimates aoricstexperience and various other assumptiogydiing in certain circumstances future
projections, that management believes to be reat®oader the circumstances. Actual results coiffdrdrom those estimates. Changes in
estimates are reflected in reported results irphred in which they become known.

F-7




Table of Contents
VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)
Revenue Recognitic
Product Revenues, Net

The Company sells its products principally to aitéd number of major wholesalers, as well as setertgional wholesalers and specialty
pharmacy providers (collectively, its “Customergfat subsequently resell the products to pati@mishealth care providers. The Company
recognizes net revenues from product sales upavedgls long as (i) there is persuasive evidehatdn arrangement exists between the
Company and the Customer, (ii) collectibility imsenably assured and (iii) the price is fixed dedainable.

The Company has written contracts with its Cust@naed delivery occurs when a Customer receivegpangimt of a product. The
Company evaluates the creditworthiness of eacts @ustomers to determine whether revenues caadogmized upon delivery, subject to
satisfaction of the other requirements, or whetbeognition is required to be delayed until receipppayment. In order to conclude that the
price is fixed or determinable, the Company musalble to (i) calculate its gross product revenuesifsales to Customers and (ii) reasonably
estimate its net product revenues. The Companyledds gross product revenues based on the patéhg Company charges its Customers.
The Company estimates its net product revenuegtyaling from its gross product revenues (a) tedldsvances, such as invoice discounts
prompt payment and customer fees, (b) estimatedrgavent and private payor rebates, chargebackdiaoounts, such as Medicaid
reimbursements, (c) estimated reserves for expgetatiict returns and (d) estimated costs of inzeatoffered to certain indirect customers,
including patients.

Trade AllowancesThe Company generally provides invoice discountpraauct sales to its Customers for prompt payraadtpays
fees for distribution services, such as fees foagedata that Customers provide to the Compahg. fayment terms for sales to
Customers generally include a 2% discount for paymathin 30 days. The Company expects that, baseits experience, its Customers
will earn these discounts and fees, and deductith@mount of these discounts and fees fromitsg product revenues and accounts
receivable at the time such revenues are recognized

Rebates, Chargebacks and Discoufiise Company contracts with Medicaid, other goveminagencies and various private
organizations (collectively, its “Third-party Pagdy so that products will be eligible for purchdse or partial or full reimbursement from,
such Third-party Payors. The Company estimatesehates, chargebacks and discounts it will protadehird-party Payors and deducts
these estimated amounts from its gross produchrmseat the time the revenues are recognized.debrgroduct, the Company estimates
the aggregate rebates, chargebacks and discoaniswill provide to Third-party Payors based uggrthe Company’s contracts with
these Third-party Payors, (ii) the government-maediaiscounts applicable to government-funded @nogrand (iii) information obtained
from the Company’s Customers and other third parégarding the payor mix for such product.

Product ReturnsThe Company estimates the amount of each prodatiifi be returned and deducts these estimatediatadrom
its gross revenues at the time the revenues aogmezed. The Company’s Customers have the righdtton unopened unprescribed
packages beginning six months prior to the labelgdration date and ending twelve months afteddbeled expiration date. To date
product returns have been minimal and, based amniovy levels held by its Customers and its distidn model, the Company believes
that returns of its products will continue to benimial.

Other IncentivesOther incentives that the Company offers to indicerstomers include co-pay mitigation rebates mglediby the
Company to commercially insured patients who haxerage and who reside in states that permit coaptigation programs. The
Company’s co-pay mitigation programs are intenaegttiuce each participating patient’s portion ef financial responsibility for a
product’s purchase price to a specified dollar amhoBased upon the terms of the Company's co-p&gation programs, the Company
estimates average co-pay mitigation amounts fdan e&is products in order to establish its accsdal co-pay mitigation rebates and
deducts these estimated amounts from its grossiproevenues at the later of the date (i) the regerare recognized or (ii) the incentiv
offered. The Company’s co-pay mitigation rebatessaubject to expiration.
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The following table summarizes activity in eachttd product revenue allowance and reserve categioni¢he years ended December 31,
2012 and 2011:

Rebates,
Trade Chargebacks Product Other
Allowances and Discounts Returns Incentives Total
(in thousands)
2012
Beginning Balance $ 11,16: $ 52,65¢ $ 34C $ 5202 $  69,36!
Provision related to current period sales 55,91 216,94, 2,067 19,10:¢ 294,02!
Adjustments related to prior period sales 2¢ 3,88: 1,49¢ 72 5,482
Credits/payments made (61,689 (209,929 (1,059 (20,817  (293,47)
Ending Balance $ 541¢ $ 63,56( $ 2,85 $ 3,568 $ 75,39
2011
Beginning Balance $ — 3 — 3 — $ — $ —
Provision related to current period sales 38,22¢ 75,14¢ 552 9,69: 123,61¢
Credits/payments made (27,066 (22,486 (219) (4,490) (54,25
Ending Balance $ 11,16: $ 52,65¢ $ 34C $ 520z $ 69,36

Royalty Revenues

The Company’s royalty revenues on commercial saliéCIVO (telaprevir) by Janssen are based orsatds of licensed products in
licensed territories as provided by Janssen. Thag2oy recognizes royalty revenues in the periog#hes occur. The Company has sold its
rights to receive certain royalties on sales oHévi protease inhibitor (fosamprenavir) and recogsithe revenues related to this sale as ro
revenues. In the circumstance where the Compangdidsts rights to future royalties under a licemgreement and also maintains continuing
involvement in the royalty arrangement (but nongigant continuing involvement in the generatidrtlte cash flows payable to the purchaser
of the future royalty rights), the Company defexeagnition of the proceeds it receives for the ltyystream and recognizes these deferred
revenues over the life of the license agreemergyaunt to the units-of-revenue method. The Compasstisnates regarding the estimated
remaining royalty payments due to the purchasee lchanged in the past and may change in the future.

Collaborative Revenues

The Company also recognizes revenues generatashthamllaborative research, development and/or cercialization agreements. The
terms of these agreements typically include payrteetite Company of one or more of the followingnrefundable, up-front license fees;
development and commercial milestone payments;ifignof research and/or development activities; payts for services the Company
provides through its third-party manufacturing netly and royalties on net sales of licensed pralieach of these types of payments results
in collaborative revenues, except for revenues froyalties on net sales of licensed products, whiehclassified as royalty revenues.

Agreements Entered into prior to January 1, 2011

Collaborative research, development and/or commalkzation agreements entered into prior to Jan@ia®011 that contain multiple
elements of revenue are divided into separate ohiscounting if certain criteria are met, inclugliwhether the delivered element has stand-
alone value to the collaborator and whether thebjective and reliable evidence of the fair vadithe undelivered obligation(s). The
Company allocates consideration it receives ambeagéparate units either on the basis of eachsuait' value or using the residual method,
and applies the applicable revenue recognitioeriaito each of the separate units.
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Up-front License Fees

The Company recognizes revenues from nonrefundapt&ont license fees on a straight-line basis ¢lve contracted or estimated period
of performance, which is typically the period owérich the research and development is expecteddor @r manufacturing services are
expected to be provided. In order to estimate #rgd of performance, the Company is required teevestimates regarding the drug
development and commercialization timelines forgdgrand drug candidates being developed pursudiné tapplicable agreement. The
Company’s estimates regarding the period of perdmiee under its collaboration agreements did nat@hauring 2012, but have changed in
the past and may change in the future.

Milestone Payment

At the inception of each agreement that includesaech and development milestone payments, the @omavaluates whether each
milestone is substantive on the basis of the cgatihnature of the milestone, specifically reviegviactors such as the scientific and other 1
that must be overcome to achieve the milestonaglisas the level of effort and investment requirEde Company recognizes revenues rel
to substantive milestones in full in the periodiinich the substantive milestone is achieved if paytis reasonably assured. If a milestone is
not considered substantive, the Company recogtlieeapplicable milestone payment over the perigoeoformance. Commercial milestone
payments are recognized in full upon achievemépgyment is reasonably assured.

Research and Development Activities/Manufacturieyies

Under certain of its collaboration agreements,Gbenpany is entitled to reimbursement from its dmlators for specified research and
development expenses and/or is entitled to paynienspecified manufacturing services that the Canypprovides through its third-party
manufacturing network. The Company considers thieraand contractual terms of the arrangementlamdature of the Company’s business
operations in order to determine whether reseandrdavelopment funding will result in collaboratineenues or an offset to research and
development expenses. The Company typically reeegrthe revenues related to these reimbursableggp@nd recognizes the revenues
related to the manufacturing services in the penoghich it incurred the reimbursable expensegrorided the manufacturing services.

Agreements Entered into or Materially Modified anafter January 1, 2011

On January 1, 2011, updated guidance on the retbmgoif revenues for agreements with multiple dalables became effective and
applies to any agreements entered into or matenaddified by the Company on or after January 1,120 his updated guidance (i) relates to
whether multiple deliverables exist, how the detaldes in a revenue arrangement should be sepamatekow the consideration should be
allocated; (ii) requires companies to allocate ness in an arrangement using management’s bestatstof selling prices of deliverables if a
vendor does not have vendor-specific objectiveanvig or third-party evidence of selling price; &éifyleliminates the use of the residual
method and requires companies to allocate reveumirg the relative selling price method. SubseqteBecember 31, 2010, the Company
not entered into any material agreements or mateddifications to existing agreements that woutdalscounted for by the Company pursuan
to this updated guidance. If the Company entessonimaterially modifies an agreement with multigidiverables, this updated guidance ci
have a material effect on the Company’s consol@lfitencial statements in future periods.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject @@npany to concentration of credit risk consish@ipally of money market funds and
marketable securities. The Company places thessiments with highly rated financial institutioasd, by policy, limits the amounts of cre
exposure to any one financial institution. Thes@ants at times may exceed federally insured linfite Company has not experienced any
credit losses in these accounts and does not bdtiessexposed to any significant credit risk bage funds. The Company has no foreign
exchange contracts, option contracts or otherdorekchange hedging arrangements.

The Company also is subject to credit risk fromaitsounts receivable related to its product saldscallaborators. The majority of the
Company's accounts receivable arises from prodiles $n the United States. The Company evaluatesrdditworthiness of each of its
customers and has determined that all of its netenistomers are creditworthy. To date, the
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Company has not experienced significant losses neipect to the collection of its accounts recdabhe Company believes that its
allowance for doubtful accounts was adequate aeieer 31, 2012. Please refer to Note W, "Segméaitrivation,” for further information.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmanith original maturities of three months or lessree date of purchase to be cash
equivalents. Cash equivalents consist principdlijnoney market funds and debt securities.

Restricted Cas

Restricted cash consists of balances held in deptki certain banks predominantly to collateralzaditional stand-by letters of credit in
the names of the Compasylandlords pursuant to certain operating leaseesgents. The Company also separately disclosds oarisolidate
balance sheets restricted cash and cash equivéddius). Please refer to Note B, "Collaborativer@rgements," for further information.

Marketable Securitie

The Company's marketable securities consist ofsimvents in U.S. Treasuries, government-sponsoredise securities and high-grade
corporate bonds and commercial paper that areifiéasas available-for-sale. The Company classifiesketable securities available to fund
current operations as current assets on its colaetl balance sheets. Marketable securities agsifidal as long-term assets on the
consolidated balance sheets if (i) they have beamiunrealized loss position for longer than osa&ryand (ii) the Company has the ability and
intent to hold them (a) until the carrying valueesovered and (b) such holding period may be Iotiggn one year. The Company's market
securities are stated at fair value with their alized gains and losses included as a componexttooimulated other comprehensive income
(loss), which is a separate component of sharehslldquity, until such gains and losses are redliZée fair value of these securities is based
on quoted prices for identical or similar assdta. decline in the fair value is considered otherttemporary, based on available evidence, th
unrealized loss is transferred from other comprstvenncome (loss) to the consolidated statemenperations.

The Company reviews investments in marketable #esufor other-than-temporary impairment whenetherfair value of an investment
is less than the amortized cost and evidence itelidhat an investmesttarrying amount is not recoverable within a reabte period of time
To determine whether an impairment is other-tteanporary, the Company considers whether it hastant to sell, or whether it is more like
than not that the Company will be required to $b#, investment before recovery of the investmeart®rtized cost basis. Evidence considere
in this assessment includes reasons for the impairncompliance with the Company’s investment golihe severity and the duration of the
impairment and changes in value subsequent togrehrPlease refer to Note E, "Marketable Secuyitfes further information.

There were no charges recorded for other-than-teanpdeclines in fair value of marketable secusiii®2012 , 2011 or 2010 . Realized
gains and losses are determined using the spetgfitification method and are included in inteiesbme in the consolidated statements of
operations. There were no gross realized gainsssek recognized in 2012 , 2011 or 2010 .

Stock-based Compensation Expense

The Company expenses the fair value of employesk siptions and other forms of stoblesed employee compensation over the asso
employee service period on a straight-line basis.a@wards with performance conditions, the Compastimates the likelihood of satisfaction
of the performance conditions, which affects thequkover which the expense is recognized, andgmrizes the expense using the acceleratec
attribution model. Stock-based compensation expisndetermined based on the fair value of the awatte grant date, including estimated
forfeitures, and is adjusted each period to refiettal forfeitures and the outcomes of certaifioperance conditions. Please refer to Note M,
"Stock-based Compensation Expense," for furthermétion.
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Research and Development Exper

The Company expenses as incurred all researchearadoppment expenses, including amounts fundeddsareh and development
collaborations. The Company capitalizes nonrefutelabivance payments made by the Company for rdsaartdevelopment activities and
expenses the payments as the related goods arerddlior the related services are performed.

Research and development expenses are comprisedtefincurred by the Company in performing redeard development activities,
including salary and benefits; stock-based compamsaxpense; laboratory supplies and other degpenses; contractual services costs,
including clinical trial and pharmaceutical devailmgnt costs; expenses associated with drug sugphésire not being capitalized; and
infrastructure costs, including facilities costslatepreciation expense.

Advertising Expense

The Company expenses the costs of advertisingydird promotional expenses, as incurred. Advedisixpenses, recorded in sales,
general and administrative expenses, were $581®mjl$30.8 million and $0 in 2012, 2011 and 20E3pectively.

Inventories

The Company values its inventories at the lowerast or market. The Company determines the cadst ofventories, which includes
amounts related to materials and manufacturinghmaat, on a first-in, first-out basis. The Compaagfgrms an assessment of the
recoverability of capitalized inventory during eaelporting period, and writes down any excess disblete inventories to their realizable
value in the period in which the impairment isffidentified. Shipping and handling costs incurfedinventory purchases are capitalized and
recorded upon sale in cost of product revenuesdrtonsolidated statements of operations. Shipgidghandling costs incurred for product
shipments are recorded as incurred in cost of mtodwenues in the consolidated statements of tpesa

The Company capitalizes inventories produced ipamation for initiating sales of a drug candidateew the related drug candidate is
considered to have a high likelihood of regulatapproval and the related costs are expected tedowerable through sales of the inventories.
In determining whether or not to capitalize suckeimtories, the Company evaluates, among otherriadgtdormation regarding the drug
candidate’s safety and efficacy, the status ofletgry submissions and communications with reguasmthorities and the outlook for
commercial sales, including the existence of curoemanticipated competitive drugs and the avdilgbdf reimbursement. In addition, the
Company evaluates risks associated with manufactihie drug candidate and the remaining shelfeliftne inventories. Please refeNote F
"Inventories," for further information.

Property and Equipmel

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Digi@t expense is provided using the straight-tirethod over the estimated useful life
of the related asset, generally four to seven yiearfsirniture and equipment and three to five gdfar computers and software. Leasehold
improvements are depreciated using the strdigatmethod over the lesser of the useful lifele improvements or the estimated remaining
of the associated lease. Additions and bettermergsoperty and equipment are capitalized. Mainteraand repairs to an asset that do not
improve or extend its life are charged to operatidfthen assets are retired or otherwise disposetefssets and related accumulated
depreciation are eliminated from the accounts aydrasulting gain or loss is reflected in the Comps consolidated statements of operations
The Company performs an assessment of the faiealthe assets if indicators of impairment araiified during each reporting period and
records the assets at the lower of the net boaleval the fair value of the assets.

The Company records certain construction costsiiadby a landlord as an asset and correspondiagding obligation on the Compar
consolidated balance sheets. Please refer to Ndtear Pier Leases," for further information.
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Capital Leases

The assets and liabilities associated with cafgtee agreements are recorded at the presentofatue minimum lease payments at the
inception of the lease agreement. The assets aydiaed using the straight-line method over théneetied useful life of the related asset or the
remaining life of the associated lease. Amortizatbassets that the Company leases pursuantapitldease is included in depreciation
expense. The Company performs an assessment fafitivalue of the assets if indicators of impairmare identified during each reporting
period and records the assets at the lower oféhbank value or the fair value of the assets. tssseorded under capital leases are recorded
within "Property and equipment, net" and liabiktielated to those assets are recorded within t@ldease obligations, current portion" and
"Capital lease obligations, excluding current gmii on the Company's consolidated balance sheets.

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recogniaethe expected future tax consequences of termpditierences between the financial
statement carrying amounts and the income tax lidsessets and liabilities. A valuation allowans@pplied against any net deferred tax asse
if, based on the available evidence, it is moreljikhan not that some or all of the deferred tssets will not be realized.

The Company records liabilities related to uncertak positions in accordance with guidance thatifids the accounting for uncertainty
income taxes recognized in a company's financééstents by prescribing a minimum recognition thoéd and measurement attribute for the
financial statement recognition and measuremeattak position taken or expected to be taken axadturn. The Company does not believe
any such uncertain tax positions currently pendgifibhave a material adverse effect on its conskd financial statements, although an
adverse resolution of one or more of these uneetéai positions in any period could have a mateffdct on the Company's consolidated
statements of operations for that period.

Financial Transaction Expens

Issuance costs incurred to complete the Compayigertible senior subordinated note offerings dmadfinancial transactions that the
Company entered into in September 2009 were defamd included in other assets on the Company’satifated balance sheets. The
issuance costs are amortized using the effectieedast rate method over the term of the related alefinancial instrument. The amortization
expense related to the issuance costs is includiederest expense on the consolidated stateménfseoations.

The Company defers direct and incremental costcaged with the sale of its rights to future rdies. These costs are included in other
assets on the Company’s consolidated balance shreetsre amortized in the same manner and ovesatine period during which the related
deferred revenues are recognized as royalty regefiine amortization expense related to these trinssexpenses is included in royalty
expenses on the Company's consolidated statemfempei@tions. Expenses incurred in connection witinmon stock issuances are recorded
as an offset to additional paid-in capital on tlwr@any's consolidated balance sheets.

Business Combinatior

The Company assigns the value of consideratiotydintg contingent consideration, transferred inibess combinations to the appropr
accounts on the Company's consolidated balancée Ishsed on its fair value as of the effective aditihe transaction. The Company accounte
for its collaboration with Alios (the "Alios Collaation") as a business combination as of Jun@@Bl (the effective date of the Company's
collaboration agreement with Alios) as discusseth@”Variable Interest Entities" policy descrideelow. Increases in the fair value of the
contingent payments pursuant to collaborations @autenl for as business combinations result in aedeerin net income attributable to Vertex
(or an increase in net loss attributable to Vertexp dollar-for-dollar basis. Transaction costs any restructuring costs associated with these
transactions are expensed as incurred.
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Variable Interest Entities

The Company reviews each collaboration agreemeasupat to which the Company licenses assets owynedcbllaborator in order to
determine whether or not the collaborator is a \HHEhe collaborator is a VIE, the Company assesdesther or not the Company is the
primary beneficiary of that VIE based on a numtdéaotors, including (i) which party has the povtedirect the activities that most
significantly affect the VIE's economic performan¢é the parties’ contractual rights and respbilgies pursuant to the collaboration
agreement and (iii) which party has the obligatmabsorb losses or the right to receive bengfits fthe VIE. If the Company determines it is
the primary beneficiary of a VIE, the Company cditides the statements of operations and finawwoiadlition of the VIE into the Company’s
consolidated financial statements. The Companydamaes Alios’ financial statements by (A) elimfimg all intercompany balances and
transactions and (B) allocating the noncontroliimgrest in Alios between redeemable noncontrolimgrest (Alios) and noncontrolling
interest (Alios) on the Company's consolidated meadasheet and reflecting net loss (income) attaitetto noncontrolling interest (Alios) in t
Company’s consolidated statement of operations.

The Company re-evaluates the Alios Collaboratiartheaporting period in order to determine if thare changes in circumstances that
would result in the Company ceasing to consolitla¢estatements of operations and financial conuitibAlios into the Company’s
consolidated financial statements. If Alios cedsdse a VIE or if the Company is no longer Aliosimary beneficiary, the Company would
deconsolidate Alios.

As of June 13, 2011, December 31, 2011 and Dece&ih&012, the Company evaluated the Alios Collation and determined that Ali
is a VIE and that the Company is Alios’ primary b#ciary. Please refer to Note B, "Collaborativeakrgements,” for further information.

Fair Value of Ir-process Research and Development Assets and GentiRayments in Business Combinations

The Company estimates the fair value of assetlkdmy the fair value of in-process research anglbgment assets and contingent
payments pursuant to collaborations accountedsdnuainess combinations, from the perspectiverofgket participant, using a variety of
methods. The present-value models used to estimaffair values of research and development aasetgontingent payments pursuant to
collaborations incorporate significant assumptiansluding: assumptions regarding the probabilitplotaining marketing approval and/or
achieving relevant development milestones for g d@andidate; estimates regarding the timing oftaedexpected costs to develop a drug
candidate; estimates of future cash flows from e product sales and/or the potential to achmmtain commercial milestones with respect
to a drug candidate; and the appropriate discauhtax rates.

In-process Research and Development Assets

The Company records the fair value of in-processaech and development assets as of the transdetienEach of these assets is
accounted for as an indefinite-lived intangibleeasgrd maintained on the Company’s consolidateaoal sheet until either the project
underlying it is completed or the asset becomesirag. If a project is completed, the carrying eadii the related intangible asset is amortize:
as a part of cost of product revenues over the irengpestimated life of the asset beginning inpleeiod in which the project is completed. If
the asset becomes impaired or is abandoned, thentpvalue of the related intangible asset istenitdown to its fair value and an impairment
charge is recorded in the period in which the impant occurs. In-process research and developrssatsaare tested for impairment on an
annual basis as of October 1, and more frequehitgiicators are present or changes in circumstnuoggest that impairment may exist. Pl
refer to Note I, "Intangible Assets and Goodwilht further information.

Goodwill

The difference between the purchase price andaihedlue of assets acquired and liabilities asslime business combination is alloce
to goodwill. Goodwill is evaluated for impairmernt an annual basis as of October 1, and more frélguémdicators are present or change:
circumstances suggest that impairment may exisadel refer to Note I, "Intangible Assets and Gobdar further information.
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Derivative Instruments and Embedded Derivat

The Company has entered into financial transaciioraving free-standing derivative instruments amdbedded derivatives. The
embedded derivatives are required to be bifurcited the host instruments because the derivativesat clearly and closely related to the
host instruments. The Company determines the &irevof each derivative instrument or embeddedsdtvie on the date of issuance and a
end of each quarterly period. The estimates ofahlievalue of these derivatives, particularly wispect to derivatives related to the
achievement of milestones in the development aftelvir, included significant assumptions regardhmgestimates market participants would
make in order to evaluate these derivatives. Pledseto Note K, "Convertible Senior Subordinakates," and Note N, "September 2009
Financial Transactions," for further information.

Restructuring Expens

The Company records costs and liabilities assatiatth exit and disposal activities based on edmaf fair value in the period the
liabilities are incurred. In periods subsequerthminitial measurement, the Company measures esanghe liability using the credit-adjusted
risk-free discount rate applied in the initial meti The Company evaluates and adjusts these fiabiéis appropriate for changes in
circumstances at least on a quarterly basis. Plefeseto Note Q, "Restructuring Expense,"” for Hiertinformation.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) consists of net incass) and other comprehensive income (loss), winicludes foreign currency
translation adjustments and unrealized gains asgkkon certain marketable securities. For purpmfsgsmprehensive income (loss)
disclosures, the Company does not record tax pomsor benefits for the net changes in foreigmengy translation adjustment, as the
Company intends to permanently reinvest undisteth@arnings in its foreign subsidiaries.

Foreign Currency Translation and Transactic

All material consolidated entities have the U.Slatas their functional currency. Non-U.S. dollanctional currency subsidiaries have
assets and liabilities translated into U.S. dolirsates of exchange in effect at the end of #er.yRevenue and expense amounts are transla
using the average exchange rates for the periodumNealized gains and losses resulting from fereigrrency translation are included in
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss),wikia separate component of shareholders’ eduitiuded in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) are net unrealize@$ossated to foreign currency translation of $@ilfion , $0.9 million and $1.1 million at
December 31, 2012 , 2011 , and 2010 , respectiay/foreign currency exchange transaction gairlesses are included in net income (loss)
on the Company'’s consolidated statement of operatidet transaction gains were $0.4 million for2@hd net transaction losses were $0.7
million and $0.1 million in 2011 and 2010, respeely.

Net Income (Loss) Per Share Attributable to Ve@ermmon Shareholde

Basic and diluted net income per share attributabMertex common shareholders are presented ifoooity with the two-class method
required for participating securities. Under the{ass method, earnings are allocated to (i) Wertenmon shares, excluding shares of
restricted stock that have been issued but havgatatested, and (ii) participating securities,dzhen their respective weighted-average share
outstanding for the period. Shares of unvestedicestl stock have the non-forfeitable right to igeealividends on an equal basis with other
outstanding common stock. As a result, these uedestiares of restricted stock are considered pEaticg securities that must be included in
the calculation of basic and diluted net incomegbere attributable to Vertex common shareholdsirgyuthe two-class method. Potentially
dilutive shares result from the assumed exercismitstanding stock options (the proceeds of whiehttzen assumed to have been used to
repurchase outstanding stock using the treasuck st@thod) and the assumed conversion of conventibies.

Basic net loss per share attributable to Vertexmmomshareholders is based upon the weighted-avertagber of common shares
outstanding during the period, excluding restricteatk that has been issued but is not yet veBi@ited net loss per share attributable to
Vertex common shareholders is based upon the veslgdnterage number of common shares
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outstanding during the period plus additional w&ighaverage common equivalent shares outstandimggdiine period when the effect is
dilutive.

Recent Accounting Pronounceme

In the first quarter of 2012, the Company retrosipety adopted amended guidance issued in June B@1ie Financial Accounting
Standards Board ("FASB") that resulted in two sefggrbut consecutive, statements of operationcamgprehensive income (loss) that
affected the presentation of the Company's cors@itifinancial statements.

In the third quarter of 2012, the FASB issued aneeingliidance applicable to annual impairment tefstsdefinite-lived intangible assets.
The FASB added an optional qualitative assessnoemdtermining whether an indefinite-lived intarigibsset is impaired. Prior to this
guidance, companies were required to perform ananmpairment test that included a calculationhef fair value of the asset and a
comparison of that fair value with its carryingwel If the carrying value exceeded the fair valreimpairment was recorded. The amended
guidance allows a company the option to performaitative assessment, considering both negatidepasitive evidence, regarding the
potential impairment of the indefinilered intangible asset. If, based on the qualimtwalysis, a company determines that it is meedyithar
not that the fair value of such an asset excesd=itrying value, the company would be permittedataclude that the indefinitésed intangible
asset was not impaired without a quantitative datmn of the fair value of the asset. Otherwise, company would perform the quantitative
calculation of the fair value and the comparisothuie carrying value. This amended guidance weileffective for annual impairment tests
performed by the Company for the year ending Deagrih, 2013.

The Company did not adopt any new accounting procements during 2012 that had a material effe¢cherCompany’s consolidated
financial statements.

B. Collaborative Arrangements
Janssen Pharmaceutica, N.

In 2006, the Company entered into a collaboratgme@ment with Janssen for the development, manufaeand commercialization of
telaprevir, which Janssen began marketing undepridved name INCIVO in certain of its territoriesSeptember 2011. Under the collaboratiot
agreement, Janssen agreed to be responsible foob0# drug development costs incurred under dweldpment program for the parties’
territories (North America for the Company, and tbst of the world, other than specified countireAsia, for Janssen) and has exclusive
rights to commercialize telaprevir in its terrigsiincluding Europe, South America, the Middle EAftica and Australia.

Janssen pays the Company a tiered royalty averagithg mid-20% range as a percentage of net s&I®CIVO in Janssen’s territories.
Janssen is required under the agreement to ugemtilgfforts to maximize net sales of INCIVO intsritories through its commercial
marketing, pricing and contracting strategies.ddition, Janssen is responsible for certain thamdyproyalties on net sales of INCIVO in its
territories.

Janssen made a $165.0 million up-front license a0 the Company in 2006. The up-front licensgnent is being amortized over the
Company’s estimated period of performance undecdiiaboration agreement. As of December 31, 2ah2re were $43.5 million in deferred
revenues related to this up-front license paynteattthe Company expects to recognize over the rengaestimated period of performance.

Under the collaboration agreement, Janssen agoe@dke contingent milestone payments for succedsfedlopment, approval and laul
of telaprevir as a product in its territories. Aetinception of the agreement, the Company detewuirtimat all of these contingent milestones
were substantive and would result in revenuesarpttiod in which the milestone was achieved. Tamgany has earned $350.0 million of
these contingent milestone payments, includingGaGiillion milestone payment earned in the finsader of 2011 in connection with the
European Medicines Agency's acceptance of the niadkauthorization application for INCIVO and angaggate of $200.0 million in
milestone payments earned in the third quarteOdfizelated to the approval of INCIVO by the Eurap&ommission and the launch of
INCIVO in the European Union. The Company doesaxpiect to receive any further milestone paymentieuthis agreement.
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Under the Janssen collaboration agreement, eaghipeurs internal and external reimbursable expsnelated to the telaprevir
development program and is reimbursed by the qthey for 50% of these expenses. The Company répegthe full amount of the
reimbursable costs it incurs as research and dewelnt expenses on its consolidated statementsepatipns. The Company recognizes the
amounts that Janssen is obligated to pay the Comptiin respect to reimbursable expenses, net ofbreisable expenses incurred by Jansser
as collaborative revenues. During 2012 and 20Xiss&n incurred more reimbursable costs than thep@oeyn and the net amounts payable by
the Company to reimburse Janssen were recordededsietion of collaborative revenues.

Each of the parties is responsible for drug supplys territories. During the three years endedd»ber 31, 2012, the Company provided
Janssen certain services through the Companyt-tiairty manufacturing network for telaprevir. Reumdements from Janssen for these
manufacturing services were recorded as collah@ativenues.

Janssen may terminate the collaboration agreenpemt the later of (i) one yearadvance notice and (ii) such period as may beinextjtc
assign and transfer to the Company specified fliagd approvals. The agreement also may be terdihgteither party for a material breach
by the other, subject to notice and cure provisibhdess earlier terminated, the agreement wiltiome in effect until the expiration of
Janssen’s royalty obligations, which expire on antoy-by-country basis on the later of (a) the-kaséxpire patent covering INCIVO or (b) ten
years after the first commercial sale in the couritr the European Union, the Company has a paterdring the compositic-of-matter of
INCIVO that expires in 2026.

During the three years ended December 31, 2812 Company recognized the following revenueibatiable to the Janssen collaborati

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Royalty revenues $ 117,59: $ 20,28¢ $ —
Collaborative revenues:

Amortized portion of up-front payment $ 12,42¢ $ 12,428 $  12,42¢

Milestone revenues — 250,00( —

Net reimbursement (payment) for telaprevir develeptitosts (3,507 (8,419 9,24t

Reimbursement for manufacturing services 7,257 20,38 9,077

Total collaborative revenues attributaloléhte Janssen collaboration $ 16,17¢ $ 274,39: $ 30,75(

Total revenues attributable to the Janssen colddioor $ 133,77( $ 294,68. $ 30,75(

Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corporatit

The Company has a collaboration agreement (the ‘®1ABreement”) with Mitsubishi Tanabe Pharma Corfiora("Mitsubishi Tanabe")
pursuant to which Mitsubishi Tanabe has a fullyddaiense to manufacture and commercialize TELAW@ brand name under which
Mitsubishi Tanabe is marketing telaprevir) in Japad other specified countries in Asia. In Septen2i0d 1, Mitsubishi Tanabe obtained
approval to market TELAVIC in Japan.

The parties entered into the MTPC Agreement in 20@amended it in 2009. Pursuant to the MTPC Agesd, Mitsubishi Tanabe
provided financial and other support for the depeient and commercialization of telaprevir, madd.@5$%0 million payment in connection
with the 2009 amendment of the collaboration agezgrand made a $65.0 million commercial milestosmgnpent recognized as collaborative
revenues in the fourth quarter of 2011. There arturther payments under this collaboration agregniitsubishi Tanabe is responsible for
its own development and manufacturing costs iteitstory.

Mitsubishi Tanabe may terminate the MTPC Agreena¢iainy time without cause upon 60 days’ priorteritnotice to the Company. The
MTPC Agreement also may be terminated by eithetlydar a material breach by the other, subjectdtice and cure provisions. Unless earlier
terminated, the MTPC Agreement will continue ireeffuntil the expiration of the last-to-expire pateovering telaprevir in Mitsubishi
Tanabe's territories. In Japan, the Company hasempcovering the composition-of-matter of telapréhat expires in 2021.
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The $105.0 million payment that the Company reakinethe third quarter of 2009 in connection witle @mendment to the MTPC
Agreement was a nonrefundable, up-front licensedrd revenues related to the 2009 payment weognézed on a straighine basis over th
period of performance of the Company’s obligatiander the amended agreement. The final deferrexhtms related to the 2009 up-front
license payment were recognized in April 2012.dnreection with the amendment to the MTPC AgreentetCompany supplied
manufacturing services to Mitsubishi Tanabe, ulatitil 2012, through the Company’s third-party maathiring network for telaprevir.

During the three years ended December 31, 2012 Ctimpany recognized the following collaborativeeraues attributable to the
Mitsubishi Tanabe collaboration:

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)
Amortized portion of up-front payments $ 12,74 $ 38,23 $  38,23:
Milestone revenues 48~ 68,51¢ —
Payments for manufacturing services 5,65( 14,92¢ 43,63¢
Total collaborative revenues attributable to théshtbishi Tanabe collaboration $ 18,87¢ $ 121,67 $ 81,86¢

Cystic Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics Incorpochte

In April 2011, the Company entered into an amendr{tae “April 2011 Amendment”) to its existing cabloration agreement with Cystic
Fibrosis Foundation Therapeutics Incorporated (“CHipursuant to which CFFT agreed to provide finahsupport for (i) development
activities for VX-661, a corrector compound disc@dunder the collaboration, and (ii) additionalearch and development activities directec
at discovering new corrector compounds.

The Company entered into the original collaboratigreement with CFFT in 2004 and amended it setienak prior to 2011 to, among
other things, provide partial funding for its cysfibrosis drug discovery and development effdrt2006, the Company receive&a.5 million
milestone payment from CFFT. There are no additioni@stones payable by CFFT to the Company puitsigetine collaboration agreement
amended. Under the April 2011 Amendment, CFFT abtegrovide the Company with up to $75.0 millionfunding over approximately five
years for correct-compound research and development activities.ddrapany retains the right to develop and commeéreidd ALYDECO
(ivacaftor), VX-809, VX-661 and any other compounlilscovered during the course of the researchlmmi&ion with CFFT. The Company
recognized collaborative revenues from this coltabon of $17.0 million , $13.7 million and $0 spectively, in 2012 , 2011 and 2010 .

In the original agreement, as amended prior tAfhrd 2011 Amendment, the Company agreed to pay TChéted royalties calculated a:
percentage, ranging from single digits to sub-teehannual net sales of any approved drugs disedveuring the research term that ended in
2008, including KALYDECO, VX-809 and VX-661. The #Ap2011 Amendment provides for a tiered royaltytlie same range on net sales of
corrector compounds discovered during the resdarahthat began in 2011. In the third quarter E20CFFT earned a commercial milestone
payment from the Company upon achievement of cesalies levels for KALYDECO, which was reflectedlie Company's cost of product
revenues for 2012. The Company is obligated to nosleadditional commercial milestone payment upon aahigent of certain sales levels
KALYDECO. The Company also is obligated to maketaltof two one-time commercial milestone paymemtsn achievement of certain
sales levels for corrector compounds.

The Company began marketing KALYDECO in the Unigidtes in the first quarter of 2012 and began ntiagkéSALYDECO in certain
countries in the European Union in the third quanfe2012. The Company has royalty obligations EFT for each compound commercialized
pursuant to this collaboration until the expirat@frpatents covering that compound. The Companyphtents in the United States and
European Union covering the composition-of-matfavacaftor that expire in 2027 and 2025, respeatfivsubject to potential patent life
extensions. CFFT may terminate its funding obliyagi under the collaboration, as amended, in cectednmstances, in which case there will
be a proportional adjustment to the royalty rate$ @mmercial milestone payments for certain cooremompounds. The collaboration also
may be terminated by either party for a materiablsh by the other, subject to notice and cure pians.
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Alios BioPharma, Inc

License and Collaboration Agreement

In June 2011, the Company entered into a licendecaltaboration agreement (the “Alios AgreementijhwAlios, a privately-held
biotechnology company. The Company and Alios atialorating on the research, development and cowrialzation of an HCV nucleotide
analogue discovered by Alios, VX-135, which is degd to act on the HCV polymerase. In the thirdrgaf 2012, the Company ended the
development of ALS-2158, a second HCV nucleotidd@gue discovered by Alios and licensed to the Camgpursuant to the Alios
Agreement, because a Phase 1 clinical trial dermratesitthat there was insufficient antiviral aciivid warrant proceeding with further clinical
development of that compound.

Alios and the Company began clinical developmerAlo$-2200 (now formulated as VX-135) and ALS-2158iecember 2011. The
Company is responsible for all costs related teetimyment, commercialization and manufacturing @hesompound licensed to the Company
pursuant to the Alios Agreement, provided fundiag\tios to conduct the Phase 1 clinical trials ArS-2200 and ALS-2158 and is providing
funding for a research program directed to theadisty of additional HCV nucleotide analogues ttatan the HCV polymerase.

Under the terms of the Alios Agreement, the Compacgived exclusive worldwide rights to ALS-2200{A135) and ALS-2158, and has
the option to select additional compounds discavémghe research program. Upon entering into thesfgreement, the Company paid Alios
a $60.0 million up-front payment. As of Decembey 2012, Alios had earned an aggregate of $ 60.lomin development milestone
payments pursuant to the Alios Agreement, includirgp5.0 million milestone payment in 2012. Theo&lAgreement provides for
development milestone payments to Alios of up tadditional $ 312.5 million if VX-135 is approvedd&commercialized. The Alios
Agreement also provides for additional developnmiféstone payments to Alios if a second HCV nudteoainalogue is approved and
commercialized. In addition, Alios is eligible teceive commercial milestone payments of up to ¥¥Bdllion , as well as tiered royalties on
net sales of approved drugs.

The Company may terminate the Alios Agreementdru30 days’ notice to Alios if the Company ceadeselopment after VX-135 has
experienced a technical failure and/or (ii) uponddys’ notice to Alios at any time after the Compaompletes specified Phase 2a clinical
trials. The Alios Agreement also may be termindigeither party for a material breach by the othad by Alios for the Company'’s inactivity
or if the Company challenges certain Alios pateintgach case subject to notice and cure provisidnkess earlier terminated, the Alios
Agreement will continue in effect until the expimt of the Company’s royalty obligations, which @gpon a country-by-country basis on the
later of (a) the date the last-to-expire patenecing a licensed product expires or (b) ten yaétes the first commercial sale in the country.

Alios is continuing to operate as a separate ensitgngaged in other programs directed at devedppovel drugs that are not covered by
the Alios Agreement and maintains ownership ofithderlying patent rights that are licensed to tbenfany pursuant to the Alios Agreement.
Under applicable accounting guidance, the Compasydetermined that Alios is a VIE, that Alios isusiness and that the Company is Alios’
primary beneficiary. The Company based these détetions on, among other factors, the significatocalios of the licensed compounds and
on the Company’s power, through the joint steedognmittee for the licensed compounds establishéeine Alios Agreement, to direct the
activities that most significantly affect the ecario performance of Alios.

Accordingly, the Company consolidated Alios’ staggts of operations and balance sheet with the Coygpaonsolidated financial
statements beginning on June 13, 2011. HoweveCdmepany’s interests in Alios are limited to theseorded to the Company in the Alios
Agreement. In particular, the Company did not aggany equity interest in Alios, any interest ino&l cash and cash equivalents or any
control over Alios’ activities that do not relatethe Alios Agreement. Alios does not have anytrighthe Company assets except as provic
in the Alios Agreement.

Intangible Assets and Goodwill

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Company B&6.6 million of intangible assets and $4.9 millmfrgoodwill related to the Alios
Collaboration. Please refer to Note I, "IntangiBksets and Goodwill," for further information.
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Noncontrolling Interest (Alios)

The Company records noncontrolling interest (Alios)two lines on its consolidated balance shedts.Moncontrolling interest (Alios) is
reflected on two separate lines because Alios bissdbmmon shareholders and preferred sharehdlu#rare entitled to redemption rights in
certain circumstances. The Company records ne{ilessme) attributable to noncontrolling intereatigs) on its consolidated statements of
operations, reflecting Alios' net loss (income) tloe reporting period, adjusted for changes irfdlirevalue of contingent milestone and royalty
payments, which is evaluated each reporting peAcslimmary of net loss (income) attributable tocumntrolling interest (Alios) for the two
years ended December 31, 2012 is as follc

2012 2011
(in thousands)
Loss (income) before provision for (benefit fromgome taxes $ 20,04¢ $ 9,53¢
Decrease (increase) in fair value of contingenéestdne and royalty payments (114,970 (69,95()
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 39,02¢ 48,80¢
Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrollinteiest (Alios) $ (55,897 $ (11,609

The Company uses present-value models to detetimnestimated fair value of the contingent milestand royalty payments, based on
assumptions regarding the probability of achiewhngrelevant milestones, estimates regarding the to develop drug candidates, estimates
future product sales and the appropriate discouthttax rates. The Company bases its estimate grtitability of achieving the relevant
milestones on industry data for similar assetsitmnown experience. The discount rates used iwvdhetion model represent a measure of
credit risk associated with settling the liabiliignificant judgment is used in determining therapriateness of these assumptions at each
reporting period. Changes in these assumptiongidraie a material effect on the fair value of tbetmgent milestone and royalty payments.

In 2012 and 2011, the fair value of the contingaitéstone payments and royalties payable by VedeXios related to the in-licensed
HCV nucleotide analogue program increased by $148ldn and $70.0 million respectively, due to the advancement of the CoipdCV
nucleotide program in 2011 and 2012, includingpbsitive data the Company received in 2012 fronmasE 1 clinical trial that evaluated
ALS-2200. If VX-135 continues to advance in clididavelopment, the Company expects it will recatdiional increases in the fair value of
the contingent milestone and royalty payments iariuperiods. Changes in the fair value of thesgiegent milestone and royalty payments,
and the effects of these changes on net incoms) @sibutable to Vertex, were material in 2018 2011 and may be material in future
periods.
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Alios Balance Sheet Information

The following table summarizes items related tamAlincluded in the Company’s consolidated balaheets:

As of December 31,

2012 2011
(in thousands)
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (Alios) $ 69,98! $ 51,87¢
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 672 2,29¢
Property and equipment, net 1,72¢ 1,92t
Intangible assets 250,60( 250,60(
Goodwill 4,89( 4,89(
Other assets 861 13¢
Accounts payable 1,05¢ 4,13:2
Accrued expenses 6,09¢ 4,30¢
Income taxes payable (Alios) 71t 12,07t
Deferred tax liability 152,78: 116,12:
Other liabilities, excluding current portion 91( 1,03(
Redeemable noncontrolling interest (Alios) 38,53( 37,03¢
Noncontrolling interest (Alios) 196,67: 141,63:

The Company has recorded Alios’ cash and cash algunts as restricted cash and cash equivalentsgliecause (i) the Company does
not have any interest in or control over Aligsish and cash equivalents and (ii) the Alios Agesgndoes not provide for these assets to be
for the development of the assets that the Compesrysed from Alios pursuant to the Alios Agreemexdsets recorded as a result of
consolidating Alios’ financial condition into theoB\pany’s consolidated balance sheets do not ragradditional assets that could be used to
satisfy claims against the Company’s general assets

Research and Development Fund

The Company'’s collaborators funded portions of@oepany’s research and development programs reiatgukcific drugs, drug
candidates and research targets, including, in 20822011, telaprevir, VX-661 and research dirett@grd identifying additional corrector
compounds for the treatment of cystic fibrosis, an#010, telaprevir. The Company’s collaboratigganues, including amortization of up-
front license fees and milestone revenues, werel$62lion , $409.7 million and $113.1 million ,geectively, in 2012, 2011 and 2010. The
Company’s research and development expenses altbtmprograms in which a collaborator funded ast@ portion of the research and
development expenses were approximately $133 mi)l&146 million and $156 million , respectively,2012, 2011 and 2010.
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C. Net Income (Loss) Per Share Attributable to VertexCommon Shareholder
The following table sets forth the computation abte and diluted net income (loss) per share fetlthee years ended December 31, 2

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Basic net income (loss) attributable to Vertex g@mmon share calculation:

Net income (loss) attributable to Vertex commonrshalders $ (207,03) $ 29,57 $ (754,62f)
Less: Undistributed earnings allocated to partibigasecurities — (297) —
Net income (loss) attributable to Vertex commonrshalders—basic $ (107,03) $ 29,28: $ (754,62f)
Basic weighted-average common shares outstanding 211,94¢ 204,89: 200,40:
Basic net income (loss) attributable to Vertex g@nmon share $ (0.50 $ 0.14 $ (3.77)
Diluted net income (loss) attributable to Vertex pegmmon share calculation:
Net income (loss) attributable to Vertex commonrshalders $ (107,03) $ 29,57: $ (754,621)
Less: Undistributed earnings allocated to partiiiggsecurities — (28%) —
Net income (loss) attributable to Vertex commornrshalders—diluted $ (107,03) $ 29,28¢ $ (754,62f)
Weighted-average shares used to compute basinewhe (loss) per common share 211,94¢ 204,89: 200,40:
Effect of potentially dilutive securities:

Stock options — 3,86: —

Other — 53 —
Weighted-average shares used to compute diluteideceane (loss) per common share 211,94¢ 208,80° 200,40:
Diluted net income (loss) attributable to Vertex pegmmon share $ (0.50 $ 0.14 $ (3.77)

The Company did not include the securities desdribehe following table in the computation of tthiéuted net income (loss) attributable
to Vertex per common share calculations becauseftbet would have been anti-dilutive during eaasbtsperiod:

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)
Stock options 19,72¢ 9,62¢ 21,29:
Convertible senior subordinated notes 8,192 8,19: 8,19:
Unvested restricted stock and restricted stocksunit 2,35( 8 1,95(

D. Fair Value Measurement:

The fair value of the Company’s financial assets labilities reflects the Company’s estimate ofaamts that it would have received in
connection with the sale of the assets or paidimection with the transfer of the liabilities in arderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. In connestitnmeasuring the fair value of its assets aaldilities, the Company seeks to maximize
use of observable inputs (market data obtained founces independent from the Company) and to neeithe use of unobservable inputs
(the Company’s assumptions about how market ppaints would price assets and liabilities). Theofelhg fair value hierarchy is used to
classify assets and liabilities based on the oladdevinputs and unobservable inputs used in oodealtie the assets and liabilities:

Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for idaitassets or liabilities. An active market forasset or liability is a
market in which transactions for the asset or lighdccur with sufficient frequency and volumepgoovide
pricing information on an ongoing basis.

Level 2: Observable inputs other than Level 1 tapExamples of Level 2 inputs include quoted giiceactive markets
for similar assets or liabilities and quoted prit@sidentical assets or liabilities in marketstthee not active.
Level 3: Unobservable inputs based on the Compaagsessment of the assumptions that market partisi would use

in pricing the asset or liability.
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The Company’s investment strategy is focused ontalgpeservation. The Company invests in instrutsidimat meet the credit quality
standards outlined in the Company’s investmentgolihis policy also limits the amount of credipp@sure to any one issue or type of
instrument. As of December 31, 2012, the Compaimysstments were in a money market fund, short-tgr8 Treasury securities, short-term
government-sponsored enterprise securities, cagpdebt securities and commercial paper.

As of December 31, 2012, all of the Company’s firiahassets that were subject to fair value measenés were valued using observable
inputs. The Company'’s financial assets valued bagddevel 1 inputs consisted of a money market flih&. Treasury securities and
government-sponsored enterprise securities. Thep@oys financial assets valued based on Level @tgponsisted of corporate debt
securities and commercial paper, which consisheéstments in highly-rated investment-grade coiimma. During 2012, 2011 and 2010, the
Company did not record an other-than-temporary impent charge related to its financial assets. Campany’s noncontrolling interest
(Alios) includes the fair value of the contingeritestone and royalty payments, which is valued daseLevel 3 inputs. Please refeiNote B,
"Collaborative Arrangements," for further informeati

The following table sets forth the Company'’s fin@hassets (excluding Alios’ cash equivalents) sabfo fair value measurements:

Fair Value Measurements as
of December 31, 2012

Fair Value Hierarchy

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

(in thousands)
Financial assets carried at fair value:

Cash equivalents:

Money market funds $ 268,46 $ 268,46. $ — $ —
Marketable securities:

U.S. Treasury securities 111,35( 111,35( — —

Government-sponsored enterprise securities 440,22" 440,22" — —

Commercial paper 225,44¢ — 225,44¢ —

Corporate debt securities 54,78« — 54,78« —
Restricted cash 31,93« 31,93¢ — —

Total $ 1,132,20' $ 851,97 $ 280,23 $ —

Alios’ cash equivalents of $68.7 million as of Dextger 31, 2012 consisted of money market funds, lwhrie valued based on Level 1
inputs.

As of December 31, 2012 , the Company had $400lbmin aggregate principal amount of 3.35% comide senior subordinated notes
due 2015 (the “2015 Notes”) on its consolidatecbeé sheet. As of December 31, 2012, these 20JdsNed a fair value of approximately
$444 million based on Level 2 inputs.
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E. Marketable Securities

A summary of the Company’s cash, cash equivalerdswarketable securities is shown below:

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value

(in thousands)
December 31, 2012

Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and money market funds $ 489,40 $ — § — $ 489,40
Total cash and cash equivalents $ 489,40 $ — $ — $ 489,40
Marketable securities:

U.S. Treasury securities (due within 1 year) $ 111,35( $ 2% 2$ 111,35

Government-sponsored enterprise securities (dugnadtyear) 440,18: 49 (5) 440,22!

Commercial paper (due within 1 year) 225,29 15E — 225,44¢

Corporate debt securities (due within 1 year) 15,42¢ 1 (1) 15,42¢

Corporate debt securities (due after 1 year thrdigbars) 39,35¢ 10 (13) 39,35¢
Total marketable securities $ 83161 $ 217 $ (21) $ 831,80¢
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable sisurit $ 1,321,01' $ 217 $ (21) $ 1,321,21
December 31, 2011
Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and money market funds $ 362,03 $ — $ — $ 362,03

Government-sponsored enterprise securities 113,30: — a7 113,28!
Total cash and cash equivalents $ 47533 $ — $ @a7n $ 475,32
Marketable securities:

U.S. Treasury securities (due within 1 year) $ 22,10 $ 2% — $ 22,107

Government-sponsored enterprise securities (dugnadtyear) 471,58¢ 8 (102) 471,49!
Total marketable securities $ 493,69: $ 10 $ (102) $ 493,60:
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketable siesurit $ 969,03 $ 10 $ (119 $ 968,92

Alios’ $70.0 million and $51.9 million , respectiyeof cash and money market funds as of DecembeP@12 and 2011, recorded on the
Company’s consolidated balance sheets in “Restricésh and cash equivalents (Alios),” are not ibetlin the above table.

F. Inventories

The Company began capitalizing inventory costdNi@2IVEK on January 1, 2011 and inventory costskéi. YDECO on January 1,
2012. The following table sets forth the Compaimwentories by product:

As of December 31,

2012 2011
(in thousands)
INCIVEK $ 22,79 $ 112,43(
KALYDECO 7,672 —
Total $ 30,46: $ 112,43(
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The following table sets forth the Company’s inigs by type:

As of December 31,

2012 2011
(in thousands)
Raw materials $ 3,75¢ $ 32,21
Work-in-process 11,317 47,01(
Finished goods 15,39¢ 33,201
Total $ 30,46« $ 112,43(

In 2012, the Company recorded within cost of pradeeenues an aggregate of $133.2 milliiofower of cost or market charges for exc
and obsolete INCIVEK inventories. The Company'sraggte of $133.2 million in charges in 2012 foressand obsolete INCIVEK
inventories were the result of a $78.0 million geaduring the second quarter of 2012 and a $53I®dmcharge during the fourth quarter of
2012. The charges and corresponding inventory wlotens were based on the Company's analysis tM@$VEK inventory levels in relation
to its commercial outlook for INCIVEK. The aggregatf $133.2 million in lower of cost or market ces for excess and obsolete INCIVEK
inventories affected the net income (loss) attable to Vertex per diluted share, net of tax, by.&l) in 2012.

The field of treatment of HCV infection is highlpmpetitive and characterized by rapid technologicidances. In order to determine the
amount of the inventory charges, the Company censd] among other factors, (i) decreases in derfmariCIVEK during 2012 and the
Company's expectation that demand would decrea®fun the future, (ii) the potential developmertthe Company of other drugs and
combination treatments for HCV infection, includipgrsuant to collaboration agreements to evalu&€l 85 in combination with drug
candidates controlled by third parties, that makmlikely that INCIVEK will play a role in futureombination therapies, (iii) the placement of
a Boxed Warning on the INCIVEK prescribing inforrioatin December 2012, (iv) the potential developtignthe Company's competitors of
other drugs and combination treatments for HCVatifm, (v) positive results reported in 2012 frolimical trials of drug candidates being
developed by the Company and its competitors andhg initiation by the Company's competitors dflaional Phase 2 and Phase 3 clinical
trials evaluating drug candidates for the treatnoémtCV infection.

G. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment, net consisted of the falgw

As of December 31,

2012 2011
(in thousands)

Furniture and equipment $ 173,76t $ 151,96:
Leasehold improvements 123,77( 107,16¢
Software 101,27¢ 56,92
Computers 40,77¢ 33,11¢
Construction-in-process 290,70 55,07(
Total property and equipment, gross 730,29« 404,23¢
Less: accumulated depreciation (296,68") (271,062

Total property and equipment, net $ 433,60¢ $ 133,17t

Construction-in-process as of December 31, 2012284d, included $290.7 million and $55.1 milliprespectively, related to construct
costs for the buildings at Fan Pier in Boston, Mahsisetts. Please refer to Note H, "Fan Pier Lea®edurther information.

Total property and equipment, gross, as of Decer@bgP012 and 2011, included $30.1 million and &&spectively, for property and
equipment recorded under capital leases. Accuntltidpreciation, as of December 31, 2012 and 2@tyded $1.1 million and $0 ,
respectively, of accumulated depreciation for prigpand equipment recorded under capital leases.
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The Company recorded depreciation expense of $88lidn , $28.9 million and $27.9 million , respeatly, in 2012 , 2011 and 2010 .

H. Fan Pier Lease

In the second quarter of 2011, the Company eniatedwo leases, pursuant to which the Companyeate lease approximately 1.1
million square feet of office and laboratory spacévo buildings (the "Buildings") that the landébis building at Fan Pier in Boston,
Massachusetts (the “Fan Pier Leases”). The Comegpgcts to commence lease payments in Decembera2@ll® make payments for the
period ending 15 years from the commencement @ae Company has an option to extend the term ofF#irePier Leases for an additioteth
years.

Because the Company is involved in the construgiiofect, including having responsibility to pay #portion of the costs of finish work
and structural elements of the Buildings, the Camypa deemed for accounting purposes to be the oafrtbe Buildings during the
construction period. Accordingly, the Company hesorded project construction costs incurred byldhdlord as an asset and a related
financing obligation in “Property and equipmentt’rend “Construction financing lease obligationg’spectively, on the Company’s
consolidated balance sheets. The Company bifurdatigure lease payments pursuant to the Fanli@ses into (i) a portion that is allocated
to the Buildings and (ii) a portion that is alloedtto the land on which the Buildings are beingstartted, which is recorded as rental expense
Although the Company will not begin making leasgrpants pursuant to the Fan Pier Leases until thencencement date, the portion of the
lease obligations allocated to the land is tre&dedccounting purposes as an operating leasedmamenced in the second quarter of 2011.

Once the landlord completes the construction oBhiédings, the Company will evaluate the Fan Rieases in order to determine whel
or not the Fan Pier Leases meet the criteria fale“teaseback” treatment. If the Fan Pier Leasext the “sale-leaseback” criteria, the
Company will remove the asset and the relatedliigliiom its consolidated balance sheet and ttieat~an Pier Leases as either operating or
capital leases based on the Compamgsessment of the accounting guidance. The Cgonepaects that upon completion of constructiorhe
Buildings the Fan Pier Leases will not meet thdd'daaseback” criteria. If the Fan Pier Leases alonmeet “sale-leaseback” criteria, the
Company will treat the Fan Pier Leases as a fimgnebligation and will depreciate the asset oveedtimated useful life.

I. Intangible Assets and Goodwi
Intangible Asset

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Companysgilble assets consisted of indefinite-lived ingeiss research and development
assets of (i) $250.6 million related to its HCV lagtide analogue program, which includes the HC¥lentide analogue VX-135 and included
the HCV nucleotide analogue ALS-2158 and (ii) $@1rillion related to VX-222. The Company collabasivith Alios on research and
development activities related to the HCV nuclesfidogram and acquired VX-222 when it acquired wem Pharma Inc. ("ViroChem") in
March 2009. Each of these research and developmssats relate to drug candidates that are beirgjajmd for the treatment of HCV
infection.

The Company tests its intangible assets for impaitron an annual basis as of October 1, and megedntly if indicators are present or
changes in circumstance suggest that impairmentaxiay. Events that could result in an impairmentyigger an interim impairment
assessment, include the receipt of additionaladindr nonclinical data regarding the Company'gdandidate or a potentially competitive
drug candidate, changes in the clinical developmemgram for a drug candidate or new informatiagareling potential sales for the drug.

The field of HCV infection treatment is highly coetjiive and characterized by rapid technologicaladtes, and several of the Compa
competitors are conducting Phase 3 clinical teaisluating their drug candidates for the treatnoéigenotype 1 HCV infection, including
clinical trials evaluating all-oral combinationscatombinations that include pegylated-interferod abavirin. There can be no assurance that
the Company will be able to successfully develop-136 or VX-222. If the fair value of VX-135 or VX22 becomes impaired as the result of
unfavorable safety or efficacy data from any ongain future clinical trial or because of any othidormation regarding the prospects of
successfully developing or commercializing VX-1354X-222, the Company would incur significant chasgn the period in which the
impairment occurs.
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Alios Collaboration

In June 2011, the Company recorded $250.6 millfantangible assets on its consolidated balancetdbeesed on the Company's estimate
of the fair value of Alios' HCV nucleotide analogu®gram, including the intellectual property rethto ALS-2200 and AL24158. In the thirc
quarter of 2012, after the Company discontinuedithelopment of ALS-2158, the Company evaluatedMiws HCV nucleotide analogue
program for impairment. The Company determined ttheite was no impairment to the program in thalthirarter of 2012 because of the
advancement of ALS-2200 (now formulated as VX-1B3%).impairment has been found with respect to tG&/Hucleotide analogue program
since the effective date of the Alios Agreement.

ViroChem Acquisition

As of December 31, 2010, the intangible assetsieamjfrom ViroChem that were reflected on the Comypaconsolidated balance sheet
related to two drug candidates, VX-222 and VX-788:222 and VX-759 had estimated fair values onabeuisition date and December 31,
2010 of $412.9 million and $105.8 million , respeely. In the third quarter of 2011, the Companyedmined that the fair value of VX-759
had become impaired and that its fair value was z@&s a result, the Company recorded an impairroeatge in 2011 of $105.8 million that
was reflected as an intangible asset impairmengehan the Company's consolidated statement oftipas. In connection with this
impairment charge, the Company recorded a bemefit fncome taxes of $32.7 million .

The Company has tested the fair value of X2 on an annual basis since the acquisition datea impairment has been identified. A
October 1, 2012, the Company estimated the fairevétiat would be attributed to VX22 by a market participant based on probabilitighiec
present-value models involving updated assumptimasestimates regarding the status of the VX-222ldpment program, the potential
future cash flows from sales of VX-222 and an apggede discount rate. When the Company updatemsgsmptions, it considered among
other factors, the following: (i) the Company cowies to evaluate VX-222 in Phase 2 clinical tréald believes that a treatment regimen
containing VX-222 in combination with other diremtting antivirals such as VX-135 can be developegétients with genotype 1 HCV
infection, (ii) the Company's competitors initiateeleral Phase 2 and Phase 3 clinical trials dihi@gecond half of 2012 that include
treatment arms with non-nucleoside HCV polymerakébitors in combination with other direct-actingtiirals that could potentially be
competitive in the market for the treatment of H@Yection and (iii) the Company believes that ie fature several competitive treatment
regimens will be available to treat patients witmgtype 1 HCV infection. Using these updated assiomy the Company determined that a
October 1, 2012, a market participant would asaifgr value to VX-222 exceeding the value refldaba the consolidated balance sheet.
Accordingly, the Company determined that the vaigX-222 was not impaired as of October 1, 201RefE were no indicators of
impairment as of December 31, 2012.

A deferred tax liability related to ViroChem of $L8 million recorded as of December 31, 2012 aridl2&rimarily relates to the tax effect
of future amortization or impairments associatethwiX-222, which are not deductible for tax purpmse

Goodwill

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, goodwill of 83tillion was recorded on the Company's consolilatdance sheets. There was no
change to goodwill during the year ended DecemeP312.
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J. Accrued Expense

Accrued expenses consisted of the following:

As of December 31,

2012 2011
(in thousands)

Research, development and commercial contract costs $ 63,96( $ 66,42¢
Payroll and benefits 62,14( 57,45:
Product revenue allowances 69,93¢ 58,20
Royalty payable 29,007 28,60t
Unrecognized tax benefits 4,10¢ 4,36(
Interest 3,39t 3,36¢
Professional fees 11,22¢ 12,78t
Other 21,11 11,99¢

Total $ 264,88 $ 243,18

K. Convertible Senior Subordinated Note
Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes (due 2015)

In September 2010, the Company completed an offerir$400.0 million in aggregate principal amouh2615 Notes. This offering
resulted in $391.6 million of net proceeds to tlmnPany. The underwriting discount of $8.0 milliamdaother expenses of $0.4 million were
recorded as debt issuance costs and are includgbeén assets on the Company’s consolidated bakirests. The 2015 Notes were issued
pursuant to and are governed by the terms of aminde (as supplemented, the “Indenture”).

The 2015 Notes are convertible at any time, abfft®n of the holder, into common stock at a pageal to approximately $48.83 per
share, or 20.4794 shares of common stock per $p006€ipal amount of the 2015 Notes, subject taisiinent. The 2015 Notes bear interest &
the rate of 3.35% per annum, and the Company isirejto make semi-annual interest payments ooudite&tanding principal balance of the
2015 Notes on April 1 and October 1 of each yehe 2015 Notes mature on October 1, 2015.

Prior to October 1, 2013, if the closing price loé Company’s common stock has exceeded 130% dfi¢meapplicable conversion price
for at least 20 trading days within a period ofc@dsecutive trading days, the Company may redeer@@h5 Notes at its option, in whole or in
part, at a redemption price equal to 100% of tlecgpal amount of the 2015 Notes to be redeemeitiellCompany elects to redeem the 2015
Notes prior to October 1, 2013, or the holder aléatconvert the 2015 Notes into shares of the @Gmyip common stock after receiving not
of such redemption, the Company will be obligadiake an additional payment, payable in cashubjest to certain conditions, shares of
the Company’s common stock, so that the Companyés interest payments on the 2015 Notes beingeredd and such additional payment
shall equal three years of interest. On or afteépler 1, 2013, the Company may redeem the 2015sNatiés option, in whole or in part, at the
redemption prices stated in the Indenture plususetand unpaid interest, if any, to, but excludthg,redemption date.

Holders may require the Company to repurchase swrab of their 2015 Notes upon the occurrenceeasfain fundamental changes of
Vertex, as set forth in the Indenture, at 100%hefrincipal amount of the 2015 Notes to be repaset, plus any accrued and unpaid interes
if any, to, but excluding, the repurchase date.

If a fundamental change occurs that is also a fipégpe of change of control under the Indenttine, Company will pay a make-whole
premium upon the conversion of the 2015 Notes imegtion with any such transaction by increasimgapplicable conversion rate on such
2015 Notes. The make-whole premium will be in addito, and not in substitution for, any cash, siies or other assets otherwise due to
holders of the 2015 Notes upon conversion. The mdkae premium will be determined by referencehte indenture and is based on the date
on which the fundamental change becomes effective
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and the price paid, or deemed to be paid, per sifalre Company’s common stock in the transactmmsttuting the fundamental change,
subject to adjustment.

Based on the Company'’s evaluation of the 2015 NthesCompany determined that the 2015 Notes aoatgingle embedded derivative.
This embedded derivative relates to potential pggniaderest payments that could be imposed on thafgany for a failure to comply with its
securities reporting obligations pursuant to th&#®?Notes. This embedded derivative required bifivosbecause it was not clearly and closely
related to the host instrument. The Company hasrhéted that the value of this embedded derivatias nominal as of September 28, 2010,
the issue date of the 2015 Notes, December 31, 28id December 31, 2012 .

Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes (due 2013)

On January 1, 2010, the Company had outstandiriy$r8illion in aggregate principal amount of 4.758&vertible senior subordinated
notes due 2013. In the first quarter of 2010, halaé these notes converted these notes into NBB&hares of newly issued common stock.

L. Common Stock, Preferred Stock and Equity Plan

The Company is authorized to issue 300,000,00Gestarcommon stock. Holders of common stock argleshto one vote per share.
Holders of common stock are entitled to receivaddinds, if and when declared by the Company’s Bo&iirectors, and to share ratably in
the Company’s assets legally available for distidouto the Companyg shareholders in the event of liquidation. Hold#rsommon stock hax
no preemptive, subscription, redemption or coneersights. The holders of common stock do not lawaulative voting rights.

The Company is authorized to issue 1,000,000 sldipgeferred stock in one or more series andxehfé powers, designations,
preferences and relative participating, optiontbeorights thereof, including dividend rights, gersion rights, voting rights, redemption
terms, liquidation preferences and the number afeshconstituting any series, without any furthaewor action by the Company's
shareholders. As of December 31, 2012 and 201X dnepany had no shares of preferred stock issuedtstanding.

Stock and Option Plans

The purpose of each of the Company’s stock andwogtians is to attract, retain and motivate its leyges, consultants and directors.
Awards granted under these plans can be incerttie& sptions (“ISOs”), nonstatutory stock optiofiN$0s”), restricted stock (“RSs”),
restricted stock units (“RSUs") or other equity-bdswards, as specified in the individual plans.

Shares issued under all of the Company’s planfuaded through the issuance of new shares. Thewolh table contains information
about the Company'’s equity plans:

As of December 31, 2012
Additional Awards

Type of Award Awards Authorized for
Title of Plan Group Eligible Granted Outstanding Grant
2006 Stock and Option Plan Employees, Non-employee NSO, ISO,
Directors and Consultants RS and RSU 20,551,58 5,751,67
1996 Stock and Option Plan Employees, Non-employee
Directors, Advisors and ConsultaiNSO, ISO and RS 1,524,011 —
Total 22,075,59 5,751,67

All options granted under the Company’s 2006 Stmo#t Option Plan (“2006 Plan”) and 1996 Stock antdidd@Plan were granted with an
exercise price equal to the fair value of the ulyiley common stock on the date of grant. As of Deler 31, 2012 , the only stock and option
plan under which the Company makes new equity asvarthe Company’s 2006 Plan. Under the 2006 Plarstock options can be awarded
with an exercise price less than the fair mark&ievan
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the date of grant. The Company’s shareholders apdrincreases in the number of shares authorizedsoance pursuant to the 2006 Plan of
3,000,000 shares and 12,000,000 shares, respgctivl012 and 2010.

During the three years ended December 31, 201&hfgto current employees and directors had a dedatthat was the same as the date
the award was approved by the Company’s Board ifdiors. During the three years ended Decembe2@®P , for grants to new employees
and directors, the date of grant for awards wagthployee’s first day of employment or the datedhector was elected to the Company’'s
Board of Directors. All options awarded under tre@any’s stock and option plans expire not more tea years from the grant date.

During the three years ended December 31, 2013haites of outstanding restricted stock and asttistock units have been granted at
price equal to $0.01 , the par value of the Comjgacymmon stock. Vesting of options, restrictectktand restricted stock units generally is
ratable over specified periods, usually four yeans] is determined by the Company’s Board of Doexct

The following table summarizes information relatedhe outstanding and exercisable options dutiegyear ended December 31, 2012 :

Weighted-average

Weighted-average Remaining Aggregate Intrinsic
Stock Options Exercise Price Contractual Life Value
(in thousands) (per share) (in years) (in thousands)
Outstanding at December 31, 2011 20,92 $ 34.2:
Granted 6,04 43.8(
Exercised (5,85¢€) 29.51
Forfeited (1,310 41.01
Expired (74) 39.4%
Outstanding at December 31, 2012 19,72¢ $ 38.0¢ 7.15% 107,01¢
Exercisable at December 31, 2012 10,84¢ $ 34.5¢ 593% 84,29
Total exercisable or expected to vest at Decembge?(®12 18,78. $ 37.8¢ 7.06% 104,93:

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table abopeasents the total pre-tax amount, net of exeqise, that would have been received by
option holders if all option holders had exercisdidptions with an exercise price lower than therket price on December 31, 2012 , which
was $41.20 based on the average of the high angrio® of the Company’s common stock on that date.

The total intrinsic value (the amount by which taie market value exceeded the exercise pricejamksoptions exercised during 2012 ,
2011 and 2010 was $148.7 million , $90.5 milliond &10.5 million , respectively. The total cash reed by the Company as a result of
employee stock option exercises during 2012 , 206112010 was $172.8 million , $109.6 million an@ $2million , respectively.

The following table summarizes information abowicktoptions outstanding and exercisable at Dece3ibe2012 :

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted-average
Number Remaining Weighted-average Number Weighted-average
Range of Exercise Price Outstanding Contractual Life Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price
(in thousands) (in years) (per share) (in thousands) (per share)
$9.07-$20.00 1,00( 3.12% 15.3¢ 1,000 $ 15.3¢
$20.01-$30.00 1,41F 6.35% 29.3( 1,03¢ $ 29.11
$30.01-$40.00 12,59( 6.86$ 36.0¢ 7,77C $ 35.2¢
$40.01-$50.00 2,331 9.32% 48.0¢ 21€ $ 46.9:
$50.01-$60.00 2,32¢ 8.68% 53.4] 81€ $ 54.1¢
$60.01-$64.30 62 9.34% 63.17 8 $ 63.1¢
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The following table summarizes the restricted stactvity of the Company during the year ended Daner 31, 2012 :

Weighted-average

Restricted Grant-date

Stock Fair Value

(in thousands) (per share)
Unvested at December 31, 2011 2,100 $ 37.1:
Granted 1,42¢ 45.4¢
Vested (99¢) 35.11
Cancelled (260) 40.0¢
Unvested at December 31, 2012 227C $ 42.9:

The total fair value of restricted stock that vesteiring 2012 , 2011 and 2010 (measured on thedatesting) was $41.1 million , $34.6
million and $20.1 million , respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase PI

The Company has an employee stock purchase plaiEBPP”). The ESPP permits eligible employeesitolein a twelve-month
offering period comprising two six-month purchaseipds. Participants may purchase shares of thep@oy's common stock, through payroll
deductions, at a price equal to 85% of the fairkmiavalue of the common stock on the first dayhef applicable twelve-month offering period,
or the last day of the applicable six-month purehaeriod, whichever is lower. Purchase dates uth@eESPP occur on or about May 14 and
November 14 of each year. In 2012, the Companygeebiolders approved an increase in the numberanésiof common stock authorized
issuance pursuant to the ESPP of 2,500,000 . R2oémber 31, 2012 , there were 2,280,000 sharesnofnon stock authorized for issuance
pursuant to the ESPP.

In 2012 , the following shares were issued to eygds under the ESPP:
Year Ended December 31, 2012

(in thousands,
except per share amount)

Number of shares 70z
Average price paid per share $26.7;

M. Stock-based Compensation Expen:

The Company recognizes share-based payments toweeglas compensation expense using the fair wadtieod. The fair value of stock
options and shares purchased pursuant to the BSfitulated using the Black-Scholes option pricmaglel. The fair value of restricted stock
and restricted stock units typically is based amitttrinsic value on the date of grant. Stock-basmdpensation, measured at the grant date
based on the fair value of the award, is typicedigognized as expense ratably over the servicegh€Fhe expense recognized over the service
period includes an estimate of awards that wildséeited.

The effect of stock-based compensation expenseglthe three years ended December 31, 2012 wadl@as<:

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Stock-based compensation expense by line item:
Research and development expenses $ 7153:$ 7557¢$ 65,19¢
Sales, general and administrative expenses 42,75 42,652 25,92¢
Total stock-based compensation expense includedsts and expenses $ 114,28 $ 118,22t $ 91,12¢

During 2012 and 2011 , the Company capitalized #illion and $ 1.0 million , respectively, of stoblased compensation expense to
inventories, all of which was attributable to emyes who supported the Company’s manufacturingabipess for the Company's products.
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The stock-based compensation expense by type ofladuaing the three years ended December 31, 2@E2aw follows:

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Stock-based compensation expense by type of award:

Stock options $ 79,047 $ 83,09¢ $ 64,00¢
Restricted stock and restricted stock units 29,19« 30,70¢ 22,96(
ESPP share issuances 7,29¢ 5,46 4,15¢
Less stock-based compensation expense capitatizadentories (1,259 (1,042 —
Total stock-based compensation expense includedsits and expenses $ 114,28' $ 118,22t $ 91,12«

The following table sets forth the Company’s unggteed stock-based compensation expense, netiofadstl forfeitures, as of
December 31, 2012 by type of award and the weigatedage period over which that expense is expdotbd recognized:

As of December 31, 2012

Unrecognized Expense Weighted-average
Net of Recognition
Estimated Forfeitures Period
(in thousands) (in years)
Type of award:

Stock options $156,22¢ 2.69
Restricted stock and restricted stock units 68,09¢ 2.58
ESPP share issuances 5,661 0.65

Stock Options

The Company issues stock options with service ¢mmdi, which are generally the vesting periodshefawards. In 2009, the Company
also issued, to certain members of senior managesteck options with performance conditions thested upon the satisfaction of
the performance conditions by the end of the §sdrter of 2012. The Company uses the Black-Sclug#en pricing model to estimate the
fair value of stock options at the grant date. Bleeck-Scholes option pricing model uses the opérercise price as well as estimates and
assumptions related to the expected price volatifithe Company’s stock, the rate of return ok-fige investments, the expected period
during which the options will be outstanding, ahd &xpected dividend yield for the Company'’s stimckstimate the fair value of a stock
option on the grant date. The options granted du2Bil2 , 2011 and 2010 had a weighted-average-deaatfair value per share of $19.72 ,
$20.88 and $18.52 , respectively.

The fair value of each option granted during 202211 and 2010 was estimated on the date of geamg the BlackScholes option pricir
model with the following weighted-average assumpio

2012 2011 2010
Expected stock price volatility 47.9% 49.5% 52.1%
Risk-free interest rate 0.95% 2.09% 2.44%
Expected term of options (in years) 5.7¢ 5.7¢ 5.71
Expected annual dividends — — —
The weighted-average valuation assumptions weermétied as follows:
. Expected stock price volatilitOptions to purchase the Company’s stock with remgiterms of greater than one year are

regularly traded in the market. Expected stockepvialatility is calculated using the trailing on@nth average of daily
implied volatilities prior to grant date.

F-32




Table of Contents

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (Contirad)
. Risk-free interest rateThe Company bases the risk-free interest rate @intkrest rate payable on U.S. Treasury secuiities

effect at the time of grant for a period that isntoensurate with the assumed expected option term.

. Expected term of optionThe expected term of options represents the pefitithe options are expected to be outstanding.
The Company uses historical data to estimate eraplexercise and post-vest termination behavior.Jdrapany believes
that all groups of employees exhibit similar exeecand post-vest termination behavior and therefoes not stratify
employees into multiple groups in determining tkpeted term of options.

. Expected annual dividendThe estimate for annual dividends is $0.00 becthess€ompany has not historically paid, and
does not intend for the foreseeable future to palividend.

Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock L

The Company issues restricted stock and restratteak units with service conditions, which are gaite the vesting periods of the
awards. The Company also issues, to certain mersbsenior management, restricted stock and réstristock units that vest upon the earliet
of the satisfaction of (i) a performance conditar(ii) a service condition.

Employee Stock Purchase PI

The weighted-average fair value of each purchags granted during 2012 , 2011 and 2010 was $1,289080 and $10.19 , respectively.
The following table reflects the weighted-averagsumptions used in the Black-Scholes option priaieglel for 2012 , 2011 and 2010 :

2012 2011 2010
Expected stock price volatility 46.9(% 51.32% 43.92%
Risk-free interest rate 0.16% 0.0% 0.24%
Expected term (in years) 0.7 0.72 0.71

Expected annual dividends — — —

The expected stock price volatility for ESPP offigs is based on implied volatility. The Companydsathe risk-free interest rate on the
interest rate payable on U.S. Treasury securiiesfect at the time of grant for a period thatagsnmensurate with the assumed expected tern
The expected term represents purchases and pungbiasds that take place within the offering peridde expected annual dividends estimate
is $0.00 because the Company has not historically, pnd does not for the foreseeable future interghy, a dividend.

N. September 2009 Financial Transactior

2012 Notes

In September 2009, the Company sold $155.0 millicmggregate of secured notes due 2012 (the “2@t2Y) for an aggregate of $122.2
million pursuant to a note purchase agreement @ithsted Park S.A. (the “Purchaser”). The 2012 Noter issued at a discount and did not
pay current interest prior to maturity. The 2012ééowere scheduled to mature on October 31, 2@ble to earlier mandatory redemptior
the extent that specified milestone events sel fiorthe Company’s collaboration with Janssen aecliprior to October 31, 2012. In February
2011, the Company received a milestone paymens@f0#million and subsequently redeemed $50.0 mikib2012 Notes pursuant to their
terms. The remaining $105.0 milliaf 2012 Notes were redeemed on October 31, 201h,the proceeds of milestone payments received
Janssen in October 2011. The 2012 Notes contaimedhdedded derivative related to the potential rag redemption or early repaymen
the 2012 Notes at the face amount prior to thetunity date. The fair value of this embedded ddrisawas evaluated quarterly, with changes
in the fair value of the embedded derivative résglin a corresponding gain or loss. The Compangnaed quarterly interest expense related
to the 2012 Notes using the effective interest ma¢¢hod.
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Sale of Contingent Milestone Payments

In September 2009, the Company entered intogwahase agreements with the Purchaser pursuati¢h the Company sold its rights
an aggregate of $95.0 million in contingent milest@ayments under the Janssen agreement relates ltunch of telaprevir in the European
Union, for nonrefundable payments totaling $32.8iom . The Purchaser received the $95.0 milliomitestone payments from Janssen in the
fourth quarter of 2011. The Company determined tthiatsale of a future revenue stream should bewated for as a liability. The fair value
the rights sold to the Purchaser pursuant to thehgise agreements was evaluated each reportiragpenriil the payments were received in the
fourth quarter of 2011, with changes in the failueaof the derivative instruments based on the g@dity of achieving the milestones, the
timing of achieving the milestones or discount satesulting in a corresponding gain or loss.

Expenses Related to September 2009 Financial Tctiosa
The table below sets forth the total expensesaeltt the September 2009 financial transaction2@d2 , 2011 and 2010 :

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Expenses and Losses (Gains):

Interest expense related to 2012 Notes $ — $ 21,687 $ 15,06¢
Change in fair value of embedded derivative reléte2012 Notes — (400 1,63
Change in fair value of free-standing derivativelated to the sale of milestone payments — 17,20: 39,59:

Total September 2009 financial transaction expenses $ — $ 38,48t $ 56,297

O. Sale of HIV Protease Inhibitor Royalty Strean

In 2008, the Company sold to a third party its tigio receive royalty payments from GlaxoSmithKlpie, net of royalty amounts to be
earned by and due to a third party, for a one-tash payment of $160.0 million . These royalty pegta relate to net sales of HIV protease
inhibitors, which had been developed pursuantdoli@boration agreement between the Company anxbShaithKline plc. As of
December 31, 2012 , the Company had $80.3 millicsteiferred revenues related to the one-time cagingrat, which it is recognizing over the
life of the collaboration agreement with GlaxoSriihe plc based on the units-of-revenue methodddition, the Company continues to
recognize royalty revenues equal to the amourtiethird-party subroyalty and an offsetting royagpense for the third-party subroyalty
payment.

P. Income Taxe:

The components of income (loss) before provisior(lienefit from) income taxes during the three gesarded December 31, 2012
consisted of the following:

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)
United States $ 256,81t $ 343,51 $ (719,859
Foreign (269,19) (283,07() (34,76
Income (loss) before provision for (benefit fromgome taxes $ (12,38) $ 60,44t $ (754,62¢)
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The components of provision for (benefit from) inmtaxes during the three years ended Decemb@032, consisted of the following:

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Current taxes:

United States $ 2,057 $ 2227 $ —

Foreign (2,865 (561) —

State 1,902 8,65¢ —
Total current taxes $ 2,09. $ 30,36¢ $ —
Deferred taxes:

United States $ 31,30¢ $ 19,62¢ $ —

Foreign — (32,69 —

State 5,352 1,96( —
Total deferred taxes $ 36,66( $ (11,109 $ —
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes $ 38,75¢ $ 19,26¢ $ —

The Company’s federal statutory income tax rate@12 , 2011 and 2010 were 35% , 35% and 34%peotisely. The Company had
income from operations in 2012 and 2011 and inculesses from operations in 201The Company recorded a valuation allowance agag
net operating losses and other net deferred tatsadse to uncertainties related to the realizgtofi these tax assets.

The difference between the Company’s “expected’pravision (benefit), as computed by applying th& Uederal corporate tax rate to
income (loss) before provision for (benefit fromgdme taxes, and actual tax is reconciled as fatlow

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)
Income (loss) before provision for (benefit fromgome taxes $ (12,38) $ 60,44f $ (754,62¢)
Expected tax provision (benefit) (4,339 21,15¢ (256,579
State taxes, net of federal benefit 7,078 10,62« (46,109
Foreign rate differential 62,42¢ 43,62¢ 632
Tax credits (1,980 (51,08¢) (23,29)
Unbenefited operating losses (30,369 (6,28¢€) 322,55:
Non-deductible expenses 3,19¢ 1,95¢ 2,15¢
Rate change 3,27¢ — —
Other (542) (724) 63:
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes $ 38,75« $ 19,26¢ $ —

For federal income tax purposes, as of Decembe2@l2 , the Company has net operating loss camgiars of approximatel$2.6 billion
and tax credits of $98.0 milliorwhich may be used to offset future federal incand tax liability, respectively. For state incotag purposes
the Company has net operating loss carryforwar@ppfoximately $1.5 billion and tax credits of $&illion , which may be used to offset
future state income and tax liability, respectivélizese operating loss carryforwards began to expi2006, and the tax credit carryforwards
began to expire in 2005. After consideration ofladl evidence, both positive and negative, the Gamgontinues to maintain a valuation
allowance for the full amount of the 2012 deferr@dasset because it is more likely than not thaidieferred tax asset will not be realized. In
future periods, if management determines thatritase likely than not that the deferred tax assétoe realized, (i) the valuation allowance
would be decreased, (ii) a portion or all of théeded tax asset would be reflected on the Compacgnsolidated balance sheet and (iii) the
Company would record non-cash benefits in its clidated statements of operations related to tHeag#dn of the deferred tax asset on its
consolidated balance sheet.
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Unrecognized tax benefits during the two years dridlecember 31, 2012 consisted of the following:

2012 2011
(in thousands)
Unrecognized tax benefits beginning of year $ 4,360 $ 2,37¢
Gross change for current year positions 59¢ 2,56¢
Increase for prior period positions — —
Decrease for prior period positions — —
Decrease due to settlements and payments — —
Decrease due to statute limitations (852 (589
Unrecognized tax benefits end of year 4,10¢ $ 4,36(

The Company had gross unrecognized tax beneftd af million and $4.4 million , respectively, asldécember 31, 2012 and 2011 . At
December 31, 2012, $4.1 million represented theusrtnof unrecognized tax benefits that, if recogdiavould result in a reduction of the
Company’s effective tax rate. In 2013, it is reasduly possible that the Company will reduce the fiedaof its unrecognized tax benefits$.3
million due to the application of statute of lintitens and settlements with taxing authoritiespélivhich would reduce the Compagyeffective
tax rate.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determbeeskd on the difference between financial stateargshtax bases using enacted tax rates
in effect for the year in which the differences axpected to reverse. The components of the deftares were as follows:

As of December 31,
2012 2011
(in thousands)

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss $ 777,68 $ 870,36
Tax credit carryforwards 147,07: 167,75¢
Property and equipment 10,70: 15,53}
Intangibles 63,35! 71,07¢
Deferred revenues 44,86 59,93¢
Stock-based compensation 83,97¢ 90,56:
Inventories 56,56¢ 23,88:
Accrued expenses 27,94¢ 30,63¢
Unrealized loss — 24t
Gross deferred tax assets 1,212,171 1,330,00!
Valuation allowance (1,211,56) (1,329,77)
Total deferred tax assets 60¢ 23C
Deferred tax liabilities:
Unrealized gain (37€) —
Contingent milestone and royalty payment obligation (50,909 (14,247
Acquired intangibles (229,69¢) (229,69¢)
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (280,36) $ (243,70

Generally, tax return deductions are allowabletonkshased compensation plans but may arise in differetunts and periods from wt
stock-based compensation expense is recognizée iinancial statements. If the tax return deductar an award exceeds the cumulative
stock-based compensation expense recognized fintrial statements, any excess tax benefit isgeized as additional paid-capital wher
the deduction reduces income tax payable. Theamedrhount of the unrealized excess tax benefitd Becember 31, 2012 was approximately
$115 million . As of December 31, 2012 , the gras®unt of this excess tax deduction in the netatpey loss carryforward was
approximately $525 million .

The valuation allowance decreased by $118.2 mifiom December 31, 2011 to December 31, 2012 bedfesCompany utilized net
operating losses in 2012 to offset taxable income.
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The Company files United States federal incomeétxrns and income tax returns in various statmlland foreign jurisdictions. The
Company is no longer subject to any tax assessfr@ntan income tax examination in the United Staifore 2007 and any other major
taxing jurisdiction for years before 2005, excepiene the Company has net operating losses or ¢alt carryforwards that originate before
2005. The Company is currently under examinatiobyenue Quebec for the year ended March 11, 200%& year ended December 31,
2007. No adjustments have been reported. The Comiparot under examination by any other jurisdictidor any tax year.

The Company currently intends to reinvest the tatabunt of its unremitted earnings, which havebsan significant to date, in the local
international jurisdiction or to repatriate ther@ags only when taeffective. As a result, the Company has not pravide U.S. federal incorr
taxes on the unremitted earnings of its internatisnbsidiaries. Upon repatriation of those eamimgthe form of dividends or otherwise, the
Company would be subject to U.S. federal incomesdsubject to an adjustment for foreign tax cspdind withholding taxes payable to the
various foreign countries. Determination of the amtoof the unrecognized deferred U.S. federal inedax liability is not practical due to the
complexity associated with this hypothetical cadtioin; however, unrecognized foreign tax creditsiddde available to reduce some portio
the U.S. federal income tax liability.

Q. Restructuring Expense

In June 2003, Vertex adopted a plan to restruétsi@perations to coincide with its increasing intd emphasis on advancing drug
candidates through clinical development to comnadimgition. The restructuring was designed to rexdhet the Compang'relative investmen
in research and development to better support tmpany’s long-term strategy. At that time, themasuring plan included a workforce
reduction, write-offs of certain assets and a degisot to occupy approximately 290,000 square déspecialized laboratory and office space
in Cambridge, Massachusetts under lease to Vetiex'Kendall Square Lease”). The Kendall Squareskesommenced in January 2003 and
has a 15 -year term. In the second quarter of 2B@5Company revised its assessment of its reafleestquirements and decided to use
approximately 120,000 square feet of the facilitiject to the Kendall Square Lease (the “KendalléBg Facility”) for its operations,
beginning in 2006. The remaining rentable squaotaipe of the Kendall Square Facility currentlyubleased to third parties.

The Company’s initial estimate of its liability foet ongoing costs associated with the Kendall &gueaase obligation was recorded in the
second quarter of 2003 at fair value. The restrugjuexpense incurred from the second quarter 6828rough the end of the first quarter of
2005 (i.e., immediately prior to the Compamdecision to use a portion of the Kendall Squaliy for its operations) relates to the estingk
incremental net ongoing lease obligations assatiatth the entire Kendall Square Facility, togetith imputed interest costs relating to the
restructuring liability. The restructuring experiseurred in the period beginning in the second tuasf 2005 relates only to the portion of the
Kendall Square Facility that the Company is notupgéng and does not intend to occupy for its openat The remaining lease obligations,
which are associated with the portion of the Keh8glare Facility that the Company occupies and fmeits operations, are recorded as re
expense in the period incurred. The Company revissssumptions and estimates quarterly and updtatestimates of this liability as
changes in circumstances require. The expensaability recorded is calculated using probabilitgighted discounted cash-flows of the
Company’s estimated ongoing lease obligationsudinlg contractual rental and buitdit commitments, net of estimated sublease rernttis
by related sublease costs.

In estimating the expense and liability under ienKall Square Lease obligation, the Company estiin@} the costs to be incurred to
satisfy rental and build-out commitments underl#ase (including operating costs), (ii) the leaddinecessary to sublease the space, (iii) the
projected sublease rental rates, and (iv) theipatied durations of subleases. The Company usesié-adjusted risk-free rate of
approximately 10% to discount the estimated cashid] The Company reviews its estimates and assangptin at least a quarterly basis,
intends to continue such reviews until the termarabf the Kendall Square Lease, and will make what modifications the Company belier
necessary, based on the Company’s best judgmenefl¢éat any changed circumstances. The Compaisyimates have changed in the past,
and may change in the future, resulting in addél@djustments to the estimate of the liabilitya@hes to the Company’s estimate of the
liability are recorded as additional restructurexgpense/(credit). In addition, because the Compaastimate of the liability includes the
application of a discount rate to reflect the tivadde of money, the Company records imputed inteests
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related to the liability each quarter. These castsincluded in restructuring expense (credit)rmm@ompany’s consolidated statements of
operations.

The activity related to restructuring and othebility for 2003 was as follows:

Cash Non-cash Liability as of

Charge payments write-off December 31,

in 2003 in 2003 in 2003 2003

(in thousands)

Lease restructuring and other operating lease egpen $ 84,72¢ $ (15,200 $ — $ 69,52¢
Employee severance, benefits and related costs 2,61¢ (2,616 — —
Leasehold improvements and asset impairments 4,48: — (4,482 —
Total $ 91,82« $ (17,816 $ (4,482 $ 69,52¢

In 2003, the lease restructuring and other opagdtiase expense included $78.7 million of leaseuetsiring expense and $6.0 million of
lease operating expense incurred prior to the wecitot to occupy the Kendall Square Facility. Tastructuring accrual as of December 31,
2003 related only to the lease restructuring expens

The activity related to restructuring for 2004 tigh 2012 was as follows:

2012 2011 2010 2004-2012
(in thousands)
Liability, beginning of the period $ 26,31 $ 29,59 $ 34,017 $ 69,52¢
Cash payments (14,859 (14,909 (14,759 (163,69
Cash received from subleases 10,02 9,54¢ 8,83¢ 65,03¢
Credit for portion of facility Vertex decided to @gpy in 2005 — — — (20,019
Restructuring expense 1,84« 2,07¢ 1,501 62,47¢
Liability, end of the period $ 23,32¢ $ 26,31 $ 29,59t $ 23,32¢

In each period, the Company records lease restingtaxpense attributable to imputed interest egldab the restructuring liability. In
certain periods, the restructuring expense aldeatsfthe revision of certain key estimates andragsions about building operating expenses
and sublease income.

R. Employee Benefit

The Company has a 401(k) retirement plan (the ‘®fe#01(k) Plan”) in which substantially all of ggermanent U.S. employees are
eligible to participate. Participants may contriup to 60% of their annual compensation to theexe401(k) Plan, subject to statutory
limitations. The Company may declare discretiormagtching contributions to the Vertex 401(k) Plaattare payable in Vertex common stock
The match is paid in the form of fully vested imtsts in a Vertex common stock fund. Employees tiawability to transfer funds from the
stock fund invested in Vertex common stock, subjeatertain restrictions. As of December 31, 20834,000 shares of common stock
remained available for grant under the Vertex 4pP(kn. The Company declared matching contributiortae Vertex 401(k) Plan as follows:

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)
Discretionary matching contributions during theyeaded December 31, $ 10,26: $ 8,61¢ $ 6,552
Shares issued during the year ended December 31, 247 18¢ 174
Shares issuable as of the year ended December 31, 53 62 42

S. Commitments

The Company leases its facilities and certain eqgaift and software. The Compasyacility leases have terms through 2028. Theckea:
the Company'’s current primary facilities in Camigedwvere extended in 2009 through December 2012014, the Company entered into
leases for buildings being constructed at FaniRiBoston, Massachusetts, which will become the @amy's new corporate headquarters. The
Company expects to commence lease payments in bec&t13
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and to make payments for the period ending 15 yeans the commencement date. The Company has &ndptextend the term of the Fan
Pier Leases for an additional ten years. Please t@fNote H, "Fan Pier Leases," for additionabinfation regarding this commitment.

The term of the Kendall Square Lease began on 3aiy2003. The Company occupies and uses fopisations approximately 120,000
square feet of the Kendall Square Facility. The @any has sublease arrangements in place for theimang rentable square footage of the
Kendall Square Facility, with terms that expiredpril 2015 and August 2015. Rent payments purst@ttie Kendall Square Lease will be
subject to increase in May 2013, based on chamgas inflation index. These increases are treagambatingent rentals. The Kendall Square
Lease will expire in 2018, and the Company hagottion to extend the term for two consecutive teain$0 years each. Please refeNumte Q
"Restructuring Expense," for further information.

As of December 31, 2012 , future minimum commitreamder the Fan Pier Leases, facility operatingdsavith terms of more than one
year and expected sublease income under the Cor's subleases for the Kendall Square Facility weréodows:

Kendall Other Total Lease

Fan Pier Kendall Square Sublease Operating Commitments (Net of

Year Leases Lease Income Leases Sublease Income)
(in thousands)

2013 $ 83,30 $ 18,33¢ $ (8,495 $ 43,16f $ 136,31:
2014 67,20¢ 18,33¢ (8,49Y) 35,37¢ 112,42:
2015 67,20¢ 18,33¢ (3,976 27,90¢ 109,47"
2016 67,20¢ 18,33¢ — 9,91¢ 95,46(
2017 67,20¢ 18,33¢ — 8,90 94,44¢
Thereafter 814,40« 6,11: — 30,61( 851,12
Total minimum lease payments $ 1,166,533 $ 97,80: $ (20,96¢) $ 155,87¢ $ 1,399,24:

During 2012, 2011 and 2010, rental expense wasl$5illion , $49.4 million and $46.6 million , resg&vely, of which $11.6 million ,
$11.2 million and $11.6 million , respectively,atdd to the Kendall Square Facility and $6.6 millj&3.9 million and $Q respectively, relate
to the Fan Pier land lease. Please refer to Not&#&h Pier Leases," for further information.

In 2012, the Company entered into various agreesrfenthe lease of equipment and software liceresgsring in 2015. The leases were
accounted for as capital leases. The capital ldzsmsinterest at rates of approximately 4% per.yHze following table sets forth the
Company’s future minimum payments due under cafataes as of December 31, 2012:

Year (in thousands)
2013 $ 14,50:
2014 9,00t
2015 6,53
Total payments 30,04«
Less: amount representing interest (1,167
Present value of payments $ 28,871

In addition, the Company has committed to makem@tefuture milestone and royalty payments purstarnhe Alios Agreement.
Payments generally become due and payable upathievement of certain developmental, regulatod/@commercial milestones. Please
refer to Note B, "Collaborative Arrangements," forther information.

In September 2010, the Company issued $400.0 milliaggregate principal of 2015 Notes. Please tefdlote K, "Convertible Senior
Subordinated Notes," for further information.
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T. Legal Proceeding

On September 6, 2012, a purported shareholder atdiss, City of Bristol Pension Fund v. Vertex Pharmacealidncorporated, et al.
was filed in the United States District Court fbetDistrict of Massachusetts, naming the Companlycantain of the Company's current and
former officers and directors of the Company agdééants. The lawsuit alleges that the Company mederial misrepresentations and/or
omissions of material fact in the Company's diseles during the period from May 7, 2012 througheJ28, 2012, all in violation of Section 10
(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as atednand Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder. Byratdied December 12, 2012, the court
appointed the City of Bristol lead plaintiff andpaginted the City of Bristol's attorneys lead counghe plaintiffs filed an amended complaint
on February 11, 2013. The plaintiffs seek unspedifnonetary damages on behalf of the putative aeladsan award of costs and expenses,
including attorney's fees, as well as disgorgeméttie proceeds from certain individual defendasaes of our common stock. The Company
believes that this action is without merit and imte to defend it vigorously. As of December 31,2Ghe Company has not recorded any
reserves for this purported class action.

U. Contingencie:

The Company has certain contingent liabilities #irége in the ordinary course of its business #itss The Company accrues a reserve fo
contingent liabilities when it is probable thatutg expenditures will be made and such expenditaede reasonably estimated. There we
material contingent liabilities accrued as of Deben31, 2012 or 2011 .

V. Guarantees

As permitted under Massachusetts law, the Compahgisles of Organization and By-laws provide titla¢ Company will indemnify
certain of its officers and directors for certalaims asserted against them in connection wittr gegivice as an officer or director. The
maximum potential amount of future payments that@ompany could be required to make under theserindication provisions is unlimite:
However, the Company has purchased directors’ #iwks’ liability insurance policies that coulddece its monetary exposure and enable it
to recover a portion of any future amounts paidimttemnification claims currently are outstandiagd the Company believes the estimated
fair value of these indemnification arrangementsiisimal.

The Company customarily agrees in the ordinary seof its business to indemnification provisionagneements with clinical trial
investigators and sites in its drug developmengrms, sponsored research agreements with acadadhitot-for-profit institutions, various
comparable agreements involving parties performsenyices for the Company, and its real estate $ed$& Company also customarily agrees
to certain indemnification provisions in its druigabvery, development and commercialization coliabon agreements. With respect to the
Company’s clinical trials and sponsored researcheagents, these indemnification provisions typjcapyply to any claim asserted against the
investigator or the investigator’s institution rixhg to personal injury or property damage, viaas of law or certain breaches of the
Company’s contractual obligations arising out @& thsearch or clinical testing of the Company’s goamnds or drug candidates. With respect
to lease agreements, the indemnification provistgpieally apply to claims asserted against thellard relating to personal injury or property
damage caused by the Company, to violations obkathe Company or to certain breaches of the Cogipaontractual obligations. The
indemnification provisions appearing in the Compamyllaboration agreements are similar to thosdHe other agreements discussed above
but in addition provide some limited indemnificatitor its collaborator in the event of third-padiaims alleging infringement of intellectual
property rights. In each of the cases above, ttlenmification obligation generally survives themération of the agreement for some exten
period, although the Company believes the obligatypically has the most relevance during the @attterm and for a short period of time
thereafter. The maximum potential amount of fujpmgments that the Company could be required to maker these provisions is generally
unlimited. The Company has purchased insuranceipsicovering personal injury, property damagegetteral liability that reduce its
exposure for indemnification and would enable itiany cases to recover all or a portion of anyreuamounts paid. The Company has never
paid any material amounts to defend lawsuits dfeselaims related to these indemnification prams. Accordingly, the Company believes
estimated fair value of these indemnification agements is minimal.

The Company entered into an underwriting agreeméhtMerrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorfaded dated September 23, 2010
(the “Underwriting Agreement”), relating to the pigtoffering and sale of the 2015 Notes. The
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Underwriting Agreement requires the Company to mdigy the underwriter against any loss it may suffg reason of the Company'’s breach
of any representation or warranty relating to tbbljg offering, the Company’s failure to perfornrizén covenants in the Underwriting
Agreement, the inclusion of any untrue statemematerial fact in the prospectus used in connedtiin the offering, the omission of any
material fact needed to make those materials ngleanding, and any actions taken by the Compantg eepresentatives in connection with the
offering. The representations, warranties, covenant indemnification provisions in the Underwigtidgreement are of a type customary in
agreements of this sort. The Company believesdtimated fair value of this indemnification arrangmnt is minimal.

W. Segment Informatior

The Company operates in one segment, pharmaceutitraierprise-wide disclosures about revenuesifisignt customers, and property
and equipment, net by location are presented below.

Revenues by Produ

Product revenues, net consisted of the following:

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)
INCIVEK $ 116181 $ 950,88¢ $ =
KALYDECO 171,64! — _
Total product revenues, net $ 1,333,445 $ 950,88¢ $ —

Revenues by Geographic Locat

The following table summarizes total revenues fetternal customers and collaborators by geogragigion. Product revenues are
attributed to countries based on the location efdirstomer. Collaborative revenues are attribudeble operations of the Company in the
United States. Royalty revenues are attributesdtmtries based on the location of the collaborator.

2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

United States $ 1,373,511 $ 1,389,561 $ 143,37(
Outside of the United States

Europe 129,78t 20,28¢ =

Other 23,74( 76¢ —

Total revenues outside of the United States 153,52t 21,05¢ —

Total revenues $ 152704 $ 1410620 $ 143,37(

Significant Customers

The following table summarizes gross revenues andumts receivable from each of the Compartyistomers who individually accoun
for 10% or more of total gross revenues and/or b@%hore of total accounts receivable:

Percent of Total Gross Revenues Percent of Accounts Receivable
Year Ended December 31, As of December 31,
2012 2011 2010 2012 2011
AmerisourceBergen Drug Corporation 32% 25% —% 22% 35%
McKesson Corporation 29% 24% —% 26% 30%
Cardinal Health Incorporated 15% 15% —% <10% 20%
Janssen <1C% 1%% 21% 26% 10%
Mitsubishi Tanabe <1C% <1(% 57% —% <10%
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Property and Equipment, Net by Locat

The following table summarizes property and equipineet by location:

As of December 31,

2012 2011
(in thousands)
United States $ 400,10 $ 109,48(
Outside of the United States
United Kingdom 30,62: 21,371
Other 2,88t 2,31¢
Total property and equipment, net outside of théddnStates 33,50% 23,69¢
Total property and equipment, net $ 433,60 $ 133,17t
X. Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)
Three Months Ended
March 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31,
2012 2012 (1) 2012 2012 (2)
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
Revenues:
Product revenues, net $ 375,37 $ 373,27. $ 303,50. $ 281,30¢
Royalty revenues 38,98: 33,48( 25,58¢ 43,45.
Collaborative revenues 24,38: 11,55: 6,91¢ 9,23¢
Total revenues 438,73 418,30! 336,00t 333,99:
Costs and expenses:
Cost of product revenues 25,91¢ 104,54¢ 30,68( 75,59¢
Royalty expenses 13,29 9,87¢ 7,85¢€ 12,12(
Research and development expenses 196,37: 196,54 200,16: 213,10¢
Sales, general and administrative expenses 111,144 117,51 97,68 110,45:
Restructuring expense (credit) 36( 594 69¢€ 194
Intangible asset impairment charge — — — —
Total costs and expenses 347,08t 429,07! 337,07 411,47(
Income (loss) from operations 91,64¢ (10,770 (1,077 (77,476
Interest income 364 56C 51¢ 497
Interest expense (4,10 (4,195 (4,560 (3,799
Change in fair value of derivative instruments — — — —
Income (loss) before provision for (benefit fromgome taxes 87,90¢ (14,409 (5,112 (80,777)
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes 32 20,06 21,35¢ (2,696
Net income (loss) 87,87¢ (34,469 (26,46°) (78,07¢)
Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrollintenest (Alios) 3,71 (30,467) (31,07¢) 1,92¢
Net income (loss) attributable to Vertex $ 91,59( $ (64,93) $ (57,549 $ (76,14
Net income (loss) per share attributable to Vecmxmon shareholders:
Basic $ 0.4¢ $ 030 % 027 % (0.35)
Diluted $ 0.4: $ (0.3) $ (0.279) $ (0.39)
Shares used in per share calculations:
Basic 208,01 211,34« 213,76 214,60°
Diluted 219,26: 211,34 213,76 214,60
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Three Months Ended

March 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31,
2011 2011 2011 (3) 2011
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenues:

Product revenues, net $ — $ 7453 $ 419,59" $ 456,75¢

Royalty revenues 6,061 10,01( 8,53¢ 25,40¢

Collaborative revenues 67,60 29,87¢ 231,06¢ 81,17¢

Total revenues 73,66: 114,42 659,20( 563,34(

Costs and expenses:

Cost of product revenues — 5,40¢ 35,28¢ 22,93¢

Royalty expenses 2,66¢ 3,90: 3,121 7,191

Research and development expenses 158,61 173,60 189,05: 186,43¢

Sales, general and administrative expenses 71,52 96,66 110,65« 121,88:

Restructuring expense (credit) 76C 741 (419 997

Intangible asset impairment charge — — 105,80( —

Total costs and expenses 233,56: 280,31« 443,49; 339,43t

Income (loss) from operations (159,899 (165,891) 215,70 223,90:

Interest income 1,40z 20z 77 197

Interest expense (12,00) (6,962) (7,059 (12,430

Change in fair value of derivative instruments (5,599 (2,220 (8,115 (86¢)
Income (loss) before provision for (benefit fromgdme taxes (176,091) (174,871) 200,61( 210,80:
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes — 24,44¢ (27,84 22,66(
Net income (loss) (176,091) (199,319 228,45: 188,14:
Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrollintenest (Alios) — 25,24¢ (7,342 (29,519
Net income (loss) attributable to Vertex $ (176,090 $ (174,069 $ 221,11 $ 158,62¢
Net income (loss) per share attributable to Vecmxmon shareholders:

Basic $ 0.89) % (0.85) % 1.0¢ $ 0.7¢

Diluted $ (0.87) $ (0.85) $ 1.0z $ 0.74
Shares used in per share calculations:

Basic 202,32 204,41 206,00: 206,75¢

Diluted 202,32 204,41 219,34¢ 217,60:

(1)During the second quarter of 2012, the Companyrdecbwithin cost of product revenues a lower ot cosnarket charge of $78.0 million for excess
and obsolete INCIVEK inventories. This charge affdmet income (loss) attributable to Vertex pértdil share, net of tax, by $(0.36) for the
second quarter of 2012, resulting in a net losghattable to Vertex per diluted share in the secpuarter of 2012. See Note F, "Inventories,”
for further information.

(2)During the fourth quarter of 2012, the Company rded within cost of product revenues a lower ot wsnarket charge of $55.2 million for excess
and obsolete INCIVEK inventories. This charge resiiin a $0.25 increase in the net loss attribete&bMertex per diluted share for the fourth
quarter of 2012. See Note F, "Inventories," fotHar information.

(3)During the third quarter of 2011, the Company rdedran impairment charge of $105.8 million . Inmaction with this impairment charge, the

Company recorded a benefit from income taxes of #88llion resulting in a net decrease in net inecattributable to Vertex related to this
impairment charge of $73.1 million in the third giea of 2011.
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Exhibit 10.38
AMENDED AND RESTATED EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

This Second Amended and Restated Employment Agretetings “ Agreement) amends and restates, effect
as of the 15th day of November, 2012, that cedamended and Restated Employment Agreement madergaced
into as of the 3'day of February, 2010 (the “ Original Agreem®&nby and between Vertex Pharmaceuticals
Incorporated, a Massachusetts corporation (toge&thikrits successors and assigns, the “ Comparand Peter
Mueller (the “_Executivé).

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS, the Company is employing the ExecutivéhasCompany’s Executive Vice President, Drug
Innovation and Realization, and Chief ScientifidiCHr;

WHEREAS, the Company and the Executive desire artten@riginal Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises mwitual covenants contained herein and for otbec
and valuable consideration, the receipt of whichually is acknowledged, the Company and the Exeeygach
individually a “ Party’, and together the “ Parti€sagree as follows:

1. DEFINITIONS.
“ Base Salary shall mean the Executive’s base salary in acaurdavith Section 4 below.
“ Board” shall mean the Board of Directors of the Company.

“ Cause” shall mean (i) the Executive is convicted of are involving moral turpitude, (ii) the Executive
commits a material breach of any provision of #ggeement not involving the performance or nonp@ntnce of
duties, or (iii) the Executive, in carrying out tB&ecutive’s duties, acts or fails to act in a n&rthat is determined, in
the sole discretion of the Board, after writteniceobf any such act or failure to act and a reasienapportunity to cure
the deficiency has been provided to the Executvee (A) willful gross neglect or (B) willful gresmisconduct
resulting, in either case, in material harm to@uenpany unless such act, or failure to act, was\ed by the
Executive, in good faith, to be in the best intesyes the Company.

“ Change of Contrgl shall have the meaning set forth in the Chang€aritrol Agreement.

“ Change of Control Agreemehtshall mean the Second Amended and Restated Cludri@entrol letter
agreement between the Company and the Executieeeof date herewith.

“ Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 198G nasnded.

“ Common StocK shall mean the common stock of the Company.

“ Disability " or “ Disabled” shall mean a disability as determined under tbenffany’s long-term disability
plan or program in effect at the time the disapilitst occurs, or if no such
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plan or program exists at the time of disabilitert a “disability” as defined under Section 22(e¥XBthe Code.

“ Effective Date” shall mean November 15, 2012.

“ Good Reasori shall mean that, without the Executive’s conseng or more of the following events occurs:

() the Executive’s Base Salary is decreased grdash reduction is part of an across-the-boarggotionate
reduction in the salaries of the Company’s senianagement team; or

(i)  the office to which the Executive is assignedelocated to a place 35 or more miles awaysarth
relocation is not at the Executive’s request ohwlite Executive’s prior agreement (and other tham,
Executives assigned to the Company’s principal éxee offices, in connection with a change in lozat
of the Company’s principal executive offices).

provided that Good Reason shall not exist unledsuatil within 30 days after the event giving rieeGood Reason
under any of (i) through (ii) above has occurrée, Executive delivers a written termination noticéhe Company
stating that an event giving rise to Good Reas@lcaurred and identifying with reasonable deltel¢vent that the
Executive asserts constitutes Good Reason undesfgiythrough (ii) above and the Company failgeiuses to cure
or eliminate the event giving rise to Good Reasomwiowithin 30 days after receiving such notice.avoid doubt, the
termination of the Executive’s employment would dree effective at the close of business on theettirday after the
Company receives the Executive’s termination noticéess the Company cures or eliminates the egieimg rise to
Good Reason prior to such time.

“ Severance Paymehshall mean an amount equal to the sum of the Badary in effect on the date of
termination of Executive’s employment, plus the amiaf the Target Bonus for the Executive for tleatyin which the
Executive’s employment is terminated; provided, beer, that if the Executive terminates the Exe&iemployment
for Good Reason based on a reduction in Base S#hany the Base Salary to be used in calculatiag#verance
Payment shall be the Base Salary in effect immelgigtrior to such reduction in Base Salary.

“ Target Bonus shall mean the target cash bonus for which theckive is eligible on an annual basis, at a
level consistent with the Executive’s title andp@ssibilities, under the Company’s bonus prograemtim effect and
applicable to the Company’s senior executives gdlyer

2. TERM OF EMPLOYMENT.

The Company hereby employs the Executive, and Xeeive hereby accepts such employment, continuing
until termination in accordance with the termsto$ tAgreement. The period during which the Exeautsremployed
hereunder is referred to in this Agreement as tteert of employment.




3. POSITION.

As of the Effective Date, the Executive is emplogsdhe Company’s Executive Vice President, Drug
Innovation and Realization, and Chief ScientifidiCHr.

4. BASE SALARY.

The Executives annualized Base Salary as of the date of thisékgent is $601,000, payable in accordance
the regular payroll practices of the Company. ThedBSalary shall be reviewed no less frequently émaually, and
any changes thereto (which shall thereafter be dddhe Executive’s Base Salary) shall be solelpiwithe discretion
of the Board.

5. TARGET BONUS PROGRAM.

During the term of employment, the Executive shalkligible to participate in the Company’s Tar§ehus
program (and other cash incentive compensationranag) applicable to the Company’s senior executi@gsny such
programs are established and modified from tintérie by the Board in its sole discretion, and inadance with the
terms of such program.

6. INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PROGRAMS.

During the term of employment, the Executive shalkligible to participate in the Company’s inceati
compensation programs applicable to the Compamyigs executives, as such programs may be estatleshnd
modified from time to time by the Board in its saliscretion.

7. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PROGRAMS.

During the term of employment, the Executive shalkentitled to participate in all employee welfarel pensio
benefit plans, programs and/or arrangements offeydie Company to its senior executives, as slarfspprograms
and arrangements may be amended from time to tortke same extent and on the same terms applitabtber
senior executives. Nothing in this section shadighwude the Company from amending or terminatingatnis employe:
benefit plans, programs or arrangements.

8. VACATION.

During the term of employment, the Executive shalkentitled to paid vacation days each calendarigea
accordance with the Company’s vacation policy timegffect.

9. TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT.

(a) Termination in Connection with a Change of Control. To the extent the Executive is entitled, in
connection with the Executive’s termination of eoywhent, to severance or other benefits under tra@dn of Control
Agreement, the Executive shall not be entitledaiwesponding benefits under this Section 9.

(b) Termination by the Company for Cause; or Terminatian by the Executive without Good Reasorif the
Company terminates the Executive’s employment fmuse, or if




the Executive voluntarily terminates the Executveinployment, other than for Good Reason, deathsability, the
term of employment shall end as of the date spetiielow, and the Executive shall be entitled &ftilowing:

() Base Salary earned by Executive but not gaidugh the date of termination of Executive’s ergplent
under this Section 9(b); and

(i) any amounts earned, accrued or owing to the Exexhbtit not yet paid under Sections 5, 6, or 7 al

Termination by Company for Cause shall be effecéis®f the date noticed by the Company. Voluntary
termination by Executive other than for Good Reasl@ath or Disability shall be effective upon 9§sigrior written
notice to the Company and shall not be deemedachref this Agreement.

(c) Termination by the Company Without Cause; or Termination by the Executive for Good Reasorlf the
Executive's employment is terminated by the Compaitlyout Cause (other than due to death or Didgpilor is
terminated by the Executive for Good Reason (imeamce with the notice and cure provisions sehfiorthe
definition of “Good Reason” above), the Executihalsbe entitled to the following (provided thatitkvrespect to (iii)
and (v) such amounts shall be subject to and ihange for a general release of all claims agdmesCompany, its
subsidiaries, and their officers, directors, aganits representatives, which is executed by Exeeatnd becomes
enforceable and non-revocable within 60 days ofitite of termination):

() Base Salary earned by Executive but not pgaidugh the date of termination of Executive’s ergpient
under this Section 9(c);

(i) all incentive compensation awards earned kgdttive but not paid prior to the date of termimaiof
Executive’s employment under this Section 9(c);

(i) a cash payment to the Executive in an amaautal to the Severance Payment, payable withidaga
after the execution of a general release and diqiravithout revocation, of any applicable reveoat
periods under the general release, provided thiei60-day period during which the release isireguo
become effective and irrevocable begins in onencleleyear and ends in another calendar year, the
Severance Payment shall not be made before thelfiysof the second calendar year;

(iv) any amounts earned, accrued or owing to the Exexhtit not yet paid under Sections 5, 6 or 7 at

(v) if COBRA coverage is elected by the Executite, Company shall pay the cost of insurance coation
premiums on the Executive’s behalf (whether oramtered by COBRA) to continue standard medical,
dental and life insurance coverage for the Exeeuiiv the cash equivalent of same in the event the
Executive is ineligible for continued coverage)ilthie earlier of:

(A) the date 12 months after the date the Exeelgti@mployment is terminated,;
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(B) the date, or dates, on which the Executiveires equivalent coverage and benefits under toespl
programs and/or arrangements of a subsequent eengkych coverage and benefits to be
determined on a coverage-by-coverage or benefiidngefit basis).

If Executive is a “specified employee” under Sec#®9A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code, any payment of
“nonqualified deferred compensation” (as definedamSection 409A of the Code and related guidaatteputable to
a “separation from service” (as defined under $eci09A of the Code and related guidance) shaltaotmence until
the first full business day that is more than 6 therafter the applicable separation from servidedferred Payment
Date”). Any payments that would otherwise have beenertagtween the separation from service and the efer
Payment Date, but for this paragraph, shall be maddump sum on the Deferred Payment Date. Paigribat, in any
case, are scheduled to be made after the Defeaygddnht Date shall continue according to the apiplecpayment
schedule. To the extent that the termination offkecutive’s employment does not constitute a sdjoar of service
under Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(i) of the Code (asttbsult of further services that reasonably arecapdted to be
provided by the Executive to the Company at thetihe Executive’s employment is terminated), thgngent of any
nonqualified deferred compensation will be furttetayed until the date that is the first full biesa day that is more
than 6 months after the date of a subsequent ewvastituting a separation of service under Secti@®A(a)(2)(A)(i) of
the Code.

10. ASSIGNABILITY; BINDING NATURE.

This Agreement shall be binding upon and inurd&lienefit of the Parties and their respectiveessmrs, hei
(in the case of the Executive) and assigns. Ndsighobligations of the Company under this Agreeimeay be
assigned or transferred by the Company excepstiwt rights or obligations may be assigned or tearesd pursuant to
a merger or consolidation in which the Companyoisthe continuing entity, or the sale or liquidatiof all or
substantially all of the assets of the Companyviged, however, that the assignee or transferee is the succtsatir
or substantially all of the assets of the Compary such assignee or transferee assumes the iefitibligations and
duties of the Company, as contained in this Agregnether contractually or as a matter of law.

11. REPRESENTATIONS.

The Company represents and warrants that it ig &wlthorized and empowered to enter into this Agesd, an
that the performance of its obligations under &gseement will not violate any agreement betweemnd any other
person, firm or organization. The Executive repnésand warrants that no agreement exists betwieeard any other
person, firm or organization that would be violabsdthe performance of the Executive’s obligatiander this
Agreement.

12. INDEMNIFICATION; INSURANCE.

The Executive shall at all times be indemnified afigible for advancement of expenses on the saasis s is
provided for the Company’s other executive officansl in accordance




with the provisions of the Company’s charter andaws then in effect. The Executive shall also beeted under all
of the Company’s policies of liability insurance intained for the benefit of its directors and odfis on the same basis
as is provided for its other executive officers.

13. ENTIRE AGREEMENT; TERMINATION.

This Agreement, the agreements referenced heminth@® Employee Non-Disclosure, Non-Competition &
Inventions Agreement between the Executive ancCtirapany, contain the entire understanding and aggee
between the Parties concerning the subject matteohand supersedes all prior agreements, unddmstgs,
discussions, negotiations and undertakings, wheth&en or oral, between the Parties with respleeteto. Subject to
the terms of this Agreement, the Company shalliiéled to terminate the Executie&mployment at any time, subj
to the provisions of Section 9(b) of this Agreemeamid the Executive may terminate the Execusiwehployment by tf
Company, at any time, in each case by written egitovided in accordance with Section 20 of thise®gnent.

14. AMENDMENT OR WAIVER.

No provision in this Agreement may be amended gndesh amendment is agreed to in writing and sidgpyed
the Executive and an authorized officer of the Canyp provided that the Company may, without thedtkige’s
consent, unilaterally adopt amendments that magdpaired so that this Agreement continues to comytlly applicable
law or regulations, including without limitation &®n 409A of the Code, provided such amendmentsad@dversely
affect the benefits to the Executive under thise®gnent. No waiver by either Party of any breackhlkyother Party of
any condition or provision contained in this Agresrnto be performed by such other Party shall leengel a waiver of
a similar or dissimilar condition or provision aetsame or any prior or subsequent time. Any waiugst be in writing
and signed by the Executive or an authorized affad€ehe Company, as the case may be.

15. SEVERABILITY.

If any provision or portion of this Agreement shadl determined to be invalid or unenforceable for @ason,
in whole or in part, the remaining provisions astAgreement shall be unaffected thereby and seadkin in full force
and effect to the fullest extent permitted by law.

16. SURVIVORSHIP.

The respective rights and obligations of the Psuttiereunder shall survive any termination of thedtxive’s
employment to the extent necessary to the intepdeskervation of such rights and obligations.

17. BENEFICIARIES/REFERENCES.

The Executive shall be entitled, to the extent peech under any applicable law, to select and chang
beneficiary or beneficiaries to receive any compéos or benefit payable hereunder following theé&ixive’'s death
by giving the Company written notice thereof. le #twvent of the Executive’s death or a judicial dateation of the
Executive’s incompetence,




reference in this Agreement to the Executive dimalleemed, where appropriate, to refer to the Exectsi beneficiary,
estate or other legal representative.

18. GOVERNING LAW/JURISDICTION.

This Agreement shall be governed by and constroddraerpreted in accordance with the laws of The
Commonwealth of Massachusetts without referenqeiteiples of conflict of laws.

19. RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES.

Any disputes arising under or in connection witis thgreement may, at the election of the Executivéhe
Company, be resolved by binding arbitration, tdblel in Massachusetts in accordance with the RarldsProcedures
of the American Arbitration Association. If arbiti@n is elected, the Executive and the Companyl smatually select
the arbitrator. If the Executive and the Companynca agree on the selection of an arbitrator, &ty shall select an
arbitrator and the two arbitrators shall seledtialtarbitrator, and the three arbitrators shathf@n arbitration panel
that shall resolve the dispute by majority votelgluent upon the award rendered by the arbitratartwtrators may be
entered in any court having jurisdiction thereads@ of the arbitrator or arbitrators and otherilsintosts in connectic
with an arbitration shall be shared equally byPlagties; all other costs, such as attorneys’ feasred by each Party,
shall be borne by the Party incurring such costs.

20. NOTICES.

All notices that are required or permitted hereursdtall be in writing and sufficient if delivere@nsonally, sent
by facsimile (and promptly confirmed by persondivday, registered or certified mail or overniglttuzier), sent by
nationally-recognized overnight courier or sentégistered or certified mail, postage prepaid, esisked as follows:

If to the Company: Vertex Pharmaceuticals Inooajped
130 Waverly Street
Cambridge, MA 02139-4242
Attn: Chief Executive Officer
with copies to:
the General Counsel
If to the Executive: at the Executive’s homeradd listed in the Company records.

Any such notice shall be deemed to have been g{@egnvhen delivered if personally delivered or dant
facsimile on a business day; (b) on the businegafiar dispatch if sent by nationally-recognizegmight courier;
and/or (c) on the fifth business day following ttee of mailing if sent by mail.




21. HEADINGS.

The headings of the sections contained in this &gt are for convenience only and shall not bendédeo
control or affect the meaning or construction of anovision of this Agreement.

22. COUNTERPARTS.
This Agreement may be executed in two or more @rpatts.
23. SECTION 409A COMPLIANCE.

It is the intention of the Company and the Exeauthat this Agreement and the payments providetddogin
meet the requirements of Section 409A of the Ctalthe extent applicable to this Agreement and gagments. The
Company and the Executive agree to cooperate id fgoth in preparing and executing, at such timsuwdfcient
guidance is available under Section 409A and friome to time thereafter, such amendments to thigéapent, if any,
as the Executive may reasonably request solelthéopurpose of assuring that this Agreement angalyenents
provided hereunder meet the requirements of Sedf@A. Nothing in this Section 23 shall require @@mpany to
increase the Executive’s compensation or make xieeuive whole for any requested changes.

24. TAX WITHHOLDING; NO GUARANTEE OF ANY TAX CONSEQENCES.

All payments hereunder shall be subject to alligpple withholding for any federal, state or locelome taxes
including any excise taxes under the Code. Notwatiding any other provision of this Agreement te tontrary or
other representation, the Company does not in ayyguarantee the tax consequences of any paymeahygrensatio
under this Agreement including, without limitatiamder Section 409A of the Code.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have execuisdAgreement as of the date first written above.

Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated

[sl Jeffrey M. Leiden
Jeffrey M. Leiden, President, Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

Executive

/sl Peter Mueller
Peter Mueller
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Exhibit 10.39

November 15, 2012

Dr. Peter Mueller
45 Algonquian Drive
Natick, MA 0176C

RE: Second Amended and Restated Change of @ &wireement

Dear Peter:

Your expertise, reputation and position make yokeg member of the senior management team of Vdptermaceutica
Incorporated (the “ Compariy. As a result, the Company would like to provigu with the following “change of controtienefi
to help ensure that in the event the Company besamwlved in a “change of controtfansaction, there will be no distract
from your attention to the needs of the Companyis Becond Amended and Restated Change of Contraeftent (this “
Agreement’) amends and restates, effective as of the dateewrg@bove, that certain Amended and Restated Clangentro
Agreement made and entered into as of thddy of February 2010, by and between you and timepaay.

l. Definitions. For the purposes of this Agreement, capitalieeohs shall have the following meani

1. “Base Salary”shall mean your annual base salary in effect imatelyi prior to a Change of Control (as such ter
defined in Section 1.3 below).

2. “Caus€ shall mear
(a) your conviction of a felony crime of moral turpite

(b) your willful refusal or failure to follow a lawfullirective or instruction of the Compé's Board of Directors
the individual(s) to whom you report, providéat you receive prior written notice of the direefs) o
instruction(s) that you failed to follow, and prdedfurther that the Company, in good faith, gives you tt
(30) days to correct any problems and furihr@videdif you correct the problem(s) you may not be teatsc
for Cause in that instance;

(©) in carrying out your duties you commit (i) willfgross negligence, or (ii) willful gross misconduessulting it
either case in material harm to the Company, urdash act, or failure to act, was believed by yougdoc
faith, to be in the best interests of the Company;

(d) your violation of the Compar's policies made known to you regarding confideityiakecurities trading ¢
inside information.
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3.

“ Change of Contrdl shall mean the

(@)

(b)

any “person” or “groupés such terms are used in Sections 13(d) and 23(af)(he Securities Exchange .
of 1934 (the “ Act’), becomes a beneficial owner, as such term isl usdkule 13d3 promulgated under t
Act, of securities of the Company representing nibaa fifty percent (50%) of the combined votingyaw of
the outstanding securities of the Company, as #se enay be, having the right to vote in the electd
directors; or

all or substantially all the business or assetthefCompany are sold or disposed of, or the Comjoere
subsidiary of the Company combines with another gamy pursuant to a merger, consolidation, or
similar transaction, otheéhan(i) a transaction solely for the purpose of reiparating the Company or one
its subsidiaries in a different jurisdiction or aitalizing or reclassifying the Compansystock; or (ii) a merg
or consolidation in which the shareholders of tleen@any immediately prior to such merger or consoicr
continue to own at least a majority of the outstagd/oting securities of the Company or the sungventity
immediately after the merger or consolidation.

“ Disability ” shall mean a disability as determined under tben@any's longerm disability plan or program in eff
at the time the disability first occurs, or if nach plan or program exists at the time of disahilihen a “disability”as
defined under Internal Revenue Code Section 22(e)(3

“ Good Reasoi shall mean that within ninety (90) days prior t&€lange of Control, or within twelve (12) mor
after a Change of Control, one of the following mgeoccurs without your consent:

(@)

(b)

(©)
(d)

(e)

You are assigned to material duties or responsdslithat are inconsistent, in any significant egspwith the
scope of duties and responsibilities associateld yatir position and office immediately prior to tGbange ¢
Control (_providedhat such reassignment of duties or responsitsilisenot for Cause, due to your Disab
or at your request);

You suffer a material reduction in the authoritiésties, or job title and responsibilities assamdatvith you
position and office immediately prior to the CharggeControl, on the basis of which you make a géaith
determination that you can no longer carry out yoasition or office in the manner contemplated befie
Change of Control (_providetiat such reduction in the authorities, dutiegpbrtitle and responsibilities is r
for Cause, due to your Disability or at your redyes

your annual base salary is decreased below the &xaey
the principal offices of the Company, or the locatof the office to which you are assigned at thee tthis
Agreement is entered into, is relocated to a plhaicty-five (35) or more miles away, without your agreefy

or

following a Change of Control, the Companyiseessor fails to assume the Compamghts and obligatiol
under this Agreement;




Dr. Peter Mueller
November 15, 201
Page 3 of 3

provided that Good Reason shall not exist unlegsuamil within 30 days after the event giving rieeGood Reasc
under any of (a) through (e) above has occurred dgbiver a written termination notice to the Compatating that ¢
event giving rise to Good Reason has occurred dadtifying with reasonable detail the event thati yasse
constitutes Good Reason under any of (a) throughi{eve and the Company fails or refuses to cumionnate th
event giving rise to Good Reason on or within 3@sdafter receiving your notice. To avoid doubt, tlemination ¢
your employment would become effective at the clafsleusiness on the thirtieth day after the Compaagives yot
termination notice, unless the Company cures arieéites the event giving rise to Good Reason poiguch time.

6. “Termination Daté shall mean the last day of your employment withGloenpany

Il. Severance Benefits upon Change of Contifol

(A) your employment is terminated by the Company (ekdep termination for Cause or due t
Disability) and the Termination Date is within 9@y$ prior to a Change of Control or within
months after a Change of Control; or

(B) you, of your own initiative, (i) terminate your etapment for Good Reason (in accordance witt
notice and cure provisions set forth in Sectiorabbve) and (ii) the event giving rise to Good Re
occurs within 90 days prior to a Change of Contralvithin 12 months after a Change of Control;

then, you shall receive the following benefits:

1. Severance Paymentn exchange for your execution within 60 dayshaf Termination Date of a general releas
a form satisfactory to the Company, of all clainggiast the Company, its subsidiaries, and its aed Dfficers
directors and representatives, that becomes emfolee@and irrevocable within such @@y period, the Compa
shall make a cash payment (the “ Severance Payinenyou in an amount equal to:

(a) your annual base salary (provided, however, thabuf terminate your employment for Good Reasond
on a reduction in your annual base salary, thenatveual base salary to be usel
calculating the Severance Payment shall be younanase salary in effect immedial
prior to such reduction in annual base salary) plasr target bonus under any bo
program applicable to you for the year in which Teemination Date occurs; plus

(b) a pro rata portion of your target bonus for thetiparof the year in which the Termination Date as
under any bonus program applicable to you; plus

(© all cash incentive compensation awards earned bybyb not paid prior to the Termination Date; pom=c
that, if a fiscal year has been completed andrtbentive award for such fiscal year has
been determined, the incentive compensation fan sompleted fiscal year shall equal
target bonus for such fiscal year.
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2.

Except with respect to any portion of the SeveraPagment that is delayed as set forth in this papy th
Severance Payment shall be made in cash withidags after the execution by you of the generabsdaeferre
to above and expiration without revocation of applaable revocation periods under such generekbssd (or,

the Change of Control resulting in your becominditid to such benefits occurs after such execuaok
expiration, within ten days after the Change of @aj provided that, if the 6@ay period during which the gene
release is required to become effective and irr@blecbegins in one calendar year and ends in anotttends
year, the Severance Payment shall not be madeebtferfirst day of the second calendar year. Thesigac
Payment shall be divided into two portions, cotrsisbf a portion that does not constitutehqualified deferre
compensation”within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code angortion, if any, that does constit
nonqualified deferred compensation. If you areetsfied employeeéas defined in Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of
Code, the commencement of the delivery of any qaghments that constitute nonqualified deferred camsptiol
payable upon a “separation from servicgider Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(i) of the Code will delayed until the fir:
business day that is more than six months after Yetmination Date. The determination of whethad the exter
to which, any of the payments to be made to yoeuraer are nonqualified deferred compensation eathad
after the application of all applicable exclusiomgluding those set forth under Treasury Reg.&9A-1(b)(9)
Any payments that are intended to qualify for tlkel@sion for separation pay due to involuntary safyan fron
service set forth in Reg. 81.4094b)(9)(iii) must be paid no later than the lasy ad the second taxable y:
following the taxable year in which the Terminati@ate occurs. To the extent that the terminationya
employment does not constitute a separation ofgennder Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(i) of the Code flas result ¢
further services that are reasonably anticipatduktprovided by you to the Company at the time y@uploymer
is terminated), the payment of any nmpmalified deferred compensation will be furtherageld until the fire
business day that is more than six months afted#te of a subsequent event constituting a separafi servic
under Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(i) of the Code.

Accelerated Vesting.

(@) On the Termination Date, stock options for plbechase of the Comparsysecurities held by you as of
Termination Date and not then exercisable shallédiately become exercisable in full. The optior
which this accelerated vesting applies shall rereagrcisable until the earlier of (a) the end &f 80-
day period immediately following the later of (f)et Termination Date or (ii) the date of the Chaat
Control and (b) the date the stock option(s) wantlterwise expire; and

(b) On the Termination Date, the Companiapsing repurchase right with respect to shafesstricted stoc
held by you shall lapse in full (subject to yourkimg satisfactory arrangements with the Com
providing for the payment to the Company of alluieed withholding taxes).

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in thisr&gment, the terms of any option agreement oricestrstoc!
agreement shall govern the acceleration, if anyyesfting or lapsing of the Compasytepurchase rights &
period of exercisability of such awards, as applieaexcept to the extent that the terms of thre@ment are mo
favorable to you.
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3. Continued Insurance Coverag#f COBRA coverage is elected by you, the Compstmgll pay the cost of insurar
continuation premiums on your behalf (whether or cavered by COBRA) to continue standard medicahta
and life insurance coverage for you (or the cashvetent of same if you are ineligible for continueoverage) fc
a period of 18 months from the Termination Date.

4, No Mitigation. You shall not be required to mitigate the amounth&f Severance Payment or any other be
provided under this Agreement by seeking other eynpent or otherwise, nor shall the amount of anympent o
benefit provided for in this Agreement be reducgdainy compensation earned by you as the resulttlge
employment, by retirement benefits, or be offsetiagf any amount claimed to be owed by you to the@any o
otherwise; provided, that if the Company makes atimer severance payments to you under any othgrgroo
agreement, such amounts shall be offset againgtaiments the Company is obligated to make purstatitis
Agreement.

1. Miscellaneou:s.

1. Employe’s Obligations. Upon the termination of employment, you shallrpptly deliver to the Company
property of the Company and all material documesitgjstics, account records, programs and othgtagitangible
items which may by in your possession or under yauntrol and which relate in a material way to Bhsiness ¢
affairs of the Company or its subsidiaries, andopies of any such documents or any part thereaf sl retaine
by you.

2. Entire Agreemer. This Agreement and theEmployee Non-Disclosure, N@empetition & Inventions Agreem
" previously executed by you covers the entire urdeding of the parties as to the subject matteedf
superseding all prior understandings and agreemelat®d hereto. No modification or amendment eftdrms an
conditions of this Agreement shall be effectiveassl in writing and signed by the parties or theapective dul
authorized agents, provided, however, that the Gompnay, without your consent, unilaterally adapeadment
that may be required so that this Agreement coatinid comply with applicable law or regulation, lirding
without limitation Section 409A of the Code, prositisuch amendments do not adversely affect thefitsetoebe
provided to you under Section Il of this Agreement.

3. Governing Law This Agreement shall be governed by the lawsh&f Tommonwealth of Massachusetts, as af
to contracts entered into and performed entireMassachusetts by Massachusetts residents.

4, Successors and Assign$his Agreement may be assigned by the Companyg apgale, transfer or reorganiza
of the Company. Upon a Change of Control, the Camshall require the successor to assume the Coripa
rights and obligations under this Agreement. Then@any's failure to do so shall constitute a material bheal
this Agreement. This Agreement shall be bindingrupad inure to the benefit of the parties heretd #reil
successors, permitted assigns, legal represergati heirs.

113459.4




Dr. Peter Mueller
November 15, 201
Page 6 of 6

Kindly indicate your acceptance of the foregoingdigning and dating this Agreement as noted bebowd, returning one ful
executed original to my attention.

Very truly yours,

Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated

By: __/s/ Jeffrey M. Leiden

Jeffrey M
Leiden, M.D., Ph.D.

President, Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

ACCEPTED AND AGREED:

/sl Peter Mueller
Peter Mueller

12/07/12
Date
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Exhibit 10.44
SEPARATION AGREEMENT & GENERAL RELEASE

THIS SEPARATION AGREEMENT & GENERAL RELEASE (“ Agreement”) is made and entered into by
betweenDAVID T. “TY” HOWTON (* Employee”) and VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED (the *
Company’) as of the Effective Date (as such term is defiimeSection 1below).

WHEREAS, Employee and the Company executed an Employmergehgent dated the 2&day of January, 2012 (t
“Employment Agreement”).

WHEREAS, Employee is entitled to a Severance Payment aret ptistemployment benefits if he signs a general re
of all claims against the Company, its subsidia@esl their officers, directors, agents and repredees.

WHEREAS, the Company wishes to provide Employee with cergalditional transition pay in exchange for Emplc
signing and returning this Agreement as provide8euotion 12 below.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises, represems, warranties and covenants conta
herein and other good and valuable consideratiavhioh Employee agrees Employee is not otherwisileh it is hereby agre
by and between the parties hereto as follows:

1. SEPARATION OF EMPLOYMENT & TRANSITION PAY. Employee is hereby notified that his employment
been terminated by the Company without cause, tefeeas of Friday, November 2, 2012 (the * Separaate”), and Employe
shall thereafter cease to be an employee or oftiténe Company for all purposes. In accordancé Einployees Employmer
Agreement, if Employee signs this Agreement afg@domes effective as set forth in Section 12 belowxchange for the gene
release and the other terms set forth herein, tmep@any will provide Employee with:

(&) aseverance payment of $412,000.12;
(b) apayment of $144,200.04 representing Emplayeeget bonus for 2012; and
(c) asupplemental transition payment of $305,0m0.0

The payments set forth in this Section 1 shall igjext to voluntarily authorized and legally re@girpayroll deductions a
withholdings, and shall be payable in a lump sunoptefore the Comparg/first regular pay date immediately following
Effective Date of this Agreement.

2. MEDICAL INSURANCE. To the extent permitted by the federal COBRA law Ay the Company current group medic
insurance policies, and provided that COBRA is prhpelected, Employee will be eligible for contetl participation in tt
Companys group medical insurance plan(s), to the exteaaitghch coverage is extended to current employethe dCompany.
Employee signs this Agreement and it becomes éffe@s set forth in Section 12 below, and if Empyproperly elec
continued participation in the Compasygroup medical insurance plan(s), the Company pdil the entire premium for st
coverage until the earlier of: (a) the date twglt®) months following the Separation Date, or (i tlate, or dates, on wh
Employee receives equivalent coverage and benafdsr the plans, programs and/or arrangementsobsequent employer.
the end of the applicable period, and pursuanheagprovisions of COBRA, Employee will have the tighh continue Employee’
participation, at
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Employee’s own cost. The Compasyayment of the premium does not extend the leaigthe COBRA continuation period.
notice of Employee’s COBRA rights will be providadder separate cover.

3. ACCRUED SALARY & PAID VACATION. On the Separation Date, the Company will pay Emgxogll accrued sale
and all accrued and unused vacation, less staraghgoiicable payroll deductions and withholdings. Baype is entitled to the
payments irrespective of whether Employee sigrsAlgreement. If Employee has taken days of vacataryet earned, then |
dollar value of that vacation will be deducted fre&mmployees transition pay. If the transition pay does nateed the value of tl
unearned vacation, or if this Agreement does noobime a binding legal agreement between the paBEieployee will be require
to reimburse the Company for the unearned vacatiaccordance with applicable law.

4. EQUITY . Employee’s equity granted pursuant to the Comisab996 and 2006 Stock & Option Plan (the “ StotknP)
will vest in accordance with the appropriate stptdn and Employes’equity agreement with the Company. The Compatiti
provide Employee with a summary of Employee’s gquiformation under separate cover.

5. OTHER BENEFITS OR COMPENSATION. The terms of this agreement shall not modify thiengeof the Amended &
Restated Change of Control Agreemedtted January 26, 2012, previously entered intathy between Employee and
Company. Employee’ participation in all Company benefit plans wékminate as of the Separation Date, except as &y
provided herein. Employee represents and warrhatsEmployee has received all leave (paid or unpammpensation, wag
bonuses, commissions, and/or benefits to which Byegl may be entitled and that no other leave (paithpaid), compensatic
wages, bonuses, commissions and/or benefits aréoddmployee, except as provided in this AgreemEntployee also affirn
that Employee has no known workplace injuries aupational diseases. The benefits provided herewardenot intended to a
do not constitute a severance plan.

6. RETURN OF COMPANY PROPERTY; EXPENSE REIMBURSEMENT . Employee represents that on or before
Separation Date, all Company documents (and allesofhereof) and other Company property and mdagenma Employees
possession or control, including, but not limitegd €Company files, notes, memoranda, corresponddist®, drawings, recorc
plans and forecasts, computecorded information, tangible property, equipmengdit cards, entry cards, identification bac
and keys, and any materials of any kind which darta embody any proprietary or confidential infation of the Company (a
all reproductions thereof) have been returned ¢oGbmpany. Employee further represents that orefaré the Separation De
Employee has submitted a final documented exparistbursement statement reflecting all businessresgeeEmployee incurr
through the Separation Date, if any, for which Emgpe seeks reimbursement. Employee will not belemtio reimbursement f
any expenses incurred by Employee after the Sepafaate.

7. PROPRIETARY INFORMATION OBLIGATIONS . Nothing herein shall impair Employsetovenants and obligatic
set forth in the ‘Employee Non-Disclosure, Non-Competition & Invemidgreemerit (the “ Inventions Agreemeri) previously
executed by Employee, a copy of which is attactexdtb as Exhibit Aand is incorporated herein by reference, and Eneglaha
otherwise abide by all common law and/or statutolpligations relating to protection and non-disclesof Companys trad
secrets and/or confidential and proprietary documand information.

8. CONFIDENTIALITY. The provisions of this Agreement shall be held bypbyee in strictest confidence, and shall nc
publicized or disclosed in any manner whatsoepryided, howevethat Employee may disclose this Agreement, in clanfce
to: (a) Employee’s immediate family; (b) Employee’s
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attorneys, accountants, auditors, tax prepareis financial advisors; and (c) as required in cotinacwith legal process or
response to a valid request for information bygulatory body.

9. COOPERATION . Employee shall provide the Company with assigaegarding any claim or dispute, whether threa
or actual, against the Company by any third partgiragy out of services provided by Employee, in aapacity, during h
employment at the Company, which assistance shalude, but not be limited to, providing consultati responding
interrogatories, appearing at depositions andfyai in any investigation, settlement proceedimditigation proceeding. Und
no circumstances shall Employee charge the Compargny insurer of the Company for such assistapoaeyided that th
Company shall reimburse Employee for all reasonabteofpocket expenses, including travel expenses, induryeEmploye
when providing such assistance. Such out-of-poekeenses do not include attorneyesés, should Employee retain sepe
counsel.

10. NON-DISPARAGEMENT . Employee shall not make or publish, directly mdirectly, any oral or written statements
comments with respect to the Company, its paraifdiates and subsidiaries, and their officergediors, agents, employe
attorneys, shareholders, successors and assigrasehaitical, derogatory, or which may tend tjuiie their business or reputatis

11. EMPLOYEE'S RELEASE OF CLAIMS . Employee hereby releases, acquits and forevehaliges the Company,
parents and subsidiaries, and their officers, thrs¢ agents, servants, employees, attorneys, lssldegs, successors, assigns
affiliates (collectively, the “ Release&s of and from any and all claims, liabilities, demandauses of action, costs, exper
attorneys fees, damages, indemnities and obligatbrevery kind and nature, in law, equity, or otvise, known and unknow
suspected and unsuspected, disclosed and undidcioggng out of or in any way related to agreetsieevents, acts or conduc
any time prior to and including the execution date¢his Agreement, including but not limited tol alich claims and demar
directly or indirectly arising out of or in any wapnnected with Employeg’employment with the Company or the terminatic
that employment; all claims or demands relatedalarg, bonuses, commissions, stock, stock optiongny other ownerst
interests in the Company, vacation pay, fringe bemeexpense reimbursements, severance pay, or aingr form o
compensation; all claims pursuant to any fedetate<or local law, statute or cause of action idicig, but not limited to, the A
Discrimination in Employment Act, as amended; thél@ights Act of 1964, as amended; the Americaith Disabilities Act o
1990; the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notifica Act of 1988, as amended; the Employee Retirdrimecome Security A
of 1974, as amended; the Family and Medical Leasteaf 1993, as amended; the Massachusetts Fairdgmpht Practices A
Civil Rights Act, Equal Pay Act, Maternity Leave tArivacy Statute, Consumer Protection Act, ahddaode; tort law; contre
law; wrongful discharge; discrimination; harassmérmud; defamation; emotional distress; and brezdhe implied covenant
good faith and fair dealing; and all claims thaghtibe made by any other person or organizatiofmployees behalf (an
Employee specifically waives any right to recovamaége awards in any case in which a claim is mgdanbther person
organization on Employegbehalf). Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothinghis Agreement shall bar or prohibit Employean
contacting, seeking assistance from or particigaiimany proceeding before any federal or stateigidtrative agency to tl
extent permitted by applicable federal, state antbloal law (but Employee acknowledges that Empéoyeay not be able
recover any monetary benefits in connection wit such participation or proceeding), nor shall amg in this paragraph bar
prohibit Employee from enforcing Employee’s riglotsthe Companyg obligations under this Agreement. This Agreemsmo
intended to, and does not govern, any claims tanat be release by private agreement.

12. ADEA WAIVER; EFFECTIVE DATE OF AGREEMENT. Employee acknowledges that Employee knowingly
voluntarily waives and releases any rights Emplayeg have under the Age
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Discrimination in Employment Act, as amended (“ADEAEmMployee acknowledges that the consideration dioethe release
this Agreement is in addition to anything of vateewhich Employee was already entitled. Employegh&r acknowledges tt
Employee has been advised by this writing thatEg@ployees waiver and release do not apply to any rightslams that ma
arise after the execution date of this AgreemdsjtEmployee should consult with an attorney primekecuting this Agreeme
(c) Employee has twentyene (21) days from the date that Employee receivékis Agreement to accept the terms of th
Agreement (although Employee may choose to voluntarily exedhts Agreement earlier) by signing below and méhg it tc
Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated, c/o Lisa K€ltpswell, Sr. Vice President, Human Resources, \Bdverly Stree
Cambridge, MA 02139; (d) if Employee thereafterigesto revoke acceptance of this Agreement, Engdayiust do so by noti
to Lisa Kelly-Croswell within seven (7) days following the exeoatof this Agreement; and (e) this Agreement shall be
effective until the date upon which the revocateniod has expired, which shall be the eighth der ¢his Agreement is execu
by Employee, and Employee has not revoked Emplsyaeceptance of this Agreement (the “ EffectiveeDptThe parties agrt
that any changes to the offer in this Agreementetivr material or not, do not restart the runnihghe 21lday period. Thi
Section applies to the extent permitted by law @amthe event any claim or charge is permittedadwy, [IEmployee expressly wai
Employee’s right to receive any relief, recoverg/an damages as a result of any such charge on.clai

13. COVENANTS . Employees breach of any of the covenants set forth inAlgiieement shall constitute a material breac
this Agreement and shall relieve the Company of famgher obligations hereunder. In addition to antiier legal or equitak
remedy available to the Company, the Company $leaéintitled to recover any monies paid to or orabfedf Employee pursua
to this Agreement and shall be entitled to enféheeterms of the non-compete provisions undernkiertions Agreement.

14. ENTIRE AGREEMENT; REPRESENTATIONS . This Agreement and all documents incorporateeihdry referenc
including all exhibits, constitute the completeyali and exclusive embodiment of the entire agreérhetween Employee a
Company with regard to the subject matter heré@upersedes any and all agreements entered irdapetween Employee ¢
Company where such other agreement may conflidt thits Agreement. It is entered into without reiaron any promise
representation, written or oral, other than thogeressly contained herein. It may not be modifigdept in a writing signed |
Employee and a duly authorized officer of the Conypd&mployee represents that Employee has carefedly this Agreemel
has been afforded the opportunity to be advisdtsaheaning and consequences by Emplayagbrney, and has signed the s
of Employee’s own free will.

15. NO LIABILITY OR WRONGDOING. The parties hereto agree and acknowledge that\tirisement is intended only
settle all matters between the parties and notbamgained in this Agreement, nor any of its termd provisions, nor any of t
negotiations or proceedings connected with it, tturies, will be construed to constitute, will biéesed in evidence as, receivel
evidence as and/or deemed to be evidence of arssidmiof liability or wrongdoing by any and/or afl the Releasees, and
such liability or wrongdoing is hereby expressiyigel by each of the Releasees.

16. MISCELLANEOUS . This Agreement shall bind the heirs, personatasgntatives, successors, assigns, executo
administrators of each party, and inure to the fiené each party, its heirs, successors and assighis Agreement shall
deemed to have been entered into and shall beraedsand enforced in accordance with the laws ef Gommonwealth
Massachusetts as applied to contracts made arelgerformed entirely within Massachusetts. If artoficompetent jurisdictic
determines that any term or provision of this Agneat is invalid or unenforceable, in whole or intpthen the remaining ter
and provisions hereof shall be unimpaired, the lidvar unenforceable term or provision shall be ified or replaced so as
render it valid and enforceable in a manner whagresents the parties’ intention with
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respect to the invalid or unenforceable term otvigion insofar as possible. This Agreement may lm®tmodified, altered
changed except upon express written consent glaaties wherein specific reference is made to Algigeement. This Agreeme
may be executed in two counterparts, each of wsiell be deemed an original, all of which togettaaill constitute one and
same instrument.

[SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW]
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SEPARATION AGREEMENT & GENERAL RELEASE

[SIGNATURE PAGE]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly authorized and caused thisekgent to be executed as follows:

VERTEX PHARMACEUTICALS INCORPORATED

By: /s/ Lisa KellyCroswell

Name:Lisa Kelly-Croswell

Title: Sr. Vice President, Human Resources

Date:__11/29/2012

EMPLOYEE ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT EMPLOYEE HASWENTY-ONE (21) CALENDAR DAYS T(
REVIEW THIS AGREEMENT AND GENERAL RELEASE, AND IS HREBY ADVISED TO CONSULT WITH Al
ATTORNEY PRIOR TO EXECUTION OF THIS AGREEMENT ANDENERAL RELEASE.

EMPLOYEE FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT EMPIXXE HAS CAREFULLY READ THIS
AGREEMENT AND GENERAL RELEASE IN ITS ENTIRETY, FULY. UNDERSTANDS THE SIGNIFICANCE OF ALL O
ITS TERMS AND PROVISIONS, AND AGREES TO FULFILL THEROMISES AND RECEIVE THE CONSIDERATIC
ABOVE.

ACCORDINGLY, EMPLOYEE ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAEMPLOYEE IS EXECUTING THIS AGREEMEN
AND GENERAL RELEASE FREELY, KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARLY, AND AFTER DUE CONSIDERATION
INTENDING TO WAIVE, SETTLE AND RELEASE ALL CLAIMS BMPLOYEE HAS OR MIGHT HAVE AGAINST THE
RELEASEES, INCLUDING ANY AND ALL CLAIMS UNDER THE AGE DISCRIMINATION IN EMPLOYMENT ACT.

EMPLOYEE

/s/ David T. Howton

Date: 11/29/2012

Date Separation Agreement & General Release Delivier Employee: November 7, 2012
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Exhibit 10.46
Vertex Employee Compensation Plan

On an annual basis in the first quarter of theafigear the Management Development and Compensatommittee of our Board of Directors adopts an
employee compensation plan for our officers anéogmployees, including our named executive officergether with performance goals for that figeslr.
The plan addresses three components of employepetmation—base salary, performance bonuses whicé as short-term incentives and equity grants
which serve as long-term incentives—that are design motivate, reward and retain employees byalggcompensation with the achievement of strategic
corporate goals.

Upon completion of each performance period (usualtalendar year), our Board of Directors assigpsréormance rating on the basis of achievement o
goals for the company set by the Board, in congattavith our chief executive officer, early in tperformance period. The amount available for payroé
performance bonuses is established on the ba#lissgferformance rating, and is allocated to emgésyon the basis of salary tier and individualgrerfince
rating. The base salaries of the executive offieeesset based on market and other competitiveriadlerit increases to base salaries for othel@maps are
made on the basis of individual performance ratikgual equity grants, made in the form of stockays, restricted stock grants or units, or a coration of
both are made on the basis of salary tier and i@t performance.

The Board of Directors retains broad discretiodeétermine the appropriate form and level of comagas, particularly for our executives, on the basi
its assessment of our executives, the demandlénttaur performance and other factors. Key catgoperformance factors generally include, amohgrot
things, achievement of regulatory and commercitiimegoals, research and development productieithhancements of organizational capabilities,
maintenance of financial stability and other aspe€tour performance. We reserve the right to nyaiié plan, and the key corporate performance faeod
criteria under the plan, at any time.

On February 5, 2013, the Board of Directors deteethithe cash bonus awards related to the fiscaleyeied December 31, 2012 and annual salaries
effective February 2013.



Subsidiaries of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (San Diego) LLC, a Delaviiarged liability company
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (North America) LLC, a Dedasvlimited liability company (1)
Vertex Securities Corporation, a Massachusettsocation
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Distribution) Incorporatedelaware corporation
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Cayman) Limited, a Caynstantls company
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Cayman 509) Limited, a Gayislands company
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Cayman 661) Limited, a Gayislands company
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Cayman 765) Limited, a Gayislands company
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Cayman 787) Limited, a Gayislands company
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Delaware) LLC, a Delawan@éd liability company
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Canada) Incorporated, adian company (2)
Vertex Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Europe) Limited, a Unitédg€lom company (3)
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Switzerland) Sarl, a Seisspany
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Ireland) Limited, an Irgimpany (4)
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (U.K.) Limited, a United g§dlom company
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (France) SAS, a French coypa
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Germany) GmbH, a Germarpeaom
Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Australia) Pty. Ltd., arsthalian company

Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Spain), S.L., a Spanishpeom

(1) a subsidiary of Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Samgd)j¢LC
(2) a subsidiary of Vertex Holdings, Inc.
(3) a subsidiary of Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Delayat C

(4) a subsidiary of Vertex Pharmaceuticals (Switzet) Sarl
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Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

We consent to the incorporation by refeecincthe Registration Statements (Form S-8 Nos-656556, 333-134482, 333-150945, 333-
150946, 333-160442, 333-166803, 333-184784 andlB83387) of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporatedusfreports dated March 1, 2013 ,
with respect to the consolidated financial stateimehnVertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporated and tfeetveness of internal control over
financial reporting of Vertex Pharmaceuticals Inppmmated, included in this Annual Report (Form 10f&f)the year ended December 31, 2012

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
Boston, Massachusetts
March 1, 2013



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Jeffrey M. Leiden, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on FormKLOf Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporal

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary tc
make the statements made, in light of the circuntets.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act

Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &dave:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedareaused such disclosure controls and procedaoitee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifige prepared,;

b) designed such internal control over finanaggilarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmuce with generally accepted accounting princjples

C) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentendsi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis report based on
such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in thestegit’s internal control over financial reportithgit occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrgts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registrant’s internal control over finalceporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evafuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitte@mmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing thevaden!
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakges in the design or operation of internal cboirer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaard report financial
information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that innedyunanagement or other employees who have a saniifiole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: March 1, 2013 /sl Jeffrey M. Leiden

Jeffrey M. Leiden
Chief Executive Officer and President



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

[, lan F. Smith, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on FormKLOf Vertex Pharmaceuticals Incorporal

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortamstate a material fact necessary tc
make the statements made, in light of the circuntets.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act

Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &dave:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedareaused such disclosure controls and procedaoitee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this report isifige prepared,;

b) designed such internal control over finanaggilarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in atmuce with generally accepted accounting princjples

C) evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentendsi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cousyeldis report based on
such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in thestegit’s internal control over financial reportithgit occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the regrgts fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an aimeaport) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeaft, the registrant’s internal control over finalceporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evafuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitte@mmittee of the registrastboard of directors (or persons performing thevaden!
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakges in the design or operation of internal cboirer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectrdgistrant’s ability to record, process, summaard report financial
information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that innedyunanagement or other employees who have a saniifiole in the
registrant’s internal control over financial repogt

Date: March 1, 2013 /sl lan F. Smith

lan F. Smith
Executive Vice President and Chief Finan€Gflcer



Exhibit 32.1
SECTION 906 CEO/CFO CERTIFICATION

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 (Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 135@&p@#r 63 of Title 18, United
States Code) each of the undersigned officers dieXéharmaceuticals Incorporated, a Massachusaieration (the “Company”), does
hereby certify, to such officer's knowledge, that:

The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year endedddnber 31, 2012 (the “Form 10-K") of the Compauiiyfcomplies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the S&esrExchange Act of 1934, and the informationtagred in the Form 10-K fairly presents,
in all material respects, the financial conditiodaesults of operations of the Company.

Date: March 1, 2013
Isl Jeffrey M. Leiden

Jeffrey M. Leiden
Chief Executive Officer and President

Date: March 1, 2013
/s/ lan F. Smith

lan F. Smith
Executive Vice President and Chief Finan€ieflcer

A signed original of this written statement reqdil®y Section 906 has been provided to the Compadyé| be retained by the
Company and furnished to the Securities and Exah&@ammission or its staff upon request.




